
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
AGENDA 

  OCTOBER 21, 2013 



Table of Contents

Agenda 2
Consideration and Action:

Cover Sheet 4
Connecting Corolla 5

Public Hearing and Action:
13-22 Cover Sheet 59
13-22 Case Analysis 60
13-22 House Bill 65

Presentation by Tax Assessor on Present-Use Value
Assessment

Cover-Present Use Value Assessment 72
Regional Bike Plan Presentation and Adoption

Regional Bike Plan Cover 73
Resolution-Bicycle Plan 74
Bike Plan 75

Consideration and Action
Cover-Advisory Board Ordinance 248
Advisory Board Ordinance 249

Approval of October 7, 2013 Minutes
October 7 Minutes 263

Budget Amendments
Budget Amendments 275

Adoption of Airport Transportation Improvement Program (TIP)
Airport TIP 281

Approval of Maple Commerce Park Covenants
Maple Commerce Park Covenants 283
Exhibit B-Maple Commerce Park 302

Approval of Local Firefighter's Relief Fund Boards
Carova Beach 306
Corolla 307
Crawford 308
Knotts Island 309
Lower Currituck 310
Moyock 311

Charge to Tax Collector the Levy on Motor Vehicles for July
Renewals

Charge Levy on Motor Vehicles-July Renewals 312
Approval of DSS Request to Purge Records

DSS Request to Purge Records 315
Request to dispose of Finance records per the records retention
schedule

Record disposal Finance 316

1



Document last changed: 10/18/2013 8:12 AM 

 

Currituck County 
Board of Commissioners Agenda  

Historic Currituck County Courthouse 

 
 Date: Monday, October 21, 2013 Time: 7:00 PM 

 
  

Work Session 
 
6:00 PM  Whalehead Trust - Update on Heritage Park  
 
7:00 PM Call to Order 
 

A) Invocation-Reverend Glenn McCranie 
B) Pledge of Allegiance 
C) Approval of Agenda 
D) Public Comment 

Please limit comments to items not appearing on the regular agenda; 
please limit comments to 3 minutes. 

 
Public Hearings 
 

A) Consideration and Action: Connecting Corolla 
B) Public Hearing and Action: PB 13-22 Currituck County:  Request to 

amend the Unified Development Ordinance Chapter 2: Administration to 
revise standards relating to the Board of Adjustment so that they are 
consistent with the North Carolina General Statutes. 

Administrative Reports 
 

A) Presentation by Tax Assessor on Present-Use Value Assessment 

New Business 

 
A) Regional Bike Plan Presentation and Adoption  
B) Consideration and Action on An Ordinance of the Currituck County 

Board of Commissioners Amending Chapter 2, Article II, Division 2 Rules 
of Procedure; Amending Chapter 2, Article III, Division 1 to Provide for 

2



Document last changed: 10/18/2013 8:12 AM 

 
Advisory Board Terms and Meeting Attendance; Amending Chapter 2, 
Article III, By Repealing Division 2 Airport Advisory Board and  Division 3 
Economic Development Advisory Board; and Amending Chapter 2, Article 
III by Adding a New Division 3 Economic Development Advisory Board. 

C) Consent Agenda: 
1. Approval of October 7, 2013 Minutes 
2. Budget Amendments 
3. Adoption of Airport Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 
4. Approval of Maple Commerce Park Covenants 
5. Approval of Local Firefighter's Relief Fund Boards 
6. Charge to Tax Collector the Levy on Motor Vehicles for July 

Renewals 
7. Approval of DSS Request to Purge Records 
8. Request to dispose of Finance records per the records retention 

schedule 
D) Commissioner’s Report 
E) County Manager’s Report 

Closed Session 
Closed Session pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §143-318.11(a)(3) to consult with the 
county attorney in order to preserve the attorney-client privilege and to consider 
and give instructions to the county attorney. 

Adjourn 

 

3



 

 
 
 
 

 
Agenda Item Title 

 

 
 

Currituck County 
Agenda Item Summary Sheet

 
Connecting Corolla:  Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan  
 
 
 
 
 
Brief Description of Agenda Item 
 
  
Connecting Corolla:  Bike , Pedestrian, Access, & Wayfinding Plan explores and exmines the existing infrastructure 
and facilties along with community needs and recommends polcies and enhancements:  Improve overall safety 
between destinations; Increase mobility for all modes of transporation; and enhance the overall sense of place, 
feel, quality of life.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Board Action Requested 
 
Action 
 
 
Person Submitting Agenda Item 
 
Holly B. White 
 
 
Presenter of Agenda Item 
 
Holly B. White 

4



Connecting 

Corolla 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & 

Wayfinding Plan 

October 21, 2013 

 

 

 

 Connecting            

Corolla 

5



Page | 2  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

6



3 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

Table of Contents 

Introduction & Need 

Goals 

Process & Timeline 

Findings  

Projects  

Policies & Actions 

Appendices 

 

 

Appendix A:   Meeting Schedule 

Appendix B:   Realty and Property Management Company Meeting  

Notes 

Appendix C:   Home Owner Association Meeting Notes 

Appendix D:   Stakeholder Questions 

Appendix E:   User Survey 

Appendix F:   Projects 

Appendix G:   Maps 

Future:   Conceptual Plan 

Future:   Typical Cross Sections 

7



4 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Introduction  

Corolla has grown exponentially since 

the late 80’s but has a deep rooted 

heritage tied directly to its abundant 

natural and cultural resources.  Corolla 

began as a small village near the 

Currituck Lighthouse, but now 

encompasses the Currituck Outer Banks 

from the County line to the ramp for the 

Off – Road Area and Northern Beaches.    

Corolla prides itself as a family beach 

destination boasting wide, clean 

beaches, a high quality of life, and an 

abundance of cultural and historical 

destinations that make it a charming 

place to live, work, and play.  However, 

as Corolla continues to grow, the 

County recognizes the need to improve 

safety, connectivity, availability, and 

access to destinations.  These 

destinations include cultural, 

commercial, and natural (beach and 

sound accesses) sites and locations. 

Understanding this, the Board of 

Commissioners directed Staff to 

undertake a planning effort to better 

address the needs of the community.  

8



5 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

Need 

Corolla encompasses approximately 

12.5 square miles.  Roughly, 50,000 

people visit Corolla during a typical 

week in the summer season.  The 

summer season, from Memorial Day to 

Labor Day, draws approximately, 

750,000 people to this narrow strip of 

land.  Highway 12 acts as the backbone 

connecting all subdivisions in Corolla 

and the northern parts of Corolla south 

to Dare County.  Highway 12 has a two 

foot wide, extended shoulder used by 

cyclists and pedestrians.  Many of the 

subdivisions have side paths that 

connect and move people within the 

subdivision.   However, there are many 

gaps in infrastructure that move users 

between destinations.      

During the season with the large 

number of weekly visitors, Highway 12 

is frequently congested with vehicular 

traffic and people walking, biking, and 

jogging.  Many visitors bike and walk, 

from their rental homes along Highway 

12, on the extended shoulder, and to the 

many destinations in Corolla often in 

direct opposition with vehicular traffic 

creating unsafe situations.    

 

 

 

 

 

9



6 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Goals 

Connecting Corolla:  Bike, Pedestrian, 

Access, & Wayfinding Plan explores and 

examines the existing infrastructure and 

facilities along with community needs 

and recommends policies and 

enhancements to: 

 Improve overall safety between 

destinations; 

 Increase mobility for all modes of 

transportation; and    

 Enhance the overall sense of 

place, feel, and quality of life.  

Goals for the plan were developed 

through analysis and examination of 

existing conditions for the area and 

through extensive stakeholder input 

(see Appendix A and Process and 

Timeline).   

 

10



7 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

Process and Timeline 

 

 

 

 

 

Existing Condition Analysis & Field 

Work  

Existing condition research began in the 

fall of 2012.  Staff field verified and 

studied existing public and private 

roads, sidepaths, sound and ocean 

access points, parking areas, and 

cultural, commercial, and natural 

destinations (See maps in Appendix G).   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stakeholder Interviews   

Staff held interviews with stakeholders 

that have a vested interest in the plan.  

This included meetings with home 

owner associations and boards, 

property management companies, real 

estate companies, the business 

community, cultural and institutional 

uses, and various county departments 

(See meeting summaries in Appendix B 

& C).  

11



8 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

All stakeholders were asked a series of 

questions including: 

 Is there consistent feedback you receive 

from visitors about their stay in Corolla?  

Is there consistent feedback you receive 

specifically related to ocean and sound 

access, side paths, facilities, and their 

ability to move between destinations? 

 How can the County improve access to 

destinations including commercial sites, 

cultural opportunities, and beach/sound 

accesses?   

A full list of stakeholder questions and 

responses can be found in Appendix D.  

Field Verification:   

From June through August, staff field 

verified assumptions and findings made 

during the existing conditions analysis 

and stakeholder interviews.  In addition, 

staff conducted additional stakeholder 

interviews with visitors utilizing county 

facilities.  Users were asked: 

 Where do you typically access the ocean 

or sound? 

 How do you typically get to a beach or 

sound access? 

 What types of amenities would you like 

to see at a beach or sound access? 

The complete survey and user responses 

can be found in Appendix E.

12



9 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

Findings  

Through the existing conditions analysis 

and stakeholder interviews, consistent 

findings rose to the surface.  Below is a 

summary of these findings and general 

recommendations.  Specific 

implementation projects are covered in 

the Project section.   

Access to the Sound and Ocean 

All subdivisions in Corolla, except 

Currituck Club and Monterey Shores, 

have direct access to the ocean.  

Currituck Club residents and visitors 

utilize the Southern Beach Public 

Access.  During field verification checks, 

staff observed approximately 80-85% of 

the cars parked at the Southern Beach 

Public Access, on Yaupon Lane, as a 

visitor of the Currituck Club by guest 

window place cards or owner stickers.  

Stakeholder interviews and user surveys 

revealed that although visitors have 

access to a trolley system, many choose 

not to utilize the trolley due to long wait 

and ride times to travel to the beach and 

large amounts of gear.  Some users felt it 

easier, quicker, and allowed them more 

flexibility to drive their vehicle to the 

Public Access than wait for the trolley. 

Monterey Shores visitors and residents 

also do not have direct access to the 

ocean.  Residents and visitors utilize the 

public access parking areas and beach 

cross overs in Whalehead Subdivision to 

gain access to the ocean.  Field surveys 

reflected that the most utilized accesses 

in Whalehead are Bonito and Shad.   

At the start of the plan, there was a 

perception that the Southern Beach 

Access and Whalehead Public Access 

areas were being utilized by day 

trippers.  The field verification and 

surveys by staff indicate that the 

majority of users are already renting 

homes in Corolla and utilizing the 

Public Access Areas out of convenience.  

Staff recommends better utilizing and 

improving existing accesses to make them 

user friendly and appealing.  In addition 

staff recommends seeking additional 

opportunities and facilities for access to the 

ocean.          

During the existing conditions analysis, 

staff determined that in the 22 miles of 

Shoreline there are only 2 sound access 

points.  One is located at Heritage Park 

by the Whalehead Club and the other is 

located in the off road area.  Staff 

recommends increasing availability and 

access to the sound whenever possible on 

County properties and through partnership 

opportunities with private citizens, 

developers, businesses or non-profits.                

 

13



Page | 10  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

ADA Accessibility 

The need for ADA Accessibility to the 

beach was a concern brought up by 

every stakeholder group interviewed.  

Several of the beach accesses have drive 

over points for emergency access that 

allow users to utilize a beach wheel 

chair to cross over.  However, there are 

no cross overs that meet ADA 

standards.    

The 2012 Currituck Outer Banks 

Comprehensive Visitor Research Study 

indicates that the majority of visitors are 

families and baby boomers with an 

average age of 53.  In addition, the study 

recommends developing facilities the 

will support diversification and growth 

of the destination for weddings, 

reunions, etc.  It is apparent that users of 

the beach now and in the future will 

likely involve people over the age of 50 

that will need greater availability to 

ADA accesses.  Knowing that, staff 

recommends that existing beach cross overs, 

bath houses, and similar facilities be 

retrofitted to accommodate ADA 

accessibility and any future facilities be 

designed with ADA accessibility in mind.       

 

 

 

Clean Beaches 

Stakeholders expressed the importance 

of clean beaches during the interview 

and research process.  The Visitor 

Research Study indicated that over 75% 

of people that visit Corolla come for 

leisure and the beach.  Corolla beaches 

are an important natural resource that 

should be protected not only for their 

value to the environment but their 

significance and link to tourism and our 

local economy.  Staff recommends 

continued efforts to maintain clean beaches 

as well as development of educational 

programs for residents and visitors on the 

importance and value of clean beaches.       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14



Page | 11  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Bathroom Facilities 

The Existing Condition Analysis 

revealed that there are only two 

locations for public restrooms near the 

beach and sound in Corolla-  Southern 

Beach Access and Heritage Park.  

Interviewees referenced the need for 

additional bath room facilities near 

public beach access points.  Staff 

recommends seeking additional sites and 

opportunities to construct and locate 

restrooms in Corolla.  The site should be 

designed and constructed to minimize 

impacts to adjacent residential areas.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Current Facilities 

Stakeholder interviewees indicated the 

need to improve existing facilities for 

beach goers with amenities such as 

showers, foot wash stations, and drop 

off areas.  In addition, interviewees also 

indicated the need to improve 

maintenance for facilities-  i.e. keeping 

walk ways and accesses clear and 

vegetation trimmed back.  Staff 

recommends a study be conducted to 

identify and determine typical staffing 

needs, on-going maintenance costs, and any 

needed facility renovations once finished the 

study results should be incorporated in the 

County’s Capital Improvement Plan (CIP).   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15



Page | 12  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Marketing and Orientation 

During stakeholder interviews, real 

estate companies, property management 

companies, and the business community 

indicated the need for better, more 

organized signage directing and 

orienting people to destinations.  

Interviewees also indicated the need for 

maps demonstrating the locations of 

recreational facilities, destinations, and 

side paths.   Staff recommends development 

of an area map for pedestrians and cyclists 

and a study to determine appropriate 

locations for safety and way finding signage 

for all users.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Transportation 

Many stakeholders expressed interest 

and the need for public transportation 

to connect to major destinations.  The 

ability to leave their car and explore 

Corolla was appealing.  Currituck Club 

and Corolla Light already have trolley 

systems that run within the 

development.  However, there is not a 

system that connects subdivisions to 

destinations.     

Staff recommends further study and 

exploration of a public transportation 

service.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

16



13 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

Projects  

After extensive research, stakeholder 

input, and development of plan goals, 

staff developed a project list.  These 

projects range from infrastructure, 

signage, and safety.  The project list 

encompasses 40 projects in Corolla.   

Projects are broken down into 9 

different categories: 

1. Multi Use Paths 

2. Beach Access Improvements 

3. Parking Lot Improvements 

4. Sidewalks 

5. Baths Houses 

6. Sounds Access 

7. Public Transportation 

8. Signage 

9. Safety 

Projects were ranked within each 

category by the following criteria 

(starting with the most important 

criteria): 

1. Public Safety-  

Does the project improve overall 

safety for users? 

2. Need & Public Benefit-  

Is there a need for the 

facility/infrastructure that would 

improve public safety or the 

overall user experience?   

 

 

 

3. Interconnectivity and proximity 

to surrounding destinations- 

Does the project connect 

destinations?  i.e. neighborhoods 

to cultural, commercial, or 

natural destinations or 

beach/sound accesses.  Is the 

project close by to existing 

destinations or neighborhoods 

that the project would be 

desirable or needed? 

4. Cost Benefit-  

Does the cost of the project 

outweigh the public safety 

improvements or need/public 

benefit? 

5. Constraints-  

Are there major constraints that 

would delay, lengthen, or be 

problematic to implementation? 

 

County staff from Planning, Recreation, 

Engineering, Tourism, and the 

Manager’s office met to review and 

prioritize projects.  Staff worked 

together to review each project and rank 

the projects, within each category, 

according to the criteria listed above.  

Projects in each category are listed from 

highest priority to lowest priority.    

17



14 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

Project List 

 
ID # Project 

Description 
 Multi-Use Paths (M) 
M1 Albacore Street to Schooner Road 

Monteray Plaza (Food Lion)/Timbuck II/Southern Whalehead 
Subdivision to The Shoppes at Currituck Club/Harris Teeter) 
Construct multi use path in the right of way on the east side of 
NC 12.   
 
Length of path:  1.9 miles, .13 wet 
 

M2 Audubon:  Phase I A 
Southern County Line to Audubon Drive(Hampton Inn) 
 
Partner with Audubon to improve existing path with immediate 
improvements such as benches, landscaping, interpretative 
signage, and wildlife observation platforms.  
 
Length of path: 2.5 miles, 2.35 wet 
 

M3 Schooner Road to Yaupon Lane 
The Shoppes at Currituck Club/Harris Teeter to Southern Currituck 
Beach Access(Bathhouse)  
Construct multi use path in the right of way on the east side of 
NC 12.   
 
Length of path:  1.7 miles, .38 wet 
 

M4 Albacore Street to Dolphin Street 
Commercial Areas from Timbuck II/Monteray Plaza to Bank of 
Currituck 
 
Construct multi use path in the right of way on the east and west 
sides of NC12. Also include connection to existing Monteray 
Shores bike path.    
 
Length of path:  .3 miles, .04 wet 
 

M5 Audubon:  Phase 2 
Audubon Drive (Hampton Inn) to Yaupon Lane (Southern Outer 
Banks Beach Access (Bathhouse)/Ocean Club Centre Shopping 
 
Partner with Audubon to construct a multi use path on Audubon 
property from the Audubon Drive to Yaupon Ln.  Evaluate 
potential locations for wildlife observation platforms.   
 
Length of path: 1.4 miles, .2 wet 
 

M6 Audubon:  Phase I B  
Southern County Line to Audubon Drive(Hampton Inn) 
 
Partner with Audubon to construct a multi use path on Audubon 
property from the County line to Audubon Drive.  Also 
coordinate with Town of Duck for possible Southern connection.  
Evaluate potential locations for wildlife observation platforms 
and interpretative signage.  
 
Length of path: 2.5 miles, 2.35 wet 
 

M7 Monteray Shores to Corolla Light  
Connect existing path at Ocean Forest Court (Monteray Shores) to 
existing Corolla Light Path (North of Corolla Light Sports Center)  
 
Construct multi use path in the right of way on the west side of 
Highway 12. 
 
Length of path:  .7 miles, .04 wet 
 

M8 Monteray Shores Bike Path-   
Dolphin Street to Ocean Forest Court 
Acquire existing multi use path, redesign, and improve (widen)   
 
Length of path: 1.4 miles, .41 wet 
 
 
 
 

M9 Corolla Light Bike Path 
South of Corolla Light Sports Center to Club Road (The 
Whalehead Club) 
 
Acquire existing multi use path, redesign, and improve (widen) 
 
Length of path: 1.2 miles, .04 wet 
 
 

 
Beach Access Improvements (BA) 

 Whalehead Beach Access Improvements 
Redesign beach accesses to accommodate handicap access (roll 
out matting) and parking, kiss and ride (where feasible and 
appropriate), bicycle parking, and foot tower showers at the 
following locations: 

 
BA1:   Albacore:  60’ ROW Width 
BA 2:  Shad:  70’ ROW Width 
BA 3:  Dolphin:  60’ ROW Width  
BA 4:  Herring: 60’ ROW Width 
 

18



Page | 15  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

Whalehead Beach Parking Lots (P) 
 Whalehead Beach Parking Lot Improvements 

Improve existing parking lots to be more user-friendly and 
aesthetically pleasing.  Includes landscaping, trash cans, benches, 
shade, etc. 

 
P1:   Bonito 
P2:   Shad 
P3:   Sturgeon 
P4:   Sailfish  

 
 

Sidewalks (SW) 
 Whalehead Beach Sidewalk Improvements  

Design and construct sidewalks to connect NC 12 to Lighthouse 
Drive at the following beach access points:  
 
SW1:  Albacore:  60’ ROW Width/ 463’ length 
SW 2:  Shad:  70’ ROW Width / 458’ length 
SW 3:  Bonito: 45’ ROW/ 460’ Length; Improve existing 
sidewalk 
SW 4:  Dolphin: 60’ ROW Width/ 461’ length; appears to be 
more   room for improvement on the north side of ROW.   
SW 5: Sailfish: Paper Street connection to NC12 
SW6: Perch:  Pedestrian/Bike connection through Corolla Shores 
Development 

 Bath House (BH) 
BH1 Corolla Village Road Bath House 

Construct Bathhouse on Corolla Village Road adjacent to 
Heritage Park and Currituck Lighthouse – incorporate handicap 
features, provide parking close to beach access point for 
handicapped and elderly, include air up/air down if possible 

BH2 Corolla Village Road- Bath House Parking 
Short term parking and ADA improvements 

BH3 Trailhead and Parking Area (Turnpike Property across from 
Yaupon Lane)   
Design and build a trailhead and parking area to serve the 
Audubon multi use path and overflow parking for the Yaupon St. 
Bath House.  

BH4 Southern Beach Access Improvements 
Redesign and add ADA spaces 

BH5 Herring Street Bath House 
Design and Construct bath house at Herring Street 

 

Currituck Sound Access (CS) 
CS1 County Property, 10 acre Sound Front 

North of Corolla Bay on west side of NC12 
Phased master plan for parcel including immediate use for sound 
access and long term design objectives 
 

CS2 Whalehead Club-  Sound front boardwalk connection 
Improve usage of sound front.  Design and construct boardwalk 
and fishing/crabbing/educational platforms to connect gazebo 
by the bridge to the State boardwalk north of the Wildlife 
Education Center.   
 

CS3 Whalehead Club Boat Access 
Improve usage of sound front at Whalehead Club through 
design and installation of small boat slips (20’ or less), docking 
pier, boardwalks, kayak launch, and fishing/crabbing platforms.  
  

 

Public Transportation(PT) 
PT1 Investigate need and interest in public transportation that links 

neighborhoods to cultural, commercial, and natural destinations 
including beach and sound access points. 
 

 

Signage (S) 
S1 Vehicular Signage 

Create and develop branded signage including but not limited 
to:    

 Safety related signs for multi use paths:  yield to pedestrians, 
multi use path crossing ahead, etc. 

 Wayfinding/Directional signage:  
o  ID for destinations  
o mileage to destinations 
o Consistent system (similar to MP system) of 

referencing location within Currituck Outer Banks 

 Consistent public beach access signage 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

19



Page | 16  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

S2 Pedestrians and Cyclist Signage 
Create and develop branded signage including but not limited 
to:   

 Safety related signs for multi use paths:  stop signs, crossing 
ahead, yield to traffic 

 Location map- beach/sound access points, multi use path trail 
system, and destinations 

 Way finding/Directional signage:  ID for destinations and 
mileage to destinations 

 Street name signs at crossovers on road and ocean side 

 Lighthouse Drive Signed Bike Route (Albemarle Regional 
Bicycle Plan) 
 

S3 Interpretive Signage 
Evaluate and locate areas for interpretative signage that 
educate and inform users about local history, culture, and natural 
environment 
 
 

 

Safety (SA) 
SA1 Pedestrian Crosswalks 

1. Install pedestrian crosswalks at NC 12 and:   

 N. Harbor View 

 Shad 

  Herring 

  Albacore (stripe all 4 sides) 

 Schooner  

 Spindrift 

 Audubon Dr 
 

2. Install pedestrian crosswalks at Lighthouse and:  

 Shad 

 Tuna  

 Sturgeon 

 Perch 

 Mackerel (needs pedestrian sign only, crosswalk 
existing) 

 Bonito (needs pedestrian sign only, crosswalk 
existing) 

 Dolphin (needs restriping) 

 Albacore 
 

3. Install traffic calming mechanisms and/or pedestrian 
crossing island 

 Yaupon Lane/Old Stoney Road 

 Corolla Village Road 

 
***Petition NC DOT to install crosswalks on NC DOT streets 

SA2 Outreach 

 Design and create multi use path map for Corolla that 
reflects connections to all destinations and beach/sound 
accesses 

 Coordinate with the Tourism Department  
SA3 Signalized Lights 

Petition NC DOT to modify existing stop lights to pedestrian 
signalized lights at the following locations: 

 Albacore and NC 12 

 Schooner Ridge/Currituck Clubhouse Drive and NC12 
SA4 Air Up/Air Down Stations and Vehicle Pull Off’s  

Identify areas for and install air up and air down stations for 
users of the off road area.   
Potential locations include: 

 ROW VOH Well field (east side Hwy 12, air down) 

 ROW VOH Pocket Park  or south of pocket park (VOH 
Open Space)(west side Hwy 12, vehicle pull off) 

 County Satellite office or ROW in front 

 Whalehead Club 

 10 acre county parcel adjacent to Corolla Bay 

 Southern Outer Banks Water Department or ROW 

 Proposed Corolla Village Bathhouse, Corolla Village 
Road  

 
 
 
 
 

20



17 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

Policies & Actions 

Policy CC1:  Continue to collaborate with partners in the private and nonprofit sectors 

to develop innovative facilities and spaces that provide a diversity of needed recreation 

facilities. 

Action CC1a:  Continue to partner with Audubon to design and construct facilities that 

meet the needs of visitors and residents.    

  

Action CC1b:  Continue to collaborate with Whalehead Trust to master plan the 

property.      

 

Policy CC2:  Ensure that facilities planned and developed are universally accessible to 

all users and comply with ADA standards.  Update existing facilities, when renovations 

are undertaken, to be compliant with ADA standards and any new county, state, and 

federal regulations.  

Action CC2a: Develop a prioritized list of existing county facilities that outlining what 

improvements are needed to make them more ADA compliant, and the associated cost for 

potential improvements.      

 

Policy CC3:  Ensure that all development includes public spaces that connect to and 

benefit from their proximity to public and private infrastructure such as greenway 

trails, sidewalks, beach and sound accesses, and plazas.     

Action CC3a:  Amend the UDO to incorporate standards for design and construction of 

public  spaces that are accessible to all users and connect to existing or planned 

infrastructure. 

 

Policy CC4:  Promote Complete Street design standards that provide mobility for all 

types of transportation modes and support mutually reinforcing land use and 

transportation decisions.  This includes but is not limited to:  side paths, bike lanes, 

pedestrian scaled lighting, well spaced trees and vegetation, and frequent and well 

matched pedestrian crossings.       

Action CC4a:  Coordinate with NCDOT to examine the typical street cross section 

accepted for regular street/road maintenance and work collaboratively to better 

incorporate infrastructure that safely meets the needs of all users.    

 

21



Page | 18  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Action CC4b:  Amend the UDO to define and require pedestrian scale lighting, 

pedestrian crossings, and bike parking for all development.   

 

Policy CC5:  Ensure that all development is designed in a way that provides 

appropriate and safe movement, infrastructure, and amenities for all users including, 

bicyclists, pedestrians, and motorists.     

Policy CC6:  Ensure that all development plans for and constructs infrastructure to 

connect existing or planned projects. 

Action CC6a:  Amend the UDO Section 1.5 Conformance with Adopted Plans to include 

Connecting Corolla: Bike, Pedestrian, & Wayfinding Plan. 

 

Action CC6b:  Amend the UDO to incorporate standards that require all development to 

connect to existing or planned infrastructure.  

Policy CC7:  Ensure that all development provides separation of side paths, or similar 

facilities, from roadways consistent with AASTHO standards. 

Action CC7a:    Amend the UDO to incorporate standards that require separation of side 

paths, or similar facilities, from roadways consistent with AASTHO standards.   

Policy CC8:  Encourage street design layout that calms traffic, encourages pedestrian 

safety, and increases livability through the use of roundabouts, medians, speed tables, 

safety signage, and bulbouts.   

Policy CC9:  Encourage and support the creation of a comprehensive safety awareness 

and bicycle, pedestrian, driver outreach program.    

Action CC9a:  Partner with Tourism to develop outreach programs and materials such as 

bike to work/school, bike/pedestrian side path maps, and integration of location of facilities 

into smart phone application. 

Policy CC10:  Support development and maintenance of public facilities that represent 

and reflect the level of investment and value of private investment in the community.     

 

Action CC10a:  Conduct a study to be incorporated into the County’s Capital Improvement 

Plan (CIP), to identify and determine typical staffing needs, on-going maintenance costs, and 

any needed facility renovations and costs.   

 

22



Page | 19  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Action CC10b:  Design and plan County facilities that are compatible with coastal 

architecture (Coast Guard Style), embrace sustainable design methods, meet the needs of 

users, and utilize low maintenance, native, and drought/salt tolerant vegetation.   

Policy CC11:  Support the exploration of public transportation. 

Action CC11a:  Conduct a study to determine the best methodology for implementing a 

public transportation system in Corolla.  Seek partnership opportunities to strengthen the 

study such as ICPTA.      

Policy CC12:  Encourage development of a wayfinding signage system for pedestrians 

and vehicles to better orient users to the area.  

Action CC12a:   Develop a plan to identify types and locations of branded wayfinding, safety, 

and information signage for pedestrians, cyclists, and vehicles and install appropriate 

signage.         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

23



Page | 20  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Appendices 

 

 

Appendix A:   Meeting Schedule 

Appendix B:   Realty and Property Management Company Meeting  

Notes 

Appendix C:   Home Owner Association Meeting Notes 

Appendix D:   Stakeholder Questions 

Appendix E:   User Survey 

Appendix F:   Projects 

Appendix G:   Maps 

Future:   Conceptual Plan 

Future:   Typical Cross Sections 

24



Page | 21  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Appendix A:  Meeting Schedule  

Date Meeting Attendees 

1/25/2013 Corolla Light Resort 

Don Cheek, General Manager 

Suzanne Serianni, Operations Manager 

1/25/2013 Buck Island 

Harry Elam, 

1/25/2013 Villages at Ocean Hill 

Vicki Garvey, General Manager 

1/29/2013 Monteray Shores 

Karen Galganski, General Manager 

1/29/2013 Ocean Hill 

Ed Cornet, Karen Ish 

1/29/2013 Lighthouse Resort Services – The Currituck Club 

Daniel Walker 

1/30/2013 Corolla Ocean Rescue 

Sylvia Wolff 

2/15/2013 Pine Island 

Jeff Shields 

2/20/2013 Village Realty 

Krista Templeton, Rental Management 

2/20/2013 Corolla Classic Vacations 

Billy Casper, VP of Property Management 

Nancy Beasley, Director of Reservations 

3/12/2013 Sun Realty 

Neil Konigsberg, Manager & Broker in Charge 

3/12/2013 Brindley Beach 

Doug Brindley, President 

3/12/2013 Twiddy & Company 

Sharon Twiddy 

Ross Twiddy, Marketing Director 

3/14/2013 Corolla Civic Association 

Barb Marzetti 

4/25/2013 Corolla Civic Association  

Public Meeting 

5/3/2013 Whalehead Club Subdivision 

Terry Ruggles (conference call) 

6/11/2013 Whalehead Club Subdivision 

Terry Ruggles  

8/19/2013 Currituck Club 

John Bohan 

25



Page | 22  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Appendix B:  Realty and Property Management Company Meeting Notes 

 

Village Realty 

Krista Templeton, Rental Management 

2.20.2013 

Village Realty rents 227 units in Currituck County, 134 are in Currituck Club 

Feedback: 

1. Currituck County Southern Beach Access is crowded and parking is a problem – 

sometimes there is overflow parking in Ocean Club Center  and parallel parking along 

Old Stoney Road (“no parking” enforcement is intermittent) 

2. Need Handicapped Accessible boardwalks and parking closer to beach for 

Handicapped and Elderly 

3. It is challenging to get to the beach in certain sections of Ocean Sands because of the 

layout and the pond (HIJO & KLMN) 

4. Need better education (ex. RV’s, Mobile Homes, Trailers not allowed) 

5. Public Transit may be helpful 

6. More events in the shoulder season may be beneficial to extend rental season 

7. Tourists ask about bike trails – maps of existing trails would be helpful 

8. Improve connectivity to commercial centers 

9. Some Currituck Club owners buy passes to Pine Island Beach Club for better ocean 

access  

 

Marketability factors: 

1. The home & it’s amenities 

2. Location 

3. Time of year 

4. # Bedrooms (Largest house in rental program is 8 bedrooms, fewer # bedrooms rent 

more quickly & easier)  

 

Best way to distribute information: 

1. Website 

2. Links to maps/information 

3. Front desk – packets not effective 

4. Community map may be helpful 

5. Magnets aren’t as effective (wont stick to stainless appliances) 

 

26



Page | 23  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Trends: 

Rentals are staying consistent  

A few properties come out of rental program each year to be used as second homes 

Currituck Club is desirable because the homes are custom and luxurious; also the houses have 

more amenities.  Renters like the privacy of the gated community. 

From Memorial – Labor Day, golf doesn’t seem to be the driving factor for rentals in Currituck 

Club 

Year round population in Currituck Club has decreased (possibly because of seasonal rentals) 

In Currituck Club, tourists complain about long waits for trolleys to the beach mostly from 4th of 

July through mid-August 

 

Sun Realty 

Neil Konigsberg, Manager & Broker in Charge 

3.12.2013 

Feedback: 

Parking is an issue in Corolla – especially on rainy days 

Traffic is a problem (weekend check-in days) – Sun Realty does rolling check-in so guests can 

access their rental house as soon as it is ready. 

A bathhouse could help with early check–in to give visitors a place to park and go to the beach 

while they are waiting on their house. 

There needs to be more activities in the shoulder season. 

Ocean Sands (no parking close to beach) 

Whalehead is a popular area to rent because the lots are next to the beach 

There is a shortage of rentals for workers 

Rental of sound side homes is more difficult 

27



Page | 24  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Consolidate information and make available on website or by email (i.e. Tourist, Lifeguard, and 

Planning) 

Provide better information about what is unique to the Corolla area  

Widen shoulder of NC12 for road bikes 

Provide Handicapped access  

There has been an increase in pet-friendly houses. 

Sun Realty does not have any rental properties in Pine Island 

Marketability factors: 

1. Location (Close to beach) 

2. Amenities 

3. Keeping Home updated and current 

4. Number of bedrooms 

5. Saturday to Saturday rentals rent better than Sunday to Sunday rentals 

6. Time of year (July-Aug easy months to rent) 

 

Feedback on 4x4 Areas: 

Off-road rentals – are improving 

Water quality – better through treatment systems 

Better vendors – more competent – more professional 

Most people who rent in 4x4 area have visited Corolla  

Rental costs are less in off road 

Sun Realty provides air for guests 

Sun Realty is the second largest realty company in 4x4 area with 30-40 houses 

 

 

 

 

28



Page | 25  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Corolla Classic Vacations 

Billy Casper, Vice President of Property Management 

Nancy Beasley, Director of Reservations 

2.20.2013 

Manage 213 properties in Corolla, none in 4x4 areas 

 

Feedback: 

Easy access to beach is important 

Manage 74 homes in Whalehead  

Monteray Shores is hard to rent because there is no direct access to the beach 

Rent approximately 200 Oceanside homes 

Have 2 to 3 properties per year pull out of rental program for use as a second home (often after 

10 yrs of renting) 

Average home size is 6 bedrooms, none smaller than 4 bedrooms, a few 10 bedrooms 

Whalehad 6th row center (parking is necessary because of distance to beach) 

Facilities 

Guests/Tourists ask if there is public transportation 

Need wheel chair accessible accesses 

People come mostly for the beach 

Asked about a ferry from the mainland 

Marketability factors: 

1. Size of home 

2. Location (as close as possible to beach) 

3. Amenities (pool/hot tub/recreation room) 

4. Traffic is a drawback ( split check-ins help) 

5. Affordability 

6. Well maintained and current homes 

29



Page | 26  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

How can County help: 

A bathhouse could help with early check–in to give visitors a place to park and go to the beach 

while they are waiting on their house 

Improve existing parking areas with foot showers and other amenities 

Provide Handicap access to the beach 

Improved access via bike paths 

Public transportation (to commercial areas & Whalehead) 

 

Best way to disseminate Information:  

1. Send an email to guests (10 days ahead of arrival) 

2. Facebook 

3. Website 

4. Map or links with beach access points and lifeguard stands 

 

 

 

Brindley Beach 

Doug Brindley, President 

3.12.2013 

 

Feedback: 

Need ocean access – few and far between outside of communities 

Need Trolley System – Public Transportation 

Multi use path 

Need one focal point ocean access with commercial area and services, food, childcare  

30



Page | 27  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Improve facilities at existing accesses 

Need more organized activities (ex: Weekly 5K run, bootcamps, triathlon) 

Service provider’s need the ability to drive on beach in am and pm (i.e. cabana service chairs 

and umbrella setup) 

 

Rentals: 

Corolla 444 

Corolla Light 139 

Whalehead 77 

Pine Island 66 

Ocean Sands 51 

 

Marketability Factors 

1. Location  

2. # Bedrooms 

3. Pool – Amenities 

4. Upgraded/Maintained 

5. 6-8 Bedrooms rent best 

 

Best way to disseminate Information 

1. Website 

2. Social Media 

3. Blog 

4. Tent signs /Fridge signs 

 

 

 

 

31



Page | 28  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Twiddy & Co. 

Sharon Twiddy 

Ross Twiddy 

3.12.2013 

 

Marketability: 

1. Direct beach access/Oceanfront 

2. # Bedrooms 

3. Amenities (hot tub, pool, elevator, theatre) 

 

Rental Properties: 

Pine Island 75 

Whalehead 142 

4x4 Area has 173 total rentals (Twiddy has 149) 

 

Problems: 

Long term parking  

 

Feedback: 

Beach is the #1 priority – Clean Beach 

Provide hospitality team out on beach 

Provide bathrooms 

Provide Long term & Short term parking 

Provide Air up/air down 

Improve roads in 4x4 area 

32



Page | 29  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Water quality in 4x4 area 

Need trash cans and pick up on beach 

Haven’t received feedback on tents on beach 

Improve signage 

 

Best way to disseminate information: 

1. YouTube Videos 

2. Pre Arrival Email 

3. Facebook 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

33



Page | 30  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Appendix C:  Home Owner Association Meeting Notes 

 

Corolla Light Resort 

Don Cheek, General Manager 

Suzanne Serianni, Operations Manager 

1/25/2013 

 

Total 

Units 

Undeveloped 

Lots 

Year 

Round 

Rentals Non-

Rental  

E of NC12 W of 

NC12 

419 19 10-12 291  268 151 

 

Corolla Light operates an internal trolley system to transport guests to amenities within the 

resort.   The trolleys operate from Memorial Day to Labor Day between 9AM and 7PM.  The 

oceanfront trolley transported approximately 8,500 people and the two larger trolleys 

transported approximately 72,000 people over the summer. 

Property Management Companies with majority of properties: 

 Brindley Beach 

 Twiddy 

 Corolla Classic Vacations 

 Village Realty 

 Sun Realty 

Feedback and Suggestions: 

 Would like the County to acquire and improve existing sidewalk in Corolla Light 

 Provide fitness equipment along multi use paths 

 Increase  education on the use of low-speed vehicles (golf carts) 

 Improve signage (convey a consistent message) 

 Provide a public relations person on beach 

 Provide trashcans on the beach 

 Corolla Light Resort would like permission for use of an ATV and service vehicles 

on the beach in the early AM 

 Improve maintenance of County facilities and paths 

 Provide pet friendly areas  (i.e. dog park) 

 

34



Page | 31  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Other Comments 

 There appears to be a trend in Corolla Light Resort of a decline in the number of rental 

homes. 

2008 – 324 rental homes  

2009 – 312 rental homes  

2010 – 302 rental homes  

2011 – 307 rental homes  

2012 – 292 rental homes  

2013 – 291 rental homes  

 Currituck County owns 6 lots in Corolla Light PUD 

 

 

Buck Island 

Harry Elam  

1/25/2013 

 

Total 

Units 

Undeveloped 

Lots 

Year 

Round 

Rentals Non-

Rental  

E of 

NC12 

W of NC12 

113 8-10 8 64 18 111 2 (not in 

association) 

 

Property Management Companies with most units in Subdivision 

 Twiddy 

 

Other Comments 

 Buck Island is open to a sidewalk connection to the stoplight at Albacore Street 

 Existing pedestrian paths connect Buck Island to Albacore Street  

35



Page | 32  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

Monteray Shores 

Karen Galganski, General Manager 

1/29/2013 

 

Total 

Units 

Undeveloped 

Lots 

Year 

Round 

Rentals Non-

Rental  

E of NC12 W of 

NC12 

385 109 (+71 

maybe) 

29 108  35 350 

 

Property Management Companies with most units in Subdivision 

 Brindley 

 Resort Realty 

 

Suggested Improvements 

 Parking for ocean access is scarce (Monteray Shores usually directs visitors  to the 

Sailfish Street and Bonito  Street parking lots) 

 Provide water fountains along multi use paths 

 Provide more bathroom facilities 

 Interested in trolley/public transit 

 Provide directional signage along multi-use paths and to access points 

 Expand the multi-use path to Monteray Shores Plaza and other commercial areas 

 

Other Comments 

 There appears to be a trend of decreasing rental properties  in Monteray Shores 

 

 

 

 

36



Page | 33  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

Villages at Ocean Hill 

Vicki Garvey, Manager 

1/25/2013 

 

Total 

Units 

Undeveloped 

Lots 

Year 

Round 

Rentals Non-

Rental  

E of NC12 W of 

NC12 

244 

(9-12 

potential 

sketch) 

199 

houses 

46 Approx. 

20 (more 

rentals 

than 2nd 

homes) 

  140 (129 

homes, 11 

vacant) 

104 (69 

homes, 35 

vacant 

lots, not 

including 

well site) 

 

Suggested Improvements 

 Provide Handicapped Access to Beach 

 Tourists need help finding where they are going 

Other Comments 

 Possible abandoned well site on corner of Windance/NC12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

37



Page | 34  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Ocean Hill 

Ed Cornet, Karen Ish 

1/29/2013 

 

Total 

Units 

Undeveloped 

Lots 

Year 

Round 

Rentals Non-

Rental  

E of NC12 W of 

NC12 

113 12 9 76 16 111 2 

 

Property Management Companies with most units in Subdivision 

 Twiddy 

 

 

 

 

Pine Island  

Jeff Shields, Seaside Management, Pine Island POA 

2/15/2013 

 

Total 

Units 

Undeveloped 

Lots 

Year 

Round 

Rentals Non-

Rental  

E of NC12 W of 

NC12 

273 4 1 232 35 All 0 

 

Property Management Companies with most units in Subdivision 

 Twiddy 

 Brindley 

 Carolina Designs 

 

38



Page | 35  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Suggested Improvements 

 Dune Management is a concern and a priority 

 Explore feasibility of a Trolley service 

 Improve maintenance of Currituck County Southern Beach Access (i.e. pot holes, trim 

Russian olives)  

  

Other Comments 

 Pine Island may consider opening some accesses to the public to be eligible for beach 

nourishment funds 

 Currituck Club owners can buy beach passes to use Pine Island Pool Facility and Beach 

Access  

 

 

 

Currituck Club 

Daniel Walker, General Manager of Lighthouse Resort Services 

1/29/2013 

 

Total Units Undeveloped 

Lots 

Year 

Round 

Rentals Non-

Rental  

E of NC12 W of 

NC12 

650 

(including 

30 condo 

units at 

Windswept 

Ridge) 

405 Approx 

30 

215-230 

weekly 

rentals 

50 All 0 

 

Speculates 95% of Public Access lot use is Currituck Club Residents  

Only one ocean access for Subdivision (Yaupon) 

Trolley Service: 4 - 15 passenger trolleys, 2 run on hourly schedules, 2 backups, Served 60,000 in 

2012 (can take 1 -1.5 hrs to get to beach depending on trolley system)  

39



Page | 36  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Trolley runs from Memorial Day to Labor Day 

Use wrist band system for trolley 

Subdivision approximately 50% built  

No sound access: Boat Ramp near Historic Loop – if property changes hands=no boat ramp 

Rental companies allow parking in commercial center 

 

Property Management Companies with most units in Subdivision 

 Village Realty (approx. 50%) 

 Paramount 

 By Owner (approx. 20) 

 

Suggested Improvements 

 Provide Trash cans on beach 

 Provide trash pick up of tents/umbrellas 

 Maintain Currituck County Southern Beach Access (clear vegetation) 

 Provide more bike racks Currituck County Southern Beach Access 

 Provide more parking spaces at Currituck County Southern Beach Access (lot is full) 

 Provide parking for golf carts at Currituck County Southern Beach Access 

 

Other Comments 

 Subdivision has a problem with trespassing (people enter to use sidewalks) 

 Possible Trend: Year round resident properties have decreased 

 Rentals have increased; season is extending into fall 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

40



Page | 37  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Whalehead 

Terry Ruggles, President of Whalehead Property Owner’s Association 

5/3/2013 Conference call 

2 ¾ miles of oceanfront, 4 east/west streets (Shad, Albacore, Bonito, Dolphin) 

Property Management Companies with most units in Subdivision 

 Twiddy 

 Kitty Dunes  

 

Suggested Improvements 

 Improved signage on 12 

 Improved accesses (foot towers, showers, landscaping, signage) 

 

41



Page | 38  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Appendix D:  Stakeholder Questions 

 

Home Owner Association Questions  

 How many total units are in the development? 

 How many undeveloped lots are in the development? 

 How many year-round, rentals or second homes are in the development? 

 How many units are on the West side of NC 12 (if applicable)? 

 How many ocean and sound accesses are there in the development? 

 Does the community have future plans for infrastructure (access, sidewalks, and/or 

renovations)? 

 What are the approximate annual costs to maintain the existing amenities in the 

development? 

 How can the County improve access to the beach, sound, commercial areas, or cultural 

sites? 

 Are there types of infrastructure that would improve access or improve the user 

experience to the beach, sound, commercial areas, or cultural sites? 

 Is there consistent feedback you receive from visitors about their stay in Corolla?  Is 

there consistent feedback you receive specifically related to ocean and sound access, side 

paths, facilities, and their ability to move between destinations? 

 Are there restrictions on County-sponsored signage within the development? (i.e. rules 

of the beach or directional signs) 

 Which realty company manages the majority of properties in the development? 

 

Realty and Property Management Company Questions  

 Is there consistent feedback you receive from visitors about their stay in Corolla?  Is 

there consistent feedback you receive specifically related to ocean and sound access, side 

paths, facilities, and their ability to move between destinations? 

 How many houses are managed in each subdivision and the location (east or west side 

of NC 12)? 

 What is the best way to disseminate information to visitors about rules of beach, 

importance of dunes, public accesses, etc? 

 Marketability – what makes a difference?  What factors make a house more desirable? 

 What characteristics or factors increase the value of rentals (OF, Semi OF, Sound side) 

 How can the County work with realty companies and the community to make the 

visitor stay more enjoyable? 

 How can the County improve access to destinations including commercial sites, cultural 

opportunities, and beach/sound accesses?  

 Are there things the County can do or implement (i.e. infrastructure or services) that 

would increase the value of a rental? 

42



Page | 39  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Appendix E:  User Survey 

1. Where are you from? 

  

 

 

2. Where are you staying? 

 

 

 

3. How did you get here? 

 

 

4. A. Where do you typically access the ocean or sound? [Check one] 

 Whalehead subdivision public access(s) 

 Currituck Southern Outer Banks access (across from ABC store) 

 Corolla Village Road (across from Currituck Lighthouse) 

 Private subdivision access 

 Off-road area access (4-wheel drive area) 

 Other: _____________________________ 

 

B. How do you typically get to a beach or sound access? [Check all that apply] 

 Drive 

 Bike 

 Walk 

 Shuttle 

 Combination (please explain): _____________________ 

 Other: ___________________________ 

 

5. What types of amenities would you like to see at a beach or sound access? [Check all 

that apply] 

 Bathhouse ( enclosed changing room, shower, restroom)  

 Restroom 

 Water fountain 

 Trash cans/ recycle bins 

 Bike racks 

 Picnic tables 

 Wheelchair access (ADA) 

 Shaded seating area 

 Boardwalk 

43



40 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

Appendix F:  Projects  

 

ID # 
Project 

Description Need Constraints Cost Maintenance 

Next Steps 
(Study/Purchase/ 

Design/Improvement) 

 Multi-Use Paths (M) Provide a safe, alternate 
means of movement for 
pedestrians and cyclists from 
County line to 4x4 area.   

   $800,000/linear mile  
(does not include 
lighting) 

 Approximate Total:  
$8,880,000 (all 
proposed multi use paths) 

 

 Mowing 

 Trimming 

 Weeding beds 

 Sand/debris removal 

 Watering/Irrigation 

 $27,000/mile 
 

 

M1 Albacore Street to Schooner Road 
Monteray Plaza (Food Lion)/Timbuck II/Southern Whalehead 
Subdivision to The Shoppes at Currituck Club/Harris Teeter) 
Construct multi use path in the right of way on the east side of NC 
12.   
 
Length of path:  1.9 miles, .13 wet 
 

  Obtain NC DOT 
encroachment agreement  

 Areas around Schooner (in 
front of Harris Teeter) and 
NC 12 Intersection may be 
widened or impacted by 
bridge design. 

$1,520,000   Obtain NC DOT 
Encroachment 
Agreement 

 Design 

 Build 

M2 Audubon:  Phase I A 
Southern County Line to Audubon Drive(Hampton Inn) 
 
Partner with Audubon to improve existing path with immediate 
improvements such as benches, landscaping, interpretative 
signage, and wildlife observation platforms.  
 
Length of path: 2.5 miles, 2.35 wet 
 

  Site Control     

M3 Schooner Road to Yaupon Lane 
The Shoppes at Currituck Club/Harris Teeter to Southern Currituck 
Beach Access(Bathhouse)  
Construct multi use path in the right of way on the east side of NC 
12.   
 
Length of path:  1.7 miles, .38 wet 

  Obtain NC DOT 
encroachment agreement  

 Several areas in the ROW 
are narrow.  May have to 
taper path or obtain 
easements 

 Ocean Sands: Sections A, B, 
C have 17 driveway 
crossings on east side of 
NC12 and 22 driveway 
crossings on west side of 
NC12  

 Areas around Schooner (in 
front of Harris Teeter) and 
NC 12 Intersection may be 
widened or impacted by 
bridge design 
 

$1,360,000   Obtain NC DOT 
Encroachment 
Agreement 

 Design 

 Build 

44



Page | 41  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

M4 Albacore Street to Dolphin Street 
Commercial Areas from Timbuck II/Monteray Plaza to Bank of 
Currituck 
 
Construct multi use path in the right of way on the east and west 
sides of NC12. Also include connection to existing Monteray Shores 
bike path.    
 
Length of path:  .3 miles, .04 wet 

Paths on both sides needed 
to provide safe access to all 
commercial destinations.     

 Obtain NC DOT 
encroachment agreement 

 This section of NC12 may be 
widened or impacted by 
bridge design. 

$480,000   Obtain NC DOT 
Encroachment 
Agreement 

 Design 

 Build 
 

M5 Audubon:  Phase 2 
Audubon Drive (Hampton Inn) to Yaupon Lane (Southern Outer 
Banks Beach Access (Bathhouse)/Ocean Club Centre Shopping 
 
Partner with Audubon to construct a multi use path on Audubon 
property from the Audubon Drive to Yaupon Ln.  Evaluate 
potential locations for wildlife observation platforms.   
 
Length of path: 1.4 miles, .2 wet 

  Obtaining Site control 

 Budget 

   Obtain site control 

 Design 

 Build 

M6 Audubon:  Phase I B  
Southern County Line to Audubon Drive(Hampton Inn) 
 
Partner with Audubon to construct a multi use path on Audubon 
property from the County line to Audubon Drive.  Also coordinate 
with Town of Duck for possible Southern connection.  Evaluate 
potential locations for wildlife observation platforms and 
interpretative signage.  
 
Length of path: 2.5 miles, 2.35 wet 

  Obtaining Site control 

 Budget 

   Obtain site control 

 Design 

 Build 

M7 Monteray Shores to Corolla Light  
Connect existing path at Ocean Forest Court (Monteray Shores) to 
existing Corolla Light Path (North of Corolla Light Sports Center)  
 
Construct multi use path in the right of way on the west side of 
Highway 12. 
 
Length of path:  .7 miles, .04 wet 

  This area is the potential 
terminus for the bridge and 
will be widened or impacted 
by bridge design. 

 

$560,000   Obtain NC DOT 
Encroachment 
Agreement 

 Design 

 Build 

M8 Monteray Shores Bike Path-   
Dolphin Street to Ocean Forest Court 
Acquire existing multi use path, redesign, and improve (widen)   
 
Length of path: 1.4 miles, .41 wet 
 
 

  Depending on areas to be 
improved or widened may 
need NC DOT encroachment 
agreement or easement from 
property owner 

Cost per linear mile may 
increase if include removal of 
existing path 

  Obtain portions of 
path on private 
property 

 Explore redesign and 
modification 

M9 Corolla Light Bike Path 
South of Corolla Light Sports Center to Club Road (The Whalehead 
Club) 
 

  Depending on areas to be 
improved or widened may 
need NC DOT encroachment 
agreement or easement from 

Cost per linear mile may 
increase if include removal of 
existing path 

  Obtain portions of 
path on private 
property 

 Explore redesign and 

45



Page | 42  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

Acquire existing multi use path, redesign, and improve (widen) 
 
Length of path: 1.2 miles, .04 wet 
 
 

property owner modification 

 
Beach Access Improvements (BA) 

  
 

  

 Whalehead Beach Access Improvements 
Redesign beach accesses to accommodate handicap access (roll 
out matting) and parking, kiss and ride (where feasible and 
appropriate), bicycle parking, and foot tower showers at the 
following locations: 

 
BA1:   Albacore:  60’ ROW Width 
BA 2:  Shad:  70’ ROW Width 
BA 3:  Dolphin:  60’ ROW Width  
BA 4:  Herring: 60’ ROW Width 

 Currently there are no 
handicap accessible 
beach crossovers or 
handicap parking areas 
close to beach accesses  

 Existing beach accesses 
are littered with bikes, 
wagons, and strollers 
making it difficult to 
access the crossover.  
Often bikes are laying on 
the shoulder of Lighthouse 
Dr. 

 

 Several of the accesses have 
limited space 

 Cost for hook up to water to 
provide foot tower shower 

 Roll Out Matting: $1500 for 
30’ 

 Beach Wheelchairs 
$2000/ea. 

 

  Develop conceptual 
site plan/schematic, 
phasing (if needed), 
and renderings (if 
needed).   

 Develop construction 
level drawings 

 Bid/Award  

 Construct 

 

Whalehead Beach Parking Lots (P) 

  

NA 

  

 Whalehead Beach Parking Lot Improvements 
Improve existing parking lots to be more user-friendly and 
aesthetically pleasing.  Includes landscaping, trash cans, benches, 
shade, etc. 

 
P1:   Bonito 
P2:   Shad 
P3:   Sturgeon 
P4:   Sailfish  

     Develop conceptual 
site plan/schematic, 
phasing (if needed), 
and renderings (if 
needed).   

 Develop construction 
level drawings 

 Bid/Award  

 Construct 

 
Sidewalks (SW) 

  
NA 

  

 Whalehead Beach Sidewalk Improvements  
Design and construct sidewalks to connect NC 12 to Lighthouse 
Drive at the following beach access points:  
 
SW1:  Albacore:  60’ ROW Width/ 463’ length 
SW 2:  Shad:  70’ ROW Width / 458’ length 
SW 3:  Bonito: 45’ ROW/ 460’ Length; Improve existing sidewalk 
SW 4:  Dolphin: 60’ ROW Width/ 461’ length; appears to be 
more   room for improvement on the north side of ROW.   
SW 5: Sailfish: Paper Street connection to NC12 
SW6: Perch:  Pedestrian/Bike connection through Corolla Shores 
Development 

Provide a safe, alternate 
means of movement for 
pedestrians and cyclists from 
Hwy 12 to Lighthouse Dr. 

 Limited ROW width  

 Dolphin:  Small ditch along 
both sides of road 

   Obtain NC DOT 
Encroachment 
Agreement 

 Develop conceptual 
site plan/schematic, 
phasing (if needed), 
and renderings (if 
needed).   

 Develop construction 
level drawings 

 Bid/Award  

 Construct 

46



Page | 43  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 Bath House (BH)      

BH1 Corolla Village Road Bath House 
Construct Bathhouse on Corolla Village Road adjacent to Heritage 
Park and Currituck Lighthouse – incorporate handicap features, 
provide parking close to beach access point for handicapped and 
elderly, include air up/air down if possible 

To provide restroom and 
showering facilities for visitors  

 No site control  Building Cost:  $750,000 

 Land Cost:  
Approximately $100-
150,000 

 Approximately $11,000  Develop conceptual 
site plan/schematic, 
phasing (if needed), 
and renderings (if 
needed).   

 Develop construction 
level drawings 

 Bid/Award  

 Construct 
 

BH2 Corolla Village Road- Bath House Parking 
Short term parking and ADA improvements 

  

 

  Develop conceptual 
site plan/schematic, 
phasing (if needed), 
and renderings (if 
needed).   

 Develop construction 
level drawings 

 Bid/Award  

 Construct 
 

BH3 Trailhead and Parking Area (Turnpike Property across from 
Yaupon Lane)   
Design and build a trailhead and parking area to serve the 
Audubon multi use path and overflow parking for the Yaupon St. 
Bath House.  

  Site Control    Develop conceptual 
site plan/schematic, 
phasing (if needed), 
and renderings (if 
needed).   

 Develop construction 
level drawings 

 Bid/Award  

 Construct 
 
 
 

BH4 Southern Beach Access Improvements 
Redesign and add ADA spaces 

  

 

  Develop conceptual 
site plan/schematic, 
phasing (if needed), 
and renderings (if 
needed).   

 Develop construction 
level drawings 

 Bid/Award  

 Construct 
 

47



Page | 44  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

BH5 Herring Street Bath House 
Design and Construct bath house at Herring Street 

  Site control  Building Cost:  $750,000  Approximately $11,000  Obtain site control 

 Develop conceptual 
site plan/schematic, 
phasing (if needed), 
and renderings (if 
needed).   

 Develop construction 
level drawings 

 Bid/Award  

 Construct 

 

Currituck Sound Access (CS) 

  

NA 

  

CS1 County Property, 10 acre Sound Front 
North of Corolla Bay on west side of NC12 
Phased master plan for parcel including immediate use for sound 
access and long term design objectives 

   Approximately $200,000   Develop conceptual 
site plan/schematic, 
phasing (if needed), 
and renderings (if 
needed).   

 Develop construction 
level drawings 

 Bid/Award  

 Construct 

 Construct sound 
access and parking 

 
 
 

CS2 Whalehead Club-  Sound front boardwalk connection 
Improve usage of sound front.  Design and construct boardwalk 
and fishing/crabbing/educational platforms to connect gazebo by 
the bridge to the State boardwalk north of the Wildlife Education 
Center.   

   $28/Square Foot per Town 
of Duck 

  Develop conceptual 
site plan/schematic, 
phasing (if needed), 
and renderings (if 
needed).   

 Develop construction 
level drawings 

 Bid/Award  

 Construct 

CS3 Whalehead Club Boat Access 
Improve usage of sound front at Whalehead Club through design 
and installation of small boat slips (20’ or less), docking pier, 
boardwalks, kayak launch, and fishing/crabbing platforms.   

   $28/Square Foot per Town 
of Duck 

  Develop conceptual 
site plan/schematic, 
phasing (if needed), 
and renderings (if 
needed).   

 Develop construction 
level drawings 

 Bid/Award  

 Construct 

48



Page | 45  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

Public Transportation(PT) 

  

 

  

PT1 Investigate need and interest in public transportation that links 
neighborhoods to cultural, commercial, and natural destinations 
including beach and sound access points. 

  Site control for pick up 
locations 

 Cost 
 

 

  Study 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Signage (S) 

  

 

  

S1 Vehicular Signage 
Create and develop branded signage including but not limited to:    

 Safety related signs for multi use paths:  yield to pedestrians, 
multi use path crossing ahead, etc. 

 Wayfinding/Directional signage:  
o  ID for destinations  
o mileage to destinations 
o Consistent system (similar to MP system) of referencing 

location within Currituck Outer Banks 

 Consistent public beach access signage 
 

   Cost of Signage depends on 
need for public safety and 
aesthetics. 
 

 Request NC DOT to 
study and install 
safety related 
signage where 
appropriate 

 Work with Consultant 
to study appropriate 
way finding signage 

S2 Pedestrians and Cyclist Signage 
Create and develop branded signage including but not limited to:   

 Safety related signs for multi use paths:  stop signs, crossing 
ahead, yield to traffic 

 Location map- beach/sound access points, multi use path trail 
system, and destinations 

 Way finding/Directional signage:  ID for destinations and 
mileage to destinations 

 Street name signs at crossovers on road and ocean side 

 Lighthouse Drive Signed Bike Route (Albemarle Regional 
Bicycle Plan) 
 

   Cost of signed Lighthouse Drive 
bike route (3.6 miles) $12,000 
per Albemarle Regional 
Bicycle Plan 
 
Cost of Signage depends on 
need for public safety and 
aesthetics. 
 

 Request NC DOT to 
study and install 
safety related 
signage where 
appropriate 

 Work with Consultant 
to study appropriate 
way finding signage 

S3 Interpretive Signage 
Evaluate and locate areas for interpretative signage that educate 
and inform users about local history, culture, and natural 
environment 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Depends on number of 
selections and type of signage 

 

49



Page | 46  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

Safety (SA) 

  

 

  

SA1 Pedestrian Crosswalks 
4. Install pedestrian crosswalks at NC 12 and:   

 N. Harbor View 

 Shad 

  Herring 

  Albacore (stripe all 4 sides) 

 Schooner  

 Spindrift 

 Audubon Dr 
 

5. Install pedestrian crosswalks at Lighthouse and:  

 Shad 

 Tuna  

 Sturgeon 

 Perch 

 Mackerel (needs pedestrian sign only, crosswalk 
existing) 

 Bonito (needs pedestrian sign only, crosswalk existing) 

 Dolphin (needs restriping) 

 Albacore 
 

6. Install traffic calming mechanisms and/or pedestrian 
crossing island 

 Yaupon Lane/Old Stoney Road 

 Corolla Village Road 
 
***Petition NC DOT to install crosswalks on NC DOT streets 

   Cost for each thermoplastic 
reflective paint striping  
$1500 

 Request NC DOT to 
install crosswalks 

SA2 Outreach 

 Design and create multi use path map for Corolla that 
reflects connections to all destinations and beach/sound 
accesses 

 Coordinate with the Tourism Department  

     Coordinate with 
tourism 

SA3 Signalized Lights 
Petition NC DOT to modify existing stop lights to pedestrian 
signalized lights at the following locations: 

 Albacore and NC 12 

 Schooner Ridge/Currituck Clubhouse Drive and NC12 
 
 
 
 
 

     Request NC DOT to 
look into signalized 
lights 

50



Page | 47  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

SA4 Air Up/Air Down Stations and Vehicle Pull Off’s  
Identify areas for and install air up and air down stations for users 
of the off road area.   
Potential locations include: 

 ROW VOH Well field (east side Hwy 12, air down) 

 ROW VOH Pocket Park  or south of pocket park (VOH 
Open Space)(west side Hwy 12, vehicle pull off) 

 County Satellite office or ROW in front 

 Whalehead Club 

 10 acre county parcel adjacent to Corolla Bay 

 Southern Outer Banks Water Department or ROW 

 Proposed Corolla Village Bathhouse, Corolla Village Road  

  Site control 

 Southern Outer Banks Water 
Department Site potential 
conflict with spike strip 
 

 Air compressors to service 6 
cars: $10,000 does not 
include site improvements 

  Select locations for 
stations 

 Install equipment 

 Publicize locations 

 

51



48 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

Appendix G:  Maps 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

52



49 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

53



50 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

54



51 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

55



52 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

56



53 | P a g e  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

57



Page | 54  

Connecting Corolla:   

Bike, Pedestrian, Access & Wayfinding Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

58



 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Currituck County 
Agenda Item Summary Sheet

Agenda Item Title 
 
PB 13-22 Currituck County:  Request to amend the Unified Development Ordinance Chapter 2: Administration to revise 
standards relating to the Board of Adjustment so that they are consistent with the North Carolina General Statutes. 
 
 

Brief Description of Agenda Item 
 
The enclosed text amendment submitted by the Currituck County Planning and Community Development 
Department is intended to make the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) consistent with Session Law 
2013-126 House Bill 276, an act to clarify and modernize statues regarding zoning boards of 
adjustment.  The notable changes include: 
 

 Allowing parties to have 30 days from receipt of written notice of a determination or 
violation to file an appeal to the Board of Adjustment. (Currently appeals for notices of 
violations must filed within 10 days) 

 Modifying the findings of fact required to grant a variance.  

 Allowing the Board of Adjustment to affirm, reverse, or modify an appeal of a 
determination/violation with a majority vote. (Currently a 4/5ths vote is required to reverse 
or modified a determination/violation) 

 
Planning Board Motion: 
Mr. Cartwright moved to approve PB 13-22 due to its consistency with the 2006 Land Use Plan and that 
the request is reasonable and in the public interest and promotes orderly growth and development.  Mr. 
Bell seconded the motion.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
 

 
Board Action Requested 
 
Action 
 
 

Person Submitting Agenda Item 
 
 
Ben Woody 
 
 

Presenter of Agenda Item 
 
 
Ben Woody 
 

59



PB 13-22 
BOA Text Amendment 

Page 1 of 5 
 

 
         

      Currituck County 
Planning and Community Development Department 

Planning and Zoning Division 
153 Courthouse Road, Suite 110 
Currituck, North Carolina  27929 

252-232-3055     FAX 252-232-3026 
 
 

To:   Board of Commissioners  
 
From: Planning Staff 
  
Date: September 12, 2013 
 
Subject: PB 13-22 Board of Adjustment  
 
 
The enclosed text amendment submitted by the Currituck County Planning and Community 
Development Department is intended to make the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) 
consistent with Session Law 2013-126 House Bill 276, an act to clarify and modernize statues 
regarding zoning boards of adjustment.  The notable changes include: 
 

 Allowing parties to have 30 days from receipt of written notice of a determination 
or violation to file an appeal to the Board of Adjustment. (Currently appeals for 
notices of violations must filed within 10 days) 

 Modifying the findings of fact required to grant a variance.  
 Allowing the Board of Adjustment to affirm, reverse, or modify an appeal of a 

determination/violation with a majority vote. (Currently a 4/5ths vote is required to 
reverse or modified a determination/violation) 

 
The law (attached) becomes effective October 1st, 2013. 
 
The Planning Board recommended unanimous approval at their September 10, 2013 meeting.

60



PB 13-22 
BOA Text Amendment 

Page 2 of 5 
 

PLANNING BOARD DISCUSSION (9-10-13) 
There was no discussion. 
 
ACTION 
Mr. Cartwright moved to approve PB 13-22 due to its consistency with the 2006 Land Use Plan 
and that the request is reasonable and in the public interest and promotes orderly growth and 
development.  Mr. Bell seconded the motion.  Motion carried unanimously. 

61



PB 13-22 
BOA Text Amendment 

Page 3 of 5 
 

 
HOUSE KEEPING 

UDO AMENDMENT REQUEST 
 
Amendment to the Unified Development Ordinance Chapter 2: Administration to revise 
standards relating to the Board of Adjustment so that they are consistent with the North 
Carolina General Statutes.  
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Commissioners of the County of Currituck, North Carolina that 
the Unified Development Ordinance of the County of Currituck be amended as follows: 
 
Item 1: That Section 2.2.4 Board of Adjustment is amended by adding the following 
underlined language and deleting the strikethrough language: 
 

E.  Quorum and Necessary Vote 

(1)  Quorum 

Four members of the Board of Adjustment shall constitute a quorum. No official 
business of the Board shall be conducted without a quorum present. 

(2)  Voting 

(a)  The concurring vote of four-fifths (4/5) of the total number of members of the 
Board of Adjustment shall be necessary to grant any variance or approve any 
appeal reversing or modifying a decision.  A majority vote shall be required to 
decide an appeal application.  

(b)  Vacant positions and members who are disqualified from participating in or 
voting on a quasi-judicial matter in accordance with the North Carolina 
General Statutes shall not be considered members of the board if there are 
no qualified alternate members available to replace disqualified members. 

  
Item 2: That Section 2.4.14 Variance is amended by adding the following underlined 
language, deleting the strikethrough language, and renumbering accordingly: 
 

D.  Variance Review Standards 

A variance shall be approved on a finding the applicant demonstrates all of the following 
standards are met: 

(1)  Strict compliance with the provisions of the Ordinance results in no reasonable use 
of the land;  

(2)  The alleged hardship is suffered by the applicant as a result of the application of this 
Ordinance; 

(3)  The hardship relates to the applicant's land, such as location, size, or topography, 
rather than personal circumstances; 

(4)  The hardship is unique, or nearly so, rather than one shared by many surrounding 
properties; 

(5)  The hardship is not the result of the applicant's own actions; and 

(6)  The variance will neither result in the extension of a nonconformity nor not 
authorize the initiation of a nonconforming use of land. 

62



PB 13-22 
BOA Text Amendment 

Page 4 of 5 
 

 
Item 3: That Section 2.4.17 Appeal is amended by adding the following underlined language, 
deleting the strikethrough language, and renumbering accordingly: 
 

B.  Initiation  

An appeal shall be initiated by filing a written Notice of Appeal with the Planning Director 
within: 

(1)  Thirty days of the date of the interpretation or decision, or notice of violation being 
appealed; or. 

(2)  Ten days of the date of the notice of violation being appealed. 

 

C.  Appeal Procedure 

(8)  Decision-Making Body Review and Decision   

(a)  Applicable (see Section 2.3.10). The Board of Adjustment, following a quasi-
judicial public hearing (see Section 2.3.8.C) shall decide the application for the 
appeal. The decision shall be based solely on the record of the appeal, as 
supplemented by arguments presented at the public hearing, and the standards 
in Section 2.4.17.D, Appeal Review Standards. The decision shall be one of the 
following: 
(i)  Affirmation of the decision or interpretation (in whole or in part); 

(ii)  Modification of the decision or interpretation (in whole or in part); or  

(iii)  Reversal of the decision or interpretation (in whole or in part). 

(b)  A vote to reverse or modify a decision or interpretation shall require a 
four/fifths majority of Board of Adjustment members present and voting. 

 
 

Item 4: The provisions of this Ordinance are severable and if any of its provisions or any 
sentence, clause, or paragraph or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be 
held unconstitutional or violative of the Laws of the State of North Carolina by any court of 
competent jurisdiction, the decision of such court shall not affect or impair any of the remaining 
provisions which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application. 
 
Item 5: This ordinance amendment shall be in effect from and after the    day of 
   , 2013. 
 
 
      
Board of Commissioners’ Chairman 
Attest: 
 
 
      
Mary S. Gilbert 
Clerk to the Board 
 

63



PB 13-22 
BOA Text Amendment 

Page 5 of 5 
 

DATE ADOPTED:     
MOTION TO ADOPT BY COMMISSIONER:        
SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER:         
 VOTE:   AYES  NAYS   
 
PLANNING BOARD DATE:     
PLANNING BOARD RECOMMENDATION:         
 VOTE:   AYES   NAYS    
ADVERTISEMENT DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING:        
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS PUBLIC HEARING:        
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS ACTION:     
POSTED IN UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE:        
AMENDMENT NUMBER:    
 

 
  

64



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF NORTH CAROLINA 

SESSION 2013 

 
 

SESSION LAW 2013-126 
HOUSE BILL 276 

 
 

*H276-v-6* 

AN ACT TO CLARIFY AND MODERNIZE STATUTES REGARDING ZONING BOARDS 
OF ADJUSTMENT. 

 
The General Assembly of North Carolina enacts: 

 
SECTION 1.  G.S. 160A-388 reads as rewritten: 

"§ 160A-388.  Board of adjustment. 
(a) Composition and Duties. – The city council zoning or unified development 

ordinance may provide for the appointment and compensation of a board of adjustment 
consisting of five or more members, each to be appointed for three years. In appointing the 
original members of such board, members or in the filling of vacancies caused by the expiration 
of the terms of existing members, the city council may appoint certain members for less than 
three years to the end so that thereafter the terms of all members shall not expire at the same 
time. The council may, in its discretion, may appoint and provide compensation for alternate 
members to serve on the board in the absence or temporary disqualification of any regular 
member or to fill a vacancy pending appointment of a member. Alternate members shall be 
appointed for the same term, at the same time, and in the same manner as regular members. 
Each alternate member, while attending any regular or special meeting of the board and 
member serving on behalf of any regular member, shall have and may exercise member has all 
the powers and duties of a regular member. A city The ordinance may designate a planning 
board or governing board to perform any or all of the duties of a board of adjustment in 
addition to its other duties.duties and may create and designate specialized boards to hear 
technical appeals. 

(a1) Provisions of Ordinance. – The zoning or unified development ordinance may 
provide that the board of adjustment hear and decide special and conditional use permits, 
requests for variances, and appeals of decisions of administrative officials charged with 
enforcement of the ordinance. As used in this section, the term "decision" includes any final 
and binding order, requirement, or determination. The board of adjustment shall follow 
quasi-judicial procedures when deciding appeals and requests for variances and special and 
conditional use permits. The board shall hear and decide all matters upon which it is required to 
pass under any statute or ordinance that regulates land use or development. 

(a2) Notice of Hearing. – Notice of hearings conducted pursuant to this section shall be 
mailed to the person or entity whose appeal, application, or request is the subject of the hearing; 
to the owner of the property that is the subject of the hearing if the owner did not initiate the 
hearing; to the owners of all parcels of land abutting the parcel of land that is the subject of the 
hearing; and to any other persons entitled to receive notice as provided by the zoning or unified 
development ordinance. In the absence of evidence to the contrary, the city may rely on the 
county tax listing to determine owners of property entitled to mailed notice. The notice must be 
deposited in the mail at least 10 days, but not more than 25 days, prior to the date of the 
hearing. Within that same time period, the city shall also prominently post a notice of the 
hearing on the site that is the subject of the hearing or on an adjacent street or highway 
right-of-way. 

(b) A zoning ordinance or those provisions of a unified development ordinance adopted 
pursuant to the authority granted in this Part shall provide that the board of adjustment shall 
hear and decide appeals from and review any order, requirement, decision, or determination 
made by an administrative official charged with the enforcement of that ordinance. An appeal 
may be taken by any person aggrieved or by an officer, department, board, or bureau of the 
city. Appeals shall be taken within times prescribed by the board of adjustment by general rule, 

65



Page 2 Session Law 2013-126 House Bill 276 

by filing with the officer from whom the appeal is taken and with the board of adjustment a 
notice of appeal, specifying the grounds thereof. The officer from whom the appeal is taken 
shall forthwith transmit to the board all the papers constituting the record upon which the action 
appealed from was taken. An appeal stays all proceedings in furtherance of the action appealed 
from, unless the officer from whom the appeal is taken certifies to the board of adjustment, 
after notice of appeal has been filed with him, that because of facts stated in the certificate a 
stay would, in his opinion, cause imminent peril to life or property or that because the violation 
charged is transitory in nature a stay would seriously interfere with enforcement of the 
ordinance. In that case proceedings shall not be stayed except by a restraining order, which may 
be granted by the board of adjustment or by a court of record on application, on notice to the 
officer from whom the appeal is taken and on due cause shown. The board of adjustment shall 
fix a reasonable time for the hearing of the appeal, give due notice thereof to the parties, and 
decide it within a reasonable time. The board of adjustment may reverse or affirm, wholly or 
partly, or may modify the order, requirement, decision, or determination appealed from, and 
shall make any order, requirement, decision, or determination that in its opinion ought to be 
made in the premises. To this end the board shall have all the powers of the officer from whom 
the appeal is taken. 

(b1) Appeals. – The board of adjustment shall hear and decide appeals decisions of 
administrative officials charged with enforcement of the zoning or unified development 
ordinance and may hear appeals arising out of any other ordinance that regulates land use or 
development, pursuant to all of the following: 

(1) Any person who has standing under G.S. 160A-393(d) or the city may 
appeal a decision to the board of adjustment. An appeal is taken by filing a 
notice of appeal with the city clerk. The notice of appeal shall state the 
grounds for the appeal. 

(2) The official who made the decision shall give written notice to the owner of 
the property that is the subject of the decision and to the party who sought 
the decision, if different from the owner. The written notice shall be 
delivered by personal delivery, electronic mail, or by first-class mail. 

(3) The owner or other party shall have 30 days from receipt of the written 
notice within which to file an appeal. Any other person with standing to 
appeal shall have 30 days from receipt from any source of actual or 
constructive notice of the decision within which to file an appeal. 

(4) It shall be conclusively presumed that all persons with standing to appeal 
have constructive notice of the decision from the date a sign containing the 
words "Zoning Decision" or "Subdivision Decision" in letters at least six 
inches high and identifying the means to contact an official for information 
about the decision is prominently posted on the property that is the subject of 
the decision, provided the sign remains on the property for at least 10 days. 
Posting of signs is not the only form of constructive notice. Any such 
posting shall be the responsibility of the landowner or applicant. Verification 
of the posting shall be provided to the official who made the decision. 
Absent an ordinance provision to the contrary, posting of signs shall not be 
required. 

(5) The official who made the decision shall transmit to the board all documents 
and exhibits constituting the record upon which the action appealed from is 
taken. The official shall also provide a copy of the record to the appellant 
and to the owner of the property that is the subject of the appeal if the 
appellant is not the owner. 

(6) An appeal of a notice of violation or other enforcement order stays 
enforcement of the action appealed from unless the official who made the 
decision certifies to the board of adjustment after notice of appeal has been 
filed that because of the facts stated in an affidavit, a stay would cause 
imminent peril to life or property or because the violation is transitory in 
nature, a stay would seriously interfere with enforcement of the ordinance. 
In that case, enforcement proceedings shall not be stayed except by a 
restraining order, which may be granted by a court. If enforcement 
proceedings are not stayed, the appellant may file with the official a request 
for an expedited hearing of the appeal, and the board of adjustment shall 

66



House Bill 276 Session Law 2013-126 Page 3 

meet to hear the appeal within 15 days after such a request is filed. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, appeals of decisions granting a permit or 
otherwise affirming that a proposed use of property is consistent with the 
ordinance shall not stay the further review of an application for permits or 
permissions to use such property; in these situations the appellant may 
request and the board may grant a stay of a final decision of permit 
applications or building permits affected by the issue being appealed. 

(7) Subject to the provisions of subdivision (6) of this subsection, the board of 
adjustment shall hear and decide the appeal within a reasonable time. 

(8) The official who made the decision shall be present at the hearing as a 
witness. The appellant shall not be limited at the hearing to matters stated in 
the notice of appeal. If any party or the city would be unduly prejudiced by 
the presentation of matters not presented in the notice of appeal, the board 
shall continue the hearing. The board of adjustment may reverse or affirm, 
wholly or partly, or may modify the decision appealed from and shall make 
any order, requirement, decision, or determination that ought to be made. 
The board shall have all the powers of the official who made the decision. 

(9) When hearing an appeal pursuant to G.S. 160A-400.9(e) or any other appeal 
in the nature of certiorari, the hearing shall be based on the record below and 
the scope of review shall be as provided in G.S. 160A-393(k). 

(10) The parties to an appeal that has been made under this subsection may agree 
to mediation or other forms of alternative dispute resolution. The ordinance 
may set standards and procedures to facilitate and manage such voluntary 
alternative dispute resolution. 

(c) Special and Conditional Use Permits. – The zoning ordinance may provide that the 
board of adjustment may permit special exceptions to the zoning regulations in specified 
classes of cases or situations as provided in subsection (d) of this section, not including 
variances in permitted uses, and that the board may use hear and decide special and conditional 
use permits, all to be permits in accordance with the principles, conditions, safeguards, 
standards and procedures specified in the ordinance. Reasonable and appropriate conditions 
may be imposed upon these permits.The ordinance may also authorize the board to interpret 
zoning maps and pass upon disputed questions of lot lines or district boundary lines and similar 
questions as they arise in the administration of the ordinance. The board shall hear and decide 
all matters referred to it or upon which it is required to pass under any zoning ordinance. 

(d) Variances. – When practical difficulties or unnecessary hardships would result from 
carrying out the strict letter of a zoning ordinance, the board of adjustment shall have the power 
to vary or modify any of the regulations or provisions of the ordinance so that provisions of the 
ordinance upon a showing of all of the following: 

(1) Unnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the 
ordinance. It shall not be necessary to demonstrate that, in the absence of the 
variance, no reasonable use can be made of the property. 

(2) The hardship results from conditions that are peculiar to the property, such 
as location, size, or topography. Hardships resulting from personal 
circumstances, as well as hardships resulting from conditions that are 
common to the neighborhood or the general public, may not be the basis for 
granting a variance. 

(3) The hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the 
property owner. The act of purchasing property with knowledge that 
circumstances exist that may justify the granting of a variance shall not be 
regarded as a self-created hardship. 

(4) The requested variance is consistent with the spirit spirit, purpose, and intent 
of the ordinance shall be observed, ordinance, such that public safety and 
welfare secured, safety is secured, and substantial justice done. is achieved. 

No change in permitted uses may be authorized by variance. Appropriate conditions, which 
must be reasonably related to the condition or circumstance that gives rise to the need for a 
variance, may be imposed on any approval issued by the board.Appropriate conditions may be 
imposed on any variance, provided that the conditions are reasonably related to the variance. 
Any other ordinance that regulates land use or development may provide for variances 
consistent with the provisions of this subsection. 

67



Page 4 Session Law 2013-126 House Bill 276 

(e) Voting. –  
(1) The concurring vote of four-fifths of the members of the board shall be 

necessary to reverse any order, requirement, decision, or determination of 
any administrative official charged with the enforcement of an ordinance 
adopted pursuant to this Part, or to decide in favor of the applicant any 
matter upon which it is required to pass under any ordinance, or to grant a 
variance from the provisions of the ordinance. grant a variance. A majority 
of the members shall be required to decide any other quasi-judicial matter or 
to determine an appeal made in the nature of certiorari. For the purposes of 
this subsection, vacant positions on the board and members who are 
disqualified from voting on a quasi-judicial matter shall not be considered 
"members of the board"members of the board for calculation of the requisite 
supermajority majority if there are no qualified alternates available to take 
the place of such members. 

(e1) A member of the board or any other body exercising quasi-judicial functions 
pursuant to this Article shall not participate in or vote on any quasi-judicial matter in a manner 
that would violate affected persons' constitutional rights to an impartial decision maker. 
Impermissible conflicts include, but are not limited to, a member having a fixed opinion prior 
to hearing the matter that is not susceptible to change, undisclosed ex parte communications, a 
close familial, business, or other associational relationship with an affected person, or a 
financial interest in the outcome of the matter. If an objection is raised to a member's 
participation and that member does not recuse himself or herself, the remaining members shall 
by majority vote rule on the objection. 

(e2) Quasi-Judicial Decisions and Judicial Review. –  
(1) The board shall determine contested facts and make its decision within a 

reasonable time. Every quasi-judicial decision shall be based upon 
competent, material, and substantial evidence in the record. Each 
quasi-judicial decision shall be reduced to writing and reflect the board's 
determination of contested facts and their application to the applicable 
standards. The written decision shall be signed by the chair or other duly 
authorized member of the board. A quasi-judicial decision is effective upon 
filing the written decision with the clerk to the board or such other office or 
official as the ordinance specifies. The decision of the board shall be 
delivered by personal delivery, electronic mail, or by first-class mail to the 
applicant, property owner, and to any person who has submitted a written 
request for a copy, prior to the date the decision becomes effective. The 
person required to provide notice shall certify that proper notice has been 
made. 

(2) Every quasi-judicial decision of the board shall be subject to review by the 
superior court by proceedings in the nature of certiorari. Any certiorari 
pursuant to G.S. 160A-393. A petition for review by the superior court shall 
be filed with the clerk of superior court within by the later of 30 days after 
the decision of the board is filed in such office as the ordinance specifies, is 
effective or after a written copy thereof is given in accordance with 
subdivision (1) of this subsection. When first-class mail is used to deliver 
notice, three days shall be added to the time to file the petition.delivered to 
every aggrieved party who has filed a written request for such copy with the 
secretary or chairman of the board at the time of its hearing of the case, 
whichever is later. The decision of the board may be delivered to the 
aggrieved party either by personal service or by registered mail or certified 
mail return receipt requested. 

(f) Oaths. – The chairman chair of the board of adjustment or any member temporarily 
acting as chairman, chair and the clerk to the board areis authorized in his official capacity to 
administer oaths to witnesses in any matter coming before the board. Any person who, while 
under oath during a proceeding before the board of adjustment, willfully swears falsely is guilty 
of a Class 1 misdemeanor. 

(g) Subpoenas. – The board of adjustment adjustment through the chair, or in the chair's 
absence anyone acting as chair, may subpoena witnesses and compel the production of 
evidence. To request issuance of a subpoena, persons with standing under G.S. 160A-393(d) 

68



House Bill 276 Session Law 2013-126 Page 5 

may make a written request to the chair explaining why it is necessary for certain witnesses or 
evidence to be compelled. The chair shall issue requested subpoenas he or she determines to be 
relevant, reasonable in nature and scope, and not oppressive. The chair shall rule on any motion 
to quash or modify a subpoena. Decisions regarding subpoenas made by the chair may be 
appealed to the full board of adjustment. If a person fails or refuses to obey a subpoena issued 
pursuant to this subsection, the board of adjustment or the party seeking the subpoena may 
apply to the General Court of Justice for an order requiring that its order subpoena be obeyed, 
and the court shall have jurisdiction to issue these orders after notice to all proper parties. No 
testimony of any witness before the board of adjustment pursuant to a subpoena issued in 
exercise of the power conferred by this subsection may be used against the witness in the trial 
of any civil or criminal action other than a prosecution for false swearing committed on the 
examination. Any person who, while under oath during a proceeding before the board of 
adjustment, willfully swears falsely, is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor." 

SECTION 2.(a)  G.S. 160A-388(e1) is recodified as G.S. 160A-388(e)(2). 
SECTION 2.(b)  G.S. 160A-388(e)(2), as recodified by Section 2(a) of this act, 

reads as rewritten: 
"(2) A member of the any board or any other body exercising quasi-judicial 

functions pursuant to this Article shall not participate in or vote on any 
quasi-judicial matter in a manner that would violate affected persons' 
constitutional rights to an impartial decision maker. Impermissible conflicts 
violations of due process include, but are not limited to, a member having a 
fixed opinion prior to hearing the matter that is not susceptible to change, 
undisclosed ex parte communications, a close familial, business, or other 
associational relationship with an affected person, or a financial interest in 
the outcome of the matter. If an objection is raised to a member's 
participation and that member does not recuse himself or herself, the 
remaining members shall by majority vote rule on the objection." 

SECTION 3.(a)  G.S. 153A-345 is repealed except that any local modification to 
that section in effect on September 30, 2013, shall be treated as a local modification to 
G.S. 160A-388 from October 1, 2013, through June 30, 2015. 

SECTION 3.(b)  Article 18 of Chapter 153A of the General Statutes is amended by 
adding a new section to read: 
"§ 153A-345.1.  Board of adjustment. 

(a) The provisions of G.S. 160A-388 are applicable to counties. 
(b) For the purposes of this section, as used in G.S. 160A-388, the term "city council" is 

deemed to refer to the board of county commissioners, and the terms "city" or "municipality" 
are deemed to refer to the county. 

(c) If a board of county commissioners does not zone the entire territorial jurisdiction of 
the county, each designated zoning area shall, if practicable, have at least one resident as a 
member of the board of adjustment; otherwise, the provisions of G.S. 153A-25 regarding 
qualifications for appointive office shall apply to board of adjustment appointments." 

SECTION 4.  G.S. 160A-381(c) reads as rewritten: 
"(c) The regulations may also provide that the board of adjustment, the planning board, 

or the city council may issue special use permits or conditional use permits in the classes of 
cases or situations and in accordance with the principles, conditions, safeguards, and 
procedures specified therein and may impose reasonable and appropriate conditions and 
safeguards upon these permits. When deciding special use permits or conditional use permits, 
the city council or planning board shall follow quasi-judicial procedures. Notice of hearings on 
special or conditional use permit applications shall be as provided in G.S. 160A-388(a2). No 
vote greater than a majority vote shall be required for the city council or planning board to 
issue such permits. For the purposes of this section, vacant positions on the board and members 
who are disqualified from voting on a quasi-judicial matter shall not be considered "members 
of the board" for calculation of the requisite majority. Every such decision of the city council or 
planning board shall be subject to review of the superior court in the nature of certiorari in 
accordance with G.S. 160A-388. 

Where appropriate, such conditions may include requirements that street and utility 
rights-of-way be dedicated to the public and that provision be made of recreational space and 
facilities." 

SECTION 5.  G.S. 153A-340(c1) reads as rewritten: 

69



Page 6 Session Law 2013-126 House Bill 276 

"(c1) The regulations may also provide that the board of adjustment, the planning board, 
or the board of commissioners may issue special use permits or conditional use permits in the 
classes of cases or situations and in accordance with the principles, conditions, safeguards, and 
procedures specified therein and may impose reasonable and appropriate conditions and 
safeguards upon these permits. Where appropriate, the conditions may include requirements 
that street and utility rights-of-way be dedicated to the public and that recreational space be 
provided. When deciding special use permits or conditional use permits, the board of county 
commissioners or planning board shall follow quasi-judicial procedures. Notice of hearings on 
special or conditional use permit applications shall be as provided in G.S. 160A-388(a2). No 
vote greater than a majority vote shall be required for the board of county commissioners or 
planning board to issue such permits. For the purposes of this section, vacant positions on the 
board and members who are disqualified from voting on a quasi-judicial matter shall not be 
considered "members of the board" for calculation of the requisite majority. Every such 
decision of the board of county commissioners or planning board shall be subject to review of 
the superior court in the nature of certiorari consistent with G.S. 153A-345." 

SECTION 6.  G.S. 153A-44 reads as rewritten: 
"§ 153A-44.  Members excused from voting. 

The board may excuse a member from voting, but only upon questions involving the 
member's own financial interest or official conduct or on matters on which the member is 
prohibited from voting under G.S. 14-234, 153A-340(g), or 153A-345(e1). 160A-388(e)(2). 
For purposes of this section, the question of the compensation and allowances of members of 
the board does not involve a member's own financial interest or official conduct." 

SECTION 7.  G.S. 153A-336(a) reads as rewritten: 
"(a) When a subdivision ordinance adopted under this Part provides that the decision 

whether to approve or deny a preliminary or final subdivision plat is to be made by a board of 
commissioners or a planning board, other than a planning board comprised solely of members 
of a county planning staff, and the ordinance authorizes the board of commissioners or 
planning board to make a quasi-judicial decision in deciding whether to approve the 
subdivision plat, then that quasi-judicial decision of the board of commissioners or planning 
board shall be subject to review by the superior court by proceedings in the nature of certiorari. 
The provisions of G.S. 153A-340(f), 153A-345(e2),160A-388(e2)(2), and 153A-349 shall 
apply to those appeals." 

SECTION 8.  G.S. 153A-340(c1) reads as rewritten: 
"(c1) The regulations may also provide that the board of adjustment, the planning board, 

or the board of commissioners may issue special use permits or conditional use permits in the 
classes of cases or situations and in accordance with the principles, conditions, safeguards, and 
procedures specified therein and may impose reasonable and appropriate conditions and 
safeguards upon these permits. Where appropriate, the conditions may include requirements 
that street and utility rights-of-way be dedicated to the public and that recreational space be 
provided. When deciding special use permits or conditional use permits, the board of county 
commissioners or planning board shall follow quasi-judicial procedures. No vote greater than a 
majority vote shall be required for the board of county commissioners or planning board to 
issue such permits. For the purposes of this section, vacant positions on the board and members 
who are disqualified from voting on a quasi-judicial matter shall not be considered "members 
of the board" for calculation of the requisite majority. Every such decision of the board of 
county commissioners or planning board shall be subject to review of the superior court in the 
nature of certiorari consistent with G.S. 153A-345. G.S. 160A-388." 

SECTION 9.  G.S. 153A-349(c) is repealed. 
SECTION 10.  G.S. 153A-349.8(c) reads as rewritten: 

"(c) If the developer fails to cure the material breach within the time given, then the local 
government unilaterally may terminate or modify the development agreement; provided, the 
notice of termination or modification may be appealed to the board of adjustment in the manner 
provided by G.S. 153A-345(b). G.S. 160A-388(b1)." 

SECTION 11.  G.S. 160A-75 reads as rewritten: 
"§ 160A-75.  Voting. 

No member shall be excused from voting except upon matters involving the consideration 
of the member's own financial interest or official conduct or on matters on which the member is 
prohibited from voting under G.S. 14-234, 160A-381(d), or 160A-388(e1).160A-388(e)(2). In 
all other cases, a failure to vote by a member who is physically present in the council chamber, 

70



House Bill 276 Session Law 2013-126 Page 7 

or who has withdrawn without being excused by a majority vote of the remaining members 
present, shall be recorded as an affirmative vote. The question of the compensation and 
allowances of members of the council is not a matter involving a member's own financial 
interest or official conduct. 

An affirmative vote equal to a majority of all the members of the council not excused from 
voting on the question in issue, including the mayor's vote in case of an equal division, shall be 
required to adopt an ordinance, take any action having the effect of an ordinance, authorize or 
commit the expenditure of public funds, or make, ratify, or authorize any contract on behalf of 
the city. In addition, no ordinance nor any action having the effect of any ordinance may be 
finally adopted on the date on which it is introduced except by an affirmative vote equal to or 
greater than two thirds of all the actual membership of the council, excluding vacant seats and 
not including the mayor unless the mayor has the right to vote on all questions before the 
council. For purposes of this section, an ordinance shall be deemed to have been introduced on 
the date the subject matter is first voted on by the council." 

SECTION 12.  G.S. 160A-377(a) reads as rewritten: 
"(a) When a subdivision ordinance adopted under this Part provides that the decision 

whether to approve or deny a preliminary or final subdivision plat is to be made by a city 
council or a planning board, other than a planning board comprised solely of members of a city 
planning staff, and the ordinance authorizes the council or planning board to make a 
quasi-judicial decision in deciding whether to approve the subdivision plat, then that 
quasi-judicial decision of the council or planning board shall be subject to review by the 
superior court by proceedings in the nature of certiorari. The provisions of G.S. 160A-381(c), 
160A-388(e2),160A-388(e2)(2), and 160A-393 shall apply to those appeals." 

SECTION 13.  G.S. 160A-393(c)(3) reads as rewritten: 
"(3) Set forth with particularity the allegations and facts, if any, in support of 

allegations that, as the result of impermissible conflict as described in 
G.S. 160A-388(e1),G.S. 160A-388(e)(2), or locally adopted conflict rules, 
the decision-making body was not sufficiently impartial to comply with due 
process principles." 

SECTION 14.  G.S. 160A-393(j)(2) reads as rewritten: 
"(2) Whether, as a result of impermissible conflict as described in 

G.S. 160A-388(e1),G.S. 160A-388(e)(2), or locally adopted conflict rules, 
the decision-making body was not sufficiently impartial to comply with due 
process principles." 

SECTION 15.  This act becomes effective October 1, 2013, and applies to actions 
taken on or after that date by any board of adjustment. 

In the General Assembly read three times and ratified this the 10th day of June, 
2013. 
 
 
 s/  Daniel J. Forest 
  President of the Senate 
 
 
 s/  Thom Tillis 
  Speaker of the House of Representatives 
 
 
 s/  Pat McCrory 
  Governor 
 
 
Approved 4:20 p.m. this 19th day of June, 2013 

71



Agenda Item Title 

Currituck County 
Agenda Item Summary Sheet

Presentation by Tax Assessor on Present-Use Value Assessment 

Brief Description of Agenda Item 

Land used for agricultural, horticultural or forestry purposes, if it meets certain other qualifications, may be 
taxed on a basis of the value in its present use, even though it may have a greater market value under a 
different use. The County Tax Assessor will review the quailifcations of present use value assessment and the 
procedure a property owner must follow to apply. 

Board Action Requested 

Information 

Person Submitting Agenda Item 

Tracy Sample 

Presenter of Agenda Item 

Tracy Sample 

72



Agenda Item Title 

Currituck County 
Agenda Item Summary Sheet

Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan 

Brief Description of Agenda Item 

Albemarle Regional Bike Plan is a regional bicycle plan for the ten northeastern North Carolina.  The purpose of 
this plan is to provde a clear framework for the development of new facilties, programs, and policies that will 
support safe and efficient bicycling throughout the region.   

Board Action Requested 

Action 

Person Submitting Agenda Item 

Holly B. White 

Presenter of Agenda Item 

Holly B. White 

73



A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING ADOPTION OF 
THE ALBEMARLE REGIONAL BICYCLE PLAN 

WHEREAS, the Albemarle Commission and Albemarle RPO, participating local governments, 
and its subcontractor Alta/Greenways, have prepared the Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan (the 
Plan); and 

WHEREAS, the purpose of the Plan is to study the feasibility of establishing an interconnected 
network of off-road and on-road bicycle facilities throughout the entire Albemarle region; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed bicycle network includes lands located within the multiple counties 
and municipalities of the Albemarle Region; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan process involved public participation; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan was financed by a North Carolina Department of Transportation grant. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Currituck County Board of 
Commissioners that: 

a. The Plan and related materials are acceptable to the County; and

b. The Plan and related materials will be used to guide future bicycle transportation
development, operations, and maintenance. 

ADOPTED this 21st day of October, 2013. 

S. Paul O’Neal, Chairman 
ATTEST: Currituck County Board of Commissioners. 

Mary S. Gilbert 
Clerk to the Board 

_ 

74



75



[Acknowledgements]

Acknowledgements
Steering Committee
Steve Lambert, Albemarle Rural Planning Organization Director*
Erin Burke, Town of Manteo Planning and Zoning
Gretchen Byrum, NCDOT District Engineer
Willie Mack Carawan, Tyrrell County Administration
Angela Cole, Elizabeth City Planning and Community Development
Chip Cowan, Citizen Representative
Shelley Cox, Pasquotank County Planning 
Donna Creef, Dare County Planning 
Andy Garman, Town of Duck Community Development
Donna Godfrey, Perquimans County Planning and Zoning
Mary Helen Goodloe-Murphy, Citizen Representative
Jay Greenwood, Merchant’s Millpond State Park
Joy Greenwood, Dismal Swamp State Park
Wes Haskett, Town of Southern Shores Planning & Code Enforcement
Joe Heard, Town of Kitty Hawk Planning and Inspections
Landin Holland, Chowan County/Town of Edenton Planning Consultant
Morgan Jethro, Gates County Planning & Development Services
Ann Keyes, Washington County Planning and Safety
Doug Lequire, Pettigrew State Park
Greg Loy, Town of Kill Devil Hills Planning and Inspections
Gary S. Mitchell, Citizen Representative
Mike Murray, National Park Service Outer Banks Group
Kris Noble, Hyde County Economic Development and Planning
Dan Porter, Camden County Planning and Development
Brandon Shoaf, Town of Hertford Planning and Zoning
Donna Stewart, Dismal Swamp State Park
Elizabeth Teague, Town of Nags Head Planning and Development
Bobbi White, Elizabeth City Parks and Recreation
Holly White, Currituck County Planning and Inspections
Ben Woody, Currituck County Planning and Inspections
*Project Manager

SpeCial thankS 
Thank you to the hundreds of people who participated in the 
development of this plan through public comment forms, social media, 
public outreach events, and meetings.

ConSultantS
Alta/Greenways (lead consultant)
Kimley-Horn & Associates 
Street Plans Collaborative

nCDot
Helen Chaney, Division of Bicycle and Pedestrian Transportation
John Vine-Hodge, Division of Bicycle and Pedestrian Transportation

albemarle regional planning CommiSSion
Camden County: Clayton Riggs, Bill Norton At-Large
Chowan County: Jeff Smith, Jack Perry At-Large
Currituck County: Marion Gilbert
Dare County: Robert Woodard, Sr.
Gates County: Henry Jordan
Hyde County: Earl Pugh, Jr.
Pasquotank County: Gary White
Perquimans County: Tammy Miller-White
Tyrrell County: Leroy Spivey, Chuck Boucher At-Large
Washington County: Tracey Johnson, Charles Sharp At-Large

76



2013

[Table of Contents] 

1. introDuCtion 1
Project Overview 1-2

Study Area & Sub-Regions 1-3

Vision Statement & Goals 1-4

Planning Process 1-5

The Value of a Bicycle-Friendly Region 1-6

Types of Bicyclists 1-12

2. exiSting ConDitionS 2
Overview 2-2

Descriptive Map Series 2-3

Land Use Summary 2-5

Public Input 2-14

Program Summary 2-15

Plan and Policy Summary 2-16

3. neeDS aSSeSSment 3
Overview 3-2

North of Sound Subregion Needs Assessment 3-2

South of Sound Subregion Needs Assessment 3-13

Outer Banks Subregion Needs Assessment 3-21

4. infraStruCture reCommenDationS 4
Overview 4-2

Methodology 4-2

Facility Types 4-3

Summary of Recommendations 4-7

Ancillary Facilities 4-10

North of Sound Proposed Network 4-12

South of Sound Proposed Network 4-17

Outer Banks Proposed Network 4-22

5. priority & DemonStration projeCtS 5
Overview 5-2

Prioritization Methodology 5-2

Prioritization Results 5-3

Demonstration Project Selection 5-5

Demonstration Project Exhibits 5-6

6. programS anD poliCieS 6
Overview 6-2

Programs Introduction 6-2

Program Recommendations 6-4

Policies 6-20

Ordinance Review 6-27

7. implementation 7
Overview 7-2

Key First Steps 7-2

Administrative Structure 7-3

Action Steps 7-4

Performance Measures 7-9

Funding Strategy 7-12

Table of Contents

77



[Table of Contents]

Table of Contents Continued
appenDix a. program, plan, & benefitS Summary a

Organizations and Resources A-2

Existing Plans A-6

Bicycling Transportation Demand & Benefits A-14

Tourism Bicycling Activity in the Albemarle Region A-20

Roadway Data Collection Results A-23

appenDix b: publiC input b
Overview B-2

Steering Committee B-2

Local Meetings B-3

Public Events B-4

Online Outreach B-5

Comment Form B-6

appenDix C: prioritization reSultS C
Prioritization Results Table C-2

Priority Project Cost Summary C-21

appenDix D: DeSign guiDelineS D
Introduction D-2

Facility Continuum D-3

Shared Roadways D-4

Separated Bikeways D-8

Bikeways at Intersections D-13

Bridges D-16

Signalized Intersections D-16

Bikeway Signing D-19

Retrofitting Existing Streets to Add Bikeways D-24

Multi-Use Trails D-28

Trail Crossings D-33

Bikeway Support and Maintenance D-36

appenDix e: funDing SourCeS e
Overview E-2

Federal Funding Sources E-2

State Funding Sources E-9

Local Government Funding Sources E-16

Funds from Private/Non-Profit Foundations and Organizations E-22

Funding Source Summary Table E-27

78



This Page Intentionally Left Blank

79



1-1  [Introduction]

Roanoke Island, Dock off Eagle Point

80



2013

[Introduction]  1-2 

Chapter One
Introduction

Project overview
In the summer of 2012, the Albemarle Rural Planning 
Organization (ARPO), with funding from the North 
Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT), 
began developing a regional bicycle plan for the ten 
counties of northeastern North Carolina. The purpose 
of this bicycle plan is to provide a clear framework 
for the development of new facilities, programs, 
and policies that will support safe and efficient 
bicycling throughout the region, which includes the 
municipalities of Columbia, Creswell, Duck, Edenton, 
Elizabeth City, Gatesville, Hertford, Kill Devil Hills, Kitty 
Hawk, Manteo, Nags Head, Plymouth, Roper, Southern 
Shores, and Winfall. 

Nationally, such recent trends as unstable gas 
prices, environmental damage, loosening social ties, 
economic decline, and the prevalence of health issues 
like obesity and heart disease are demonstrating the 
need for a more diverse set of transportation options 
and a reevaluation of our current style of development. 
At the same time, towns and cities around the country 
are recognizing that bicycle-friendly communities 
attract new businesses and visitors alike and help 
to combat many of these trends.  On a regional 
level, this plan represents a strong commitment to 
take on such issues, translating them into affordable 

personal mobility, carbon-free transportation, vibrant 
communities, appealing tourism destinations, and 
healthy, active lifestyles for residents and visitors of the 
Albemarle region.  The chief outcome of this plan will 
be an integrated, seamless transportation network to 
facilitate biking as a viable transportation alternative 
and recreation option throughout the region.

The development of this plan included an open, 
participatory process, with residents providing input 
through public events, stakeholder meetings, the 
project Steering Committee, social media, and an 
online comment form. 

This plan includes the following features:

• A thorough analysis of current conditions for 
cycling in the Albemarle  Region

• A comprehensive, recommended bicycle 
network

• Design guidelines for the development of bicycle 
facilities

• A prioritized list of recommended strategic and 
low-cost improvements

• Recommendations for the integration of bicycle-
friendly policy into codes and ordinances

• Recommendations for programming, 
maintenance, and funding

Chapter Contents

Project Overview

Study Area & 
Subregions

Vision Statement 
and Goals

Planning Process

The Value of a 
Bicycle-Friendly 
Region

Types of Bicyclists

81



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

1-3  [Introduction]

Study AreA & SubregionS
The Albemarle region as defined in this plan includes 
the ten counties of Camden, Chowan, Currituck, 
Dare, Gates, Hyde, Pasquotank, Perquimans, Tyrrell, 
and Washington. The region is rich in natural heritage 
and deeply rooted in history. The physical variation 
and unique natural destinations and historic sites 
throughout the region characterize the towns, farms, 
and crossroads communities that traverse its many rivers 
and estuaries. In physical terms, the region is divided 
by the Albemarle and Pamlico Sounds into three 
subregions. The major analysis and recommendations 
sections of this plan are structured by these subregions, 
which are termed North of Sound, South of Sound, and 
the Outer Banks. All recommendations are consistent 
across the subregions and aim toward a single vision 
for the entire region, as laid out on the following page.

Note: Where demographic data is presented by subregion, 
the results follow county boundaries rather than geographic 
boundaries because of the lack of available data for the 
latter. Thus, unincorporated areas of Currituck County on the 
Outer Banks, including Corolla, are grouped in with the North 
of Sound subregion, and unincorporated portions of Dare 
County are grouped in with the South of Sound subregion.  
Data for Ocracoke, however, has been included with the 
Outer Banks figures despite its inclusion in Hyde County since 
data was available for this village.

CURRITUCK
COUNTY

CAMDEN
COUNTYGATES

COUNTY

PASQUOTANK
COUNTY

PERQUIMANS
COUNTY

CHOWAN
COUNTY

DARE
COUNTY

TYRRELL
COUNTY

WASHINGTON
COUNTY

HYDE
COUNTY

North of
Sound

Outer
Banks

South of
Sound

Albemarle 
Region

A l b e m A r l e   S o u n d

P A m l i c o   S o u n d  

82



2013

[Introduction]  1-4 

viSion StAtement & goAlS
The following vision statement guides the Albemarle 
Regional Bike Plan:

The Albemarle region is a Bicycle Destination 
for the World where roadways comfortably 
accommodate all modes of transportation. 
Opportunities exist for residents and visitors 
to safely and efficiently bicycle for both 
transportation and recreation. Cycling is 
a common, fun, and preferred means of 
transportation, recreation, and healthy 
living that improves our communities.

The purpose of this plan is to make this vision a reality. 
Specific goals derived from this vision are listed below.

Goal 1: Increase the quality of bicycling 
throughout the region

Goal 2: Improve health outcomes in the region

Goal 3: Improve safety for all cyclists
Goal 4: Increase bicycling trips by residents and 
visitors

Goal 5: Promote and encouarge the growth of 
the tourism economy 

While the RPO and local government agencies 
must provide leadership and resources for this effort, 
overall success will also require continued, active 
participation and encouragement from residents and 
community organizations throughout the region. This 
plan aims for full implementation within 30 years  of 
completion. 

The following objectives clarify what must be done to 
achieve each goal.  The plan’s recommendations and 
implementation strategy will build on the Albemarle 
region’s existing bicycling infrastructure and bicycling 
community to achieve these objectives, and ultimately 
to achieve the plan’s vision

Goal

Increase the quality of 
bicycling throughout the 

region

Encourage and support regional, sub-regional, and 
local bicycle advocacy groups

Increase connections between neighborhoods, 
schools, and businesses

Increase bicycle facilities

Objectives

Improve health outcomes 
in the region

Improve safety for all 
cyclists

Increase bicycling trips by 
residents and visitors

Increase access to recreational bicycle facilities

 Increase bicycle exercise and activity rates 
among all age groups

Reduce cyclist crashes 

Engage law enforcement in bicycle safety

Improve cyclist and driver adherence to traffic laws

Increase education on the social, economic, and 
health benefits of bicycling

Increase bicycle mode share for commuting

Improve resources for bicycle tourists

Promote and encourage 
growth of tourism economy

Increase economic growth, job creation, and 
tourism revenue through bicycling

83



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

1-5  [Introduction]

PlAnning ProceSS 
The planning process began in July 
2012 and concluded in October of 
2013. Public participation (through 
workshops, steering committee 
meetings, the comment form, and 
the website) played a key role in plan 
development. This diagram illustrates 
the main steps of the planning process. 

6 
Public
Events

Social 
Media

& Online 
Comment 

Forms

Community 
Outreach

 
Complete/

Review 
Draft Plan

Existing
Conditions 

Analysis

Project 
Kick-Off 
Meeting

Begin 
Policy/

Program 
Review

Data 
Collection/
Base Maps

Draft Plan 
Development

1 2 3 4 5

Begin 
Online
Input

Final Plan &
Presentations

Adopt Plan 
& Begin

Implementation

6

Detailed 
Field 

Inventory

Begin 
Field 

Review

Preliminary 
Bike 

Network 

Revise Plan 
Based on 

Comments

Presentation 
to Elected 

Officials

Steering 
Committee
Meetings

July 2013 - 
OctOber 2013

December 2012 -  
April 2013

mAy 2013 - 
June 2013

          July 2012 August 2012 - 
nOvember  2012

OctOber 2013

84



2013

[Introduction]  1-6 

the vAlue of A bicycle-friendly 
region
Improvements that encourage bicycling can 
provide a wide range of benefits to a community 
and its residents. Better bicycling facilities improve 
safety and encourage more people to ride, which 
in turn improves health, provides a boost to the local 
economy, creates a cleaner environment, reduces 
congestion and fuel costs, and contributes to a better 
quality of life and sense of community. 

Communities across the country are experiencing 
the benefits of providing a supportive environment 
for bicycling. With a better bicycle network, the 
Albemarle region can create stronger, more vibrant 
communities and take advantage of the many 
benefits described below.

imProved heAlth through Active living 
Regular physical activity is recognized as an important 
contributor to good health. The Centers for Disease 
Control and Prevention (CDC) recommend 30 
minutes of moderate physical activity each day 
for adults and 60 minutes each day for children.1  
Unfortunately, many people do not meet these 
recommendations because they lack environments 
where they can be physically active. The CDC reports 
that “physical inactivity causes numerous physical 
and mental health problems, is responsible for an 
estimated 200,000 deaths per year, and contributes 

to the obesity epidemic.”2 These conditions also 
increase families’ medical expenses; each year North 
Carolinians spend over $24 billion on health care costs 
associated with a lack of physical activity, excess 
weight, type II diabetes, and poor nutrition.3

Having accessible bicycle facilities available, such as 
bike lanes and paths, can help people more easily 
incorporate physical activity into their daily lives. Sixty 
percent of North Carolinians say they would increase 
their level of physical activity if they had better access 
to walking and bicycling facilities, such as sidewalks 
and trails.4 Regular physical activity, such as bicycling, 
is shown to have numerous health benefits:5 

• Reduces the risk and severity of 
heart disease and diabetes

• Reduces the risk of some types 
of cancer

• Improves mood
• Controls weight
• Reduces the risk of premature 

death

Cyclists making use of the Corolla Bike 
Path.

85



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

1-7  [Introduction]

According to the 2010 Regional Community Health 
Assessment by Albemarle Regional Health Services, 
heart disease and cancer are the two leading 
causes of death in the Albemarle region.6 Moreover, 
the cancer and heart disease rates for Chowan, 
Currituck, Pasquotank, and Perquimans counties are 
higher than the state rate. In addition, Dare County’s 
own 2010 Community Health Assessment shows that 
childhood obesity rates in the county surpass those 
of North Carolina, which ranks fifth highest of the 50 
states in childhood obesity.7 Establishing a safe and 
well-connected network of bike lanes and paths 
throughout the Albemarle region will provide residents 

with access to the physical activity options 
that they need to maintain good health and 
reduce the risk of disease. 

increASed touriSm AttrAction And 
ProPerty vAlueS 
Local investments in bicycling attract visitors and 
boost tourism revenues. A study of the impact of 
bicycle tourism in the 2004 Northern Outer Banks 
reports that a one-time investment of $6.7 million 
in bicycling improvements resulted in $60 million in 
tourism revenue every year. An estimated 1,400 jobs 
are created or supported annually with expenditures 
from bicycle tourists, with 680,000 tourists engaging in 
some bicycle activity in the region annually. The same 
study shows that bicycle facilities also encourage 
return visits; 43 percent of visitors surveyed said that 

A CASE STUDY OF THE NORTH CAROLINA NORTHERN OUTER BANKS 
N.C. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, DIVISION OF BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN TRANSPORTATION

THE ECONOMIC IMPACT OF INVESTMENTS IN BICYCLE FACILITIES

Pathways to Prosperity

Download the full report, “Pathways to 
Prosperity”, from: http://www.ncdot.gov/

bikeped/researchreports

2010 County Health Assessments    
for Camden, Chowan, Currituck, 

Gates, Pasquotank, and 
Perquimans Counties are avilable  

at www.arhs-nc.org/cha/2010

86



2013

[Introduction]  1-8 

bicycling was a factor in their decision to visit the 
Northern Outer Banks, and 53 percent reported that 
the quality of bicycle facilities would be a major factor 
in their decision to return in the future.  Considering the 
increase in visitation to the Outer Banks since the data 
was collected for this report (2003), relative increased 
interest in bicycling, and inflation, the annual impact 
is estimated at over $100 million in 2012. See Appendix 
A for details on this estimate.

Bicycle facilities such as bike lanes, paths, and 
greenway trails are popular community amenities that 
add value to properties nearby. According to a 2002 
survey by the National Association of Realtors and the 
National Association of Homebuilders, homebuyers 
rank trails as the second-most important community 
amenity out of 18 choices, above golf courses, ball 
fields, parks, security, and others.8 This preference for 
trails is reflected in property values around the country. 
In the Shepard’s Vineyard residential development 
in Apex, North Carolina, homes along the regional 
greenway were priced $5,000 higher than other 
residences in the development – and these homes 
were still the first to sell.9 A study of home values along 
the Little Miami Scenic Trail in Ohio found that single-
family home values increased by $7.05 for every foot 
closer a home is to the trail. These higher prices reflect 
how trails and greenways add to the desirability of a 
community, attracting homebuyers and visitors alike.

At the award-winning 
Fishhawk Ranch, 
nearly 30 miles of trails 
weave throughout 
the community, 
connecting the many 
parks, amenities, 
villages and neighbors. 
Soon to be one of the 
largest community trail 
systems in the country, 
each pathway was 
carefully positioned to 
minimize the impact on 
the existing plant life.

87



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

1-9  [Introduction]

imProved environmentAl QuAlity
Providing the option of bicycling as an alternative 
to driving can reduce the volume of car-related 
emissions, which in turn improves air quality. Cleaner 
air reduces the risk and complications of asthma, 
particularly for children, the elderly, and people 
with heart conditions or respiratory illnesses.10 Lower 
automobile traffic volumes also help to reduce 
neighborhood noise levels and improve local water 
quality by reducing automobile-related discharges 
that are washed into local rivers, streams, and 
lakes.  Based on existing bicycle mode shares in the 
Albemarle region, estimated annual bicycling benefits 
already include 837,000 less vehicle miles traveled 
with 681,000 pounds of CO2 emissions reduced (See 
Appendix A for more information). 

Greenways and trails are a key component of any 
bicycle network and carry environmental benefits 
as well. Greenways help to preserve wildlife habitats 
and act as buffers against natural hazards, such as 
flooding. By conserving plant cover, greenways also 
preserve the natural air filtration processes provided 
by plants, filtering out harmful pollutants, such as 
ozone, sulfur dioxide, carbon monoxide, and airborne 
heavy metal particles. By providing a vegetative 
buffer along streams, rivers, and other waterways, 
greenways also prevent soil erosion and filter out 
pollution from agricultural operations and road runoff.

Boardwalk at the Walter B Jones, Sr. 
Center for the Sounds, Columbia, NC

88



2013

[Introduction]  1-10 

trAnSPortAtion benefitS
Many North Carolinians do not have access to a 
vehicle or are unable to drive. According to the 
2001 National Household Travel Survey, 12 percent of 
persons age 15 or older do not drive, and 8 percent of 
U.S. households do not own an automobile. Providing 
a well-connected bicycle network provides those 
who are unable or unwilling to drive with a safe 
transportation option. Bicycle improvements can 
increase access to important destinations for the 
young, the elderly, low-income families, and others 
who may be unable to drive or do not have a motor 
vehicle. 

Investing in bicycle facilities can also help to reduce 
congestion and the pollution, gas costs, wasted time, 
and stress that comes with it. Each person who makes 
a trip by bicycle is one less car on the road or in the 
parking lot. A network of wide shoulders, bike lanes, 
and paths gives people the option of making a trip by 
bike, which helps to alleviate congestion for everyone. 
Bicycle facilities can also help to substantially reduce 
transportation costs by providing a way of getting 
around without a car for some trips. About half of all 
trips taken by car are three miles or less, equivalent 
to a 15-minute bike ride.11 With a safe, convenient 
bicycle network, some of these shorter trips could be 
comfortably made by bike, saving money on gas, 
parking costs, and vehicle wear and tear over time. 

better QuAlity of life 
Increasingly, citizens are demanding a cleaner, safer, 
more enjoyable community that provides amenities 
for adults and children alike. Trails for biking and 
walking are considered one of the most important 
amenities a neighborhood can have. Communities 
with quality greenways, trails, and bicycle routes 
attract new residents as well as new businesses and 
industries. Getting outdoors and being physically 
active also helps to relieve stress, improve mood, and 
foster social connections between residents.

Transportation and recreation options will be especially 
important for older Americans in the coming years. 
According to the Brookings Institution, the number 
of older Americans is expected 
to double over the next 25 years. 
Seniors who find themselves 
unable to drive or who become 
uncomfortable with driving will 
find that their mobility is severely 
limited if another transportation 
option isn’t available. Trails and 
paths will provide seniors with 
a place to take a low-intensity 
bike ride or a stroll around the 
neighborhood, or a way to get 
to nearby shops and services. 
Paths and trails are also valuable 
transportation connections for 

A cyclist visiting the Elizabeth City Farmers 
Market.

89



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

1-11  [Introduction]

the elderly because they accommodate motorized 
wheelchairs, which can provide many seniors with 
the independent mobility that they would not 
have otherwise. The aging trend across America is 
particularly relevant to the Albemarle region. The 
percentage of residents over the age of 65 in this 
region is two percentage points higher than that of 
the state, or 18 percent greater.  In the South of Sound 
subregion, that percentage jumps to 33 percent, 
with a median age 5.6 years greater than the state 
average. Both the South of Sound and Outer Banks 
subregions hold significant older populations that may 
increasingly seek alternatives to driving as they age. 

Children can also benefit greatly from a safe, well-
connected bicycle network in their neighborhoods. 
In recent years, increased traffic and a lack of 
pedestrian and bicycle facilities have made it less 
safe for children to travel to school or to a friend’s 

house. In 1969, 48 percent of students walked or biked 
to school, but by 2001, less than 16 percent of students 
walked or biked to or from school. By reevaluating 
and improving the regional bicycle network, children 
in the Albemarle region could once again safely 
bike in their communities. According to the National 
Center for Safe Routes to School, “Walking or biking 
to school gives children time for physical activity and 
a sense of responsibility and independence; allows 
them to enjoy being outside; and provides them 
with time to socialize with their parents and friends 
and to get to know their neighborhoods.”12 Ensuring 
that children have safe connections to their schools 
and throughout their neighborhoods can encourage 
them to spend time outdoors, get the physical activity 
they need for good health, and offer a higher quality 
of life.

Age Distribution in the Albemarle Region

Geography < 19 20 - 34 35 - 54 55 - 64 > 65 Median 
Age

North Carolina 27.0% 20.0% 28.7% 11.5% 12.6% 37.1

Albemarle region 25.4% 16.7% 29.8% 13.2% 14.9% 40.9

North of Sound subregion 26.6% 17.0% 29.2% 12.5% 14.7% 40.0

South of Sound subregion 23.7% 15.5% 29.6% 14.3% 16.9% 42.7

Outer Banks subregion 22.3% 16.5% 31.9% 14.9% 14.3% 42.9

90



2013

[Introduction]  1-12 

tyPeS of bicycliStS
There are a variety of bicyclists of all skill levels in 
the Albemarle region. This plan seeks to meet the 
needs of the “Strong and Fearless,” “Enthused and 
Confident,” and “Interested but Concerned.” Bicycle 
infrastructure should accommodate as many user 

types as possible, with the goal of creating safe 
bicycling environments to encourage more ridership. 
A framework for understanding the characteristics, 
attitudes, and infrastructure preferences of different 
bicyclists in the US population as a whole is illustrated 
below. 

1%

5-10%

60%

30%

Interested but 
Concerned

No Way, No How

Enthused and 
Confident

Strong and 
FearlessStrong and Fearless (approximately 1% of population)

Characterized by bicyclists that will typically ride anywhere regardless of roadway 
conditions or weather. These bicyclists can ride faster than other user types, prefer 
direct routes, and will typically choose roadway connections -- even if shared with 
vehicles -- over separated bicycle facilities such as shared use paths. 

Enthused and Confident (5-10% of population)

This user group encompasses bicyclists who are fairly comfortable riding on all types 
of bikeways but usually choose low traffic streets or multi-use paths when available. 
These bicyclists may deviate from a more direct route in favor of a preferred facility 
type. This group includes all kinds of bicyclists such as commuters, recreationalists, 
racers, and utilitarian bicyclists.

Interested but Concerned (approximately 60% of population)

This user type comprises the bulk of the cycling population and represents bicyclists 
who typically only ride a bicycle on low-traffic streets or multi-use trails under favorable 
weather conditions.  These bicyclists perceive significant barriers to their increased 
use of cycling, specifically traffic and other safety issues. These people may become 
“Enthused & Confident” with encouragement, education, and experience. 

No Way, No How (approximately 30% of population)

Persons in this category are not bicyclists, and perceive severe safety issues with 
riding in traffic. Some people in this group may eventually become more regular 
cyclists with time and education. A significant portion of these people will not ride a 
bicycle under any circumstances.

tAble 1.1 tyPeS of bicycliStS 13

91



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

1-13  [Introduction]

endnoteS
1.  http://www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/everyone/

guidelines/index.html
2.  U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (1996). 
Physical Activity and Health: A Report of the Surgeon 
General

3.  Be Active North Carolina. (2005). The Economic 
Cost of Unhealthy Lifestyles in North Carolina. 
Retrieved from www.beactivenc.org/mediacenter/
Summary%20Report.pdf.

4.  North Carolina State Center for Health Statistics. 
(2007). Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System 
(BRFSS), Calendar Year 2007 Results, www.schs.state.
nc.us/SCHS/brfss/2007/index.html.

5.  National Prevention Council. (2011). National 
Prevention Strategy: America’s plan for better health 
and wellness. Retrieved from http://www.healthcare.
gov/prevention/nphpphc/strategy/report.pdf

6.  Albemarle Regional Health Services. (2010). 
2010 Regional Community Health Assessment. 
Retrieved from: http://www.arhs-nc.org/
cha/#highlightDocument

7.  Dare County Department of Public Health and Health 
Carolinians of the Outer Banks. (2010). Dare County 
Community Health Assessment. Retrieved from http://
www.co.dare.nc.us/health/docs/CommHlthPrfle.pdf

8.  National Association of Homebuilders. (2008). www.
nahb.com

9.  Rails to Trails Conservancy. (2005). Economic Benefits 
of Trails and Greenways.

10.  Health Effects Institute (2010). Traffic-Related Air 
Pollution: A Critical Review of the Literature on 
Emissions, Exposure, and Health Effects. Special 
Report 17.

11.  U.S. Department of Transportation and Federal 
Highway Administration. (2009). National Household 
Travel Survey.

12.  National Center for Safe Routes to School. (2006). 
National Center for Safe Routes to School Talking 
Points.

13.   Four Types of Cyclists. (2009). Roger Geller, City of 
Portland Bureau of Transportation. Supported by data 
collected nationally since 2005.

92



This Page Intentionally Left Blank

93



2-1  [Existing Conditions]

Edenton, View of Edenton Bay at Water Street

94



2013

[Existing Conditions]  2-2 

Chapter Two
Existing Conditions

Overview
Many factors influence the quality and quantity of 
cycling in a particular place. The presence of bicycling 
facilities, distribution of land uses, connectivity of the 
road network, and norms regarding sharing of the 
road are just a few. Further, these factors and others 
influence the viability of particular improvements and 
therefore will guide the recommendations of this plan. 
Recommendations will vary throughout the region 
given the significant variation in both culture and the 
built environment seen across it. 

This chapter provides a brief overview of these 
factors and their variations across the region, as well 
as their relevance to cycling today and to potential 
improvements for cycling in the future. This overview 
is presented in a series of descriptive maps. Following 
this map series, an explanation of the methods used 
to gather public input is provided. Finally, plans, 
programs, and policies relevant to bicycling in the 
Albemarle region are summarized.

The following maps provide a summary of existing 
conditions in the Albemarle region:

• Regional Land Use
• Destinations
• Major Routes
• Population Density
• Employment Density
• Equity
• Commute Mode Share
• Crash Density
• Previous Plans

Chapter Contents

Overview

Descriptive Map Series

Land Use Summary

Public Input

Program Summary

Plan and Policy 
Summary

95



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

2-3  [Existing Conditions]

regiOnal land Use
The Albemarle region holds extensive public lands 
at the state and federal level ranging from national 
wildlife refuges to state parks to military lands. 
These public holdings provide both opportunities 
for partnerships and potential constraints to the 
development of bicycle facilities.

£¤13

£¤158

£¤17 £¤158

£¤64

£¤264

Palmetto-Peartree
Preserve

Pine Island
Audubon

Sanctuary

North
River

Gameland

Jockeys
Ridge

State Park

Pettigrew
State Park

Chowan Swamp
Natural Area

Merchants
Millpond
State Park

Currituck
National

Wildlife Refuge

Pocosin Lakes
National

Wildlife Refuge

Pungo National
Wildlife
Refuge

Lake Mattamuskeet
National

Wildlife Refuge
Cape Hatteras

National
Seashore

Great Dismal
Swamp National
Wildlife Refuge

Alligator River
National

Wildlife Refuge

Pea Island
National

Wildlife RefugeDare County
Air Force
Range

Swanquarter
National

Wildlife Refuge

Swanquarter
National

Wilderness Area

Duck

Kill
Devil
Hills

Plymouth

Gatesville

Elizabeth
City

Winfall

Hertford

Edenton

Manteo
Roper Creswell

Columbia

Southern
Shores

Kitty
Hawk

l0 10 20
Miles

State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
Municipal
Boundary
County
Boundary

The Great Dismal Swamp National 
Wildlife Refuge (NWR) extends into 
Virginia and provides trails for biking 
and hiking.

Jockeys Ridge State Park hosts the 
tallest natural sand dune on the 
east coast and beautiful sunsets, 
attracting millions of visitors.

Cape Hatteras National Seashore extends 
70 miles from Nags Head to Ocracoke, 
with several historic landmarks along 
the way including the Cape Hatteras 
Lighthouse.

Mattamuskeet NWR boasts the state’s 
largest natural lake. The lake is a popular 
destinations for birders, as it attracts 
thousands of wintering waterfowl each 
year.

96



2013

[Existing Conditions]  2-4 

destinatiOns
The Albemarle region has a long history dating back 
to the first English colony in the New World. Many 
historic sites are preserved, offering visitors a rich 
assortment of destinations. A few notable sites are 
described below with information from the Historic 
Albemarle Tour (www.historicalbemarletour.org.) The 
region also offers extensive camping and recreation 
opportunities, including hiking, mountain biking, 
fishing, wildlife viewing, and hunting.

Historic Edenton is North Carolina’s second oldest 
town, incorporated in 1722 seventeen years after 

Bath, where the notorious pirate Blackbeard’s name 
is recorded. The Cupola House and the Chowan 

County Courthouse are two National Historic 
Landmarks located here.

The Davenport Homestead in Creswell provides a 
glimpse of life in the 18th century. It was built by the 

future North Carolina senator Daniel Davenport of 
Washington County.

The North Carolina Aquarium on Roanoke 
Island attracts visitors from all over the state 
to the coast, offering numerous indoor and 

outdoor programs for children and adults 
alike.

The Chicamacomico Life-Saving Station is 
the nation’s largest, most complete United 

States Life-Saving Service complex. The 
site contains artifacts and displays open to 
self-guided tours and offers reenactments 

in the summer months.

97



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

2-5  [Existing Conditions]

land Use sUmmary
From the beaches of the Outer Banks to the farms 
of Gates County to the townscape of Edenton, the 
10-county Albemarle region is as large as it is diverse.   
The region’s diversity may be characterized by 7 
normative settlement types, which are described 
below in more detail and can be used to structure 
appropriate, context-sensitive transportation, and 
land use planning decisions.

natUral
Albemarle’s natural land exists in an unaltered 
or nearly unaltered state, including forests, fields, 
swamps, creeks, rivers, harbor, beach, grassland, 
and other environments. Via a few regional roads or 
shared use paths, some of the region’s most stunning 
natural environments are accessible by bicycle. Ex. 
Dismal Swamp State Park

Farmland
Farmland in the Albemarle region is characterized 
by flat, sparsely populated land dedicated almost 
entirely to the growing of crops (tobacco, cotton, 
etc.) and the tending of livestock. The limited built 
landscape is comprised of single-family homes on 
large plots of land located close to rural roadways, 
which often include numerous other structures used 
for related activities. The scenic quality is high, but 
the bicycling appeal varies along these roads; traffic 
is generally light but speeds are relatively high and 
many roads do not have shoulders. Ex. Lake Landing

Hamlet
Located at the intersection of two or more regional 
thoroughfares, hamlets are small clusters of buildings 
that feature residential or agricultural land uses. The 
transition between a hamlet and farmland or natural 
land is almost immediate, which makes recreational 
bicycling appealing. Ex. Fairfield

village
Villages maintain a small, irregular network of streets 
connecting a cluster of homes and a limited amount 
of other land uses, including local retail and other 
small businesses, places of worship, parks, and 
schools. To this last point, villages in the Albemarle 
region are regional focal points because they often 
accommodate the county’s elementary or middle 
schools. Ex. Winfall

tOwn 
Towns are typically located adjacent to the Albemarle 
Sound, or along one of its major tidal tributaries. They 
feature a regular grid of streets, and a wider variety 
of land uses than villages. Residential neighborhoods 
and other civic and commercial uses are clustered 
around a historic main street core that includes 2-3 
story mixed-used buildings. While most towns in 
the Albemarle region have retained a meaningful 
relationship with their countryside, recent auto-
oriented development on the fringe is slowly altering 
the compact town fabric and making walking and 
bicycling more difficult. Ex. Edenton

98



2013

[Existing Conditions]  2-6 

City 
Cities are the cultural, governmental, commercial, 
and educational centers for a given region. They 
feature the highest diversity and density of land uses, 
connected by a network of streets that encourage 
bicycling and walking. Recent auto-oriented 
development created by land use regulations are 
damaging not only the fringe, but also the core, which 
makes walking and bicycling challenging where it 
should be the easiest. Ex. Elizabeth City

BeaCH distriCt
Districts feature large swaths of land dedicated to 
a single purpose. In the Outer Banks, this includes 
either residential or commercial uses. Beach districts 
feature relatively high density but lack the mixed-use 
neighborhood structure found in traditional towns 
and cities, as described above. Ex. Kill Devil Hills

sUBregiOn settlement types

Natural Hamlet Village Town Beach District

Natural Farmland Village TownHamlet

City

Natural Farmland Hamlet

Village Town

nOrtH OF sOUnd

sOUtH OF sOUnd

OUter Banks

99



2-7  [Existing Conditions]

majOr rOUtes
A variety of regional, state, and national bicycle routes 
are currently designated through the Albemarle 
region. Three state bike routes, the Adventure Cycling 
Association’s Atlantic Coast Route’s two alternatives, 
the East Coast Greenway Coastal Route, and the 
regional Around Pamlico Sound route all draw long-
distance cyclists to the area.

The East Coast Greenway (ECG) is a long-distance 
urban trail project in development that will eventually 
connect 25 major cities from Maine to Florida. Through 
North Carolina, the ECG splits into spine and coastal 
route alternatives.

State Bike Routes 2,3, and 4; the Mountains to Sea, Ports of Call, 
and North Line Trace routes; connect most of the Towns in the 
Albemarle region. These routes are part of the nine-route, 2,400-
mile long system that connects scenic landscapes around the 
state. The majority of state bike routes do not contain exclusive 
space for bicyclists, such as paved shoulders or bicycle lanes.

Note: State bike routes shown throughout this plan represent 
updated routes developed in 2013 as part of the North Carolina 
Statewide Pedestrian & Bicycle Plan.

The Adventure Cycling Assocation is a non-profit 
organization that produces cycling maps to encourage 
long-distance cycling around the country. Two 
alternatives of the ACA’s Atlantic Coast Route weave 
through the Albemarle region, overlapping with many 
of the other routes described here.

The Around Pamlico Sound route connects five state 
parks, historic sites, the National Seashore and other 
destinations around the region. Given the large 
difference in traffic patterns during the summer, on- and 
off-season routes provide options for cyclists looking to 
loop the region.

100



2013

[Existing Conditions]  2-8 

pOpUlatiOn density
Two-thirds of the Albemarle population lives in the 
North of Sound subregion, and one third of those in 
the largest municipality, Elizabeth City. The Outer 
Banks subregion is second with twenty percent of the 
population, but is estimated to increase six-fold each 
summer with the influx of visitors, according to the 
Outer Banks Chamber of Commerce. This estimate 
brings the peak season population of the region to 
almost 350,000 or twice that of the off-season.

Geography Population Households Persons/
Acre

Albemarle 
region

170,167 67,024 0.08

North of Sound 
subregion

113,174 43,064 0.12

South of Sound 
subregion

22,913 8,286 0.01

Outer Banks 
subregion

34,080 15,674 0.23

Elizabeth City holds the largest year-round 
population center in the region.

The Central Outer Banks see the largest population 
shift between peak season and off-season due to 

the large number of visitors that vacation along the 
beach.

101



2-9  [Existing Conditions]

emplOyment density

Employment is largely concentrated in the Outer Banks 
and North of Sound subregions, particularly in and 
around Elizabeth City. 56 percent of all jobs are found 
in the North of Sound subregion, where two-thirds 
of the population lives. The Outer Banks subregion 
contains a high share of jobs relative to its population; 
33 percent of all jobs are in the Outer Banks, yet just 20 
percent of the population resides there. The South of 
Sound subregion has relatively balanced employment 
and population densities, with 11 percent of the 
jobs and 14 percent of the population. These figures 
suggest that many workers in the Albemarle region 
likely commute from the North of Sound and South of 
Sound to the Outer Banks for work. 

In the Outer Banks, the top employment sectors are 
primarily tourism-related; retail trade, accommodation 
and food services, and real estate, rental and leasing 
together make up 58 percent of jobs. While agriculture 
and fishing have historically been major sources of 
employment in the Albemarle region and remain a 
vibrant part of the economy, landscape, and culture, 
today they account for just 2 percent of jobs. These 
jobs are almost entirely located in the North of Sound 
(61%) and South of Sound (35%) subregions, with few 
agriculture and fishing jobs in the Outer Banks.

Geography #1 #2 #3
Albemarle region Retail Trade 

(20%)
Educational Services 
(14%)

Accommodation & 
Food Services (13%)

North of Sound 
subregion

Educational 
Services (18%)

Retail Trade (17%) Health Care & 
Social Assistance 
(14%)

South of Sound 
subregion

Educational 
Services (16%)

Health Care & 
Social Assistance 
(14%)

Retail Trade (13%)

Outer Banks 
subregion

Retail Trade 
(26%)

Accommodation & 
Food Services (20%)

Real Estate & Rental 
& Leasing (12%)

102



2013

[Existing Conditions]  2-10 

eqUity
An important goal of this plan is to recommend a 
course for the Albemarle region that will benefit all 
residents, including those typically underserved or 
underrepresented. An equity analysis was completed 
to identify the locations where such residents are 
located in order to target public outreach to those 
areas and ensure recommendations meet the needs 
of those residents. The map at right displays an ‘equity 
score’, which represents a composite of several 
factors – Race, vehicle availability, income, and 
English fluency.
Demographics in the Albemarle Region

Geography No vehicle 
available

Median 
Household 

Income

Speak little 
to no English

North Carolina 2.5% $45,570 2.9%
Albemarle 
region

1.8% $46,548 1.4%

North of Sound 
subregion

1.9% $46,957 1.2%

South of Sound 
subregion

4.9% $33,888 1.8%

Outer Banks 
subregion

0.4% $53,701 2.1%

Race and Ethnicity in the Albemarle Region

Geography

W
hi

te

B
la

ck
 o

r 
A

fr
ic

an
 

A
m

er
.

A
m

er
. I

nd
ia

n 
an

d 
A

la
sk

a 
N

at
iv

e

A
si

an

So
m

e 
ot

he
r 

ra
ce

Tw
o 

or
 m

or
e 

ra
ce

s

H
is

pa
ni

c 
or

 
La

tin
o 

(a
ny

 
ra

ce
)

North Carolina 70% 21% 1% 2% 4% 2% 8%
Albemarle 
region

72% 25% 0% 1% 1% 1% 3%

North of Sound 
subregion

69% 27% 0.4% 0.7% 1% 1% 3%

South of Sound 
subregion

50% 46% 0.4% 0.2% 2% 0.8% 3%

Outer Banks 
subregion

94% 4% 0.3% 0.3% 1% 0.7% 6%

103



2-11  [Existing Conditions]

COmmUte mOde sHare
Bicycle mode share is greater than the state average of 0.2 
percent in two of Albemarle’s three subregions. South of 
the Albemarle Sound, the percentage of commuters who 
bicycle to work is two times that of the state rate, and in the 
Outer Banks it is four times as high.

Several towns have even higher bike mode shares, 
where bicycling is a part of the daily culture. In the 
following towns, more than one percent of commuters 
travel by bicycle: 

Geography

Em
pl

oy
ed

 
Po

pu
la

tio
n

D
riv

e 
al

on
e

C
ar

po
ol

Tr
an

si
t

B
ic

yc
le

W
al

k

O
th

er

North Carolina 4,205,946 81% 11% 1% 0.2% 2% 1%
Albemarle 
region

75,213 78% 13% 0.4% 0.4% 2.0% 3%

North of Sound 
subregion

49,692 80% 13% 0.4% 0.2% 2% 3%

South of Sound 
subregion

7,696 72% 17% 0.6% 0.5% 3% 2%

Outer Banks 
subregion

17,825 76% 11% 0.3% 0.8% 2% 2%

Duck – 8%

Nags Head – 3.1%

Manteo – 2.7%

Roper  - 18%

Ocracoke – 18%

104



2013

[Existing Conditions]  2-12 

CrasH density
Cyclist crashes over the last ten years reveal safety 
patterns across the Albemarle region. Crashes are 
overrepresented in the Outer Banks relative to its 
year-round population, but there are two possible 
explanations for this. First, the Outer Banks population 
is greatly increased in the summer, and over half of 
the crashes took place between June and August. 
Second, bicycle mode share is greater in the Outer 
Banks, so crashes per bicycle trip may actually be 
lower. The following table displays crashes per bicycle 
commuter, a proxy for crashes per bicycle trip, and 
reveals that the Outer Banks is still overrepresented 
relative to the other subregions. This proxy does 
not account for visiting cyclists and non-work trips, 
however, and is therefore limited.

Notably, 42 percent of crashes took place in rural 
areas outside the municipalities of the region. These 
are likely occurring on rural roads with narrow shoulders 
and fast-moving vehicles.

Geography

C
ra

sh
es

C
ra

sh
es

 
pe

r 
10

00
 

re
si

de
nt

s

C
ra

sh
es

 
pe

r 
bi

cy
cl

e 
co

m
m

ut
er

s

Fa
ta

lit
ie

s

Fa
ta

lit
ie

s 
pe

r 
10

00
 

re
si

de
nt

s

Albemarle region 277 1.6 1.04 11 0.06
North of Sound 
subregion

87 0.8 0.95 5 0.04

South of Sound 
subregion

28 1.2 0.78 1 0.04

Outer Banks 
subregion

162 4.8 1.17 5 0.15

Source: NCDOT 

105



2-13  [Existing Conditions]

previOUs plans
Many existing plans for municipalities and counties 
in the Albemarle region contain recommendations 
relevant to cycling. These vary from proposals for 
specific facility locations to program and policy 
recommendations. The findings and recommendations 
of these plans provide the starting point for this plan. 
Recommendations are considered in light of recent 
trends and the goals and vision of this plan, and then 
incorporated or modified as appropriate. The map 
at left displays the facility recommendations from 
existing plans.

Recent Comprehensive Transportation Plans for 
several counties including Camden, Currituck, 
Hyde, Tyrell, and Pasquotank recommend bicycle 
facilities varying from paved shoulders and 
bicycle lanes to multi-use paths.

The 2003 Chowan County and Edenton 
Greenway and Open Space Plan recommends 
a system of trails and protected areas along 
streams and other natural resources in the county.

The Hatteras Island Pathways Plan recommends 
a sidepath along the length of NC 12 to provide 
a recreational resource and connection in and 
between the island’s four villages. As a result of 
this study, 8 miles of sidepath within these four 
villages was constructed in 2013. 

106



2013

[Existing Conditions]  2-14 

pUBliC inpUt
Public input is critical to the success of any planning 
effort. The planning team gathered feedback from 
the public in many ways to inform and guide this plan. 
The major public input strategies used are shown 
briefly below. For more information on the public input 
process and findings, see Appendix B.

Project website with links to project information 

ArcGIS online input map website 

Facebook page 

Online comment form and hardcopy 
companion

A series of public workshops were 
held in October 2012 and May 2013 
to receive input into the process.

The first fall public input event took place 
at the Elizabeth City Farmers Market

107



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

2-15  [Existing Conditions]

prOgram sUmmary
In addition to the natural and built environment, 
the social environment in the form of programs and 
resources helps to create and sustain a bicycle-
friendly community or region.  A useful framework 
for describing the categories into which such 
resources fall is the four E’s: Education, Enforcement, 
Encouragement, and Engineering. While the last E 
represents physical infrastructure, the first three require 
programmatic solutions. The following programs and 
resources currently exist in the Albemarle region. For 
a description of each organization, see Appendix A.

state OrganizatiOns and 
resOUrCes
• Eat Smart Move More NC
• North Carolina Amateur Sports
• North Carolina Department of Health 
and Human Services
• North Carolina Department of 
Transportation 

regiOnal OrganizatiOns and 
resOUrCes
• Albemarle Regional Health Services
• Currituck County Visitors Center
• Gates Partners for Health
• Greater Tyrrell County Chamber of 
Commerce
• Healthy Carolinians of the Albemarle

• Outer Banks Visitors Bureau
• Three Rivers Healthy Carolinians
• Tyrrell County Ecotourism Committee

lOCal OrganizatiOns and resOUrCes
• Cycle Speedway
• River City Cycling Club
• Numerous bicycle shops and rentals

The Inner Banks Cycle Shop in Plymouth both 
sells and services bicycles.

108



2013

[Existing Conditions]  2-16 

plan and pOliCy sUmmary 
Certain areas in the Outer Banks notwithstanding, 
Albemarle’s relatively slow growth has kept its rural 
character and historic townscapes intact. This is 
fortunate because on their own, rural counties, small 
towns, and villages typically have few resources 
in which to proactively engage planning. While 
also limited in its resources, the Albemarle Regional 
Planning Organization provides a framework and 
support for the planning and development of the 
region. 

A decade of regional, county, and local planning 
and policy documents were reviewed as part of this 
planning effort. Very few of the efforts are directly 
related to bicycle planning. Yet, all levels of land use, 
transportation, and urban design must be considered 
together as it’s their coordination, or lack thereof, 
that ultimately determines the appeal of bicycling for 
recreation, transportation, and utility purposes.

Cama / land Use plans / COmpreHensive 
plans
Established in 1974, the Coastal Area Management 
Act (CAMA) requires each of the 20 coastal counties 
in North Carolina to develop a local land use plan 
in accordance with guidelines established by the 
Coastal Resources Commission. 

A sample of CAMA plans reviewed include those 
from Gates County, Duck, Manteo, Chowan County/
Edenton, Dare County, Perquimans County, Tyrell 
County, Nags Head, Pasquotank County/Elizabeth 

City, and Southern Shores. Given their wide scope, 
CAMA plans address a wide range of issues but 
generally offer few details. All CAMA plans do address 
general transportation issues, and most (especially 
the most recent plans) include the goal of developing 
more bicycle facilities.

The Camden County Comprehensive Plan was 
completed in 2012 and serves as an update to the 
County’s 2005 CAMA plan. This new plan “provides a 
more strategic set of goals, policies, and actions for the 
future, while also carrying forward the state mandated 
critical policies in the CAMA Plan that affect local 
day-to-day decision making.”  The Plan, which relates 
to the County’s Unified Development Ordinance 
and upcoming Comprehensive Transportation Plan, 
explicitly includes bicycling and walking as a key part 
of a multi-modal transportation system

zOning / BiCyCle parking OrdinanCes
Zoning is typically embedded within a county’s Unified 
Development Ordinance. While most communities 
in the region envision a future that promotes growth 
while protecting their rural character and historic 
centers, the reality is that many of the zoning tools 
found in these ordinances do not always ensure such a 
result. Moreover, the disconnect between stated land 
use/zoning and transportation goals with the actual 
tools used to project transportation needs commonly 
undermine a community’s ability to implement their 
vision. 

In order to maintain and/or create new bicycle and 

109



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

2-17  [Existing Conditions]

pedestrian-friendly development, bicycle parking 
regulations are often embedded within zoning codes. 
Currituck County has developed their own bicycle 
parking ordinances. 

COnservatiOn plans
The general thrust of the CAMA planning process 
includes efforts to conserve Albemarle’s rural and 
natural character on a local and countywide basis. The 
Albemarle Resource Conservation and Development 
Council Area planning process is intended to support 
local efforts, but to also set a broader regional 
agenda with goals and policies addressing a variety 
of conservation and 
development challenges. 

The most recent Albemarle 
Resource Conservation 
& Development Council 
Area Plan was completed 
in 2008. The 5-year plan 
addresses the need to 
balance conservation 
efforts with development in 
the 10-county region. 

The Great Dismal 
Swamp and Nansemond National Wildlife Refuges 
Comprehensive Plan (2006) is a product of the US Fish 
& Wildlife Service. The Plan’s focus is on conserving 
wildlife and its habitat, with a desire to expand the 
Great Dismal Swamp Bicycle Trail. 

Open spaCe and reCreatiOn 
plans
As the Albemarle region continues 
to grow, there exists a need to 
maintain open space and expand 
recreational opportunities. In 
recognition of this need, Chowan 
County and the Town of Edenton 
worked together in 2003 to create the Chowan County 
& Edenton Greenway and Open Space Plan. The Plan 
serves as the guiding policy and physical planning 
document for protecting open space, increasing 
recreational and increasing active transportation 
opportunities through the development of multi-use 
greenways.

The Town of Nags Head recently finished its own 
Parks and Recreation Plan, which includes a number 
of physical recommendations for the ongoing 
development of a trail and wayfinding system.  

COmpreHensive transpOrtatiOn plans
Each county within the Albemarle RPO is required to 
produce a comprehensive transportation plan (CTP). 
The following plans were either ongoing or completed 
recently as of fall 2012: 

• 2011 Camden County CTP
• 2012 Currituck County CTP
• 2012 Hyde County CTP (Draft)
• 2012 Tyrell County CTP (Draft)
• 2012 Pasquotank County CTP Deficiency    

 

 
 

                        
 
 
 

 
Albemarle Resource Conservation & Development Council  

 

Area Plan 2008 – 2013 
 

February 2008 
 
 
 

Prepared by the 
Albemarle RC&D Council 

Assisted by the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture and cooperating federal, state 

and local agencies 

Chowan County & Edenton
Greenways and Open Space Plan

Elizabeth City

WASHINGTON

PERQUIMANS

HertfordCHOWAN

PASQUOTANK

CAMDEN

Gatesville

GATES

Winton

Windsor

BERTIE
Edenton

Plymouth

3 24

7

15

10

12

26

17

4

Nixons

Beach

Cape Colony

Edenhouse

Arrowhead

Beach

Harvey Neck

Alb
em

arle

Sound

Ye o p im River

C
h

ow
an

R
iver

Perquim
ans

River

29

23

1

28

30

6

111620255

27

13 814

2 22 9 19

18

21

3

1

4

2

Ch o wan

Rive r

Wiccaco n Rive r

Be nn ett s
Cre ek

Trotm
an

C ree
k

M il l po nd

M e r c h a n t s

Perquim
ans

13 30

17 28

24

1

19

6

29

3

23

10

26

20

2

5 8

Snug

Harbor

Hol iday
Island

Perquimans

River

Ye op im

Cree k

Ye o pi m

Ri v e r

Edenton, NC Chowan County

2003

110



2013

[Existing Conditions]  2-18 

Analysis
• 2012 Dare County CTP Survey Results

Each CTP now includes recommendations for making 
multi-modal improvements, including the identification 
of specific corridors slated for bikeway treatments. In 
rural areas the recommendations generally call for 
the addition of shoulders or shared use paths, while 
in towns and cities the recommendations typically 
include bicycle lanes. 

While the addition of bikeways into the CTPs is a 
positive step forward, a lack of coordination between 
transportation and land use planning is still apparent. 
Additionally, there exists an opportunity to expand 
the range of best practices to include more bikeways, 
policies, and tools that could demonstrably improve 
bicycling in the Albemarle region. 

BiCyCle plans
While CAMA, CTP, and various recreational/open 
space plan efforts have incorporated bikeway 
improvement recommendations (the engineering 
hardware) local, county, and regional plans have 
yet to fully include education, encouragement, 
evaluation, equity, and enforcement goals and 
policies (the software). This makes the Albemarle 
Region Bicycle Plan the first of its kind. 

In addition to the above planning efforts, two specific 
bicycling related studies have been completed in the 
region. The first is the 2004 Case Study of the Northern 
OBX: Economic Impacts of Investments in Bicycle 

Facilities, which describes the favorable return on 
investment gained from relatively small investments in 
bicycle infrastructure. 

The second study is the 2011 Dismal Swamp Canal Trail 
Extension Plan, which looks at extending the existing 
facility.

pedestrian plans
While this current planning effort is focused on 
bicycling, pedestrian-friendly environments are almost 
always bicycle-friendly as well. To date, the towns of 
Columbia, Hertford, and Edenton have completed 
pedestrian plans in the Albemarle region. 

COrridOr plans
Corridor planning provides an opportunity to directly 
coordinate transportation and land use planning so 
that development and conservation are appropriately 
balanced. 

The 2011 Camden Co/US 17 Hwy Corridor Plan, which 
includes the greenway extension recommendations 
made in the Dismal Swamp Canal Trail Extension Plan, 
is one example of corridor planning in the Albemarle 
region. Dealing primarily with a rural section of Camden 
County, this type of planning should be expanded to 
other areas in the region to help limit development 
that only makes congestion worse, bicycling and 
walking less appealing, and the built environment less 
in keeping with the region’s unique character. 

111



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

2-19  [Existing Conditions]

state pOliCies
Several state policies help to support bicycling and 
walking in the Albemarle region. Key excerpts of 
these policies are provided below, with links to more 
information.

Complete Streets Policy
“This policy requires that NCDOT’s planners and 
designers will consider and incorporate multimodal 
alternatives in the design and improvement of all 
appropriate transportation projects within a growth 
area of a town or city unless exceptional circumstances 
exist. Routine maintenance projects may be excluded 
from this requirement; if an appropriate source of 
funding is not available.”

More information: http://www.completestreetsnc.
org/ and http://www.bytrain.org/fra/general/ncdot_
streets_policy.pdf

NCDOT Bicycle Policy Guidelines
“The Board of Transportation finds that bicycling is 
a bonafide highway purpose subject to the same 
rights and responsibilities and eligible for the same 
considerations as other highway purposes... It is the 
policy of the Board of Transportation that bicycle 
facility planning be included in the state thoroughfare 
and project planning process.”

More information: http://www.ncdot.gov/bikeped/
download/bikeped_laws_Bicycle_Policy.pdf

NCDOT Greenway Policy 
“The Department will incorporate locally adopted 
plans for greenways into the ongoing planning 
processes within the Statewide Planning (thoroughfare 
plans) and the Planning and Environmental (project 
plans) Branches of the Division of Highways. This 
incorporation of greenway plans will be consistent 
throughout the department. Consideration will be 
given to including the greenway access as a part of 
the highway improvement.”

More information: http://www.ncdot.gov/_templates/
download/external.html?pdf=http%3A//www.ncdot.
gov/bikeped/download/bikeped_laws_Greenway_
Admin_Action.pdf

NCDOT Board of Transportation Resolution 
for Bicycling and Walking
“NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the North Carolina 
Board of Transportation concurs that bicycling and 
walking accommodations shall be a routine part of 
the North Carolina Department of Transportation’s 
planning, design, construction, and operations 
activities and supports the Department’s study and 
consideration of methods of improving the inclusion 
of these modes into the everyday operations of 
North Carolina’s transportation system; and BE IT 
FURTHER RESOLVED, North Carolina cities and towns 
are encouraged to make bicycling and pedestrian 
improvements an integral part of their transportation 

112



2013

[Existing Conditions]  2-20 

planning and programming.”

More information: http://www.ncdot.gov/bikeped/
download/bikeped_laws_BOT_Mainstreaming_
Resolution.pdf

Bridge Policy
“Sidewalks shall be included on new bridges with 
curb and gutter approach roadways that are without 
control of access; in some cases, only one side may 
warrant a sidewalk. Sidewalks should not be included 
on controlled access facilities. A determination on 
providing sidewalks on one or both sides of new 
bridges will be made during the planning process 
according to the NCDOT Pedestrian Policy Guidelines. 
A minimum handrail height of 42” is required.”

“When a bikeway is required, the bridge shall be 
designed in accordance with AASHTO standard 
bicycle accommodations and North Carolina Bicycle 
Facilities Planning and Design Guidelines to give safe 
access to bicycles where feasible. A minimum handrail 
height of 54” is required where bicyclists will be riding 
next to the handrail. “

More information: https://connect.
n c d o t . g o v / p r o j e c t s / R o a d w a y /
RoadwayDesignAdministrativeDocuments/Bridge%20
Policy.pdf

113



3-1  [Needs Assessment]

NC-12, Hatteras Island

114



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-2 

Chapter Three
Needs Assessment

Overview
Building on the findings of Chapter Two, this chapter 
takes a closer look at the existing facilities and 
conditions within each subregion and identifies the 
major needs of each subregion.

NOrth Of SOuNd SubregiON NeedS 
ASSeSSmeNt
AmeNitieS Of the SubregiON
The North of Sound subregion includes the upriver 
communities along the Pasquotank, Perquimans, 
and Chowan Rivers: Elizabeth City, Hertford, Winfall, 
Edenton, and Gatesville. The rivers are major 
tributaries of the Albemarle Sound. The North of Sound 
subregion offers several wilderness areas, including 
the Great Dismal Swamp National Wildlife Refuge, 
Dismal Swamp State Park, Merchants Millpond State 
Park, and Chowan Swamp State Natural Area. 
These natural areas offer opportunities for paddling, 
mountain biking, fishing, and birding. The remainder 
of the North of Sound subregion is largely rural with 
coastal farmland. 

Elizabeth City is a major commercial hub and the largest 
city in the Albemarle region. The town’s waterfront 

is popular for its docks, shops, spas, and attractions, 
including a historic museum. There are events year-
round, held at the waterfront, that celebrate historic 
events, culture, and holidays. Active events, such as 
the TarWheel Century Bicycle Ride, International Cup 
Regatta, and River City Bull Bash, draw residents and 
visitors alike.    

Hertford boasts some of the richest historic structures 
in the state, such as the Newbold-White House and 
Leigh’s Plantation. Victorian and Georgian homes line 
the banks of the Perquimans River and are toured by 
visitors year-round. The downtown offers shopping, 
dining, and architectural walking tours. Missing Mill 
Park is within walking distance from downtown; it 
offers paddling, fishing, and picnicking, and it hosts a 
seasonal farmers market. 

Edenton is a waterfront village with a colonial history 
and an active downtown. Historic district tours are 
held daily, and visitors can enjoy shopping, dining, 
special events, and bed and breakfast lodging. There 
are many active outdoor recreation events and 
opportunities for sailing, paddling, and bicycling. 

Gatesville and Winfall are much smaller river towns 

Chapter Contents

Overview

North of Sound 
Subregion  Needs 
Assessment

South of Sound 
Subregion Needs 
Assessment

Outer Banks 
Subregion Needs 
Assessment

115



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-3  [Needs Assessment]

with rich farmlands and views of the rivers. Both towns 
are known for their historic homes and plantations. 
Gatesville offers paddling and wildlife viewing at 
Bennetts Creek and is a gateway to Merchants 
Millpond State Park.

Water Street Park, Elizabeth City

Mid-Atlantic Park, Elizabeth City

Typical cotton field

116



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-4 

YMCA, Barco
Water Street Park, Edenton

Downtown Hertford

Queen Anne’s Park, Edenton

117



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-5  [Needs Assessment]

exiStiNg bicycle fAcilitieS
Few bicycling facilities exist in the North of Sound 
subregion, as displayed on the following maps. 
Facilities are summarized in the table at right and 
shown relative to the area’s population and total road 
network mileage. While a few miles of paved shoulder 

are present around Gatesville 
and Hertford, the majority of 
roads in this subregion have no 
separated space for cyclists. The 
Dismal Swamp Greenway is the 
only existing multi-use trail in the 
area, and is complemented by 
unpaved trail through the Dismal 
Swamp State Park.

Two state bike routes traverse 
the subregion (see  page 2-7 
for more information). State 
bike routes are signed but do 
not contain exclusive facilities 
for bicyclists. Similarly, several 
local signed routes have been 
designated through and around 
Hertford, totaling 55 miles. These 
include the 1968 Bike Trail, the 
Joppa Loop Bike Route, and the 
Bethel Loop Bike Route. The latter 
two routes are not signed. None 
of these local bike routes have 
other facilities like bike lanes.

bicycliNg OppOrtuNitieS
This region is composed largely of rural farmland 
with historic port towns along river entryways to the 
Albemarle Sound.  Despite a lack of bicycle facilities, 
some existing roadway and traffic conditions do 
create opportunities for bicycling:

• Low-volume, two-lane roadways offer calm, 
scenic long-distance bicycling.

• The historic towns of Edenton, Hertford, and 
Elizabeth City are compact featuring grid 
roadway networks that are connected and 
accessible by bicycle.  

• The Dismal Swamp Canal Trail, part of the East 
Coast Greenway and parallel to US-17, provides a 
scenic, off-road, long distance multi-use trail that 
is planned to connect to Virginia.  However, the 
closest population center to the existing portion 
of the Dismal Swamp Canal Trail is Elizabeth City, 
approximately 15 miles away.  

Facility Type Mileage
Designated Route 55
Bicycle Lane (BL) 0
Multi-Use Trail (T) 14
Paved Shoulder (PS) 6
Total Physical Facilities (BL + T + PS) 20
Physical Facility Miles/1,000 Roadway Miles 8
Physical Facility Miles/1,000 Residents 0.2

Trail users are comfortably away from highway 
traffic along the Dismal Swamp Canal Trail.

118



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-6 

13

158

17

158

64

4

Around Pamlico Sound: Offseason
R

o
ute

3

A L B
E M A R L E S O U N D

PA
S Q

U
O
T
A
N
K

R
I V
E
R

N
O
R
T
H

R
I V
E
R

C
U
R
R
I T
U
C
K

S
O
U
N
D

C
H
O
W
A
N

R
I V
E
R

N
O
R
T
H

L
A
N

D
I N
G
R I V E R

P
E
R

Q
U I M

A N S R I V E R

L
I T
T
L
E
R
I V
E
R

Moyock

Currituck

Grandy

Jarvisburg

Barco

Camden
North River
Gameland

Chowan Swamp
Natural Area

Pettigrew
State Park

Merchants
Millpond

State Park
Currituck

National Wildlife
Refuge

Edenton
National

Fish Hatchery

Great Dismal
Swamp National
Wildlife Refuge

Pocosin Lakes
National

Wildlife Refuge

MacKey Island
National

Wildlife Refuge

Alligator
River National
Wildlife Refuge

Dillard's
Millpond

Bennett's
Millpond

Dismal Swamp
Canal Welcome

Center

SA
N

D
Y

C
RO

SS

SNUG
 HARBO

R

A
C

O
RN

 H
IL

L

BELVIDERE

C
O

U
N

TY
L I

N
E

JOPPA

CHINQUAPIN

PE
NDER

US 17

BEAR SWAMP

Gatesville

Elizabeth
City

Winfall
Hertford

Edenton

Roper

Columbia

Dismal
Swamp Trail

Bethel Loop
Bike Route

Joppa Loop
Bike Route

A
round Pam

lico
Sound: O

ffseason Route

Local Landmarks
Bike Shops
Campground
Shopping Center/
Grocery Store
Library
University
School
Bridge
Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State/Regional Bike Route
East Coast Greenway
County
Boundary
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation

East Coast

Gre
en

way - Co ast al Route

0 2.5 5
Miles

North of SouNd 
ExiStiNg facilitiES

119



Overview
Molupta dolupit, odipicta seque nem imusandebis 
et eum sitisciendae odi demped modit eumquis 
evernatem vellitassed qui deliam id unturit vero 
doluptatem eturis ma consequia que pliaes am que 
miliqui bearum eos cuptat ipsant.

heAdiNg twO
Poribus. Nam discitat hitius diciur reptatem nonsecto 
magnissimus, quia parchil ictempe liquam, ium que 
venti occab in conet maio millabo. Est, consed qui 
culpa volorehenis aut di dererilestor min pro coratendit 
laborpo rporerupta et prorepu dandendest plabor 
maxim quiae pliquod itemquia doluptae pligendenis 
et eatia nobissum, quam, verumquatus exceptat.

Heading Three
• Num ditatur? Ucias explitatia nectotaspel 

ipidebis et, to debis volor andae di tem. Menimus 
vendebi tatem. Untoria nonse nem et hiliae 
consed moluptatem volorrum lam esse vellabo. 

• On pa que discid que preicae. Excea volora 
corro velenda pro modit, qui consequo est fugia 
debis dolorrorem faceriatibus inciet esti ulluptius 
simolupta nem culpa delit ut dolum 

• voluptatus aut eatus veliqui quibus, inihitem 
sam remquiati sintinverior ad eum dentium 
excearcipsam faccati anihil illecaborrum quiae. 
Illoribus elitatur?

Cipsant ectus, ant, comnit exeruntur, conse non reped 
ma de venimus, que vent et plabo. Itam denimus volo 
ilignis exeribu scipid eaqui simi, torum rae accus, alibus 
adi quaectem sa dolupta nonsernatum quodit quunt 
ex enderfe riatem nobis sam faccum qui beaquuntiunt 
odicidercit et ulluptas nobis amet apis dolum sitat qui 
te dolenti busdant et es simus, cus aborrum facest 
ventemquunt quam, ut aut et dist, vendis esectibus 
magnimin et et lam sunti dolorpo rrovitat officid ea et 
ut maionsequam fugit, ut restibus dolum simus mil ium 
esentiumquo inimi, verum si velestrunt et dolorrum qui 
doluptati qui venimax imillan di

1.  tatatur aut mostiur, natque nis si debit lis illatus 
acerovid quo cuptatem nectibu stiuscidem. 
Nem expelit ionsed ea dis del istrum facitae 
moluptam volorro temo ipsandi gendaeprem. 
Luptum qui ressinc 

2.  ipsaerum ulluptas reres si serorem id magnihi 
llaceratiis doluptatist velloriatis audamus inctiam 
quam idit velent, officae veris et la quae volo 
voluptae net laci 

3.  non res quiant et qui doloreh enihill oremporrum 
idio omnis site odissitis non cores rerupta 
dolendem et harcil il ipsa doluptata dolorero 
evenis dolorunt odiorem doluptas aut eosande 
biscita natur?

Pienia quod expliqu asperiandunt lam, sollabo. Et 
veliquam que voluptis unt et deliqui omnienimped ut 

Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-7  [Needs Assessment]

Camden

17
17

158

P A S Q U O T A N K R I V E R

HUGHES

A
N

D
ERSO

N

CHURCH

B

MAIN

BR
ITE

C
UL

PE
PP

ER

PENQ
U I N

C
RE

SC
EN

T

RO
ANOKE

PE
A

RT
RE

E

WALKER

FL
O

RA

N
EW

BY

SAVIN

SULID
AE

PRICE

HA
RN

EY

PE
RS

SE

HA
RR

IS

U
BEECH

SH
ILL

IN
G

TO
W

N

M
A

RL
IN

W
ESTW

A
Y

PARKVIEW

BROAD

W
IL

SO
N

RA VE
N

LEW
IS

TUSCARORAN
EW

PO
RT

JONESSPEED

SHADY

HASTINGS

C
AS

EY

BU
TL

ER
S

RED CEDAR

SOUTHSIDE

HIG
HLA

N
D

CEDAR US 15

8

TIMMERMAN

CAMDENA

STALLING
S

ED
G

EW
O

O
D

LIN
C

O
LN

HALSTEAD W
ES

TO
VE

R

EHRINGHAUS

BR
IA

RW
O

O
D

SH
IR

LE
Y

WEEKS

M
A

D
ISO

N

M
EE

KI
N

S

GLADE

MCPHERSON

HOPKINS

SI
M

PS
O

N

BR
UCE

SA
W

YE
R

WARD

SCOTT

ROSED
ALE

WHITE

OAK S
TU

M
P

CYPRESS

LARK

BURKE

WALNUT

EDGEBROWN

BARNHILL

C
A

PTA
IN

S
PAPER

SAILORS

BR
ANTW

OOD

C
O

M
PA

SS

FIR
ST

N
A

TIV
E 

D
A

N
C

ER

BAYBERRY

M
IZZ

EN

C
HA

RLES

ANNE

BYRUM

PARKWOOD

PERRY

RIVERSIDE

REDGATE

GRAND VIEW

BELL

HA
RR

EL
LTH

UN
D

ER

ADAMS LANDIN
G

FAIR

M
EA

D
O

W
LA

RK

DAVIS

PLEASANT

ALLEY

BUNNELLS LAUREL

REGENT

UNION

SHEPHARD

LEX
INGTON

MED
IC

AL

ST
ONE

C
O

O
KE

WEEKSVILLE

C
O

LL
EG

E

M
A

C
EY

 J
O

STARLING

C
A

RT
ER

ASBURY

TIM
BE

R

SUMMERFIELD

CARO
LIN

A

CARDINAL

BEAN

CRAWFORD

W
O

O
D

PO
W

ER
S

DEBRY

RID
G

EF IELD

HUNNICUT
PATRICK

STA
MPE

S
PRIN

G VALE

PAXTON

MILL

BAILEY

QUEEN

GRACE

PINE

FO
URTH

BRO
THERS

INTERPATH

JAIL

HO
FF

LE
R

STA
YSA

IL

SAM DAVIS

BINNACLE

HARVEY

WOODRUFF

GRAVES

HORNER

CARV
ER

CO NT I
N

EN
TA

L

ARENA

MI DG

ET
T

KITTY HAW
K

KAITLYN

M
A

C

GALERA

CHES TERFIELD

VILL
AGE

IDA ACRES

C
HA

NC
EY

HA
RRIER

M
ILL EN

D

AMSTEL

ALB
ATROSS

SPRUCE

JOHNSON

ARBUTUS

M
T EV

EREST

BR O
O

K RID
G

E

FOREST

PE
LIC

A
N

ROU N D
TR

EE

BARNEY

PROVI DENCE

RIDDICK

P O
W

EL
L

LES
SIE

DAN & MARY

PEC
A

N
US 1

7

KNOBBSCREEK

SUN

GRO
RIVERSHORE

TIM
O

TH
Y

G
RI

G
G

S

C
O

SM
O

C
LEA

RV
IEW

PITT
S CH

AP
EL

WINSLOW

TE
RR

Y

C
O

D
Y

FA

IRLEAD

NU
G

G
ET

GENE

ELEUTHERA

COOPER

WELL FIELD

RANCH

POT-O-GOLD

LA
FA

YE
TT

E

BEECHWOOD

OAK GROVE

TANNER

FAIRF AX

CAPIT
AL

CEN
TER

FIF
TH

RAILROAD

TH
IRD

SA
M

PL
E

G
REEN

 RUN

FLEETW
O

O
D

BL
O

SS
ER

 B
LV

D

TAR HEEL

AYDLE TT

PREYER

CITY CENTER

EG

RET

MAPLE

GRICE

C
HA

RLO
TTE

BR
AY

C
LO

SE
D

D
EL

A
IR

E

KRAMER

HA
N

O
V

ER

DENNIS

HEW
ITT

KY
LE

RS

LOWRY

TRINKALOE

EM
ILY

SH
ANNA

TA
N

G
LW

O
O

D

RILEY

DURANT

WESLEY

JENNINGS

TO
W

ER
S

FORREST

EASTW
AY

SPENCE

REID

ST HELEN

CELESTE

CLAREMO
NT

TID
EW

A
TE

R

TUCKER

MEADS

BE
AU

HARDING W
IN

STO
N

PE
LIC

AN

POINT

FARM

RUNWAY

HULL

ROSE
WOOD

ELCINOCA

WEST CITY

ROSECROFT

LA
UR

A
 L

EE

PERKINS

CHIP

VILL
A

FOXBO
RO

HICKORY

D
EE

R

JA
C

KS
O

N

ENT E RPR
ISE

W
AT ER C

R
EST

M
EA

D
S

PO
O

LC
A

RT
W

R I
G

H
T

FO
R

E

S T HILL

HAM OVERMAN

IM
PA

CT

WATERSIDE

CAMDEN
 C

AUSE
WAY

SELBY

TANGLEWO
O

D

SIMPSON DITCH

US 17 BYPA
SS

BO
DY

RIVER

RO
A

D

M
ATTHEW

PARSONAGE

FO
RE

ST
PA

RK BANK

BIRDIE

D
YE

R
LO

BE
LL

LIS
AS

ALTO
N

UN
C

LE
 B

UD
D

Y

C
RE

EK
WI LL

IA
M

S

WILLIS

PE
NN

Y

RE
ED

Y 
CRE

EK

JE
SS

IC
A

BROCKR

IDG E

EA
G

LE

BIG DADDY

KRIS

M ILL
BR

O

OKE

ZA
CK

IBIS

HE
RS

EY
 SA

W
YE

R

DARIAN

AZALEA

US Coast Guard
Air Station
(Pasquotank)

Northside
Causeway

Walnut
Street

Knobbs
Creek

Enfield Fish
Court

Pool
Street

Edgewood

Hooker

Sunset/Gosnold

South Park
Sports

Complex

Triangle/Elizabeth
Street

River Road
Sports

Complex

Northeastern
Park

Charles
Creek

NC
4 - North

Lin
e Tra

ce

Central
Elementary

Elizabeth City Middl

H L Trigg
Comm

J C Sawyer Elem
Northeastern
High

Pasquotank
Elem

P W Moore
Elementary

River
Road

Middle

Sheep-Harney
Elem

Elizabeth
City State
University

College
Of The
Albemarle

Southgate
Plaza

Museum of
the Albemarle

Arts of the Albemarle

Elizabeth City
Area Visitors Center

Encore Theatre Company

Walmart
Supercenter

SoHo
Organic

Market

Food
Lion

Shop
& Go

Cycle
Gallery &
Fitness

YMCA

Knobbs Creek Recreation
Center & Senior Center

Local Landmarks/
Destinations

Bike Shops

Campground
Shopping Center/
Grocery Store

Library

University

School

Bridge

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State Bike Route
East Coast Greenway

Municipal Boundary
Parks
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 0.5 1
Miles

ElizabEth city

120



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-8 

1732

P E R Q
U I M

A N S
R I V E R

C
H

O
W

A
N

R
I V

E
R

O
A

KU
M

D
A

RK

PA
RA

D
IS

E

VA
N

C
E

QUEEN

KING

M
O

SE
LE

Y

G
RA

M
BY

W
O

O
D

A
RD

THIRD

O
LD

 H
ER

TF
O

RD

CHOWAN

BA
DHAM

CAUTH

EN

WILLIAMSON

BO
ND

C
ATHC

ART W
AY

ST
RA

TF
O

RD

JO
HNSTO

N

BLADES

BR
OAD

PR
UD

EN

DILLARD

C
O

X

BL

AIR

SECOND

VA
N

N
C

A
SO

N

PARK

BLOUNT

CAPITAL

TW
ID

D
Y

VILLAG
E

CREEK

OAKDALE

CARTERET

HOSKINS

HICKS

BR
ID

G
ET

O
W

N
EPETERSON

FIRST

EDEN

LE
N

N
Y

LEIG
H

BU D

BA
RK

ER

ROBIN

HAWKINS

D
O

C
K

GALE

ALBANIA

M
IL

ES
 B

RO
W

N

C
O

UR
T

LA
UR

A

DI
C

KI
N

SO
N

SH
EN

ITA

C
O

LO
N

IA
L

BOSW
ELL

C
O

RB
IN

MELONIE

HEW
ES

DUNDEE

D
O

UG
LA

S

C
YP

RE
SS

JO
HNSO

N
ST

AN
DI

N
G

C
O

TT
O

N MILL

WILDCAT

C
A

M
ERO

N

MEXICO

HU
BL

EY

LAKESI DE

YEOPIMPHILLIPS

W
HI

TE
M

O
N

W
ILLO

W
 W

ISP

ELLIOTT

OCEAN

COS TON

OLD E
C

O
LO

NY

TYLER

MARK

DICKS

SO
UN

DS
ID

E

C
A

RP
EN

TE
R

LU
KE

VA
LE

N
TIN

E

IR
E

DELL

CEMETERY

HAYES FARM

RE
G

IN
AL

D 
M

A
RY

W
AL

KE
R

HAMPTON

JO
HN

SO
N

HARDY'S HILL

PARAD

IS
E

SP
UR

JA
C

KS
O

N

BAY SHORE

PEANUT

PAXTON
MLK

G
RA

N
V

ILL
E

W
O

O
D

VIRGINIA

M
C

M
UL

LA
N

CLAIR E

QUE EN ANNE

C
O

KE

KIMBERL Y

TERRY

C
HE

RR
Y 

PO
IN

T

JOHNHILL

ED
EN

TO
N 

BA
Y

FREEMASON

Edenton
National Fish

Hatchery

NC
3

-

Ports of Call

John
A Holmes High

D F Walker
Elem

College of the
Albemarle

Edenton Village
Shopping Center

Food
Lion

Harrell's
Community
Grocery Inc

Farmers
Food

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

37

137

158

NC 4 - North Line Trace

Chowan Swamp
Natural Area

Merchants
Millpond

State Park

Gatesville
Elem

RGS

Local Landmarks/
Descriptions

Bike Shops

Campground
Shopping Center/
Grocery Store

Library

University

School

Bridge

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State Bike Route
East Coast Greenway

Municipal Boundary
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 0.5 1
Miles

EdENtoN gatESvillE

121



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-9  [Needs Assessment]

P E R Q U I M
A N S

R I V E R

17

GRUBB

MAJOR

C
A

THERIN
E

O
LD

 N
EC

K

SW
ING GATE

DOBBS

FIRST

RA
ILR

O
A

D

WYNNEFORK

HARVEY POINT

NEW HOPE

MAIN

C
O

V
EN

T G
A

RD
EN

HIG
H

SMITHCO
VE

CUB

PH
EL

PS

WALTE
RS

KE
LS

EY

YATES

CHARL
ES

WILLOW

C
A

ST
LE

TO
N

W
HITE

PU
NC

H

ST
O

KE
S

KING

NEWBY

PE
RR

Y

CREEK

MASON

WIGGINS

PHILLI
PS

HILA
ND P

ARK
SUNSET

LO
UISE

RIVER

CEN
TER HILL

KE
NYO

N

LO
M

A
S

N
IXO

N

COX

COMMER
CE

MATTH
EW

S A
CRES

BEECH SPRINGS

HOWELL

BEA
R G

A
RD

EN
CARO

LIN
A

BL
OUNT

MARKET

PR
ITL

O
W

E

BERRY

HARV
EY

WILLIAMS

FAITH

W
HE

D
BE

E

W
RI

G
HT

 F
A

RM

WOOD

AINSLEY

ILILDA

ARPDC

JESSUP

BR
IA

N
C

EN
TE

R

DEERVIEW

CROFT

SK
INNERS

NA

TES

O
C

EA
N

CO
O

PE
RA

TIV
E

CRESCENT
ARTIE

BEMBURY

SU
NSH

IN
E

C
LA

RK

BELVIDERE

CEDAR STRETCH

SM
ITH

M
ELTON GROVE

GASTON

GREAT HOPE CHURCH

KNOW

LE
S

LA
ND

ING
LA

YD
EN

HOW
EL

LS

HAYWOOD SM
ITH

ED
EN

TO
N

RO
A

D

CHURC
H

DON JUAN

W
IN

FA
LL

LAKETW
O

 M
ILE

 D
ES

ER
T

RI
V

ER
W

O
O

D

GRANBY

BALLAHACK

MEA
DS

MILLE
R

ST
EV

EN
SO

N

Bethel Loop
Bike Route

Joppa Loop
Bike Route

Joppa Loop
Bike Route

Bethel Loop
Bike Route

Perquimans
Co Middle

Perquimans
Co High

Hertford
Grammar

Perquimans
Central

Harris
Shopping
Center

Food
Lion

Happy
Market

Historic
Perquimans County
Courthouse

Perquimans County
Recreation Center

Historic
Newbold-White
House

Local Landmarks/
Destinations

Bike Shops

Campground
Shopping Center/
Grocery Store

Library

University

School

Bridge

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State Bike Route
East Coast Greenway

Municipal Boundary
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 0.5 1
Miles

hErtford

122



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-10 

bicycle fAcility OppOrtuNitieS
There are very few bicycle facilities in the region.  
However, there are opportunities to implement new 
bicycle facilities with the following methods:

• Add paved shoulder during resurfacing/
reconstruction along commonly-used roadways

• Develop bicycle boulevards utilizing existing grid 
networks in Hertford, Edenton, and Elizabeth City.

• Stripe, restripe, or implement road diets to 
incorporate bicycle facilities where sufficient 
roadway width exists, especially in Gatesville, 
Hertford, Edenton, and Elizabeth City.

• Utilize roadway right-of-way or railroad right-
of-way to develop multi-use trails, especially in 
Edenton, Hertford, and Elizabeth City.  

• Include bicycle facility space with bridge 
reconstruction.

Even active rail lines could 
provide opportunities for rail-
with-trail projects, as seen in 
this view of the rail corridor 
from Bear Swamp Road.

Additional paved shoulder space is 
needed along bicycling routes, such as 
NC Highway 37, east of Gatesville.

Many small, recently 
reconstructed bridges in the 
subregion include adequate 
width for separated bicyclist 
space, such as Yeopim Rd, just 
outside Edenton.

123



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-11  [Needs Assessment]

bicycliSt Activity ANd behAviOr 
Bicyclist activity was observed during field observations 
(October, 2012), with local residents making up 
the majority of ridership. Activity and behavior 
characteristics include:

• High1 daily, utilitarian bicycle activity in lower-
income urban areas of Edenton, Hertford, and 
Elizabeth City.  

 »  Often, these bicyclists were observed not 
wearing helmets, riding against 
traffic, and riding on sidewalks.
• Light recreational bicycle 
activity on lower-volume, rural 
roadways with heavier usage on 
weekends.  

 » These bicyclists tend to ride 
along the correct side of the 
roadway and wear helmets.

• Medium bicycle activity on 
the Dismal Swamp Canal Trail, 
primarily for recreation.  

 » These bicyclists tend to wear 
helmets.

1High, Medium, and Light descriptions 
of activity are relative terms based on 
field observations. They do not indicate 
a specific daily volume of cyclists.

phySicAl bArrierS tO bicycliNg 
Generally, there are more barriers than opportunities 
for bicycling.  Key barriers include:

• Bridge barriers:  Multiple bridges serve as barriers 
due to a lack of paved shoulder, low bridge 
railings, traffic, and exposed, windy conditions.  
Key barriers are:

 » US-17 Bridge (Hertford) – Limited paved 
shoulder, high traffic speeds, low railings

 » Business US-17 Bridge (Hertford) – Although 
it contains narrow lane widths and no 
separated space for bicyclists,  traffic speeds 
are lower, bridge length is short, sidewalk 
is present between the roadway and the 
railing, and the bridge is less exposed, making 
this bridge manageable for bicyclists.

 » NC-94/NC-32 (Creswell to Edenton) – Limited 
paved shoulder, low railings, high exposure, 

Cyclists were observed without helmets, as shown 
here on Riverside Drive and Church Street in 

Elizabeth City.

Even though the NC Highway 94 bridge is 
marked with signage at it’s entrance, it is still 
a barrier to bicycling due to narrow shoulder 

space.

124



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-12 

high traffic speeds, long bridge
 » US-17 Bridge (Edenton) - Limited paved 
shoulder, high traffic speeds, low railings

 » US-158 Bridge (Elizabeth City) – No paved 
shoulder, high traffic speeds, high traffic 
volumes

 » US-158 Bridge (Kitty Hawk) - Limited paved 
shoulder, high traffic speeds, high traffic 
volumes especially in high tourist season, low 
railings, long bridge

• Connectivity issues: There is a lack of connectivity 
between existing bicycle facilities and 
destinations. 

• Crossing high-volume, high speed roadways: 
There are numerous busy roadways that are 
difficult for bicyclists to cross safely. 

• High-volume, high-speed roadways: There are 
many high-volume arterial roadways throughout 
the region with high speeds, including US-17 and 
US-158.

• Narrow roadways and lanes: There are also many 
roadways throughout the region that are too 
narrow for bicyclists to travel safely. These roads 
have little or no shoulder, often contain blind 
curves, and have relatively high vehicle travel 
speeds which pose multiple hazards for bicyclists. 

• Driveway access management: A high frequency 
of driveways and parking lot curb-cuts present 
repeated hazards to cyclists as the automobile 

crosses the cyclists’ path of travel, especially in 
urban and suburban areas of Elizabeth City.

• Roadways currently designed for automobile only: 
Many roads were designed around the automobile 
and need to be redesigned or re-striped to 
become more bicycle friendly. Narrowing existing 
lanes and adding planted medians, sidewalks, 
and shade trees could help reduce speeding and 
its associated hazards.

bArrierS tO bicycle fAcility develOpmeNt
• Bridge barriers:  Bridges in North Carolina have 

an average lifespan of 75 years.  Reconstruction 
and/or the addition of bicycle facilities is a costly 
endeavor.

• Environmental Constraints:  
Environmentally-sensitive areas 
are scattered throughout the 
region, including the Great 
Dismal Swamp.  Micro-scale 
barriers include ditches and 
macro-scale barriers include 
large wetlands.

• Land ownership/right-of-way:  
Land acquisition can be a 
difficult and costly process.  
Multi-use trails, separated from 
the roadway, often fall outside 
the roadway right-of-way.

This cyclist in Elizabeth City is more 
comfortable on the grass than riding in 
traffic on the commercial corridor of US-17.

125



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-13  [Needs Assessment]

SOuth Of SOuNd SubregiON NeedS 
ASSeSSmeNt
AmeNitieS Of the SubregiON
Abundant farmlands, fresh water lakes, and wilderness 
areas characterize the region south of Albemarle 
Sound. Framed on three sides by the Pamlico, 
Roanoke, and Albemarle Sounds, the subregion is 
quiet and more remote than its neighbors to the north 
and east. Water is the hallmark natural feature of the 
area. The Alligator River, Pamlico River, Scuppernong 
River, and Roanoke River offer a multitude of wildlife 
viewing and natural resource-based recreation 
opportunities. Phelps Lake, New Lake, Pocosin Lake, 
and Lake Mattamuskeet provide hiking, paddling, 
fishing, bicycling, and other passive uses. There are 
four national wildlife refuges in the southern subregion: 

Swanquarter, Mattamuskeet, Pocosin Lakes, and 
Alligator River. Many of the refuges include recreation 
opportunities, such as hiking and bicycling. Pettigrew 
State Park and the Upper Pungo River Complex 
offer paddling and hiking trails. Several small towns, 
including Plymouth and Columbia, dot the north 
side of the subregion. The remainder of the area is 
punctuated by historic structures along crossroads 
communities and rural landscapes. 

Phelps Lake, Pettigrew State Park

Canal along NC-94

Engelhard

126



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-14 

Plymouth has a small population and is the largest town 
in the south of sound region. It has become more of 
a draw for tourists in recent years due to its access to 
the Roanoke River along the riverfront boardwalk and 
its historic value during the American Civil War. The 
Roanoke River Lighthouse, Roanoke River Maritime 
Museum, and Port ‘O Plymouth Museum are located 
in downtown. A recently opened bicycle shop offers 
bicycle rentals and sales along Water Street, which 
also boasts the Rail Switch Nature Trail along with 
shops and eateries.

Columbia sits along the Scuppernong River and is the 
location of the historic Somerset Place, an antebellum 
plantation from the 1780s. 

Visitors can shop, dine, and visit the 
Pocosin Lakes National Wildlife Refuge 
(NWR) Headquarters, which includes a 
boardwalk trail along the Scuppernong 
River. Walking tours of historic buildings, 
the Columbia Theater Cultural 
Resources Center, and the Pocosin Arts 
Center are several cultural attractions. 
Columbia is a gateway to the Palmetto-
Peartree Preserve, Pocosin Lakes NWR, 
and Pettigrew State Park. Activities 
range from horseback riding to hiking, 
biking, camping, and paddling in these 
locations.

Downtown Plymouth

Nature Trail, 
Columbia

H i s t o r i c 
Nebraska 
House

127



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-15  [Needs Assessment]

exiStiNg fAcilitieS
With the exception of a few miles of paved shoulder 
and two state bike routes (see page 2-7 for more 
information), bicycling facilities do not exist South 
of the Albemarle Sound. Even considering the low 
population of this subregion, this puts the indicators of 
facilities per roadway mile and facilities per resident at 
the lowest in the region. The following summary table 
does not include state bike route mileage.

bicycliNg OppOrtuNitieS
Despite a lack of bicycle facilities, the south region 
does have existing roadway and traffic conditions 
opportunistic for bicycling:

• Low-volume, rural, two-lane roadways offer calm, 
scenic, long-distance bicycling.

• The historic towns of Plymouth and Columbia 
feature compact downtown cores with grid 
roadway networks accessible by bicycle.  

• Plymouth includes a locally-owned bicycle shop 
with access to air, water, bicycle rentals, maps, 
and recommended routes.

• Numerous natural areas offer access to on- and 
off-road bicycle facilities, including the Pocosin 
Lakes and Alligator River National Wildlife Refuges 
and Pettigrew State Park.

bicycle fAcility OppOrtuNitieS
There are very few bicycle facilities in the region.  
However, there are opportunities to implement new 
bicycle facilities with the following methods:

• Add paved shoulder during resurfacing/
reconstruction along commonly used roadways 
such as 264 and 94.

• Develop bicycle facilities along low-traffic 
roadways that parallel busier roadways utilizing 
existing grid networks in Plymouth and Columbia.

• Incorporate bicycle route signage and 
wayfinding signage near destinations in more 
remote areas of the south region.

• Utilize roadway right-of-way to develop multi-use 
trails, where possible, along busy thoroughfares 
into Plymouth and Columbia.

Facility Type Mileage
Designated Route 0
Bicycle Lane (BL) 0
Multi-Use Trail (T) 0
Paved Shoulder (PS) 6
Total Physical Facilities (BL + T + PS) 6
Physical Facility Miles/1,000 Roadway Miles 2
Physical Facility Miles/1,000 Residents 0.2

128



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-16 

17

64

264

A L B
E M A R L E S O U N D

C
H
O
W
A
N

R
I V
E
R

A
L
L
IG

A
T
O
R

R
IV

E
R

P A
M
L I
C
O
S O

U
N
D

P A
M
L I C O

R I V E R

L A K E
M A T T A M U S K E E T

N E W
L A K E

P H E L P S
L A K E

P
A
M
L
I C
O
R
I V E R

3

2

Pettigrew
State Park

Pocosin Lakes
National

Wildlife Refuge

Pungo
National

Wildlife Refuge

Lake Mattamuskeet
National

Wildlife Refuge

Alligator
River National
Wildlife Refuge

Dare
County Air

Force Range

Swanquarter
National

Wildlife Refuge

Swanquarter
National

Wilderness Area

Mattamuskeet
Lodge

Somerset
Place

Roanoke
Beacon

Davenport
Homestead

Red Wolf
Enclosure

NC Aquarium

US 64 264

Plymouth

Roper
Creswell

Columbia

Local Landmarks
Bike Shops
Campground
Shopping Center/
Grocery Store
Library
University
School
Bridge
Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State Bike Route
East Coast Greenway
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 2.5 5
Miles

South of SouNd
ExiStiNg facilitiES

129



Overview
Molupta dolupit, odipicta seque nem imusandebis 
et eum sitisciendae odi demped modit eumquis 
evernatem vellitassed qui deliam id unturit vero 
doluptatem eturis ma consequia que pliaes am que 
miliqui bearum eos cuptat ipsant.

heAdiNg twO
Poribus. Nam discitat hitius diciur reptatem nonsecto 
magnissimus, quia parchil ictempe liquam, ium que 
venti occab in conet maio millabo. Est, consed qui 
culpa volorehenis aut di dererilestor min pro coratendit 
laborpo rporerupta et prorepu dandendest plabor 
maxim quiae pliquod itemquia doluptae pligendenis 
et eatia nobissum, quam, verumquatus exceptat.

Heading Three
• Num ditatur? Ucias explitatia nectotaspel 

ipidebis et, to debis volor andae di tem. Menimus 
vendebi tatem. Untoria nonse nem et hiliae 
consed moluptatem volorrum lam esse vellabo. 

• On pa que discid que preicae. Excea volora 
corro velenda pro modit, qui consequo est fugia 
debis dolorrorem faceriatibus inciet esti ulluptius 
simolupta nem culpa delit ut dolum 

• voluptatus aut eatus veliqui quibus, inihitem 
sam remquiati sintinverior ad eum dentium 
excearcipsam faccati anihil illecaborrum quiae. 
Illoribus elitatur?

Cipsant ectus, ant, comnit exeruntur, conse non reped 
ma de venimus, que vent et plabo. Itam denimus volo 
ilignis exeribu scipid eaqui simi, torum rae accus, alibus 
adi quaectem sa dolupta nonsernatum quodit quunt 
ex enderfe riatem nobis sam faccum qui beaquuntiunt 
odicidercit et ulluptas nobis amet apis dolum sitat qui 
te dolenti busdant et es simus, cus aborrum facest 
ventemquunt quam, ut aut et dist, vendis esectibus 
magnimin et et lam sunti dolorpo rrovitat officid ea et 
ut maionsequam fugit, ut restibus dolum simus mil ium 
esentiumquo inimi, verum si velestrunt et dolorrum qui 
doluptati qui venimax imillan di

1.  tatatur aut mostiur, natque nis si debit lis illatus 
acerovid quo cuptatem nectibu stiuscidem. 
Nem expelit ionsed ea dis del istrum facitae 
moluptam volorro temo ipsandi gendaeprem. 
Luptum qui ressinc 

2.  ipsaerum ulluptas reres si serorem id magnihi 
llaceratiis doluptatist velloriatis audamus inctiam 
quam idit velent, officae veris et la quae volo 
voluptae net laci 

3.  non res quiant et qui doloreh enihill oremporrum 
idio omnis site odissitis non cores rerupta 
dolendem et harcil il ipsa doluptata dolorero 
evenis dolorunt odiorem doluptas aut eosande 
biscita natur?

Pienia quod expliqu asperiandunt lam, sollabo. Et 
veliquam que voluptis unt et deliqui omnienimped ut 

Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-17  [Needs Assessment]

64

32

45

3

SAND HILL

FOURTH

NC
HW

Y
32

SEXTON FARM

JEFFERSO
N

D
A

LY

CLARKD
A

LY
WINESETT

KENNEDY

N
C

HW
Y

45

GARRETT ISLAND

M
O

N
RO

E

W
ASHING

TO
N

M
ADISO

N

BOW
SER

US
 H

W
Y 

64
 W

ES
T

C
O

UN
TRY

CLUB

JEA
N

LO
BLO

LLY

STYONS

DARBY

C
EN

TE
R

W
ALN

UT

HAZEL

M
ID

D
LE

C
ED

A
R

C
AM

PBELL

CEDAR

MAIN

POPLAR
US HWY 64 EAST

CO
UNTRY

CHERRYCRANBERRY

G
UR

KI
N

ANNE

RHODES

JEFFERSO
N

LU
V

ER
A

BRINKLEY

RIVERSIDE

C
O

NA
BY

FOREST

WINESETT

NORTH

RANKIN

WEST

MACKEY
S

MAPLE

D
O

VE

M
A

RTIN

THIRD

AARON

GAVIN

RID
G

EW
A

Y

PINE

CANAL

M
O

NRO
E

EIGHTH

LITT
LE

A
RA

BIA
N

PA
M

EL
A

BRINKLEY

FIFTH

SIXTH

PA
TT

O
N

KIRK

ST
ER

LIN
G

HAM
PTO

N

BRO
O

KE

LATHAM HOPKINS

WHITE OAK

PA
RK

WILTSLOGAN

LINDEN

JACKSON

PETTIG
REW

G
ENERAL

PETTIG
REW

AUSBON

MORATOC

SA
M

A
N

THA

STERLING

C
RO

W
EL

L

G
UM

 TREE

TR
UM

AN

W
ELC

O
M

E

THIRD

LOCUST

WHITE OAK

SO
UT

H
RIV

ER
NO

RT
H 

RIV
ER

PEMBROKE

G
EESITTERSO

N
GLEAVES

C
RE

EK
SI

D
E

BRICK MILL

ROBIN

VILLAG
E

CASHIE

BATEMAN

OAKMONT

QUAIL

PARK

BR
ADLE

Y

HILLARD

PINE

NORT
H D

EE
RF

IEL
D

IDA

RO
XI

E 
RE

ES
E

BENNETT

OLD ROPER
O

LD
RO

PER
RD

A
LD

EN

LO
N

G
 R

ID
G

E

HUNTERSCROSSING

NC
 HW

Y 149

MORRATTO
CK

SO
M

ERSET

SOUTHFIELD

KIM'S LO
OP

WATER

RO
O

SE
VE

LT

RO
O

SEVELT

W
ILS

O
N

COOL SPRINGS

PA
RK

HILLY

RI
VE

R

RO
A

NO
KE

WHITE O
AK

LO
O

P
SHELLY

Q
UA

IL

G
O

LF

G
O

LF

W
IL

SO
N

 S
T

LY
NN

FA
IRLA

N
E

G
A

G
E

HUGHES

LYLE

N
C

3
- P

or
ts

of
C

a
ll

Plymouth
High

A
C

A
At

la
nt

ic
C

oa
sta

l R
ou

te
Roanoke
Beacon Plymouth

Food
Lion

Innerbanks
Cycle
Works Inc

Washington
County
Hospital

Local Landmarks/
Destinations

Bike Shops

Campground
Shopping Center/
Grocery Store

Library

University

School

Bridge

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State Bike Route
East Coast Greenway

Municipal Boundary
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 0.5 1
Miles

64

BUSH

KNOWLES

NC

HWY 32
STA

TIO
N

NEWBY
MAY

JU
NESTA

TIO
N

JO
HN

DALLA
S

PLUME

UNION

RAILROAD

BLO
UNT

W
ILKINS

GRIM
ES

UNION

LO
NSD

ALE

UNION

C
RO

SSRO
AD

NC
 HW

Y 32

NEWLAND

SEC
OND

PLUME

TO
M

OLD US 64

TO
M

BANK

BANK

OAK

BANK

NC H
W

Y 
32

HUNTER

HORTONTOWN

PLUME

GRIFFIN

W
ASTEW

ATER

O
LD

US
64

WALKER

SMITH

C
RO

SS

BACKWOODS

PARRISH

WOODLAWN

RE
SE

ARC
H

STA
TIO

N

SLO
UG

H

US HWY 64 EA
STB

OUND

US
HWY

64 WEST
BOUND

GOURD NECK

M
ILL

PO
N

D

MILL POND

MILL
 POND

RAILROAD
LITTLE C

LAY

WILLIAMS LO
O

P

NC HWY 32

Washington
Co Union

Plymouth roPEr

130



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-18 

n

n

·

·

·

ö

ö

·
·

·

)
)

)

£¤64

UV94

S
C

C
U

P
P

E
R

N
O

N
G

R
IV

E
R

SR 1246

NC 94

SR 1323

US 64

SR
 1

22
7

RO
A

D

0

FO
N

SO
E

SR 1300
SR

 1
23

5

SR 1241

STATE HIGHWAY 94

ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

SR
 1

10
5

BO
DW

EL
L

UNITED STATES HIGHWAY 64

SR
 1

32
6

SR
 1

20
9

ST
A

TE
 R

O
A

D
 1

20
9

SR
12

38

SR 1210

Pettigrew
State Park

Pocosin Lakes
National

Wildlife Refuge

Tyrrell
Elementary

Columbia
Middle

Tyrrell County
Visitors Center

Vineyards
on the
Scuppernong

Columbia
Theater

Food
Lion





n

n

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

£¤64£¤64£¤64£¤64

£¤64

Pettigrew
State Park

A
LLIG

O
O

D

ST DAVID

FO
URTH

SIX
TH

MAIN

FIF
TH

PALM
ETTA

CHESSON

MEADOW

FIFTH STREET

SEV
EN

TH

LE
IG

H

MIDDLE

THIRD

SEC
OND

FO
URTH

PALM
ETTA

SO
M

ER
SE

T

PU
D

D
IN

G

US HWY 64

EAST

EI
G

HT
H

CHERRY

SPRUILL BRIDGE

US HWY 64 WESTBOUND

NC HWY 94

O
LD

C
HE

RR
Y

FIR
ST

US HWY 64 EASTBOUND

US HWY 64 WEST

Creswell
High

Creswell
Elem

·)
Local Landmarks/
Descriptions

· Bike Shops

·< Campground

·ö
Shopping Center/
Grocery Store

· Library

!b University

n School

 Bridge

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State Bike Route
East Coast Greenway

Municipal Boundary
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 0.25 0.5
Miles l

columbia crESwEll

131



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-19  [Needs Assessment]

bicycliSt Activity ANd behAviOr 
Bicyclist activity was observed during field observations 
(October, 2012), with local residents making up 
the majority of ridership. Activity and behavior 
characteristics, based on both field observations and 
reports of local stakeholders, include:

• Utilitarian bicycle activity in lower-income 
urban areas of Plymouth, Creswell, Roper, and 
Columbia.  

 » Often, these bicyclists were observed not 
wearing helmets, riding against traffic, 
erratically crossing roadways, or riding on 
sidewalks.

• Recreational bicycle activity 
on lower-volume, rural roadways 
with heavier usage on weekends.
 » These bicyclists tend to ride 

along the correct side of the 
roadway and wear helmets.

phySicAl bArrierS tO 
bicycliNg
A number of physical barriers 
deter people from considering 
trips made by bicycle. In addition 
to an absence of on- or off-
road dedicated facilities, unsafe 
roadway intersections, high-volume 
and high-speed roadways, and 
issues with connected facilities 

discourage even experienced bicyclists. 

• Remote corridors: Many of the roadways in this 
part of the Albemarle region are rural, remote, 
or traverse large wildlife refuges. This type of 
condition is desirable to a limited number of 
experienced recreational bicyclists. 

• Distance between destinations: There are a 
number of attractive destinations and activities in 
this region, however the mileage that separates 
them is extensive. For example, Columbia to Lake 
Mattamuskeet is 32 miles one way; Plymouth to 
Pettigrew State Park is 20 miles one way. 

• Lack of safe facilities: Within the more populated 
areas (Columbia and Plymouth), more practical 
uses of bicycling were observed with users 
connecting to employment and commercial 
areas. Many users were observed riding in the 
center of roadways, the wrong direction, or on 
sidewalks because of the lack of dedicated 
facilities connecting these destinations. 

• Absence of bicycle support facilities: With the 
exception of the areas in and around small 
towns and crossroads communities, it is likely 
that a majority of the bicycling that occurs in 
this region is happening on a recreational level. 
Recreational riders need more frequent access 
to water, rest areas, and toilets than other 
types of bicyclists, facilities that are not readily 
available in this region.

Plymouth and Manteo are both over 30 miles 
from Columbia.

132



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-20 

• Bridge barriers: Multiple large-scale roadway 
bridges are missing shoulders and proper railings, 
include high traffic volumes and speeds, and 
present exposed, windy conditions. 

• Narrow roadways and lanes: Many roadways 
throughout the region are too narrow for bicyclists 
to travel safely. These roads have little or no 
shoulder, often contain blind curves, and have 
relatively high vehicle travel speeds that pose 
multiple hazards for bicyclists. 

bArrierS tO bicycle fAcility 
develOpmeNt
Physical barriers also prevent the construction 
of bicycle facilities.  Roadway metrics and the 
surrounding landscape often determine the feasibility 
of facility development. 

• Drainage: While roadways are characteristically 
flat and appear to be candidates for on-road 
bicycle facilities, there are drainage channels 
varying in width and depth along the majority of 
roadways in the region.

• Environmental Constraints:  A number of existing 
natural areas include wildlife refuges, wetlands, 
and estuaries, presenting 
development barriers for future 
facilities. 

• Land ownership/right-of-way:  
Land acquisition can be a 
difficult and costly process.  
Multi-use trails, separated from 
the roadway, often fall outside 
the roadway right-of-way. 

A canal along NC-94 constrains the cross-
section available for roadway widening or  
the addition of a multi-use trail.

Restrooms in Engelhard

NC-94 bridge over the sound

133



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-21  [Needs Assessment]

Outer bANkS SubregiON NeedS 
ASSeSSmeNt
AmeNitieS Of the SubregiON
The Outer Banks subregion includes Ocracoke Island 
north to Cape Hatteras National Seashore, from 
Manteo and Nags Head north to Corolla. This 100-mile-
long area is a series of barrier islands and a popular 
tourist destination for its historical value, ecological 
fragility, and windswept beaches. North Carolina 
State Highway 12 connects the majority of the barrier 
islands, extending from Corolla to Hatteras Village 
and linking many of the small Outer Banks towns and 
villages. Ocracoke Island is accessible by ferry. The 
National Park Service manages the Cape Hatteras 

National Seashore from Bodie Island to Ocracoke 
Island. There are numerous natural and cultural 
resources available along the seashore, including day 
use areas and opportunities for outdoor recreational 
activities, such as camping, hiking, and biking. 

Towns and communities along the Outer Banks 
region include Corolla, Duck, Southern Shores, Kitty 

An ocean view in Corolla

Soundside sunset

Main Street, Ocracoke

134



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-22 

Hawk, Kill Devil Hills, Nags Head, Manteo, Wanchese, 
Rodanthe, Waves, Salvo, Avon, Buxton, Frisco, 
Hatteras, and Ocracoke, each unique in its lifestyle. 
Many of these communities share similar historical 
value and offer user access to parks, natural areas, 
and educational and cultural facilities. The Currituck 
Heritage Park, Jockey’s Ridge State Park, Nags Head 
Woods Ecological Preserve, Wright Brothers National 
Memorial, Buxton Woods Coastal Reserve, Pea Island 
National Wildlife Refuge, and the Cape Hatteras 
National Seashore are the most significant attractions 
on the Outer Banks, drawing many tourists each year. 
In addition to the activities offered within these areas, 
museums, lighthouses, fishing piers, watersport access, 
bicycling trails, walking trails, and camping areas are 
available in and around many of the Outer Banks 
communities. The towns and villages offer restaurants, 
shops, waterfront docks, music, arts, and cultural 
activities.

Downtown Duck

Cape Hatteras 
Lighthouse

Manteo docks

Veteran’s greenway, 
Kill Devil Hills

135



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-23  [Needs Assessment]

exiStiNg fAcilitieS
The Outer Banks contains the greatest mileage 
of bicycling facilities of the three subregions, as 
summarized below. The majority of facilities are in the 
form of paved shoulders or multi-use trails. Two local 
signed routes also exist: the Wright Brothers Bikeway 
and the Ten Mile Loop Route.  The Around Pamlico 
Sound regional route is also designated through this 
subregion (see page 2-7 for more information) but is 
not signed and not included in the following summary 
table.

bicycliNg OppOrtuNitieS
This subregion offers bicycling opportunities for all 
types and levels of cyclists. With the exception of the 
bridges that provide access to and from the Outer 
Banks, the terrain is primarily flat, making traveling by 
bicycle appealing to all levels of cyclists. In addition to 
the attractive beaches, there are many destinations 
throughout this subregion, including the Wright 

Brothers Memorial, retail centers, historic lighthouses, 
and a wealth of restaurant. The following existing 
roadway and traffic conditions create opportunities 
for bicycling:

• “Bicycles - Share the Road” signs exist throughout 
Dare County on US 158, US-64, US-264, and NC 12, 
helping to raise awareness of both motorists and 
cyclists. 

• The communities of the Outer Banks are 
compact, with destinations accessible by short 
trips.

• Low-volume neighborhood roads offer convenient 
and safe travel opportunities.                   

Facility Type Mileage
Designated Route 26
Bicycle Lane (BL) 2
Multi-Use Trail (T) 66
Paved Shoulder (PS) 146
Total Physical Facilities (BL + T + PS) 214
Physical Facility Miles/1,000 Roadway Miles 299
Physical Facility Miles/1,000 Residents 6

Cyclists on a comfortable road in 
Kitty Hawk

136



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-24 

13

15
8

17

158

64

264

4

Around Pamlico Sound: Offsea son Route

3

A
L
B
E
M
A
R
L

E
S
O
U
N
DP A S

Q U O T A N K R I V E R

N O R T H R I V E R

C U R R I T U C K S O U N D

C
H
O W A N R I V E R

N O R T H L A N D
I N G

R I V
E R

P E R Q
U I M

A N
S
R
I V
E
R

L I T T L E R I V E R

M
oy

oc
k

C
ur

rit
uc

k Ba
rc

o

C
am

de
n

A L L I G A T O
R
R I V E R

P
A
M
L
I C

O
S
O
U
N
D

P A M
L I C

O
R I
V E
R

L A K E
M A T T A M U S K E E T

N E W
L A K EP H E L P S

L A K E

P A M L I C O R I
V E

R

3

2

Rodanthe
Waves

Salvo

Avon

Buxton

Frisco

Hatteras

Ocracoke

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

North
River

Gameland

Pettigrew
State Park

Pocosin Lakes
National

Wildlife Refuge

Lake Mattamuskeet
National

Wildlife Refuge

Cape Hatteras
National
Seashore

Alligator
River National
Wildlife Refuge

Pea Island
National

Wildlife Refuge

Dare
County Air

Force Range

Swanquarter
National

Wildlife Refuge

Bodie
Island

Lighthouse

Graveyard of
the Atlantic

Museum

Ocracoke
Lighthouse

NC Aquarium

IR
V

IN
 G

A
RR

IS
H

N
C

 1
2

DUCK

NO NAME

OCEAN

US
 6

4 
26

4

Duck

Kill Devil
Hills

Edenton

Manteo

Columbia

Southern
Shores Kitty Hawk

Around Pamlico Sound: Loop Route
NC 2: Mountains to the Sea

Corolla
Bike
Path

Route 1 - Wright
Brothers Bikeway

S. Virginia
Dare

Trail
NC 12
Bike
Path

NC 12
Bike

Path

Local Landmarks
Bike Shops
Campground
Shopping Center/
Grocery Store
Library
University
School
Bridge

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State/Regional Bike Route
East Coast Greenway
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 5 10
Miles

outEr baNkS
ExiStiNg facilitiES

137



Overview
Molupta dolupit, odipicta seque nem imusandebis 
et eum sitisciendae odi demped modit eumquis 
evernatem vellitassed qui deliam id unturit vero 
doluptatem eturis ma consequia que pliaes am que 
miliqui bearum eos cuptat ipsant.

heAdiNg twO
Poribus. Nam discitat hitius diciur reptatem nonsecto 
magnissimus, quia parchil ictempe liquam, ium que 
venti occab in conet maio millabo. Est, consed qui 
culpa volorehenis aut di dererilestor min pro coratendit 
laborpo rporerupta et prorepu dandendest plabor 
maxim quiae pliquod itemquia doluptae pligendenis 
et eatia nobissum, quam, verumquatus exceptat.

Heading Three
• Num ditatur? Ucias explitatia nectotaspel 

ipidebis et, to debis volor andae di tem. Menimus 
vendebi tatem. Untoria nonse nem et hiliae 
consed moluptatem volorrum lam esse vellabo. 

• On pa que discid que preicae. Excea volora 
corro velenda pro modit, qui consequo est fugia 
debis dolorrorem faceriatibus inciet esti ulluptius 
simolupta nem culpa delit ut dolum 

• voluptatus aut eatus veliqui quibus, inihitem 
sam remquiati sintinverior ad eum dentium 
excearcipsam faccati anihil illecaborrum quiae. 
Illoribus elitatur?

Cipsant ectus, ant, comnit exeruntur, conse non reped 
ma de venimus, que vent et plabo. Itam denimus volo 
ilignis exeribu scipid eaqui simi, torum rae accus, alibus 
adi quaectem sa dolupta nonsernatum quodit quunt 
ex enderfe riatem nobis sam faccum qui beaquuntiunt 
odicidercit et ulluptas nobis amet apis dolum sitat qui 
te dolenti busdant et es simus, cus aborrum facest 
ventemquunt quam, ut aut et dist, vendis esectibus 
magnimin et et lam sunti dolorpo rrovitat officid ea et 
ut maionsequam fugit, ut restibus dolum simus mil ium 
esentiumquo inimi, verum si velestrunt et dolorrum qui 
doluptati qui venimax imillan di

1.  tatatur aut mostiur, natque nis si debit lis illatus 
acerovid quo cuptatem nectibu stiuscidem. 
Nem expelit ionsed ea dis del istrum facitae 
moluptam volorro temo ipsandi gendaeprem. 
Luptum qui ressinc 

2.  ipsaerum ulluptas reres si serorem id magnihi 
llaceratiis doluptatist velloriatis audamus inctiam 
quam idit velent, officae veris et la quae volo 
voluptae net laci 

3.  non res quiant et qui doloreh enihill oremporrum 
idio omnis site odissitis non cores rerupta 
dolendem et harcil il ipsa doluptata dolorero 
evenis dolorunt odiorem doluptas aut eosande 
biscita natur?

Pienia quod expliqu asperiandunt lam, sollabo. Et 
veliquam que voluptis unt et deliqui omnienimped ut 

Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-25  [Needs Assessment]

13

15
8

15
8

64

26
4

C U R R
I T U C K

S O U N D

12OCEAN

D EEP NECK
OCEAN LAKE MAINSAIL

WINDANCE

MARINER

KN
O

T

BARN

SE
AOATS

PORPOISE
WHITE WHALE

SUNRISE
SEA MIST

M
YR

TL
E TE

RN

A
ZURE

LAND FALL

C
O

RA
L

ST
A

RF
IS

H

SP
RI

G

M
ARLINMALI A

D
O

LP
HI

N

HAMPTON W
ELK M

AG

NO LIA

RIDGEPOINT

CIRC
LE

IV
O

RY

SANDCASTLEATLANTIC

A
M

BER

PIPSIS POINTSTAYSAIL

SA
N

D
HI

LL

HE
RR

IN
G

SA
IL

FIS
HTU

N
A

BA
RR

A
C

UD
A

PE
RC

H

ST
UR

G
EO

N

M
A

C
KE

RE
L

SEA
FA

RE

SE
A

SH
EL

L

LIVE O
AK

KI
NG

S 
G

RA
NT

HI
ST

ORICDO TTIES

BEAR FOOT

KA
RE

N
S

C
A

RO
TA

N
K

C
O

N
C

H

CRUZ BAY

WILD CHERRY

LIGHTHOUSE

COROLLAPONT
ON

MONTERAY
HARBOR

H UNTC

L UB

PE
RS

IM
M

O
N

Currituck
National
Wildlife Refuge

Corolla
Bike Path

Timbuck ll
shopping

Corolla
Market
& Deli

Food
Lion

Harris
Teeter

Currituck
Beach

Lighthouse
Outer Banks
Center for
Wildlife Education

Local Landmarks/
Destinations

Bike Shops

Campground
Shopping Center/
Grocery Store

Library

University

School

Bridge

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State Bike Route
East Coast Greenway

Municipal Boundary
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 0.5 1
Miles

13

15
8

15
8

64

26
4

12

12DUCK

TU
C

KA
HO

E SO
UN

D
VI EW

SNIPE

THIRTEENTH

BAUM

BUNTING RENE

FO
UR

SEASONS

LO
N

E

COFIE LD

FAWN

BUFFELL HEAD

MARTIN

SPECKLE TROUT
ELM

SPINDRIFT

RA
KI

OCK

TO
PSAIL

VIVIAN

G

ANNET

STATION BAY CLAY
MAPLE

BETSY

TERESA

D
IA

N
N

E

CEDAR

ROCKFISH

OCEAN

A
M

Y

EL
EV

EN
TH

N
A

SH

W
ID

G
EO

N
HALYARD

SHIPS WHEEL
CHIP

VIR EO

O
C

EA
N

BA
Y

QUAIL SP
YG

LA

SS

W
A

XW

I NG

C
O

O
K

TRINITIE

SP
RI

G
TA

IL

PI
N

TA
IL

SN
O

W
 G

EE
SE

BA
YB

ER
RY

S E
A

CO
LO

NY

O
LD

E 
D

UC
K

D
UN

E

W
A

M
PU

M

BIA
S SEA

O

AT S

SE
A

 H
A

W
K

S
K I

MMER

TW
EL

FT
H

A
C

O
RN

 O
A

K

TID
ES

M
A

LL
A

RD

SE
A

BR
EE

ZE

JA
Y

C
RE

ST

D
UC

K
LA

N
D

IN
G

M
A

RL
IN

PL
O

V
ER

SC
HO

O
NE

RRIDG
E

S. Virginia
Dare Trail

Scarborough
Faire Shopping
Center

Tommy's Gourmet
Market and

Wine Emporium

0 0.5 1
Miles

duck

corolla

138



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-26 

12

D
UC

K

TUCKAHOE

LUNAR

BIAS

SEVENTH

B

A RLO
W

COFIE LD

FONCK

BENNETT

O
SPREY

SO

U
NDVI E W

VI
VI

A
N

PINTAIL

FIR

W
ILD

SW
AN

C
HIC

A
HA

UK

BAYBERRY

CHARLES JENKINS

D
O

G
W

O
O

D

FOXG
RA

PE

K
ING

FIS HER

TREA
SURE

GRISSOM

TA
LL

 P
IN

E

TEAL

BENT OAK

REDG
UM

LO
C

U
ST

BIRC
H

GRAVELY

POND

SWEETGUM
JUNIPER

NINTH

DOLPHIN

PORPOISE

THE
W

O
O

DS

LEE

P UD
D

IN
G

PA
N

OYS
T E

R
BE

D

C
YPRESS

DEER PATH

LA
ND

ING

TROUT

CATCO

HARIOT

RIDE

TENTH

TWELFTH

LINDBERG
H

W
O

O
DLAND

YUCCA

PA
LM

ER

EC
KN

ER

EAGLES NEST

M
ILL PO

IN
T

M
A

RTIN
S

PO
IN

T

RED
BA

Y

PE
RI

W
IN

KL
E

FERN

ELEVENTH

FIFTH
SIXTH

FOUR TH

THIRTEENTH

THIRD

SECOND

EIGHTH

FIRST

W
AX MYRTLE

W
ILD

PO
NY

PALMETTO

YA
UP

O
N

JAY CREST

FAIRWAY

WRIGHT MEMORIAL BRIDGE

D
UC

K
W

O
O

D
S

CROATAN

PO
TESKEET

O
C

EAN

SPIN
D

R IFT

SEA HAWK

PUTTER

HICKORY

HIG
H DUNE

SEA
O

ATS

HILLC
REST

OC
EAN

VIEW

TRINITI E

HO
LLY

G
INGUITE

TALL CLIF
F

CL
A

M
SH

ELL

TIDES

C
REEK

C
URRITUC

K

BEEC
H

TREE

C
IRCLE

C
RO

O

KED BACK

SKYLINE

Route 1 - Wright
Brothers Bikeway

NC 12
Bike
Path

S. Virginia
Dare Trail

S. Virginia
Dare Trail

Kitty
Hawk
Elem

Around Pamlico Sound: O
ffseason

Route

Walmart

Food
Lion

Harris
Teeter

Coastal
Provisions
Market

Local Landmarks/
Destinations

Bike Shops

Campground
Shopping Center/
Grocery Store

Library

University

School

Bridge

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State/Regional Bike Rte.
East Coast Greenway
Municipal Boundary
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

12

12

158

SOTHEL

BE
ACO

N

C
RO

ATAN

KITTY HAWK

ARCH

TATEWAY

TRUXTON

AD
DIE

COLLETON

CHOWAN

BARLO
W

WHITE

BYRD

SUFFOLK

LUKE

HAWK

C
APRI

FONCK

BENNETT

BLERIOT

WILKINS

MAYNARD

BEECH

BALCHEN

AYCOCK

W
O

RTHI

N GTO
N

ROCK

SIBBERN

PALMER

JO
HNSTO

N

RAYM
O

ND

DORY

PINTAIL

FIR

GLENN

SWO
RDFISH

BAY

SUM
M

ER
TA

MAR

A
C

K

EDENTO
N

LILL
IAN

AVALON

LEE

JE
A

N

BATH

TR
EA

SU
RE

GRISSOM

SUSAN

TEAL

VISTA

CO
LUM

BIA
SHILO

H

SHELL

RIDE

CAY

REDG
UM

ELIJAH BAUM

DO
G

W
O

O
D

W
ELC

H

LO
C

U
ST

STA
RFISH

BIRC
H

DANNY

WILLA

CAMERON

G
RE

N
VI

LL
E

LINDBERG
H

SHELBY

PO
PLAR

D
O

W
D

Y

SANDERLIN

C
LIFTO

N

NIXONTON

C
YPRESS

EMELI
NE

RA
D

C
LIFF

LA
ND

IN
G

ROGERS

CATCO

SUNRISE
VI

EW

A
PO

LLO

KE EPERS

PARKER

HARIOT

GABL
ES

EDEN

TILLETT

YUCCA

SM
ITH

ANG
LER

SHADY

WALLACE

HERITAGE

N
EP

TU
NE

ST LOUIS

PE
RR

Y

HALLETT

BRIG
G

S

BEACHAM

M
ARTIN

S
PO

IN

T

WALKER

D
A

VINC
I

TH
IC

K
RI

D
G

E

FERN

MIDGETT

W
ILD

PONY

SY
CAM

O
RE

PIN
E

H
ILL

O
N

EAL

PALMETTO

SKYLIN
E

ASC
ENSIO

N

JEJAC

SPORTSMAN

HARBOUR BAY

TW
I F

O

RD

C
A

RREN
D

A
DUC

K
W

O
O

D
S

G
ING

UITE

COVE
RE

D
BR IDGE

PO
O

R
RID

G
E

HAYMAN

LUNAR

ECKN
ER

RID
G

E

SO
UN

D
LA

N
D

IN
G

PUTTER

PO
SEIDO

N

ELM

TA
RKLE

RID
G

E

HERBERT PERRY

C
REEK

THE W
O

O
D

SW
A

TTS

IV
Y

A
M

A
D

A
S

O
AK

RUN

SPINDRIFT

SEASC
APE

PI
NE

W
A

Y

BO
B

PERRY

VIRG
INIA DARE

S. Virginia
Dare Trail

Route 3 -
Ten Mile

Loop Route

Route 3 -
Ten Mile
Loop Route

Route 1
- Wright
Brothers Bikeway

Route 1 - Wright
Brothers Bikeway

NC 12
Bike
Path

Kitty
Hawk
Elem

Around Pam
lico Sound: O

ffseason Route

AC
A

Atlantic
C

oastal Route

Walmart

Coastal Staffing
Services

Food
Lion

Harris
Teeter

Coastal
Provisions Market

Health-A-Rama

Adventure
Bound

Campground Regional
Bathhouse

0 0.25 0.5
Miles

SouthErN
ShorES

kitty hawk

139



Overview
Molupta dolupit, odipicta seque nem imusandebis 
et eum sitisciendae odi demped modit eumquis 
evernatem vellitassed qui deliam id unturit vero 
doluptatem eturis ma consequia que pliaes am que 
miliqui bearum eos cuptat ipsant.

heAdiNg twO
Poribus. Nam discitat hitius diciur reptatem nonsecto 
magnissimus, quia parchil ictempe liquam, ium que 
venti occab in conet maio millabo. Est, consed qui 
culpa volorehenis aut di dererilestor min pro coratendit 
laborpo rporerupta et prorepu dandendest plabor 
maxim quiae pliquod itemquia doluptae pligendenis 
et eatia nobissum, quam, verumquatus exceptat.

Heading Three
• Num ditatur? Ucias explitatia nectotaspel 

ipidebis et, to debis volor andae di tem. Menimus 
vendebi tatem. Untoria nonse nem et hiliae 
consed moluptatem volorrum lam esse vellabo. 

• On pa que discid que preicae. Excea volora 
corro velenda pro modit, qui consequo est fugia 
debis dolorrorem faceriatibus inciet esti ulluptius 
simolupta nem culpa delit ut dolum 

• voluptatus aut eatus veliqui quibus, inihitem 
sam remquiati sintinverior ad eum dentium 
excearcipsam faccati anihil illecaborrum quiae. 
Illoribus elitatur?

Cipsant ectus, ant, comnit exeruntur, conse non reped 
ma de venimus, que vent et plabo. Itam denimus volo 
ilignis exeribu scipid eaqui simi, torum rae accus, alibus 
adi quaectem sa dolupta nonsernatum quodit quunt 
ex enderfe riatem nobis sam faccum qui beaquuntiunt 
odicidercit et ulluptas nobis amet apis dolum sitat qui 
te dolenti busdant et es simus, cus aborrum facest 
ventemquunt quam, ut aut et dist, vendis esectibus 
magnimin et et lam sunti dolorpo rrovitat officid ea et 
ut maionsequam fugit, ut restibus dolum simus mil ium 
esentiumquo inimi, verum si velestrunt et dolorrum qui 
doluptati qui venimax imillan di

1.  tatatur aut mostiur, natque nis si debit lis illatus 
acerovid quo cuptatem nectibu stiuscidem. 
Nem expelit ionsed ea dis del istrum facitae 
moluptam volorro temo ipsandi gendaeprem. 
Luptum qui ressinc 

2.  ipsaerum ulluptas reres si serorem id magnihi 
llaceratiis doluptatist velloriatis audamus inctiam 
quam idit velent, officae veris et la quae volo 
voluptae net laci 

3.  non res quiant et qui doloreh enihill oremporrum 
idio omnis site odissitis non cores rerupta 
dolendem et harcil il ipsa doluptata dolorero 
evenis dolorunt odiorem doluptas aut eosande 
biscita natur?

Pienia quod expliqu asperiandunt lam, sollabo. Et 
veliquam que voluptis unt et deliqui omnienimped ut 

Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-27  [Needs Assessment]

12

158

WILKINSON

C
RO

ATAN

HELGA

PALMETTO

KITT Y HAWK

DURHAM

ARCH

TEAL

HA RBOUR

V
IE

W

BELL
G

O
LDIE

HILL

TRUXTON

MART
IN

MY
BET

DOCK

BAYCLIFF

FIFTH

C
OLIN

G
TO

N

INDIAN

BLUE JAY

WHITE

CLA
W

NEW
 BERN

BAY

SMALL

HELEN

AYCOCK

PETER

W
OODARD

LISA
KITTY

SIXTH

SIBBERN

SUNRISE

FIL

DORY

LO
STCO

LONY

LAURA

PO
SEIDO

N

ST 
CLAIR

CLA
RK

KELLY

SUFFOLK

RAYM
O

ND

CL
IFF

SO
F

C
O

LIN
G

TO
N

AVALONLEE

QUEEN

THIRD

PAMLICO

PERC
Y

EIG
HTH

HARRINGTON

ADAMS

HOLLY

BA
UM

SPORTSMAN

SA
N

D
Y

PEELER CORRIG
AN

NEPTUNE

SHILOH

CAROLYN

FERRIS

SHELL

M
EM

O
RIAL

W
RIG

HTSVILLE

SW
AN

PILO
T

REMELE

M
AXINE

ALM
A

DEAN

SOTHEL

CHOWAN

HARB O

UR

ELIJAH BAUM

APAC
HE

FO
X

EDEN

COLINGWOOD

SUTTO
N

SW
A

N
VIEW

KNIGHT

M
O

LLIE

NINTH

LANCER

HEATHER

PERRY

EMELIN
E

RO
SA

PO
ND

BAYBERRY

SIO
UXSUNSET

PO
RTSM

O
UTH

C
O

LO
N

Y

TERN

OAK KNOLL

KETCH

G
EO

RG
IA

W
ILL

IA
M

S

CAROLIN
IAN

WILSON

P I R

A
TE

S

M
IDG

ETT

SE
A

G
U

LL

HALLETT

BRIG
G

S

ELIZA
BETH

CAPTAINS

SHAY

TENTH

COPL EY

TANYA

LA
KE

BEASLEY

FRANKLIN

PHO
EBUS

HAM
PTO

N

O
N

EAL

BROAD B A
Y

SEVENTH

SIR CHANDLER

JEJAC

PO
O

R
R IDG

E

HAYMAN

FIRST

BR
ID

GE

CANAL

HERBERT PERRY

VETERANS
OCEAN BAY

BURNS

O
AK

RUN

O
LD

NAG
S

HEAD
W

O
O

D
S

TO
W

ER

W
A

TERSEDG
E

Wright Brothers
National

Memorial

Bay Dr.
Multi-Use

Path

Wright Brothers
Multi-Use
Trail

Centennial
Pathways

Route 1 - Wright
Brothers Bikeway

Route 3 -
Ten Mile
Loop Route

NC 12
Bike
Path

First
Flight
Elem

First Flight Middle

First
Flight
High

Around Pam
lico Sound: O

ffseason Route

Health-A-Rama
Neverhood
- International
Food Store

Food
Lion

Obx Organics

Stop N Shop

Harris
Teeter

Joe & Kay's
Campground

Kill Devil Hills Cycle

Bike Barn Inc

Regional
Bathhouse

                         
                        
                         
                        
                         
                        

12

158

ALBATROSS

RIDG
E

QUAIL

TEAL

BELL

HILL

O
LD

GALLERY

DEERING
M

EEKIN

S

BLUE JAY
BONNETT

GULL
W

O
O

DH
ILL

GLIDDEN

BITTE
RN

BLADEN

OLD

NAGSH
EAD

W
OO

D S

SANDBAR

ADMIRAL

PO
ND

BARRAC
UDA

EIGHTH

LAKESIDE

WINDJA
M

M
ER

SMALL

BRA
SSI E

ABALONE

DA
RIA

PA

MLICO

FORREST

ADAMS

ROANO
KE

FIN

CO
BBS

BARK

PILO
T

SANDP IPE
R

ARIO

FA
IRW

AY

BALTIC

THIRTEENTH SHINER

MA
SH

IE

DANUBE

VANSC
IVER

DUNE

FORBES

OAK KNOLLCAROLIN
IAN

CAPTA
IN

S

CO PLE
Y

M
EM

O
RIAL

C
A

R
O

LIS
TA

LA
KE

NC
12

BALLA
S TPO

INT

BAYM
EA

D

O W

VILLA
D

UN
ES

C
RO

ATA
N

VIRG
I NIADARE

LINKS

BRIDGE

BURNS

LINDA

C
O

BIA

MOTHERVINEYARD

SO
UN

DSID

E

Jockeys
Ridge

State Park

Cape Hatteras
National
Seashore

Nags Head Elem

Around Pam
lico Sound: O

ffseason Route

Harris
Teeter

Food
Lion

YMCA

OBX Event
Site

0 0.5 1
Miles

Local Landmarks/
Destinations

Bike Shops

Campground
Shopping Center/
Grocery Store

Library

University

School

Bridge

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State/Regional Bike Rte.
East Coast Greenway
Municipal Boundary
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

NagS hEadkill dEvil hillS

140



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-28 

64

64

DEVON

US 64 264

SC
UP

PER
NONG

W
IN

G
IN

A

BOWSERTO
WNSIR

 W
ALTE

R RALEI
GH

SO UNDSID
E

OLD NC 345

AL
G

ON
KIAN

WEBB

FER
NANDO

SCARBO
RO

UG
H

FO
RE

ST

HARRIOT

W
A

SHIN
G

TO
N

WARREN

SIM
O

N

RALEI
GH W

OOD

CALIFO
RNIA

THIRD

OLD TOM

HAM

MOCK

WANO

RALE
IG

H

FEA
RING

TIMBERLIN

DRIFTWOOD

WEST

EXETER

RO
BIN

OLD
 C

OUNTY

IN
LA

ND

LA
RK

LO
RD

ESSEX

64

HOLLY
HILLS

C
RO

A
TA

N

QUAIL

AM
AND

A

VIOLET

JUNIPER

KAY

O
RI

O
N

SP
IN

NAKER

SO
UT

H

KELLAM

DO
RA

LOCUST

CRE
EF

S R
ID

GE
BIDEFORD

CREEKVIEW

DA
RE

M
USKET

BRAKE
WOO

D

N
C

 3
45

CROSS

INGE

SE ATO
NE

TOLER

LA
NDING

PUDDLE

KING ARTHUR

POPLAR

SADLER

SHERWOOD

CAN

N
O

N

JA
C

KSO
N

AGONA

BAY

SWAIM

LY
DI

AS

DOLPHIN

RI
M

PA
UL

GARETH

HO
LL

Y BERNICE

BERRY

PENINSULA

SK
YC

O

SEC
O

N
D

VICCARS

PAYNE

GARD
EN

S

RUDDER

FA
NNIN M

ILL

CANOPY

NATIONAL PARK

COLEM
AN

TOLSON

JO
HNWHITE

PA
TTY

BARLOWE

LEL
AND

TA
NA

LI

W
ARD

RIA
L

FO
RT

RA
LEIG

H

BR
OCKWELL

FIRST

GEORGE DANIELS

C
ED

RO
W

ET
HER

ID
G

E

GILB
ERT

TH
E O

A
KS

SU
NNYSIDE

GRENVILLE

ELI
ZA

BETH

DAPHNE

GREEN
S

BATTL
EFI ELD

CANDEL A

HO
LL

Y 
RI

DG
E

THEW

I NER
Y

MORRI
SO

NG
ROVE

JO
C

LAR

MEE
KIN

S

AM
EL

IA

TW
YNE

C
AR

O
LIN

A

STE
VE BA

SN
IG

HT

FIE
LDS

WEIR POINT

LA
NGLEY

JA
YHUE

PEARCE

BOAT ACCESS

PEAR PAD

WATER
 PLA

NT

BALLAST
POINT

VIRGINIA DARE MEMORIAL

SAILFISH

BURNSIDE

ROGE RS
MOTHER

VINEYARD

PI
RA

TES

A
RB O R

D
VICTOR MEEK

INS

AIRPO
RT

ROANOKE

DOGWOOD

JO
NE

S

VIST
AL

AKE

SEXTA
NT

Fort Raleigh
National

Historic Site

Manteo
Middle

Manteo
Elementary

Dare Co Altern High

Manteo
High

College Of The Albemarle

The
Outdoors Outfitters

Recreation
Center

NC Aquarium

Local Landmarks/
Destinations

Bike Shops

Campground
Shopping Center/
Grocery Store

Library

University

School

Bridge

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State/Regional Bike Rte.
East Coast Greenway

Municipal Boundary
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 0.5 1
Miles

maNtEo

141



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-29  [Needs Assessment]

bicycle fAcility OppOrtuNitieS
Many bicycling facilities in this subregion do not meet 
current industry design standards. Existing multi-use 
trails and paved shoulders vary in width and hold 
debris or sand in some areas. While environmental 
and right-of-way constraints prevent wider facilities 
in some cases, substantial opportunities exist in other 
locations to enhance existing facilities and provide 
additional facilities to meet the growing needs of this 
subregion. Facilities could be implemented with the 
following methods:

• Add paved shoulder during resurfacing/
reconstruction along commonly used roadways. 

• Develop north-south and east-
west bicycle boulevards as part 
of existing roadway corridors, 
such as Lindberg Avenue and  
Eckner Street in Kitty Hawk, 
Memorial Avenue in Kill Devil Hills 
and Nags Head, Bay Street and 
Fifth Street in Kill Devil Hills, and 
Eighth Street and Barnes Street in 
Nags Head.                                   
• Utilize roadway right-of-way 
to develop multi-use trails, 
especially along US-158 from 
Southern Shores through Nags 
Head, along NC-12 through 
Hatteras Island, and between 

the Jennette’s Pier area and Jockey’s Ridge 
State Park.

• Expand/upgrade existing trails to industry 
standards where room exists, especially along NC 
12 south of Archdale Street in Kill Devil Hills. 

• Build short greenways connections in each 

Existing paved shoulders in 
Duck

Existing paved shoulders in 
Nags Head

Memorial Boulevard, 
Nags Head

142



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-30 

community linking existing trails, on-road facilities, 
and destinations.

bicycliSt Activity ANd behAviOr 
Both local and tourist cyclists were observed on 
roadways and off-road facilities during fieldwork 
investigations. In addition to these groups, a significant 
foreign student population locates in the Outer Banks 
each summer for work in restaurants, hotels, and 
other businesses. A 2002 Star-News article (“Banking 
on Foreign Students”) estimated that 1,300 to 2,500 
students are employed each summer. Students are 
often observed travelling to work by bicycle on busy 
roadways, since many do not own cars. 

Activity and behavior characteristics include:

• High1 daily, utilitarian, bicycle activity in 
neighborhoods, on existing trails, and in areas 
surrounding retail centers.  

 » Often, these bicyclists were observed not 

wearing helmets, riding against traffic, or 
riding on sidewalks.

• Medium activity on connector roads, parallel to 
US 158 and NC 12.

 » Often, these bicyclists were observed riding 
with traffic.

• Light bicycling in areas along US-158; the majority 
of cyclists were observed crossing US-158 to 
reach a destination, rather than riding along the 
roadway.

1High, Medium, and Light descriptions of activity are relative 
terms based on field observations. They do not indicate a 
specific daily volume of cyclists.

phySicAl bArrierS tO bicycliNg 
The Outer Banks subregion has 
developed significantly as a 
vacation destination and the 
existing roadway network has 
accordingly been designed 
for the efficient movement of 
automobiles. Currently, there 
are physical barriers to bicycling 
along existing roadways in each 
community. Key barriers include:

• Connectivity issues: There is a 
lack of connectivity between 
existing bicycle facilities and 
destinations. 

Kids riding on Eckner St in Kitty Hawk 
wearing their helmets.

Narrow roadways like 6th Avenue in Kill 
Devil Hills leave little room for bicycle 
facilities.

143



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

3-31  [Needs Assessment]

• Crossing high-volume, high speed roadways: US-
158 is a busy roadway that offers direct access to 
numerous destinations, but is difficult for bicyclists 
to cross and navigate safely.

• Narrow roadways and lanes: There are also 
many roadways throughout the region that 
are too narrow for bicyclists to travel safely on 
them. These roads have little or no shoulder, 
often contain open drainage on either side of 
the roadway, and have speed limits that are not 

enforced.
• Driveway access 
management: A high 
frequency of driveways and 
parking lot curb-cuts present 
repeated hazards to cyclists as 
automobiles cross cyclists’ paths 
of travel along NC-12, US-158, 
and in Manteo. 
• Roadways currently designed 
for automobile only: Many 
roads were designed around 
the automobile and need to 
be redesigned or re-striped to 
become more bicycle friendly. 
Narrowing existing lanes and 
adding planted medians, 
sidewalks, and shade trees could 
help reduce speeding and its 

associated hazards.

bArrierS tO bicycle fAcility develOpmeNt
As the tourism market continues to grow in this 
subregion, so will the demand and need for on-road 
and off-road facilities for bicycling. Existing barriers 
to the development of bicycle facilities include the 
following:

• Bridge barriers:  Recreational cyclists looking to 
travel to the mainland have to travel on US-158 
across the Wright Memorial Bridge which features 
narrow travel lanes and high automobile speeds.

• Environmental Constraints:  Environmentally-
sensitive areas are scattered throughout the 
region, including areas impacted by drifting 
sand dunes. Dune drift creates an unpredictable 
environment for the expansion of the multi-use 
trail along NC-12 in Kitty Hawk. This trail currently 
requires continuous maintenance due to the 

Continuous stretches of driveway in Ocracoke 
increase potential conflict points between 

cyclists and drivers.

Drifting dunes along NC-12 in Kitty Hawk regularly 
fill the road’s paved shoulder with sand. 

144



2013

[Needs Assessment]  3-32 

accumulation of sand across its width. 
• Land ownership/right-of-way:  Land acquisition 

can be a difficult and costly process.  Along 
many roads where a multi-use trail is desired, such 
as Colington Road, the roadway right-of-way 
does not provide enough width for a trail, making 
acquisition necessary for trail development.

• Narrow and constrained roadway corridors: 
Numerous roadway corridors in this area are 
narrow and constrained by development or 
open drainage on either side, making them 
difficult to retrofit with separated on-road bicycle 
facilities such as paved shoulders, bicycle lanes 
or buffered bicycle lanes.

145



4-1  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

Downtown Edenton

146



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-2 

Chapter Four
Infrastructure Recommendations

Overview
This plan recommends a complete network of 
bicycle facilities for the Albemarle region that will link 
neighborhoods, schools, businesses, and communities. 
The network consists of existing and proposed on-
road and off-road facilities such as bicycle lanes, 
signed routes, and greenways. It also includes 
ancillary facilities like bike parking and intersection 
improvements.

This section covers the methodology for developing 
the bicycle network, descriptions of the facility types 
that make it up, and network maps by subregion and 
community.

MethOdOlOgy

types Of CyClists
The recommended bicycle network accommodates 
all potential cyclists. Off-road paths and marked 
bicycle boulevards on low-traffic streets are more likely 
to attract the ‘interested but concerned’ population, 
for example, while paved shoulders and bicycle lanes 
on higher-traffic roadways are suitable for ‘enthused 
and confident’ and ‘strong and fearless’ cyclists (for 
more on this topic, see Table 1.1 Types of Bicyclists, 
page 1-12). 

inputs
The recommended network was developed using 
many inputs, which are summarized below.

Infrastructure
Recommendations

Existing Facilities 
and 

Current Plans

Public Input:
 Comment 

Forms + Public 
Events

Field Analysis 
of Opportunities  
and Constraints

Direction from
Local 

Government 
Agencies

Project
Steering 

Committee

Direction from
the Albemarle 

RPO 

Connectivity 
to Regional 

Destinations + 
Municipalities

Chapter Contents

Overview

Methodology

Facility Types

Summary of 
Recommendations

Ancillary Facilities

North of Sound 
Proposed Network

South of Sound 
Proposed Network

Outer Banks 
Proposed Network

147



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

4-3  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

faCility types
The facility types recommended for the region 
accommodate the types of cyclists described in 
Chapter 1 as well as the range of settlement types 
and roadways environments present across the 
region. Many facility types are appropriate in multiple 
settlement types, such as signed roadways and 
multi-use trails, while others are most appropriate in 
certain areas. The design guidelines in Appendix D 
provides guidance on where each facility type is most 
applicable. In certain circumstances, facility types 
may also work in additional settlement types based 
on context and professional judgment.

Note: Cycle tracks were considered in several 
locations during this planning process. While a cycle 
track was not ultimately recommended in this plan, 
the facility remains a part of the toolbox that cities 
and towns in the region should consider as they move 

forward and improve their bicycle networks. For that 
reason, cycle tracks remain in the graphic above and 
are explained in Appendix D.

signed shared rOadway (signed rOute): 
Roadways where bikeway signage and markings 
are used to increase driver awareness of bicycles 

This diagram illustrates the various recommended facility types, from those that are least 
separated from motorized vehicle traffic, to those that are the most separated.

Signed Shared Roadway; color corresponds to map legend.

148



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-4  

on the roadway. Signed Routes may also include 
traffic calming devices and intersection crossing 
treatments to enhance bicycle travel. These routes 
are recommended where calm roadways linking 
neighborhoods, schools, and parks serve as alternate 
routes to unsafe corridors. Sharrow markings may be 
considered in special circumstances such as higher 
traffic volumes.

shared lane Markings (sharrOws): 
Pavement markings used to indicate shared space for 
bicyclists and motorists. Sharrows are used on roads 
where dedicated bicycle lanes are desirable but not 
possible due to constraints (roadway width, on-street 
parking, etc). Placed every 100 to 250 feet along 
a corridor, sharrows make motorists aware of the 

potential presence of cyclists, direct cyclists to ride in 
the proper direction, and remind cyclists to ride further 
from parked cars to avoid ‘dooring’ collisions.

BiCyCle BOulevard: Low-volume and low-speed 
streets that have been optimized for bicycle travel. 
Bicycle Boulevard treatments can be applied at 
several different intensities, which should be identified 
in detail during project design. Wayfinding signs, 
pavement markings, traffic calming and intersection 
treatments are potential elements of these facilities. 

Shared Lane Markings; color corresponds to map legend.

Bicycle Boulevard; color corresponds to map legend.

149



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

4-5  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

paved shOulder: The part of a roadway that is 
contiguous to the travel lane, separated by a stripe. 
A minimum width of four feet is preferred. Paved 
shoulders are appropriate on rural roadways with low 
traffic volumes. 

BiCyCle lane: A portion of the roadway that has 
been designated by striping, signing, and pavement 
markings for the preferential and exclusive use of 
bicyclists. Bicycle lanes are always located on both 
sides of the road (except one way streets), and carry 
bicyclists in the same direction as adjacent motor 
vehicle traffic. The minimum width for a bicycle lane 
is four feet; five- and six-foot bike lanes are typical 
for collector and arterial roads. Various methods of 

bicycle lane construction are described below. For 
additional design guidance on these methods, see 
the Appendix D: Design Guidelines section titled 
‘Retrofitting Existing Streets to Add Bikeways’.
• New Construction: Projects requiring the addition 

of pavement width to accommodate bicycle 
lanes. It is likely that these bicycle facilities will be 
implemented with future roadway construction 
projects.

• Stripe: Projects that require only the striping of a 
bicycle lane, with no other changes needed to 
the roadway.

• Restripe: Projects that require lane width reduction 
to accommodate bicycle lanes. Narrowing the 
widths of travel lanes has been demonstrated to 

Bicycle Lanes; color corresponds to map legend.

Paved Shoulder; color corresponds to map legend.

150



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-6  

have no effect on overall roadway capacity.  In 
this plan, a restripe is recommended where existing 
travel lanes can be reduced to a minimum of 10 
feet. These projects can occur during roadway 
resurfacing projects.

• Road Diet: Projects reducing the number of travel 
lanes accommodate bicycle lanes. Road diets 
typically change four-lane roads to three-lane 
roads with one center turn lane and have traffic 
calming benefits. These projects can occur during 
roadway resurfacing projects.

Buffered BiCyCle lane: A bicycle lane with 
additional buffer space between the edge of the 
bicycle lane and the auto lane. Buffered bicycle lanes 
increase separation and comfort on high volume or 
high-speed roads, especially those with large-vehicle 
traffic. 

Multi-use trail:  Facility separated from the 
roadway designed for both bicycling and walking. 
Multi-Use Trails are the preferred facility for novice and 
average bicyclists. Multi-Use Trails located within the 
roadway corridor right-of-way, or adjacent to roads, 
are called ‘Sidepaths’. Those within or adjacent to 
railroad right-of-ways are called ‘Rails-to-Trails.’

Buffered Bicycle Lanes; color corresponds to map legend.

Multi-Use Trail; color corresponds to map legend.

151



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

4-7  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

COrridOr iMprOveMents: Full roadway redesign 
involving driveway consolidation and reduction, 
landscaping,  intersection improvements, and 
possible lane reconfiguration. Corridor improvements 
are recommended along roadways where a bike 
facility cannot be safely implemented without 
significant changes to the corridor. A full corridor study 
addressing the items above is recommended in these 
areas.

suMMary Of reCOMMendatiOns
The table below summarizes the linear facility 
recommendations. This table does not include 
recommendations for improvements to existing 
facilities. This is especially applicable to the Outer 
Banks subregion, where maintenance and facility 
upgrades must play a large role in completing the 
bicycle network. 

The following section summarizes the rationale for the 
recommendations by subregion and municipality. 

Facility Type North of 
Sound

South of 
Sound

Outer 
Banks

Total 
Mileage

Signed Route 16 9 25
Sharrow 14 6 5 24
Bike Boulevard 3 9 12
Paved Shoulder 286 256 18 559
Bicycle Lane 15 3 12 31

New 6 1 6 12
Restripe 5 1 7 12
Road Diet 1 0 2
Stripe 3 1 4

Buffered Bike Lane 16 1 17
New 14 1 15
Stripe 1 1

Greenway 62 19 72 153
Corridor Improvements 2 18 20
All Facilities 397 301 143 841

Corridor Improvements; color corresponds to map legend.

152



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-8  

nOrth Of sOund
Facility recommendations are concentrated in 
the town centers to link destinations, while paved 
shoulders are recommended on rural roadways 
connecting those towns. Sidepaths and bicycle lanes 
are also recommended in several growing population 
centers in unincorporated areas, such as Moyock, 
Barco, and Grandy. Two notable regional greenway 
recommendations are the extension of the Dismal 
Swamp Greenway to the Virgina state line and a rail-
trail between Edenton and Hertford. 

Edenton
Several bicycle lanes are recommended in Edenton 
with either a stripe, restripe, or road diet installation 
method. These facilities are affordable to implement, 
taking advantage of existing right-of-way, and 
connect to schools, grocery stores, and downtown. 
Greenway recommendations in Edenton are built off 
of the Town’s current Greenway Plan and integrated 
into a comprehensive bicycle network.

Elizabeth City
A combination of bicycle boulevards, sharrows, 
sidepaths, and bike lanes are recommended in 
Elizabeth CIty to connect neighborhoods, downtown, 
and shopping centers. These facilities largely make 
use of existing rights-of-way and aim to improve 
connectivity for cyclists while directing them away 
from the busiest roadways.

Gatesville
A bicycle lane stripe and restripe is recommended 
through Gatesville to take advantage of the roadway 
width through the town in an affordable way.

Hertford & Winfall
Several opportunities were identified for bicycle lane 
stripes and restripes in Hertford and Winfall. Sharrows 
on lower-traffic roadways and constrained locations 
complement these recommendations, as well as 
greenways linking Hertford’s downtown to shopping 
and an existing trail south of town.

sOuth Of sOund
Like the north of sound subregion, recommendations 
south of the sound are concentrated within the town 
centers with paved shoulders recommended along 
rural roadways connecting the towns. Additional 
facilities are also recommended in the unincorporated 
areas of Mattamuskeet, Engelhard, and Manns Harbor. 
A sidepath is recommended on NC 94 across Lake 
Mattamuskeet to provide a space for cyclists to take 
advantage of the great wildlife viewing opportunities 
at the lake.

Columbia & Plymouth
A sidepath is recommended along US 64 through both 
Plymouth and Columbia to better meet the current 
demand for access from the neighborhoods in these 
towns to nearby grocery stores and shopping centers. 
Additionally, several bike lane stripes take advantage 

153



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

4-9  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

of existing wide roadways, and sharrows and signed 
routes direct cyclists onto preferred routes. 

Creswell & Roper
Sharrows are recommended along key corridors 
in Creswell & Roper, which link to paved shoulder 
recommendations coming into the towns. These 
facilities notify drivers to expect cyclists and indicate 
proper lane positioning to cyclists.

Outer Banks
Facility recommendations in the Outer Banks 
subregion aim to provide alternatives to the busy US 
158 and NC 12 corridors and improve connectivity to 
existing facilities. (See page 4-21 for more detail on  
those major corridors). Sidepaths and bike boulevards 
are recommended throughout to meet the needs 
and desires of the many families visiting the Outer 
Banks each year. These facilities are recommended 
through Cape Hatteras as well to build on the recent 
path that has been installed on NC 12 and improve 
bikeability through the southern Outer Banks.

Duck & Corolla
Sidepath extensions are recommended in Duck & 
Corolla to expand the reach of the existing sidepaths 
and link neighborhoods. A signed route is also 
recommended in Corolla to alert cyclists to a low-
traffic parallel alternative to NC 12. A redesign of the 
Duck Trail through the center of Duck is recommended 
to better serve both pedestrians and cyclists there. 

See ‘Demonstration Projects’ for more details.

Kill Devil  Hills, Kitty Hawk & Nags Head
Apart from the recommendations on the two major 
corridors through these towns (see page 4-21) 
several sidepaths, sharrows, and signed routes are 
recommended to improve connectivity for cyclists 
and build on existing bike infrastructure. Bicycle 
boulevards are recommended in all three towns 
where roadways are connected for several blocks in 
a row between US 158 and NC 12. These boulevards 
will provide an alternative option for cyclists that 
prefer low-traffic roadways and can be implemented 
affordably within existing right-of-way. 

Manteo
Sharrows are recommended through the center of 
Manteo as an affordable option for the constrained 
environment. A bicycle boulevard is recommended 
parallel to much of that route as a low-traffic 
alternative. Additional sharrows, short trail segments, 
and signed routes generate overall connectivity for 
cyclists through the Town. 

Southern Shores
A sidepath is recommended along Dogwood Trail 
in Southern Shores to provide a separated facility 
for cyclists consistent with those in other parts of the 
town. This sidepath will complete a multi-use trail loop 
around the town together with the existing paths 
along NC 12 and US 158. 

154



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-10  

anCillary faCilities
In order to create safe, bikeable communities, it is 
critical to take a comprehensive approach that 
looks beyond the construction of linear bike facilities. 
This includes, but is not limited to, roadway crossings, 
automobile speed reduction, and end-of-trip facilities 
such as bicycle parking.

BiCyCle parking & end Of trip faCilities
Bike parking is an essential, but often forgotten, 
component of a complete bicycle network. Well-
designed and well-placed bike parking at key 
destinations makes cycling a feasible option for trips 
to work, the grocery store, shopping, parks, and 
schools. Parking should be abundant, secure, and 
complementary to the surrounding streetscape. It 
should be as convenient as motor vehicle parking. 
Bike parking can be broadly defined as either short-
term or long-term parking:

• Short-term parking is meant to accommodate 
visitors, customers, messengers and others 
expected to depart within two hours; requires 
approved standard rack, appropriate location, 
and installation. (Image: right, above)

• Long-term parking is meant to accommodate 
employees, students, residents, commuters, and 
others expected to park more than two hours. This 
parking is to be provided in a secure, weather-
protected manner and location. (Image: right, 
below)

This trail-side pocket park in Corolla, NC, features several examples of ancillary facilities, 
including short-term bicycle parking, picnic benches, a water fountain, and a trash can.

Long-term parking is an important ancillary facility for those 
parking their bicycles for more than two hours.

155



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

4-11  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

Short-term bicycle parking facilities include racks 
which permit the locking of the bicycle frame and at 
least one wheel to the rack and support the bicycle 
in a stable position without damage to wheels, frame, 
or components. Short-term bicycle parking is currently 
provided in some communities of the Albemarle 
region, but is especially needed near retail and 
commercial establishments as well as near popular 
tourist destinations. 

Each community should work with property owners 
to encourage the installation of additional bicycle 
parking (short and long-term) at key destinations. 
Policies should also be put in place to ensure the 
inclusion of bike parking in new developments. See 
Chapter 5: Program & Policy Recommendations for 
more detail on bike parking policies. Additionally, 
Appendix D presents specific design guidelines 
for bicycle parking that address many different 
implementation scenarios.

speed liMit reduCtiOn
Speed limit reduction should be strongly considered 
along some of the roadways in the Albemarle region, 
especially on roadways within cities and towns. Traffic 
speed is considered a major deterrent to bicycling by 
the public. It is recommended that further study be 
conducted locally to determine appropriate speed 
limit reduction locations and that enforcement also 
be a part of a comprehensive solution.

interseCtiOns & CrOssings
Roadway crossings present a particular challenge 
for bicyclists. The Albemarle region contains many 
complex intersections and uncontrolled roadway 
crossings that are barriers to cyclists. Many of these 
intersections and unsignalized crossings require further 
study at the local level to determine appropriate 
treatment and placement of crossings. For detailed 
design guidance on intersection improvements, 
see Appendix D: Design Guidelines sections titled 
‘Bikeways at Intersections’, ‘Signalized Intersections’, 
and ‘Multi-Use Trails.’

Bridges
NCDOT’s bridge policy requires that several bicycle 
facility design standards be met where a bikeway is 
required (See page 2-20). These standards should be 
applied whenever a bridge in this region is replaced 
or repaired along a roadway where bicycles are 
permitted.

suppOrt faCilities
Restrooms and water fountains are key needs of long-
distance, recreational cyclists. In many areas of the 
region these amenities are not readily available. As a 
first step, local planners should work with the Albemarle 
Rural Planning Organization to add information about 
the locations of these amenities on the regional bike 
website (see Chapter 7 Action Steps table). As needs 
are identified during that process, the ARPO and 
local planners should work with NCDOT to consider 
installing public rest stops, or work with private entities 
to identify private facilities that are open to the public 
with or without a small purchase. 

156



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-12  

13

158

17

158

64

4

3

A L B
E M A R L E S O U N D

PA
S Q

U
O
T
A
N
K

R
I V
E
R

N
O
R
T
H

R
I V
E
R

C
U
R
R
I T
U
C
K

S
O
U
N
D

C
H
O
W
A
N

R
I V
E
R

N
O
R
T
H

L
A
N

D
I N
G
R I V E R

P
E
R

Q
U
I M

A N S R I V E R

L
I T
T
L
E
R
I V
E
R

Moyock

Currituck

Grandy

Jarvisburg

Barco

Camden

NC 4 North
Lin

e Trace

N
C

3
Po

rt
s o

fC
a

ll

North
River

Gameland

Chowan Swamp
Natural Area

Pettigrew
State Park

Merchants
Millpond

State Park

Currituck
National

Wildlife Refuge

Pocosin Lakes
National

Wildlife Refuge

Great Dismal
Swamp National
Wildlife Refuge

MacKey Island
National

Wildlife Refuge

Alligator River National
Wildlife
RefugePlymouth

Gatesville

Elizabeth
City

Winfall

Hertford

Edenton

Roper
Columbia

Around
Pam

lico
Sound: O

ffseason
Route

Bicycle Lane, Stripe
Bicycle Lane, Restripe
Bicycle Lane, Road Diet
Bicycle Lane, New
Buffered Bike Lane, Stripe
Buffered Bike Lane, New
Proposed Paved Shoulders  
Proposed Bicycle Boulevard 
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Signed Route
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 
Corridor Improvements
Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State/Regional Bike Rte.
East Coast Greenway
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 2.5 5
Miles

North of 
SouNd 

ProPoSed 
Network

Facility Type Mileage

Sharrow 14
Bike Boulevard 3
Paved Shoulder 286
Bicycle Lane 15

New 6
Restripe 5
Road Diet 1
Stripe 3

Buffered Bike Lane 16
New 14
Stripe 1

Greenway 62
Corridor Improvements 2
All Facilities 397

157



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

4-13  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

Camden

17
17

158

P A S Q U O T A N K R I V E R

HUGHES

A
N

D
ERSO

N

CHURCH

B

BR
ITE

PENQ
U I N

C
RE

SC
EN

T

PE
A

RT
RE

E

WALKER
N

EW
BY

RA
LE

IG
H

SAVIN

SULID
AE

HA
RR

IS

U

SH
ILL

IN
G

TO WN

M
A

RL
IN

W
ESTW

A
Y

W
IL

SO
N

RA
VE

N

LEW
IS

TUSCARORAN
EW

PO
RT

COLONIAL

SHADY

HASTINGS

C
AS

EY

RED CEDAR

HIG
HLA

N
D

PEARL

TIMMERMAN

BARTLETT
A

STALLING
S

HALSTEAD

FACTORY

BR
IA

RW
O

O
D

HO
LL

Y

WEEKS

M
A

D
ISO

N

HOPKINSBR
UCE

SA
W

YE
R

WARD

SCOTT

WHITE

OAK S
TU

M
P

LARK

BURKE

BROWN

BARNHILL

C
A

PTA
IN

S

PAPER

SAILO
RS

BR
ANTW

OOD

C
O

MPA SS

N
A

TIV
E 

D
A

N
C

ER

BAYBERRY

M
IZZ

EN

G
RA

D
Y

ANNE

HOLLOWELL

BYRUM

PARKWOOD

RIVERSIDE

REDGATE

GRAND VIEW

TH
UN

D
ER

JO
RD

A
N

ADAMS LANDIN
G

FAIR

PLEASANT

ALLEY

LAUREL

REGENT

UNION

MED
IC

AL

WEEKSVILLE

C
O

LL
EG

E

M
A

C
EY

 J
O

STARLING

C
A

RT
ER

ASBURY

TIM
BE

R
SALEM

SUN
D

OWN

G
O

SN
O

LD

CARDINAL

BEAN

W
O

O
D

G
O

O
D

W
IN

PO
W

ER
S

STA
TE

PATRICK

STA
MPE

SPRIN
G

V
ALE

PAXTON

MILL

BAILEY

GRACE

PINE

FO
URTH

INTERPATH

JAIL

STA
YS

AI
L

JE
SS

UP

BINNACLE

HARVEY
GRAVES

CARV
ER

ARENA

MI DG

ET
T

KITTY HAW
K

KAITLYN

M
A

C

GALERA

CHESTERFI ELD

IDA ACRES

C
HA

NC
EY

HA
RRIER

M
ILL EN

D

AMSTEL

SPRUCE

RIDLEY

JOHNSON

ARBUTUS

M
T EV

EREST

BR O
O

KR IDGE

FOREST

PE
LIC

A
N

BARNEY

PROVI DENCE

RIDDICK

BO
NNER

P O
W

EL
L

LE

SSI
E

APOLLO

BYRD

DAN & MARY

PEC
A

N
US 1

7

KNOBBS CREEK

SUN

GRO
RIVERSHORE

TIM
O

TH
Y

G
RI

G
G

S

SU
NSE

T

C
O

SM
O

PIT
TS 

CHAPEL

WINSLOW

TE
RR

Y

RICH

C
O

D
Y

FA

IRLEAD

NU
G

G
ET

O
AK

DA
LE

WELL FIELD

RANCH

POT-O-GOLD

LA
FA

YE
TT

E

M
AC

KE Y

TANNER

CEN
TER

RAILROAD

SA
M

PL
E

TAR HEEL

AYDLETT

LANE

PREYER

CITY CENTER

EG

RET

PA
RK

C
HA

RLO
TTE

BR
AY

RAY

C
LO

SE
D

KRAMER

HA
N

O
V

ER

DENNIS

RAINTREE

HEW
ITT

KY
LE

RS

RU
SS

ELL

LOWRY

TRINKALOE

EM
ILY

SH
ANNA

TA
N

G
LW

O
O

D

W
ARREN

RILEY

DURAN
T

WESLEY

JENNINGS

TO
WER

S

FORREST
EA

STW
A

Y

SPENCE

REID

ST HELEN

CELESTE

TID
EW

A
TE

R

HONORS

TUCKER

MEADS

BE
AU

HARDING

W
IN

STO
N

PE
LIC

AN

POINT

FARM SHILO
H

RUNWAY

M
O

SELEY

H
ULL

SANFORD

BURLINGTON

ROSE
WOOD

C
A

LE
WEST CITY

ROSECROFT

COOPER

LA
UR

A
 L

EE

PERKINS

CHIP

VILL
A

FOXBO
RO

HICKORY

D
EE

R

JA
C

KS
O

N

ENT E RP
RI

S E

W
AT ER C

R
EST

M
EA

D
S

PO
O

L

C
A

RT
W

RI
G

HT

N
O

RM
A

L

FO
R

E

S T HILL

HAM OVERMAN

IM
PA

CT

WATERSIDE

SELBY

TANGLEW
O

O
D

SIMPSON DITCH

US 17 BYPA
SS

BO
DY

RIVER

RO
AD

M
ATTHEW

PARSONAGE

LA
MBSBERRY

BANK

BIRDIE

LO
BE

LL

ULSTER

LIS
AS

F INE AR
TS

ALTO
N

UN
C

LE
 B

UD
D

Y

C
REEK

W
ILL

IA
M

S

WILLIS

BROCK

RID

GE

EA
G

LE

BIG DADDY

KRIS

M ILL
BR

O

OKE

ZA
CK

IBI S

DARIAN

AZA
LE

A

US Coast Guard
Air Station

(Pasquotank)

Northside
Causeway

Walnut
Street

Knobbs
Creek

Enfield
Enfield

Moth
Boat

Edgewood

Hooker George
Wood

Waterfront

South Park
Sports

Complex

Triangle/Elizabeth
Street

River Road
Sports
Complex

Northeastern
Park

Charles
Creek

NC 4 
North

 Lin
e Tr

ace

Bicycle Lane, Stripe
Bicycle Lane, Road Diet
Bicycle Lane, New
Buffered Bike Lane, Stripe
Proposed Paved Shoulders  
Proposed Bicycle Boulevard 
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 
Corridor Improvements

Boardwalk
State Bike Route
East Coast Greenway
Municipal Boundary
County
Boundary

Parks
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation

0 0.5 1
Miles

elizabeth City

158



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-14  

1732

P E R Q
U I M

A N S
R I V E R

C
H

O
W

A
N

R
I V

E
R

D
A

RK

PA
RA

D
IS

E

VA
N

C
E

QUEEN

WATER

KING

M
O

SE
LE

Y

G
RA

M
BY

CHURCH

O
LD

 H
ER

TF
O

RD

CHOWAN

BA
DHAM

CAUTH

EN

WILLIAMSON

C
ATHC

ART W
AY

ST
RA

TF
O

RD

JO
HNSTO

N

BROAD
DILLARD

C
O

X

BL

AIR

VA
N

N
C

A
SO

N

PARK

BLOUNT

CAPITAL

OAKDAL E

CARTERET

HOSKINS

HICKS

BR
ID

G
ET

O
W

N
E

FIRST

EDEN

LE
N

N
Y

LEIG
H

BU D

BA
RK

ER

ROBIN

HAWKINS

BL
A

D
ES

D
O

C
K

GALEALBANIA

C
O

UR
T

LA
UR

A

SH
EN

ITA

BOSW
ELL

C
O

RB
INDUNDEE

C
YP

RE
SS

JO
HNSO

N
ST

AN
DI

N
G

WILDCAT

C
A

M
ERO

N

MEXICO

HU
BL

EY

LAKESIDE

W
HI

TE
M

O
N

W
ILLO

W
 W

ISP

OCEAN

COS TON

MARK
DICKS

C
A

RP
EN

TE
R

LU
KE

VA
LE

N
TIN

E

IR
E

DEL L

HAYES FARM

W
AL

KE
R

HAMPTON

JO
HN

SO
N

HARDY'S HILL

PARAD

IS
E

SP
UR

BAY SHORE

PEANUT

MLK

W
O

O
D

VIRGINIA

CLA IRE

QUEE N ANNE

C
O

KE

KIMBERL Y

TERRY

C
HE

RR
Y 

PO
IN

T

JOHNHILL

ED
EN

TO
N 

BA
Y

FREEMASON

Edenton
National Fish

Hatchery

NC
3

- Ports
of Call

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

37

137

158

NC 4 - North Line Trace

Chowan Swamp
Natural Area

Merchants
Millpond

State Park

Bicycle Lane, Stripe
Bicycle Lane, Restripe
Bicycle Lane, Road Diet
Bicycle Lane, New
Buffered Bike Lane, Stripe
Proposed Paved Shoulders  
Proposed Bicycle Boulevard 
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 

Paved Shoulder
State Bike Route
East Coast
Greenway
Municipal
Boundary
County
Boundary

State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation

0 0.5 1
Miles

edeNtoN GateSville

159



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

4-15  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

P E R Q U I M
A N S

R I V E R

17
MAJOR

C
A

THERIN
E

O
LD

 N
EC

K

SW
ING GATE

DOBBS

FIRST

WYNNEFORK

HARVEY POINT

MAIN

MARKET
HIG

H

SMITHCO
VE

CUB

KE
LS

EY

YATES

WILLOW

C
A

ST
LE

TO
N

W
HITE

KING

NEWBY

CREEK

MASON

WIGGINS

PENNSYLVANIA

SUNSET

LO
UISE

RIVER

KE
NYO

N

LO
M

A
S

N
IXO

NWALTERS

COMMER
CE

MATTH
EW

S A
CRES

HOWELL

BL
OUNT

PR
ITL

O
W

E

WOODS

BERRY

HARV
EY

WILLIAMS

FAITH

W
HE

D
BE

E

W
RI

G
HT

 F
A

RM

WOOD

AINSLEY

ILILDA

ARPDC

JESSUP

BR
IA

N
C

EN
TE

R

DEERVIEW

CROFT

NA
TES

O
C

EA
N

CO
O

PE
RA

TIV
E

ARTIE

BEMBURY

SU
NSH

IN
E

C
LA

RK

BELVIDERE

CEDAR STRETCH

SM
ITH

M
ELTON GROVE

GASTON

GREAT HOPE CHURCH

KNOW

LE
S

LA
ND

ING
LA

YD
EN

HOW
EL

LS

HAYWOOD SM
ITH

ED
EN

TO
N

RO
A

D

W
IN

FA
LL

LAKE

RI
V

ER
W

O
O

D

GRANBY

BALLAHACK

MEA
DS

MILLE
R

ST
EV

EN
SO

N

1968 Bike
Trail

Bethel Loop
Bike Route

Joppa Loop
Bike Route

Joppa
Loop Bike

Route Bethel Loop
Bike Route

NC 4 North Line Trace

Bicycle Lane, Stripe
Bicycle Lane, Restripe
Proposed Paved Shoulders  
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 
East Coast Greenway

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State Bike Route
Municipal Boundary
County
Boundary

State
Conservation

Other
Conservation

0 0.5 1
Miles

hertford/wiNfall

160



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-16  

N
C

32

SMITH

ABBY

PARK

BO
N

D

SUNSET

BA
ZE

M
O

RE

ASBELL

KELLO

G FORK

ZION

COO PER

SILVER SPRINGS

G
RA

Y

GATLIN
G

DANIELWATER SW
AM

P

ST PAUL

COSTEN

CLAY HILL

M
IDDLE

SW
AMP

LASSI TE
R

BE
A

M
O

N

Merchants
Millpond

State Park

Moyock

CARATOKE

SAW
YERTO

W
N

CREEKVIEW

PU
DDIN

RID
GE

D

NORTHWEST RIVER

E

SM
EW

MARIE
TR

IN
ITY

TRISTANGOLDENEYE

B
A

APPLEWOOD

COVEYOAKD
ALE

BIR
CHVIEW

JAE

MOYOCK LANDING

JA
RV

IS

BILLY ROMM

FO
X

INVENTORS

N
EW

TO
W

N

BAXTER

PA
NT

HE
R

LA
ND

ING

Around Pamlico Sound: Offseason Route

Bicycle Lane, Stripe
Bicycle Lane, Restripe
Bicycle Lane, Road Diet
Bicycle Lane, New
Buffered Bike Lane, Stripe
Buffered Bike Lane, Widen
Buffered Bike Lane, New

Proposed Cycle Track
Proposed Paved Shoulders  
Proposed Bicycle Boulevard 
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Signed Route
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 
Corridor Improvements
Paved Multi-Use Trail

Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State/Regional Bike Rte.
East Coast
Greenway

State
Conservation

SPENCER

MAIN

BU
NK

ER
 H

ILL

CHARITY

JO
N

ES

SWINSON

PIERCE

ELLIOTT

ELM

343

C
O

O
L

BR
EE

ZE

US 17

BIN
G

HA
M

PUBLOC
AN

AL

UNIONCAMP

MCBRIDE

M
ULLEN

Barco

SWAINS

A
VI

A
TO

R

NEIER

AV
IATIO

N

SKY VISTA

M
A

PLE

ADAM
S

HA
PP

Y 
LA

N
D

IN
G

BARCO

TERMINAL

AI
RP

O
RT

Around Pamlico Sound: Offseason
Route

Grandy

North
River

Gameland

HO
LL

Y

BOW
SPRIT

COMPASS

BASS

MIZZENMAST

CAROLINA CLUB

TRO
UT MOTE

G
RANDY

DAYBREAK

TKS

EV
AN

S

HIC
KO

RY N
UT

BENJAMIN

KOONTZ

SEAWARD

MALLARD

C
AN

AL

PA
R 

FO
UR

TRUNK

KELLER
ADM

IRA
LTY

RICHMOND

SUNDOW
N

CORAL INLET
DO

LPHIN

KERNEL

NEUSE

LE
EW

A
RD

FA
RI

S

SAVANNAH

UNCLE GRAHAM

CHARLESTON

A
round

Pam
lico

Sound: O
ffseason

Route

0 0.25 0.5
Miles

0 0.5 1
Miles

0 0.5 1
Miles

0 0.5 1
Miles

0 0.25 0.5
Miles

MerChaNtS MillPoNd 
State Park/ SuNbury

MoyoCk

MaPle-barCo

GraNdy

South MillS

161



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

4-17  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

64

264

A L B
E M A R L E S O U N D

A
L
L
IG

A
T
O
R

R
IV

E
R

P A
M
L I
C
O
S O

U
N
D

P A
M
L I C O

R I V E R

L A K E
M A T T A M U S K E E T

N E W
L A K E

P H E L P S
L A K E

P
A
M
L
I C
O
R
I V E R

3

2

Pettigrew
State Park

Fort Raleigh
National

Historic Site

Pocosin Lakes
National

Wildlife Refuge

Pungo
National

Wildlife Refuge

Lake Mattamuskeet
National

Wildlife Refuge

Alligator
River National
Wildlife Refuge

Dare
County Air

Force Range

Swanquarter
National

Wildlife Refuge

Swanquarter
National

Wilderness Area

Plymouth
Roper

Creswell

Columbia

Bicycle Lane, Stripe
Bicycle Lane, Restripe
Bicycle Lane, Road Diet
Bicycle Lane, New
Proposed Paved Shoulders  
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Signed Route
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 
Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Paved Shoulder
State Bike Route
East Coast Greenway
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 2.5 5
Miles

Facility Type Mileage

Signed Route 16
Sharrow 6
Paved Shoulder 256
Bicycle Lane 3

New 1
Restripe 1
Road Diet 0
Stripe 1

Greenway 19
Grand Total 301

South of 
SouNd
ProPoSed 
Network

Environmental constraints 
make a paved shoulder 
between Engelhard and 
Manns Harbor infeasible

162



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-18  

64

32

45

3

SAND HILL

FOURTH

N
C

HW
Y

32

SEXTON FARM

JEFFERSO
N

D
A

LY

CLARKD
A

LY

WINESETT

KENNEDY

NC HWY 45

GARRETT ISLAND

BOWSER

US
 H

W
Y 

64
 W

ES
T

C
O

UN
TRY

CLUB

JEA
N

LO
BLO

LLY

STYONS

C
EN

TE
R

W
ALN

UT

HAZEL

M
ID

D
LE

C
ED

A
R

C
AM

PBELL

CEDAR

US HWY 64 EAST

CO
UNTRY

CHERRYCRANBERRY

G
UR

KI
N

ANNE

RHODES

LU
V

ER
A

RIVERSIDE

CONABY

FOREST

NORTH

RANKIN

MACKEY
S

MAPLE

D
O

VE

THIRD

AARON

GAVIN

RID
G

EW
AY

PINE

CANAL

EIGHTH

LITT
LE

A
RA

BIA
N

PA
M

EL
A

FIFTH

SIXTH

PA
TT

O
N

KIRK

ST
ER

LIN
G

HAM
PTO

N

BRO
O

KE

LATHAM

WHITE OAK

PA
RK

HYMAN

WILTS
LOGAN

LINDEN

JACKSON

PETTIG
REW

AUSBON

MORATOC

SA
M

A
N

THA

STERLING

C
RO

W
EL

L

G
UM

 TREE

TR
UM

AN

W
ELC

O
M

E

LOCUST

WHITE OAK

SO
UT

H
RIV

ER
NO

RT
H 

RIV
ER

GEE

PLYW
O

O
D

GLEAVES
BR

IC
KMILL

ROBIN

VILLAG
E

CASHIE

BATEMAN

QUAIL

BR
ADLE

Y

HILLARD

PINE

NORT
H D

EE
RF

IEL
D

IDA

RO
XI

E 
RE

ES
E

BENNETT

OLD

RO
PE

R
RD

A
LD

EN

HUNTERSCROSSING

NC
 HW

Y 149

MORRATTO
CK

SO
M

ERSET

SOUTHFIELD

KIM'S LO
OP

RO
O

SEVELT

W
IL

SO
N

COOL SPRINGS

PA
RK

HILLY

RI
VE

R

RO
A

NO
KE

WHITE O
AK

LO
O

P
SHELLY

Q
UA

IL

GOLFG
O

LF

LY
NN

C
HE

ST
N

UT

FA
IRLA

N
E

G
A

G
E

HUGHES

LYLE

NC 3 Ports of Call

Bicycle Lane, Stripe
Bicycle Lane, Restripe
Bicycle Lane, Road Diet
Bicycle Lane, New
Proposed Paved Shoulders  
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Signed Route
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 

Paved Shoulder
State Bike Route

Municipal Boundary
State
Conservation

Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 0.5 1
Miles

64

BUSH

KNOWLES

STA
TIO

N

NEWBY

MAY JU
NEJO

HN

DALLA
S

PLUME

UNION

RAILROAD

GRIM
ES

UNION

STA
TIO

N

UNION

C
RO

SSRO
AD

BULLOCKSEC
OND

TO
M

BANKBANK

OAK

HUNTER

HORTONTOWN

PLUME

GRIFFIN

W
ASTEW

ATER

WALKER

SMITH

C
RO

SS

BACKWOODS

PARRISH

WOODLAWN

RE
SE

ARC
H

STA
TIO

N

SLO
UG

H

US HWY 64 EASTBOUND

US HWY 64
WEST

BOUND

GOURD NECK

M
ILL

PO
N

D

MILL POND

MILL
 POND

RAILRO
AD

LITTLE C
LAY

WILLIAMS LO
O

P

Facility Type Mileage

Signed Route 16
Sharrow 6
Paved Shoulder 256
Bicycle Lane 3

New 1
Restripe 1
Road Diet 0
Stripe 1

Greenway 19
Grand Total 301

PlyMouth roPer

163



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

4-19  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

64

94

S
C

C
U

P
P

E
R

N
O

N
G

R
IV

E
R

SR 1246 SR 1323

US 64

RO
A

D

0

B
RO

A
D

FO
N

SO
E

SR 1300
SR

 1
23

5

SR 1241

ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

SR
 1

10
5

BO
DW

EL
L

SR
 1

20
9

SR
12

38

SR 1210

Pettigrew
State Park

Pocosin Lakes
National

Wildlife Refuge

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

64646464

64

Pettigrew
State Park

A
LLIG

O
O

D

ST DAVID

FO
URTH

SIX
TH

MAIN

FIF
TH PALM

ETTA

CHESSON

SEV
EN

TH

MEADOW

FIFTH STREET

LE
IG

H

MIDDLE

THIRD

SEC
OND

FO
URTH

PALM
ETTA

SO
M

ER
SE

T

PU
D

D
IN

G

US HWY 64

EAST

EI
G

HT
H

CHERRY

SPRUILL BRIDGE

US HWY 64 WESTBOUND
NC HWY 94

O
LD

C
HE

RR
Y

FIR
ST

US HWY 64 EASTBOUND

US HWY 64 WEST

Bicycle Lane, Stripe
Bicycle Lane, New
Proposed Paved Shoulders  
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 

Boardwalk

Municipal Boundary
County
Boundary

State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation

0 0.25 0.5
Miles

ColuMbia CreSwell

164



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-20  

A
PPLE

HOOPER

BRATO
N

MUSIC

TAYLO
R

PEANUT

NO
NAME

AZALEA NAS H
BEA

SLE
Y

ROWE

PINEY RIDGE

AMBROSE

PECAN

HIG
HLA

ND

OLDFERR Y
D

O
C

K

SHIPYARD

VIRGINIA DARE MEMORIAL

MASHOES

US 64 264

O
LD

M
ANNS HARBO

R

HARBOR

CROATA
N

Alligator River
National

Wildlife Refuge

NC 2 - M
ountains to

 Sea

NC 2 - Mountains to Sea

0

HILL

SR
 1

31
9

GOSHEN BACK

SR 1329 SHAW

SR
13

20

GOLDEN

SR
13

21

C
O

O
PE

R

SPENCER

SIL
VE

R

SR
 1

10
1

SR
11

03

SR 1100

LA
ZY

SR 1322

CAHOON

ROPER

BREEZY POINT

SWAMP

SR 1315

Bicycle Lane, Stripe
Bicycle Lane, Restripe
Bicycle Lane, Road Diet
Bicycle Lane, New
Buffered Bike Lane, Stripe
Buffered Bike Lane, Widen
Buffered Bike Lane, New

Proposed Cycle Track
Proposed Paved Shoulders  
Proposed Bicycle Boulevard 
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Signed Route
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 
Corridor Improvements
Paved Multi-Use Trail

Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State Bike Route

Federal
Conservation

Lake Mattamuskeet
National Wildlife
Refuge

US 264

N
C

 94

US-264

N
C

-94

0

SR
 1

12
1

JU
N

IP
ER

 B
A

Y

0 0.25 0.5
Miles

0 0.25 0.5
Miles

0 0.25 0.5
Miles

MaNNS harbor eNGelhard

MattaMuSkeet

165



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

4-21  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

Outer Banks MajOr COrridOrs
Two major corridors along the Outer Banks - US 158 
and NC 12 - present particular challenges to bicycle 
transportation that cannot be addressed solely with 
new bike facility recommendations. While each 
community located along these corridors has its 
own distinct character, many of these challenges 
are consistent across communities. The following 
paragraphs describe constraints along these corridors 
and recommended studies and solutions.

us-158
US-158 is a primary roadway corridor travelling from 
Southern Shores to Nags Head. Multi-use side paths 
are recommended to be located within the right-of-
way for the entire length of this corridor. A number 
of complex intersections and uncontrolled roadway 
crossings on US 158 bar safe access to the many 
commercial destinations located along it. This is 
because 1) they cannot be avoided, or 2) creation 
of a detour would require a major inconvenience 
for bicyclists, who would be unlikely to use it. Cyclists 
crossing US-158 have to cross five lanes of traffic, often 
at non-signalized intersections. No refuge islands 
exist on US-158, and signal timing at the intersections 
that are signalized is not adequate for cyclists to 
safely cross. A full study of US 158 is recommended to 
determine appropriate treatment and placement of 
crossings.  At minimum, high-visibility crosswalks should 
be located wherever an intersection connects to 
beach access. For more information on this corridor, 
see Chapter 5: Demonstration Projects.

nC-12
NC-12 is also called “Beach Road” and passes 
through every community on the Outer Banks from 
Corolla to Ocracoke Island. Sidewalks and sidepaths 
exist along  the majority of NC-12. However, due to 
the close proximity of Beach Road to the sand dunes 
along the beach, the existing sidepaths were not 
built to the recommended ten-foot wide standard. 
Environmental conditions pose a significant challenge 
to maintenance of these facilities. In many areas, sand 
from the sand dunes washes across the sidewalks or 
sidepath, making the facility unusable. A plan for more 
frequent maintenance of the facility should be put in 
place through a coordinated effort of municipal staff 
along the corridor. 

In southern Nags Head, near the Jennette’s Pier/
Whalebone Junction area, the side path becomes 
an on-road facility with numerous driveway conflict 
points as a result of wide curb-cuts and uncontrolled 
driveway access areas. This area should be considered 
for further study to determine how to reduce driveway 
access areas. One potential near-term solution to 
increasing the visibility of the sidepath and cyclists 
traveling on the side path is to resurface the side 
path in this area using colorful paint or longer lasting 
plastic or epoxy material embedded with reflective 
glass beads. The photo at left illustrates an example 
of a two-way cycle track facility designed with 
green paint.  This paint will signal to motorists that the 
sidepath is not part of the roadway open to vehicles.

Two-way cycle track facility 
designed with green paint
Photo credit: Transportation 
nation blog 

Facility Type Mileage

Signed Route 9
Sharrow 5
Bike Boulevard 9
Paved Shoulder 18
Bicycle Lane 12

New 6
Restripe 7

Buffered Bike Lane 1
New 1

Greenway 72
Corridor Improvements 18
Grand Total 143

166



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-22  

13

15
8

17

158

64

264

4

Around Pamlico Sound: Offsea son Route

3

A
L

B
E

M
A

R
L

E
S

O

U
N DP A S Q U O T A N K R I V E R

N O R T H R I V E R

C U R R I T U C K S O U N D

C H O W A N R I V E R

N O R T H L A N D I N G R I V E R

P E R Q U I M A N S

R
I V

E
R

L I T T L E R I V E R

M
oy

oc
k

C
ur

rit
uc

k Ba
rc

o

C
am

de
n

A L L I G A T O R
R I V E R

P
A

M
L

I C
O

S
O

U
N

D

P A M L I C O
R I V E R

L A K E
M A T T A M U S K E E T

N E W
L A K EP H E L P S

L A K E

P A M L I C O R I V E R

3

2

Rodanthe
Waves

Salvo

Avon

Buxton

Frisco

Hatteras

Ocracoke

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

North
River

Gameland

Jockeys Ridge
State Park

Pettigrew
State Park

Fort Raleigh
National Historic
Site

Pocosin
Lakes National
Wildlife Refuge

Pungo National
Wildlife Refuge

Lake Mattamuskeet
National

Wildlife Refuge

Cape Hatteras
National
Seashore

Alligator
River National
Wildlife Refuge

Dare
County Air

Force Range

Pea Island
National

Wildlife Refuge

Swanquarter
National
Wildlife Refuge

Duck

Kill
Devil
Hills

Edenton

Manteo

Columbia

Southern
Shores Kitty

Hawk
Around Pamlico Sound: Loop Route

NC 2: Mountains to the Sea

Around Pamlico Sound: Offseason Route

Bicycle Lane, Stripe
Bicycle Lane, Restripe
Bicycle Lane, New
Buffered Bike Lane, New
Proposed Paved Shoulders  

Proposed Bicycle Boulevard 
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Signed Route
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 
Corridor Improvements

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route
State/Regional Bike Rte.

State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 5 10
Miles

outer baNkS
ProPoSed Network

Facility Type Mileage

Signed Route 9
Sharrow 5
Bike Boulevard 9
Paved Shoulder 18
Bicycle Lane 12

New 6
Restripe 7

Buffered Bike Lane 1
New 1

Greenway 72
Corridor Improvements 18
Grand Total 143

167



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

4-23  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

13

15
8

15
8

64

26
4

C U R R I T U C K S O U N D

12OCEAN

D EEP NECK
OCEAN LAKE MAINSAIL

WINDANCE

MARINER

BARN

SE
AO

ATS PORPOISE
WHITE WHALE

SUNRISE
SEA MIST

M
YR

TL
E TE
RN

A
ZURE

LAND FALL

C
O

RA
L

LO
ST

LA
KE

SP
RI

G

LA
KE

SIDE

MALI A

H

AMPTON W
ELK M

AG

NO LIA

RIDGEPOINT CIRC
LE

IV
O

RY

SANDCASTLEATLANTIC

A
M

BER

PIPSIS POINTSTAYSAIL

M
O

RR
IS

HE
RR

IN
GTU

N
A

PE
RC

H

SE
A

SH
EL

L

LIVE O
AK

KI
NG

S 
G

RA
NT

HI
ST

ORICDOTTIES

KA
RE

N
S

C
A

RO
TA

N
K

C
O

N
C

H
CRUZ BAY

COROLLA
WHALEHEAD

MONTERAY O
RI

O
N

S

H UNTC

L UB

PE
RS

IM
M

O
N

FR

ANKLYN

Currituck
National

Wildlife Refuge

Corolla
Bike Path

Bicycle Lane, Stripe
Bicycle Lane, Restripe
Bicycle Lane, Road Diet
Bicycle Lane, New
Buffered Bike Lane, Stripe
Buffered Bike Lane, Widen
Buffered Bike Lane, New

Proposed Cycle Track
Proposed Paved Shoulders  
Proposed Bicycle Boulevard 
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Signed Route
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 
Corridor Improvements

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route

Municipal Boundary
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 0.5 1
Miles

13

15
8

15
8

64

26
4

12

12DUCK

TU
C

KA
HO

E SO
UN

D
VI EW

SNIPE

THIRTEENTH

BAUM

BUNTING RENE

FO
UR

SEASONS

LO
N

E

FAWN

BUFFELL HEAD

MARTIN

SPECKLE TROUT
ELM

SPINDRIFT

RA
KI

OCK

TO
PSAIL

VIVIAN

G

ANNET

STATION BAY CLAY
MAPLE

BETSY

TERESA

D
IA

N
N

E

CEDAR

ROCKFISH

OCEAN

A
M

Y

EL
EV

EN
TH

N
A

SH

W
ID

G
EO

N
HALYARD

CHIP

VIR EO

O
C

EA
N

BA
Y

Q UAIL SP
YG

LA

SS

W
A

XW

I NG

C
O

O
K

TRINITIE

SP
RI

G
TA

IL

PI
N

TA
IL

SN
O

W
 G

EE
SE

BA
YB

ER
RY

S E
A

CO
LO

NY

O
LD

E 
D

UC
K

D
UN

E

W
A

M
PU

M

BI
AS

SEA
O

AT S

SE
A

 H
A

W
K

S
K I

MMER

TW
EL

FT
H

A
C

O
RN

 O
A

K

M
A

LL
A

RD

SE
A

BR
EE

ZE

JA
Y

C
RE

ST

M
A

RL
IN

PL
O

V
ER

SC
HO

O
NE

RRIDG
E

S. Virginia
Dare Trail

0 0.5 1
Miles

duCk

Corolla

168



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-24  

12

DUC
K

TUCKAHOE

LUNAR
C

RO
ATAN

TW
ELFTH

THIRTEEN
TH

BIAS

SEVENTH

B

ARLO
W

FONCK

O
SPR

EY

SO

U
NDVI E W

VI
VI

A
N

PINTAIL

W
ILD

SW
A

N

CHICAHAUK

BAYBERRY

FOXG
RA

PE

K
ING

FIS HER

TR
EA

SU
RE

GRISSOM

TA
LL

 P
IN

E

TEAL

REDG
UM

LO
C

U
ST

B IRC
H

GRAVELY

POND

NINTH

DOLPHIN

PORPOISE

PO
PLARTHE

W
O

O
DS

LEE

P UD
D

IN
G

PA
N

OYS
T E

R
BE

D

C
YPRESS

DEER PATH

TROUT

CATCO

HARIOT

TENTH

W
O

O
D

LA
ND

YUCCA

PA
LM

ER

EC
KN

ER

M
ILL PO

IN
T

M
A

RTIN
S

PO
IN

T

RED
BA

Y

PE
RI

W
IN

KL
E

FERN

ELEVENTH

FIFTH
SIXTH

FOUR TH

THIRD

SYCAM
ORE

SECOND

EIGHTH

FIRST

W
AX MYRTLE

W
ILD

PO
NY

PALMETTO

YA
UP

O
N

JAY CREST

FAIRWAY

D
UC

K
W

O
O

D
S

PO
TESKEET

O
C

EAN

SPIN
D

R IFT

WINSO
R

PUTTER

HICKORY

HIG
H DUNE

SEA
O

ATS

HILLC
REST

OCEAN
VIEW

HO
LLY

G
IN

GUITE

TA

LL C LIF
F

CL
A

M
SH

ELL

TIDES

C
REEK

C
URRITUC

K

NORTHD
UN

E

BEEC
H

TREE

C
IRCLE

C
RO

O
KE D BACK

SKYLINE

D
O

G
W

O
O

D

Around Pamlico Sound: Offseason Route

Proposed Paved Shoulders  
Proposed Bicycle Boulevard 
Proposed Signed Route
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 
Corridor Improvements
Paved Multi-Use Trail
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route

Municipal Boundary
State
Conservation

Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

12

12

158

SOTHEL

BE
ACO

N

KITTY HAWK

TRUXTON

AD
DIE

COLLETON

CHOWAN

BARLO
W

WHITE

SUFFOLK

C
APRI

FONCK

BLERIOT

WILKINS
BEECH

AYCOCK

W
O

RTHI

N GTO
N

ROCK

PALMER

RAYM
O

ND

DORY

PINTAIL

FIR

GLENN

SWO
R DFISH

BAY

SUM
M

ER
TA

MAR

A
C

K

LILL
IAN

AVALON

HELGA

LEE

JEAN

BA
TH

TR
EA

SURE GRISSOM

SUSAN

TEAL

VISTA

C
O

LUM
BIA

SHELL

CAY

REDG
UM

ELIJAH BAUM

DO
G

W
O

O
D

W
ELC

H

LO
C

U
ST

BIRC
H

DANNY

WILLA

G
RE

N
VI

LL
E

ARCHDALE

SHELBY

PO
PLAR

D
O

W
D

Y

C
LIFTO

N

NIXONTON

C
YPRESS

EMELI
NE

RA
D

C
LIFF

ROGERS

CATCO

SUNRISE
VI

EW

A
PO

LLO

KE EPERS

PARKER

HARIOT

GABLES

EDEN

TILLETT

ANG
LER

SHADY

WALLACE

HERITAGE

N
EP

TU
NE

ST LOUIS

PE
RR

Y

HALLETT

BRIG
G

S

BEACHAM

M
ARTIN

S
PO

IN

T

WALKER

D
A

VINC
I

TH
IC

K
RI

D
G

E

FERN

MIDGETT

W
ILD

PONY

SY
CAM

O
RE

PIN
E

H
ILL

O
N

EAL

PALMETTO

SKYLIN
E

ASC
ENSIO

N

JEJAC

SPORTSMAN

TW
I F

O

RD

C
A

RREN
D

A
D

UC
K

W
O

O
D

S

G
ING

UITE

COVE
RE

D
BR IDGE

PO
O

R
RID

G
E

LUNAR

ECKN
ER

RID
G

E

WINSOR

SO
UN

D
LA

N
D

IN
G

PUTTER

PO
SEIDO

N

ELM

TA
RKLE

RID
G

E

HERBERT PERRY

C
REEK

THE W
O

O
D

SW
A

TTS

IV
Y

A
M

A
D

A
S

OAKRUN

SPINDRIFT

SEASC
APE

PI
NE

W
A

Y

BO
B

PERRY

AC
A

Atlantic
C

oastal Route

Around Pam
lico Sound: O

ffseason Route

0 0.25 0.5
Miles

SoutherN
ShoreS

kitty hawk

169



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

4-25  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

12

158

HELGA

PALMETTO

KITTY HAWK

COLINGTON

TEAL
G

O
LDIE

FOXXG
RAPE

HILL

TRUXTON

MY
BET

BAYCLIFF

BLUE JAY

WHITE

CLA
W

NEW
 BERN

SMALL

VEELEE

PETER

FIR
ST

FL
IG

H
T

W
OODARD

LA
KE

IN
LE

T

ROCK

SUNRISE

FIL
LAURA

PO
SEIDO

N

ST 
CLAIR

CLA
RK

EDENTO
N

LEE

ELM

PARTRIDG
E

SWAN

QUEEN

THIRD

JE
ANBATH

CLAM SHELL

ADAMS

HOLLY

RAYM
O

ND

C
O

LUM
BIA

PARKWOOD

SA
N

D
Y

PEELER CORRIG
AN

SHELL

PILO
T

ALM
A

SOTHEL

BA
UM

ELIJAH BAUM

APAC
HE

LOWELL

SUTTO
N

SW
A

N
VIEW

KNIGHT

M
O

LLIE

LANCER

HEATHER

EMELIN
E

AZTEC

SIO
UX

C
REEK

UPPER DUNE
W

YANDO
TTE

KETCH

W
ILL

IA
M

S

WALLACE

PIRATES

M
IDG

ETT

HALLETT

BRIG
G

S

D
A

VINC
I

CAPTAINS

TENTH

ISL
AND

CAR O LI
N

IAN

FRANKLIN
NO

RFO
LK

SM
ITHFIELD

PHO
EBUS

HIG
HVIEW

YO
RKTO

W
N

HAM
PTO

N

SIXTH

O
N

EAL

JEJAC

EAGLE

PO
O

R
R IDG

E

BA
U

M
BA

Y

FIRST

BRIDGE

CANA

L

HERBERT PERRY

VETERANS

BURNS

O
AK

RUN

O
LD

NAG
S

HEAD
W

O
O

D
S

TO
W

ER

W
A

TERSEDG
E

Wright Brothers
National
Memorial

AC
A

Atlantic
C

oastal Route

                         
                        
                         
                        
                         
                        

12

158

RIDG
E

QUAIL

TEAL

BELL

HILL

O
LD

DEERING

BLUE JAY

W
OO

DHILL

BITTE
RN

BLADEN

OLD

NAGSH
EAD

W
OO

D S

BARRAC
UDA SMALL

BRA

SSIE

ALBEMARLE

PAM
LIC

O

LO
O

KO
UT

FORREST

RO
ANO

KE

FIN

CO
BBS

PILO
T

FA
IRW

AY

SHINER

HES
P

ERIDES

PO
ND

VANSCIVER

SEA
BASS

BR
EE

ZE

BLUE M
ARLIN

CUTTY
S

ARK

CAPTAINS

CO PLE
Y

CAROL IN I A

N

LARK AVE

LA
KE

NC
12

BALLA
S TPO

INT
VILLA

DUNES

LINKS

BURNS

C
O

BIA

MOTHERVINEYARD

Jockeys
Ridge

State Park
Around

Pam
lico

Sound: O
ffseason

Route

0 0.5 1
Miles

Bicycle Lane, New
Proposed Bicycle Boulevard 
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Signed Route
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 
Corridor Improvements
Paved Multi-Use Trail
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route

Municipal Boundary
State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

NaGS headkill devil hillS

170



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-26  

64

64

SK
YC

O

US 64 264

SC
UPP

ER
NONG

BOWSERTO
WN

SIR

WALTE
R RALEI

GH

SO UNDSID
E

OLD NC 345

AL
G

O

NKIAN

WEBB

FO
RE

ST

W
A

SHIN
G

TO
N

RALEI
GH W

OOD

CALIFO
RNIA

THIRD

FRA
N

C
IS D

RA
KE

HAM

MOCK

BARBIC

AN

RALE
IG

H
FEA

RING

TIMBERLIN WEST

LO
RD

 ESSEX

EXETER
RO

BIN

OLD
 C

OUNTY

IN
LA

ND

LA
RK

HOLLY
HILLS

C
RO

A
TA

N

QUAIL

AM
AN

DA

VIOLET

JUNIPER

KAY

O
RI

O
N

SP
IN

NAKER

SO
UT

H

KELLAM

DO
RA

LOCUST

CRE
EF

S R
ID

GE

BIDEFORD

THE

DOGWOODS

DA
RE

MUSKET

BRAKE
WOO

D

CROSS

INGE

SE ATO
NE

TOLER

PUDDLE

KING ARTHUR

POPLAR

SHERWOOD

CAN

N
O

N

JA
C

KSO
N

BAY

SWAIM

LY
DI

AS

DOLPHIN

RI
M

PA
UL

GARETH

BERNICE

BE CKS

PENINSULA

SEC
O

N
D

PAYNE

GARD
EN

S

RUDDER

ELEA
N

O
R D

A
RE

CANOPY

NATIONAL PARK

COLEM
AN

TO LS

ON

JO
HNWHITE

PA
TTY

LEL
AND

TA
NA

LI

W
ARD

RIA
L

BR
OCKWELL

FIRST

GEORG E DANIELS

CE
DRO

W

GILB
ERT

TH
E O

A
KS

SU
NNYSIDE

ELI
ZA

BETH

DAPHNE

GREEN
S

BATTL
EF IEL D

CAND EL
A

HO
LL

Y 
RI

DG
E

THEW

I NERY

MORRI
SO

NG
ROVE

MEE
KIN

S

AM
EL

IA

TW
YNE

C
AR

O
LIN

A

FESTIVALPA RK

STE
VE BA

SN
IG

HT

FIELDS

WEIR POINT

LA
NGLEY

JA
YHUE

PEARCE

BOAT ACCESS

PEAR PAD

WATER
 PLA

NT

BALLAST
POINT

VIRGINIA DARE MEMORIAL

SAILFISH

BU

RN
SID

E

ROGE RS
MOTHER

VINEYARD

G
EO

RG
E H

O
W

E
AR

BO R

ROANOKE

DOGWOOD

JO
NE

S

VIS
T

ALA KE

SEXT ANT

Fort Raleigh
National

Historic Site

NC 2 - Mountains to Sea

Bicycle Lane, Restripe
Buffered Bike Lane, New
Proposed Paved Shoulders  
Proposed Bicycle Boulevard 
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Signed Route
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
State Bike Route

Municipal Boundary

State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation
Other
Conservation
County
Boundary

0 0.5 1
Miles

64

PON D

OLD CHURCH

PU
GH

HO
OPER

BRINKLY

NO NAME

BEVERLY

F ORBES
RALPHM

IRIA
M

HOLLY

LILLIE

BURRUS

ROSCOE

DUST
Y

FRIENDLY

HIC
KM

AN

MOSLEY

JO
VERS

D

A RRELL

SK
YC

O

HO
OK

ER

O
BE

RL

IN

SAW
YER

BROTHERS

TOLER

TILL
ETT

BAUMTOWN

E R DANIELS

PIN
E

HARBOR

0 0.5 1
Miles

MaNteo

An eastbound buffered 
bike lane is recommended 
to complement the exist-
ing bike lane in the west-
bound direction. 

waNCheSe

171



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

4-27  [Infrastructure Recommendations]  

    

12

BLUE SEA

SE
A

 V
IS

TA

SID
E

FO
UR

TH

SEABREEZE

FIF
TH

O
TT

E R

O
C

EA
N

CARIBBEAN

PARK

LELA

G
A

LLEO
N

FIR
ST

TH
IR

D

THA LA
SS

A

MONITOR

RAMPART

GRAY

CORBINA

BOSUN

ATLANTIC

SUNSET

SEASHORE

QUAY

VI
STA

MERRIMAC

TURTLE CUTLASS

CARROLLS

FARROW

IG NATIU
S

RAMP 23

ISLAND PINES

SOUTH SHORE

MAC OCA

SAND

BOLD DUNE

SEA SOUND

HOLIDAY

SUDIE PAYNE

DEAN

N
C

 12

C
O

LO
N

Y

DORY

Pea Island
National

Wildlife Refuge

Cape Hatteras
National

Seashore

12

BUXTON BACK

DOC
FO

LB TO
W

ER
 C

IR
C

LE

UTOPIA

ALDA

LULLABY

LILYS

LOST TREE

BUC
C

A
N

EER

BAY

TREACHERC
ED

A
R

MYRTLE

BLACKBEARDS

W
EBB

O
A

K

PA
RA

D
ISE

CABINC
EN

TRA
L

LIVE OAK

G
A

SKIN
S

TO
N

ER

KINGS
PO

IN
T

HUG
HES

D
IPPIN

VAT
STO

N
EY

D
A

N
IEL

COTTAGEQ
UID

LEY

D
EC

O
Y

CASKEY

BA
LLA

N
C

E

BA
RLEY

DEER RUN

O
LD

DOCTO
RS

CAPTAINS

HENRY

TREA
SURE

RIDGE

NO N AME

GREAT RID
GE

SPEN
C

ER

O
LD

L IG
HTHO

USEW
A

TER A
SSO

C
IA

TIO
N

FLOWERS RIDGE

TIMBER

LIG
HT

HOUSE
LO GGERHEAD

Cape Hatteras
National
Seashore

Bicycle Lane, Stripe
Bicycle Lane, Restripe
Bicycle Lane, Road Diet
Bicycle Lane, New
Buffered Bike Lane, Stripe
Buffered Bike Lane, Widen
Buffered Bike Lane, New

Proposed Cycle Track
Proposed Paved Shoulders  
Proposed Bicycle Boulevard 
Proposed Sharrows
Proposed Signed Route
Proposed Multi-Use Trail 
Corridor Improvements

Paved Multi-Use Trail
Boardwalk
Unpaved Multi-Use Trail
Bike Lane
Paved Shoulder
Bike Route

State
Conservation
Federal
Conservation

County
Boundary

12

BA
RT

LIK

SR
 1

41
6

JO
LL

IE

D
O

RY

O
LD

 M
A

IN

BONITO

SEASHORE

WIL LIAMS

TERN

COBIA

W
IN

D
Y

PRICE

L A
TIT

UD
E

ONEAL

PARK
D

RUM

MOOREDUNE

OCEAN

AVLONA

WAHOO
N

O
VA

LESLIE

KIDDY

LA
ND

ING

YOUNCE

DUE EAST

C
REEKSID

E

M
A

RL
IN

KEEL

RE
EF

SIL
VE

RS
A

N
D

S

N
O

RT
H 

EN
D

MCM
UL

LE
N

PO
RT

SI
D

E

O
C

EA
N

 V
IE

W

STA
RBO

ARD

Cape Hatteras
National
Seashore

12

LIGHTHOUS E

WOODALL SAND

W
ALT HAM

COAST

GUARD

WILL
IS

M
ID GETT

ODENS

NC 12

MARTHA

SUTTO
N

SEA VIEW

MUSEUM
LIG

HT HOUSE
ISL

AN
D CLUB

LIBERATO
R

DUNE EAST

SEA SCAPE
ISLIN G

TO
N

SM
ELL W

RECK

G
RAY EAG

LE
EM

PIRE G
EM

SHORE

D
UNES

FLAMBEAU

MCLE
SK

EY

NORTH POINT

FU

LCHER

Cape Hatteras
National
Seashore

12

NC 12

ARETTA

TRENT

WEST 
EN

D

SUNSET

TO
M

NE
AL

CUTTENSAGE

L IVE OAK

MIDDLE

NORTH

SARAH ELLEN

ESHAM

LAKE

CED
AR

BE
BE

TU
TL

ES

GASKILL

BE
AC

HSOUND MARTHA JANE

ELIZAB ETH

BRYAN
T

IKE
Y D

N
PS

FIG TREE
FIRST

OCEAN

MARY ANN

TE
RR

AP
IN

C
REEK

CABANA

PI
LO

TT

OWN

PIN
TA

IL

SA
NDDO

LL
AR

CENTRAL

ONEAL

SO
UT

HP
O

IN
T

LIG
HTHOUSE

BACK

L OOP

JACKSON

0

Cape Hatteras
National

Seashore

0 0.25 0.5
Miles

0 0.25 0.5
Miles

0 0.25 0.5
Miles

0 0.1 0.2
Miles

0 0.15 0.3
Miles

Greenway 
recommendation 
continues through 

Frisco

Multi-use trails are  
recommended on both 
sides of NC-12 between 
the Slash Creek Bridges in 
accordance with NCDOT 
FS-1001A. These facilities 
should be as wide as 
right-of-way allows (5’ at a 
minimum).

buxtoN/ friSCo

avoN

rodaNthe 
waveS 
Salvo

hatteraS

oCraCoke

172



2013

[Infrastructure Recommendations]  4-28  

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

173



5-1  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

Before

After

Photo simulation of the  recommended Caratoke 
Highway sidepath. For more information on this 
specific project, see page 5-8.

174



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-2 

Priority & Demonstration Projects
Chapter Five

Overview
A comprehensive bicycle network for the region 
was presented in Chapter 4.  This chapter features 
the results of a prioritization of that network, as well 
as detailed analysis of select demonstration projects. 
Exhibits describing these demonstration projects 
contain design direction, cost estimates, and potential 
funding sources. 

The prioritization results are presented for rough 
guidance only.  While it is ideal to develop facilities in 
order of priority, it is best to also construct facilities as 
opportunities arise.  Some of the most cost-effective 
opportunities to provide bicycle facilities are during 
routine roadway construction, reconstruction, and 
repaving projects.  A new commercial development 
or a roadway widening project, for instance, would 
provide the means to build facilities as a component 
of an existing effort, regardless of priority ranking 
through this process.

PriOritizatiOn MethOdOlOgy
Prioritization began by breaking down infrastructure 
recommendations into discrete segments at logical 
points, such as major intersections.  These segments 
were then prioritized with scores based on the 

weighted criteria listed below, which was custom 
designed for this plan based on Steering Committee 
input, public input through the online comment form, 
and existing conditions. 

Where characteristics are relative (i.e. access to  a 
higher-density residential area), criteria were applied 
such that a particular project is compared only to 
other projects within its county, rather than all projects 
across the region. Thus, scores are only comparable 
within counties. 

Chapter Contents

Overview

Prioritization 
Methodology

Prioritization 
Results

Demonstration 
Project Selection

Demonstration 
Project Exhibits

Criteria Weight
Provides access1 to a school (any level) 5
Provides access to a higher-density residential area 4
Provides access to a higher-density commercial area 4
Provides access to a park or recreation center (including the beach) 4

Connects to an existing or funded trail 4
Serves low-income areas with low car-ownership rates 4
Segment contains reported bike accidents or provides an alternative to a 
corridor with a high number of reported accidents

4

Higher relative feasibility (no acquisition required) 4
Top 1-5 “Most in need of improvement” from online comment form 4
Top 6-10 “Most in need of improvement” from online comment form 3
Segment contains a Top 10 Intersection “Most in need of improvement” 3

1 Access is defined as a connection to the destination’s driveway entrance to the nearest 
public street

175



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-3  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

PriOritizatiOn results
The results of prioritization are shown graphically 
at left.  The top three priorities from each county 
are presented below. The full results of prioritization, 
showing the criteria met by each proposed facility 
and associated scores, are presented in Appendix C.

Facility 
Location

Facility
Type

Street 
Name From To

CaMden COunty

County Paved Shoulder US 158 Pasquotank 
County NC 343

County Paved Shoulder NC 343 Scotland Rd 158 W

County Greenway 343 N/Mullen 
Dr US 17 Main St

ChOwan COunty

Edenton Bicycle Lane, 
Road Diet Broad St Church St Virginia Rd

Edenton Bicycle Lane, 
Road Diet Virginia Rd US 17 Broad St

Edenton Sharrow Oakum St Water St Freemason St

CurrituCk COunty

County Paved Shoulder US 158/
Shortcut Rd NC 343 Tulls Creek Rd

Corolla Signed Route

Shad St/
Lighthouse 
Dr/Albacore 
St

Ocean Trl Ocean Trl

County Paved Shoulder Caratoke 
Hwy Tulls Creek Rd Shortcut Rd

176



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-4 

Facility 
Location

Facility
Type

Street 
Name From To

dare COunty
Manteo Sharrow US 64/US 264 Harriot St Patty Ln

County Greenway NC 12 Park Dr (Avon) Eagle Pass Rd

Buxton Bicycle Lane, 
Restripe NC 12 Crooked 

Ridge Trl Lighthouse Rd

gates COunty

County Paved Shoulder US 158 Maple St Acorn Hill Rd/
Folly Rd

Gatesville Bicycle Lane, 
Stripe Main St Court St Town Edge

Gatesville Bicycle Lane, 
Stripe Main St

Gatesville 
Elementary 
School

Maple St

hyde COunty

County Signed Route

NC 45/Oyster 
Creek Rd/
Juniper Bay 
Rd

US 264 Turnpike Rd at 
schools

County Bicycle Lane, 
Restripe US 264 W of school 

complex NC 94

County Paved Shoulder US 264 NC 94 Golden St

PasquOtank COunty

Elizabeth 
City Greenway

Oak 
Stump Rd/
Ehringhaus 
St/Halstead 
Blvd

Cooper Ln Roanoke Ave/
RR Crossing

Elizabeth 
City Bike Boulevard Church St Hughes Blvd Water St

Elizabeth 
City Sharrow Main St Road St Water St

Facility 
Location

Facility
Type

Street 
Name From To

PerquiMans COunty

Hertford Greenway Off Road/
Church St King St

Shopping 
center S of 
US 17

Hertford Bicycle Lane, 
Restripe Church St

N of 
Albemarle 
Sound

US 17

Hertford Bicycle Lane, 
Restripe

Harvey Point 
Rd US 17 Commerce Dr

tyrrell COunty
Columbia Greenway US 64 Water St La Keiser Dr

Columbia Sharrow Main St Water St Road St

Columbia Bicycle Lane, 
Stripe Main St Road St US 64

washingtOn COunty
Creswell Sharrow Main St Eighth St Second St

Creswell Sharrow Eighth St US 64 Main St

Plymouth Sharrow Washington 
St Water St RR N of US 64

177



5-5  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

deMOnstratiOn PrOjeCt seleCtiOn
Twenty Demonstration Projects were selected from 
the recommended network for detailed analysis. The 
results of this analysis are presented on the following 
pages in summary exhibits. These exhibits are intended 
to illustrate how different recommended facilities 
might best be implemented in areas across the region. 
To meet that goal, segments were selected using a 
combination of the following inputs:

• Weighted score from prioritization,
• Geographic representation, and
• Facility type representation.

The result of this selection is a group of projects 
representing all subregions, counties, and 
municipalities of the region. These projects also cover 
a variety of facility types within each subregion. 
Projects are presented in random order by subregion. 
In combination with the Design Guidelines presented 
in Appendix D, these demonstration projects provide 
guidance on implementation of bike facilities across 
the region.  

The following pages show planning level design 
concepts only.  Project development will require local 
and NCDOT review and approval. Right-of-way costs 
are not included in cost estimates, since these must 
be negotiated at the time of implementation.

178



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-6 

deMOnstratiOn PrOjeCt exhibits
nOrth Of sOund

sOuth Of sOund

Outer banks

Code County Location Project Description Page #
NS-A Gates Gatesville Main Street Bike Lane 5-5
NS-B Currituck Moyock Caratoke Highway Sidepath 5-6
NS-C Chowan Edenton Broad Street Bike Lane/ Sharrow 5-7
NS-D Pasquotank Elizabeth City Church Street Bike Boulevard 5-9
NS-E Pasquotank Elizabeth City Ehringhaus Street Corridor Improvements 5-11
NS-F Perquimans Hertford Hertford Greenway 5-13
NS-G Perquimans Hertford Church Street Bike Lane/ Sharrow 5-14
NS-H Camden County Dismal Swamp Greenway Extension 5-15

Code County Location Project Description Page #
OBX-A Dare Manteo US 64 Sharrow/ Bike Lane 5-20
OBX-B Dare Nags Head/Kitty 

Hawk/Kill Devil Hills
US 158 Corridor Improvements 5-21

OBX-C Dare Buxton NC 12 Sidepath/ Bike Lane 5-23
OBX-D Dare Duck NC 12 Cycle Track 5-24
OBX-E Dare Nags Head Memorial Avenue Bike Boulevard 5-25
OBX-F Currituck Corolla Lighthouse Drive Signed Route 5-27
OBX-G Dare Southern Shores Dogwood Trail Bike Boulevard 5-28
OBX-H Dare County Colington Road Cycle Track 5-29

Code County Location Project Description Page #
SS-A Hyde Engelhard US 264 Bike Lane 5-16
SS-B Tyrrell Columbia US 64 Sidepath 5-17
SS-C Washington Plymouth US 64 Sidepath 5-18
SS-D Washington Plymouth Water Street/Park Drive Sharrow/ Bike Lane 5-19

179



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-7  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

a: Main street- gatesville
Main Street in Gatesville is a wide corridor with non-
delineated—and largely underutilized—on-street 
parking. The parallel parking spaces are mainly 
used by the funeral home. Numerous homes front 
the corridor and have individual driveways. The 
recommended improvement is to restripe the corridor 
to add bicycle lanes, which could occur without 
changing the existing curb and gutter.

Extents and Facility Type: 
Gatesville Elementary School to 
Town limits: Bicycle Lane (Stripe)

Length: 0.9 miles

Traffic Volumes: Up to 3,200 
AADT (Average Annual Daily 
Traffic)

Overview and Purpose: Main Street serves various 
municipal and civic uses and provides access to 
the downtown area and Gatesville Elementary. The 
width of the travel lanes and excess on-street parking 
could be redistributed to bicyclists through a low-
cost restriping exercise. Two options are presented in 
the photosimulations below. The first option removes 
parking from both sides of the street and adds buffered 
bicycle lanes. The second option consolidates the 
parking to the southbound side to provide room for 
bicycle lanes. The second option requires narrow (9’) 
travel lanes. Community input and feedback from 
NCDOT is needed to determine whether parking is 
necessary between Maple Street and Court Street.

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $198,000 (assumes 
the full removal of on-street parking as shown in Option 
A).

North of 
Sound

Option A: After Option B: After

Before

180



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-8 

b: CaratOke highway- MOyOCk 
NC 168, known as Caratoke Highway, is an 
important route between North Carolina 
and Virginia, and an evacuation route 
for the Outer Banks. The highway is also 
the primary route within the small town of 
Moyock. Currently, NC 168 is not suitable 
for bicycle travel due to high traffic 
volumes, speeding vehicles, and a lack 
of bicycle facilities. The recommended 
treatment is a sidepath along the 
highway with intersection improvements 
at Camellia Road.

Extents and Facility Type: Shingle 
Landing Road to Powells Lane: Sidepath 

Length: 1.3 miles

Traffic Volumes: Up to 21,000 AADT

Overview and Purpose: The sidepath is 
recommended to the south, with special considerations 
at Camellia Drive. Issues and constraints include limited 
right-of-way, utilities, numerous driveway conflicts, 

and a stream crossing that will require a bridge and 
guardrail. Paved shoulders and a multi-use trail near 
Moyock Elementary School will complete the local 
network. 

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $981,250 (excludes 
cost of secondary multi-use trail north of school; 
excludes paved shoulder improvements).

181



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-9  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

C: brOad street- edentOn 
Broad Street is one of the main entrances into historic 
Edenton and provides access to the downtown area, 
waterfront, and a variety of civic and retail uses. The 
corridor transitions from a more suburban four-lane 
section north of Church Street to an urban section with 
on-street parking. The corridor is also heavily traveled 
by local bicyclists. The recommended treatments are 
bicycle lanes or sharrows combined with streetscape 
and parking improvements.

Extents and Facility Type: Water Street to Church 
Street: Sharrow; Church Street to Virginia Avenue: 
Bicycle Lane (Road Diet); Virginia Avenue to Oakum 
Street: Bicycle Lane (Stripe)

Length: 1.3 miles

Traffic Volumes: Up to 7,800 AADT

Overview and Purpose: The purpose of this 
project is to blend improvements to the bicycle 
network with an enhanced gateway to the historic 
district. A recommended road diet would reduce the 
four-lane section north of Church Street to a two-lane 
divided section with bicycle lanes. South of Church 
Street, sharrows are recommended to enhance the 
awareness of motorists to bicycle traffic and to help 
direct bicyclists to the safest area of the travel lane. 
The safety of bicyclists would be further enhanced 
with back-in angled parking, which provides motorists 
with better vision of bicyclists and pedestrians as they 
exit a parking space. 

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $346,438 (restripe 
includes 0.3 miles of conversion to back-in angle 
parking; excludes cost of landscaped median 
for potential 2-lane divided road diet; excludes 
improvements to side streets).

North of 
Sound

Before After

182



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-10 

After

Broad Street - Downtown Segment

183



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-11  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

d: ChurCh street - elizabeth City 
Church Street is a parallel route to Ehringhaus Street 
and Main Street. It connects the waterfront and 
downtown Elizabeth City with Hughes Boulevard 
(US 17 Business) by traveling through established 
residential areas and the historic district. Given the 
safety concerns for bicycle travel on Ehringhaus 
Street, Church Street was identified as a candidate 
for a bicycle boulevard. 

Extents and Facility Type: Hughes Boulevard to 
Water Street: Bicycle Boulevard 

Length: 1.3 miles

Traffic Volumes: No Data

Overview and Purpose: The recommended 
bicycle boulevard would make Church Street more 
attractive and visible for bicyclists while minimizing the 
travel speeds of motor vehicles.  Signage would direct 

bicyclists from Ehringhaus Street and other roads to the 
corridor.  Improvements at intersections such as mini 
traffic circles can help slow traffic and emphasize the 
priority of bicycle travel on Church Street. Issues and 
constraints include a narrow cross section (especially 
east of Road Street), in-street stormwater drains, 
numerous driveways, and non-delineated parallel 
parking. The bicycle boulevard could be enhanced 
by striping parking on one side. The exhibit shows 
potential plans for signage and pavement markings 
and identifies locations where traffic calming circles 
are appropriate. The signage plan also indicates 
destination points to increase accessibility.  

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $146,740

North of 
Sound

TYPICAL STREET SECTION - CHURCH STREET (ELIZABETH CITY)
WESTBOUND VIEW

Typical Cross-Section

184



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-12 

Church Street, Elizabeth City

185



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-13  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

e: ehringhaus street - elizabeth City 
More than 20,000 vehicles per day travel Ehringhaus 
along its trek from downtown to US 17 and points west. 
The heavily commercialized corridor typically is a five-
lane section with extensive driveway cuts, heavy traffic 
volumes, and large amounts of turning traffic. These 
features combine to make the corridor inhospitable 
to bicycle traffic and in need of improvements. 

Extents and Facility Type: Hughes Boulevard to 
Water Street: Corridor Improvements 

Length: 2.0 miles

Traffic Volumes: Up to 20,000 AADT

Overview and Purpose: Many cyclist crashes have 
occured along this corridor, demonstrating the need 
for bicycle safety improvements.The complexity of the 
land use and transportation dynamics along the two-
mile corridor are beyond the scope of a regional bicycle 
plan. As a result, a transportation and land use corridor 
study is needed to consider how redevelopment and 
strategic enhancements can improve multimodal 
operations. Throughout the full length of the corridor, 
appropriate improvements may include restriping for 
wide outside lanes, consolidating driveways, installing 
a plantable median, intersection enhancements, and 
signage. The exhibit at right describes best practices 
for access management including an inset that shows 
a simplified representation of potential treatments. 
Improvements to Ehringhaus Street do not negate the 

need for the adoption of Church Street as a bicycle 
boulevard. Each of these two roadways will attract 
different cyclist types.

Planning Level Cost Estimate: TBD (based 
on outcome of corridor-based land use and 
transportation study)

North of 
Sound

186



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-14 

Ehringhaus Street, Elizabeth City

187



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-15  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

f: greenway - hertfOrd
The Perquimans County Recreation Center on 
the banks of the Perquimans River is a significant 
community resource. To encourage an active lifestyle 
and to provide safe travel separated from traffic 
between the recreation center and downtown, a 
series of multi-use trails are recommended. These trails 
include greenways on independent alignments and 
sidepaths along Church Street.

Extents and Facility Type: King Street to Shopping 
Center south of US 17: Greenway

Length: 2.4 miles

Traffic Volumes: Not Applicable

Overview and Purpose: The recommended 
network of multi-use trails will connect the heart of 
Hertford, including Perquimans County High School, 
with the community facilities at the Perquimans 
County Recreation Center. The network maximizes 
exposure to the Perquimans River east of US 17. West 
of US 17, the trail forms a sidepath along Church Street 
over the bridge just south of downtown before turning 
west and following the creekbed. 

Right-of-way acquisition will be required along the 
creekbed between Church Street and King Street. 
Right-of-way along Church Street typically is 60 
feet, though it expands to approximately 150 feet 
from White Street south across the bridge. Design 
challenges include limited right-of-way and driveway 
conflicts approaching US 17. The segment parallel to 
US 17 between Harvey Point Road and the shopping 
center will require special attention due to shoulder 
slope and setback requirements from the travel 
lanes. As an alternative, placement of the multi-use 
trail outside the existing right-of-way adjacent to the 
commercial property may be preferable.

The exhibit at left provides a cross-section view on 
Church Street of the sidepath along the corridor with 
bicycle lanes. 

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $1,131,250 
(excludes loop trail to water or connection to 
recreation center; significant water crossing not 
included in cost estimate; additional contingency 
added to account for construction hardships).

North of 
Sound

TYPICAL STREET SECTION - S. CHURCH STREET (HERTFORD)
NORTHBOUND VIEW

Cross-Section at Church Street

188



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-16 

g: ChurCh street - hertfOrd
Church Street provides the southern gateway 
entrance to the historic downtown area from US 
17. Southeast of US 17, Harvey Point Road connects 
the core of the town with the Perquimans County 
Recreation Center and industrial park. To facilitate 
the safe on-street travel of bicyclists across the 
Town, a series of sharrows and bicycle lanes are 
recommended. The preferred treatment varies 
based on the existing cross section and character 
of the road. 

Extents and Facility Type: 
Church Street - Phelps Street to Winfall Boulevard: 
Sharrow, Grubb Street to Phelps Street: Bicycle Lane 
(Restripe), Grubb Street to White Street: Sharrow, 
White Street to South of Creek Bridge: Bicycle Lane 
(Restripe), South of Creek Bridge to US 17: Bicycle 
Lane (Restripe); Harvey Point Road - US 17 to 

Commerce Drive: Bicycle Lane (Restripe)

Length: 2.4 miles

Traffic Volumes: Up to 4,800  AADT

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $317,513

Overview and Purpose: Over the 
past decade, the Town of Hertford has 
seen renewed interest in development 
southeast of US 17. Connecting this 
growth (including commercial and 
industrial properties such as the 
Food Lion, residences, and a county 
park) to the historic downtown is a 
priority. The recommended on-street 
improvements offer cost-effective 
solutions that could be coupled 
with multi-use trails to provide 
adequate facilities for all users. The 
exhibit focuses on improvements at 
the intersection of Church Street/
Harvey Point Road and US 17 to 
show how the various facilities will 
interact. Constraints include limited 
right-of-way, the proximity of utilities, 
drainage/flooding concerns, and 
bridge crossings. In addition to the 
recommended facilities, additional 
signage is needed to indicate the 
route to the Perquimans County 
Recreation Center. 

189



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-17  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

h: greenway - disMal swaMP
Extents and Facility Type: Dismal Swamp Canal 
Welcome Center to Virginia state line: Greenway

Length: 3.5 miles

Traffic Volumes: Up to 11,000 AADT (US 17)

Purpose and Need: The Dismal Swamp Canal Trail 
Extension is a regionally significant greenway that will 
connect the existing Dismal Swamp Canal Trail to 
the Virginia state line, running parallel between US 
17 and the Dismal Swamp Canal. A feasibility study 
with 30% design plans was completed in 2011 for this 
segment. A separate project would extend the trail in 
Virginia 1.6 miles north from the state line to link with 
an 8.3-mile segment of existing trail that connects to 
Dominion Boulevard in Chesapeake. 

Background and History: Construction on the 
existing 3-mile trail began in 2001. From the trail’s 
southern terminus at NC 343, a 5-foot paved shoulder 
along NC 343 and Mullen Road provides access to 
South Mills. A feasibility study of the trail extension was 
completed in 2011. The study included a full survey 
from the Virginia line to the Welcome Center. Based 
on the survey, a route was mapped and 30% design 
documents developed.

Design Status: The route was designed to minimize 
tree removal while maintaining a safe buffer between 
the trail and travel lanes on US 17. At the Welcome 
Center, the trail meanders between the canal and 
the existing sidewalk to join the existing trailhead at its 
northern terminus. The proposed trail lies within NCDOT 
right-of-way and easement from the Welcome Center. 

At the Welcome Center, the route travels between 
the parking area and the Dismal Swamp Canal until it 
joins the existing trail. 

Environmental Concerns
Minimizing environmental impacts to the historic 
Dismal Swamp Canal and the surrounding area was 
a key consideration for the trail design developed 
as part of the feasibility study. The study notes that 
an Environmental Assessment (EA) will be required 
due to the trail’s proximity to the historic canal, the 
presence of endangered species in the area, and the 
placement of the trail on park property. In addition to 
minimizing the removal of vegetation, the trail design 
also warrants minimal grading and does not require 
retaining walls. 

Next Steps
The extension of the Dismal Swamp Canal Trail will 
add a critical link of what could become a 16.5-mile 
segment of greenway along the banks of the historic 
Dismal Swamp Canal. With assistance from the State 
of Virginia, the completed greenway will connect 
the Chesapeake area of Virginia to the Great Dismal 
Swamp Welcome Center and the Village of South 
Mills in North Carolina. With the right-of-way obtained 
and 30% design plan in hand, local stakeholders 
should continue to seek funding for environmental 
documentation, full design, and construction. 

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $1.6 million (from 
the Dismal Canal Trail Extension final report)

North of 
Sound

190



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-18 

a: us 264 - engelhard
US 264 carries up to 2,300 vehicles through the small 
fishing community of Engelhard on an average 
day. Despite being a rural outpost, Engelhard offers 
numerous community activity centers, including retail 
stores, a hotel, banks, and restaurants. The community 
also hosts a popular seafood festival each spring. 
The recommended treatment takes advantage of 
the wide 32’ cross section and creates bicycle lanes 
through a striping exercise. A small bridge over Far 
Creek on the eastern edge of the recommended 
corridor is a constraint.

Extents and Facility Type: Golden Street to 
Golden Street: Bicycle Lane (Stripe)

Length: 0.2 miles

Traffic Volumes: 900 - 1,100 AADT

Overview and Purpose: While pedestrians are 
accommodated with sidewalks and a boardwalk in 
Engelhard, bicyclists do not have a dedicated facility. 
The width of US 264 through the unincorporated 
community is sufficient to allow dedicated bicycle 
lanes through a low-cost striping exercise. The resulting 
facility will narrow the travel lanes to discourage 
speeding, further improving safety for bicyclists. The 
exhibit includes a cross section and photosimulation 
at the western edge of the proposed bicycle lane 
near the East Carolina Bank offices. The cross 
section also shows the existing boardwalk.

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $6,600

South of 
Sound

Before

After

TYPICAL STREET SECTION - US 264 (ENGELHARD)
EASTBOUND VIEW

Typical Cross-Section

191



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-19  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

b: sidePath - COluMbia
Columbia, the Hyde County seat 
on the banks of the Scuppernong 
River, sits halfway between 
Plymouth and Manteo. As the 
county seat, it accommodates 
numerous civic uses, including 
Columbia Middle School and 
county services. Columbia has a 
high rate of bicycle use due to 
its small, relatively compact town 
design and lower income profile. 
The recommended sidepath will 
provide a safer option for bicyclists 
traveling along US 64 between 
downtown and the town’s largest 
shopping center.

Extents and Facility Type: Water Street to 
LaKeiser Drive: Sidepath

Length: 0.8 miles

Traffic Volumes: Up to 8,600 AADT

Overview and Purpose: A sidewalk currently 
exists where the sidepath is recommended. The 
sidewalk should be widened to form a multi-use 
sidepath. The eastern terminus of the proposed 

sidepath is the Food Lion shopping center near 
LaKeiser Drive. From there, users can enjoy a 
dedicated facility on the westbound side of US 64 to 
the banks of the Scuppernong River. Construction 
of the sidepath will require consideration for right-
of-way constraints, utilities close to roadway, and 
major intersection crossings. The exhibit highlights 
the segment between Road Street and Main Street, 
showing the interaction of the proposed sidepath 

with a variety of on-street facilities (sharrows on 
Fonsoe and Road Streets and bicycle lanes on 
Main Street).

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $845,000 
(excludes improvements to side streets, including 
Main Street)

192



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-20 

C: sidePath - PlyMOuth
With traffic volumes on US 64 
exceeding 21,000 vehicles per day 
and a community that takes to the 
street on bicycle for everyday trips, 
creating safe bicycling options in 
Plymouth is a critical concern. US 64 
provides local access to Washington 
County Hospital, several shopping 
centers, and numerous restaurants. 
The recommended sidepaths on US 
64 between West Avenue and Main 
Street form the spine of an expanded 
on- and off-street bicycle network in 
Plymouth. 

Extents and Facility Type: West 
Avenue to Main Street: Sidepath

Length: 1.9 miles

Traffic Volumes: Up to 21,000 AADT

Overview and Purpose: The key connection 
along the corridor is the Food Lion near Washington 
County hospital. Given the high traffic volumes on 
US 64, concerns for speeding traffic, and limited 
signalized crossing opportunities, dual sidepaths 

are recommended. Sidepaths along both sides 
of the road will allow bicyclists and pedestrians to 
travel the full extent of the corridor and minimize the 
need for crossing at unsignalized locations. Design 
constraints include driveway conflicts, right-of-way 
constraints, and a lack of offset utilities. The exhibit 
shows a detailed view of the intersection of US 64 
and NC 32. It highlights the numerous driveway 

conflicts and shows supplemental facilities on NC 
32 (sharrows to the north and bicycle lanes to the 
south of the railroad).  

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $2,786,000 
(excludes multi-use trail (rail-to-trail conversion) 
north of US 64; excludes improvements to side 
streets; significant hardships expected).

Paint Sharrows

193



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-21  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

d: water street/Park drive - PlyMOuth
Bicycling activity in Plymouth was observed to be 
among the highest in the 10-county region. The 
downtown area boasts numerous activity centers 
and destinations of interest to bicyclists, including 
retail and civic uses typical of a small downtown as 
well as a bicycle shop, two schools, a hospital and 
the waterfront bicycle shop. When combined with 
the local demand for bicycling, these activity centers 
establish the area as a priority. The recommended 
network of on-street facilities in the downtown area 
includes bicycle lanes and sharrows depending on 
the existing cross section of the street. 

Extents and Facility Type: Park Drive/Martin Lane - 
Madison Street to Main Street: Bicycle Lane (Restripe); 
Water Street - Main Street to Madison Street: Sharrow 

Length: 0.9 miles

Traffic Volumes: No Data

Overview and Purpose: Using a combination 
of bicycle lanes and sharrows, the recommended 
treatments in Plymouth will create a continuous bicycle 
corridor through downtown. These improvements can 
be realized through a cost-effective striping exercise. 
The exhibits show a pair of photosimulations that 
illustrate existing and proposed conditions. At Park 
Drive near the Port O’ Plymouth Museum bicycle lanes 
and a centerline are added to the wide 32’ cross-
section. On Water Street in the heart of downtown, 
sharrows are recommended to direct bicyclists to the 
proper placement in the lane, a particularly important 
improvement due to the presence of parallel parking. 
It should be noted that drainage issues on Water Street 
may preclude striping bicycle lanes in that section, 
and coordination is needed with NCDOT.

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $18,975

South of 
Sound

Park Dr. Before Park Dr. After

Water St. Before

Water St. After

194



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-22 

a: us 64 business - ManteO
US 64 Business experiences 
heavy traffic volumes within 
constrained corridor boundaries 
while serving as an important 
link in the bicycle network for 
the Town and Dare County. The 
recommended improvement is on-
street bicycle markings combined 
with streetscape and corridor 
improvements such as median 
installation, driveway consolidation, 
signage control, corridor branding, 
and aesthetic enhancements.

Outer 
Banks

Russe
ll T

wifo
rd Rd

Construct paved 
shoulders

Extents and Facility Type
Harriot Street to Patty Lane: Sharrow; Patty Lane 
to US 64/US 264: Sharrow (or Bicycle Lane Restripe)

Length: 1.4 miles

Traffic Volumes: Up to 17,000 AADT

Overview and Purpose: US 64 Business provides 
the spine for the commercial, cultural, and 
recreational heart of Manteo. Key connections 
include three schools (Manteo High School, Dare 
County Alternative High School, and Manteo 

Elementary School), College of the Albemarle 
Dare campus, Dare County Library, Roanoke 
Island Festival Park, civic buildings, and a local 
bicycle shop. The striping exercise represents a 
low cost opportunity to raise awareness to the 
presence of bicyclists along this route. Streetscape 
improvements will provide predictability to 
vehicular traffic, minimize conflicts between 
cyclists and motor vehicles, and enhance the 
visual appeal of the corridor. Improvements 
must occur within the existing boundaries of the 

corridor, as corridor regulations prohibit changes 
to the sidewalks and street trees. The exhibit 
focuses on improvements to the intersection of US 
64/US 264 and US 64 Business.

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $42,550 
(excludes multi-use trail along US 64/264).

195



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-23  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

b: us 158 - kitty hawk/kill devil hills/
nags head
US 158 bears the weight of local access and regional 
mobility. Locally, the corridor serves as the commercial 
and residential lifeline for Kitty Hawk, Kill Devil Hills, and 
Nags Head. It also provides critical mobility for regional 
trips and during evacuations. US 158 is designated as 
a boulevard in need of upgrade as part of the state’s 
Strategic Highway Network. Several issues make the 
corridor dangerous for bicycle travel: high traffic 
volumes, unpredictable automobile movements, an 
inconsistent bicycle network, and limited safe crossing 
opportunities.

Extents and Facility Type: Byrd Street (Kitty Hawk) 
to Washington-Baum Bridge (Nags Head): Corridor 
Improvements

Length: 18.3 miles

Traffic Volumes: Up to 27,000 AADT

Overview and Purpose: US 158 provides access 
to numerous activity centers (e.g. the Wright Brothers 
National Memorial and Jockey’s Ridge State Park) 
as well as the majority of the beach’s commercial 
properties and residences. Many cyclist crashes have 
occurred along the corridor, indicating a need to 
address bicycle safety. A comprehensive corridor 
study is needed to understand fully the existing 
conditions, future concerns for multimodal travel, and 
potential countermeasures. The likely outcome of the 

corridor study would be an engineering approach 
toward filling gaps in the existing sidepath, adding 
non-traversable medians, consolidating driveways, 
and improving intersections. The exhibit describes 
best practices for access management including 
an inset that highlights issues and best practices in 
action for a roadway segment representative of the 
corridor at large. The recommended corridor study 
could be funded through a joint effort between the 
municipalities and the RPO.

Planning Level Cost Estimate: TBD based 
on outcome of corridor-based land use and 
transportation study.

Outer 
Banks

196



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-24 

US 158, Outer Banks

197



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-25  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

C: nC 12 - buxtOn
NC 12 is the primary route for all of Hatteras Island 
and is a National Scenic Byway.  It provides access 
to Cape Hatteras National Seashore, downtown 
Buxton retail, and civic uses including Cape 
Hatteras High School. Detailed recommendations 
for pedestrian improvements were provided in a 

2012 Feasibility Study of the corridor (FS-1001A) 
based on thorough stakeholder engagement 
and analysis.  The recommendations of that study 
should be implemented. There are  a few additions 
to those recommendations proposed here to 
ensure that the corridor accomodates as broad a 
range of bicyclists and pedestrians as possible. 

Extents and Facility Type: Buxton Back Road 
to Buxton Village border:  Sidepath and Bicycle 
Lane (Restripe).

Length: 0.7 miles

Traffic Volumes: Up to 9,500 AADT

Recommendations: Feasibility Study 1001A 
recommends widening the travel lanes to 15’ 
each, with 12’ lanes, 3’ paved shoulder for 

cyclists, and 5’ sidewalks indicated for both 
cyclists and pedestrians (therefore functioning as 
sidepaths). This plan recommends that 10’ lanes 
be considered during design and implementation 
of this project to accomodate full 5’ bike lanes 
that will attract more users. These bike lanes 
are especially important given the constrained 
right-of-way that prevents wider sidepaths. If 
right-of-way does allow it in any locations, the 

sidepaths should be widened beyond 5’ to better 
accomodate multiple user types.

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $4,250,000 
(from Feasibility Study 1001A).

198



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-26 

d: nC 12 - duCk
Over the past decade, the communities on NC 12 
north of US 158 have made significant improvements 
to the bicycle and pedestrian network, including 
sidepaths and bicycle lanes. In Duck, the sidepath 
dissolves into a pair of buffered paved shoulders shared 
by pedestrians and cyclists. During the peak tourist 
season, these shared lanes are highly congested. The 
recommended treatment links the sidepaths at either 
end of town by consolidating the paved shoulders 
into an on-street, buffered multi-use sidepath on the 
northbound side of the road. 

Extents and Facility Type: North of Barrier Island 
Station to existing trail south of Scarborough Lane: 
Sidepath

Length: 1.1 miles

Traffic Volumes: Up to 10,000 AADT

Overview and Purpose: The sidepaths on either 
side of town transition to bicycle lanes and create 
crossing concerns. The existing design also fails to 
provide a comfortable environment for all users. 

The recommended improvement shifts the current 
buffered bike lanes/shared paths to the northbound 
side of the road, creating a multi-use trail along the 
roadbed that matches the existing sidepaths at the 
town edges. The treatment is largely a restriping exercise 
within the existing pavement, though additional 
shoulder may be required in some locations. Bollards 
are recommended to alert motorists of the potential 
presence of bicyclists and pedestrians. Other barriers 
were considered but ultimately not selected because 
of their cost and impact on stormwater flow.

Design considerations should include 
intersection and driveway breaks, limited right-
of-way, and the constrained cross-section at 
the northern end. Bicycle- and pedestrian-
friendly crossings at intersections and 
destination points also should be emphasized. 
The exhibit shows a photosimulation and cross 
section of the proposed treatment. 

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $316,250

Outer 
Banks

Before

After
Typical Cross-Section

199



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-27  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

Outer 
Banks

e: MeMOrial avenue - nags head
Memorial Avenue is a parallel route to US 158 and NC 
12 in Nags Head. The 2.1-mile corridor mostly traverses 
a residential area with individual driveway access 
throughout its extents. An emerging gallery district 
exists near Gallery Row and Driftwood Street. Because 
US 158 is not well suited for bicycle travel, bicyclists 
should be encouraged to use Memorial Avenue. The 
recommended bicycle boulevard would make the 
route more attractive and visible for bicyclists while 
attempting to minimize cut-through vehicular traffic. 
Memorial Avenue is discontinued for one block, so the 
bicycle boulevard diverts to a signed route at Bladen 
Street.

Extents and Facility Type: Eighth Street to 
Hollowell Street: Bicycle Boulevard 

Length: 2.1 miles

Traffic Volumes: No Data

Overview and Purpose: The Memorial Avenue 
Bicycle Boulevard is designed to make the route 
an attractive alternative to bicyclists. The intent is to 
encourage bicycle travel along Memorial Avenue 
while discouraging through trips of excessive speeds 
by automobiles. The conversion requires new signage, 
pavement markings, and improved intersections. 
The exhibit shows potential plans for signage and 
pavement markings while also identifying locations 
where stop signs along Memorial Avenue should be 

oriented to the side streets and where intersection 
should be retrofitted with traffic calming features. 
The signage plan also indicates destination points 
to increase accessibility.  Future plans for the Gallery 
District should include the bicycle boulevard concept.

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $199,788 (assumes 
improvements to Memorial Avenue and Barnes Street 
as shown in exhibit)

200



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-28 

Memorial Avenue, Nags Head

 Proposed Signed Route

201



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-29  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

f: lighthOuse drive - COrOlla
Lighthouse Drive nearly stretches the full 
length of Corolla and provides a parallel 
option to NC 12. The facility is a low volume 
residential street extending 3.6 miles from 
north to south. The corridor is suitable for 
a signed bicycle route, which typically is 
designated along residential streets with 
lower traffic volumes and where additional 
roadway width is not possible or warranted. 

Extents and Facility Type: Shad Street, 
Lighthouse Drive, and Albacore Street: 
Signed Route

Length: 3.6 miles

Traffic Volumes: No Data

Overview and Purpose: Lighthouse Road 
is a low volume corridor near the beach 
that is conducive to additional bicycle 
traffic. However, signage is needed to direct 
cyclists to this corridor from NC 12. Concerns 
along the route include residential uses 
with numerous driveways, poor drainage, 
trashcans in the roadway, and limited right-
of-way. However, as a low volume, low 
speed corridor, bicyclists should be able to 
blend with traffic. The exhibit shows standard 
bike route signs with directional arrows where 
necessary. This signage can be designed in 
accordance with Corolla’s 2013 wayfinding 
project.

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $9,504

202



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-30 

g: dOgwOOd trail - sOuthern 
shOres
South Dogwood Trail and East 
Dogwood Trail create a 3.3-mile 
parallel route to NC 12 through 
Southern Shores and bordering the 
Duck Woods Country Club. The 
corridor is an attractive alternative 
for north and southbound bicyclists 
given its lower traffic volumes 
in comparison to NC 12. The 
recommended construction of a 
sidepath  is intended to facilitate 
safer bicycle travel north of US 158.

Extents and Facility Type: US 
158/Croatan Highway to Ocean 
Boulevard: Sidepath

Length: 3.3 miles

 Traffic Volumes: No Data

Overview and Purpose: An existing sidepath 
extends nearly one mile north from the intersection 
of South Dogwood Trail and US 158/Croatan 
Highway to just beyond Ginguite Trail. The 
completion of a sidepath along Dogwood Trail 
would require widening (if feasible - the current 

path is functionally a sidewalk) and extending the 
existing path an additional 2.3 miles. Existing right-
of-way should be sufficient, though construction 
likely would require the removal of trees and 
shrubbery. Design constraints include two narrow 
bridges (one on South Dogwood Trail 180 feet 
north of Fairway Drive and one on East Dogwood 

Trail 350 feet east of its terminus with South 
Dogwood Trail) and driveway conflicts.  For the 
Regional Bicycle Plan, special consideration was 
given to the intersection of Dogwood Trail and US 
158. The exhibit illustrates these improvements.

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $2,366,000

Widen existing sidepath to 10’ where feasible

203



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

5-31  [Priority & Demonstration Projects]

h: COlingtOn rOad - dare COunty
Colington Road is often cited as a critical—and 
overlooked—corridor on the Outer Banks. More than 
8,000 residents in the Colington area depend on the 
road to reach US 158. NCDOT was exploring options 
to widen the corridor as of spring 2013, which includes 
a few alternatives for bicycle facilities. This plan’s 
recommended treatment is a multi-use sidepath on 
the westbound side of the corridor.  

Extents and Facility Type: Kill Devil Hills to End of 
Colington Drive: Sidepath

Length: 3.9 miles

Traffic Volumes: No Data

Overview and Purpose: Many bicyclists feel 
more comfortable being separated from traffic. A 
delineated sidepath on Colington Road as shown 
in the photosimulation would establish a dedicated 

facility on the westbound side of the road for both 
bicyclists and pedestrians.  The residents of Colington 
Road have expressed their desire for a fully separated 
facility, and this recommendation aims to create 
as much separation as possible given the corridor’s 
constraints. Issues and constraints include significantly 
constrained right-of-way, sharp curves, wetlands, 
driveway openings, bridge crossings, and poor 
drainage. These constraints are detailed in the exhibit 
and would require community involvement during 
planning and design. 

If the constraints associated with this recommendation 
are not overcome in time for near-term roadway work, 
paved shoulders should be provided at a minimum as 
a temporary measure.

Planning Level Cost Estimate: $5,265,000 
(Additional contingency added to account for 
construction hardships)

Outer 
Banks

Before After

204



2013

[Priority & Demonstration Projects]  5-32 

Colington Road, Dare County

Colington Drive
This road is privately owned, so residents 
should determine if a bicycle connection 
to the sidepath is desired and seek fund-
ing directly if so.

205



6-1  [Programs and Policies]

Sidepath construction along US 158 in Nags 
Head, NC

206



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-2 

Programs and Policies
Chapter 6

Overview
Infrastructure alone wil not expand bicycling in 
the Albemarle Region. Programs and policies are 
additional critical elements that encourage and 
support bicycling activity.  The development of a 
more bicycle-friendly culture requires diverse efforts 
throughout a given region, and the Albemarle Region 
has many local, regional, and national resources from 
which to draw. This section identifies opportunities and 
resources for bicycle programs and policies.

PrOgrams intrOductiOn
Targeted education, encouragement, enforcement, 
and evaluation strategies improve residents’ health, 
safety, and their ability to incorporate bicycling 
into everyday life. Consequently, they support the 
development and use of physical infrastructure. Visitors 
to the Albemarle region will also benefit from the 
implementation of such programs, which will target 
all potential cyclists and motorists. A program may be 
presented as a campaign, on-going initiative, or one-
time event, depending on its purpose. In essence, 
these different efforts market bicycling to the general 
public and ensure the maximum return on investment 
in bicycling facilities in the form of increased mode 

shift to bicycling.

This section provides recommendations in each of 
the four “E” categories - Education, Enforcement, 
Encouragement, and Evaluation - that will support 
the goals of the Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan. 
(Engineering, the fifth “E”, is addressed through 
the infrastructure recommendations of Chapter 
Four.) These initiatives can be undertaken by local 
agencies, regional organizations, community 
organizations, or by any combination of partnerships 
between such agencies and organizations. Program 
recommendations were developed with the guidance 
of the project’s Steering Committee and were based 
on the following inputs:

• knowledge about existing programs in the region;
• the Vision, Goals, and Objectives for this plan; and
• stated community needs and concerns (as 

communicated through public outreach and 
engagement activities and discussions at Steering 
Committee meetings).

Chapter Contents

Overview

Programs 
Introduction

Program 
Recommendations

Policies

Camden 
County, North 
Carolina Unified 
Development 
Ordinance Review

207



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-3  [Programs and Policies]

educatiOn 
Providing educational opportunities is critical for 
increasing bicycling across the Albemarle region. 
Education programs should span all age groups, 
cultures, abilities, and population groups, and 
they should include motorists as well as current 
and potential cyclists. The focus of an educational 
campaign can range from information about the 
rights and responsibilities of road users to tips for safe 
behavior; from awareness of the area-wide benefits of 
bicycling to technical trainings for local agency staff. 
Educational programs for decision-makers, such as 
engineering and planning staff, raise the level of local 
expertise. They develop the skill sets needed to design 
and construct state of the art bikeways, walkways, 
and greenways for the short- and long-term future of 
the bicycling environment at the local and regional 
levels.

encOuragement 
Encouragement programs are critical for promoting 
and increasing bicycling. These programs should 
address all ages, abilities, and user groups including 
school age children, young adults, college students, 
working adults, and seniors. They should also address 
both recreational and utilitarian cycling.

According to a 2008 survey by the National Highway 
Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA), “Seventy-
one percent of Americans said they would like 

to bicycle more than they do now.” As bicycle 
infrastructure improvements are made, communities 
in the Albemarle region must simultaneously develop 
targeted strategies for encouraging bicycling and 
communicate information about safe and inviting 
places to bicycle. Encouragement programs that 
promote transportation and recreation choices and 
healthy, active lifestyles will help to develop a more 
bicycle-friendly region.

enfOrcement & evaluatiOn
According to the Alliance for Biking and Walking, North 
Carolina ranks 41st out of the 50 states for pedestrian 
safety and 44th for bicycling safety. Enforcement and 
evaluation initiatives are critical to ensure that both 
motorists and bicyclists are obeying the laws and that 
facilities are consistently monitored and maintained. 
Both initiatives serve as a means to educate and 
protect all users. The goal of enforcement is for 
bicyclists and motorists to recognize and respect 
each other’s rights on the roadway. In many cases, 
officers and citizens do not fully understand state 
and local laws for motorists and bicyclists, making 
targeted education an important component of 
every enforcement effort. Enforcement programs 
improve bicyclists’ safety and perceptions of safety. 

208



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-4 

PrOgram recOmmendatiOns
Each program recommendation presented in this 
section includes the following information:

• the “E” categories (Education, Enforcement, 
Encouragement, and Evaluation) that the 
program supports,

• the purpose of the program,
• a description of the basic approach, and
• key partners for implementation.

safe rOutes tO schOOl 
“E” Categories: Education, Encouragement

Purpose: Promote physical fitness and health by 
helping children walk and bicycle to school; improve 
school traffic safety through physical improvements 
and programs.

Audience: School-aged children and their parents; 
school administrators, faculty, and staff

Partners: School districts, parent-teacher associations, 
municipalities, health partners (Gates Partners for 
Health, Three Rivers Healthy Carolinians, Albemarle 
Regional Health Services), community members, local 
Eat Smart Move More Coalitions, Albemarle Rural 
Planning Organization (RPO)

Safe Routes to School programs use a “5 Es” 
approach (Engineering, Education, Encouragement, 

Enforcement, and Evaluation) to improve safety and 
encourage children to walk and bicycle to school. 
The programs are usually run by a partnership of 
city government, teachers, school officials, parents, 
students, and neighbors.

In a rural environment, a majority of school trips are too 
long for students to make the entire trip by bicycling. 
In these areas, the focus should be on creative efforts 
to help schoolchildren increase their physical activity 
in other ways. This focus lends itself 
ideally to working with public health 
partners, who also see increasing 
youth physical activity as a major 
goal.

For example, in a Park and Bike 
campaign, children are dropped 
off at a pre-determined location 
near the school, such as a park, and 
then bicycle the remaining distance 
with parent volunteers or school staff. Park and Bike 
campaigns can reduce congestion and improve 
traffic safety near schools while increasing youth 
physical activity. Teachers also report that children 
who bike to school arrive awake and “ready to learn.” 
Likewise, a Safe Routes to Bus Stops program can help 
children safely access bus transportation by bicycling.

International Walk to School Day in October is an 
excellent annual event that offers all families and 

 Safe Routes To School 
International Walk to School Day

209



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-5  [Programs and Policies]

children the opportunity to participate in healthy 
school transportation.  Greenville, NC’s Walk to 
School Day has one of the highest participation 
rates in the state and could be looked at as a 
model Walk to School Day event that promotes 
year-round physical activity.  Walk to School 
Day does not have to be limited to encouraging 
children to walk; children who wish to bicycle 
to school can be encouraged to bike, and 
resources like bicycle-train chaperones can 
be made available. The campaign is led by an 
ongoing partnership between public health 
nonprofits, county school districts, PTAs, and other 
agencies.

A major next step towards creating safer active 
travel opportunities for schoolchildren is to create 
a Safe Routes to School Plan for every elementary 
school in the Albemarle region. This will necessarily 
be a coalition effort that may be eligible for grant 
funding through the North Carolina Department 
of Transportation’s (NCDOT) Safe Routes to 
School program. (Note: Because of the uncertain 
outlook for this federally-funded program, it is 
recommended that other regional and local 
funding sources be considered as well. For a full 
list of potential funding sources, see Appendix E.)

Sample Programs: 

• Partners for Active Living Walk to School Day 

Program (Spartanburg, SC): http://www.active-
living.org/Walk-to-School-Day.html

• Atlanta Charter Middle School Safe Routes 
Travel Plan (Atlanta, GA): http://www.
atlantachartermiddle.com/content/safe-routes-
school.php

• Marin County National Model Program: http://
www.saferoutestoschools.org/index.shtml 

• Walking School Bus and Park and Walk Programs 
(Windsor, VT): http://www.saferoutesinfo.org/
data-central/success-stories/windsor-vermont-
parent-volunteers-lead-walking-school-buses-
forward

• Ira B. Jones School Walking to School Program 
(Asheville, NC): http://www.saferoutesinfo.org/
data-central/success-stories/asheville-north-
carolina-encouraging-walking-and-wheeling-
school-wide

OPen streets events (ciclOvias)
“E” Category: Encouragement

Purpose: Encourage bicycling in a community by 
periodically closing a street to automobile traffic and 
creating a safe and inviting place for cyclists of all 
abilities to bike. 

Audience: General public, tourists, local communities

Partners: Municipal and County Parks and Recreation 
Departments, Police Departments, Cycle Speedway, 

Photos from Safe Routes 
To School Program - 
Marin County, CA

210



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-6 

River City Cycling Club, other cycling clubs, tourism 
and business groups (Currituck County Visitors Center, 
Greater Tyrrell County Chamber of Commerce, 
Outer Banks Visitors Bureau, Tyrrell County Ecotourism 
Committee), local merchants/business leaders

Open street events have many names: Sunday 
Parkways, Ciclovias, Summer Streets, and Sunday 
Streets. The events are periodic street “openings” (i.e., 
“open” to users besides cars), usually on Sundays, that 
create a temporary park open to the public for walking, 
bicycling, dancing, hula-hooping, roller-skating, and 
other non-motorized activities. They have been very 
successful internationally and are rapidly becoming 
popular in the United States. Open street events 
promote health by creating a safe and attractive 
space for physical activity and social contact, are 
cost-effective compared to new parks for the same 
purpose, and are generally well-attended. Events can 
be held in all communities in the Albemarle region as 
weekly events or one-time occasions.

Resources:

• The Open Streets Project http:// 
openstreetsproject.org/ 

• Portland Sunday Parkways: http://www.
portlandonline.com/Transportation/index. 
cfm?c=46103 

 » http://www.streetfilms.org/portlands-sunday-
parkways/  (video)

Bicycling tOurs and maPs
“E” Category: Encouragement

Purpose: Encourage biking by highlighting bicycling 
routes and destinations.

Audience: General public, tourists

Partners: County and municipal planners and GIS 
technicians, businesses, local advocates and tourism 
agencies (Tyrrell County Ecotourism Committee), 
Chambers of Commerce (Greater Tyrrell County 
Chamber of Commerce, Outer Banks Visitors Bureau, 
Currituck County Visitors Center), Albemarle RPO, 
Cycle Speedway, River City Cycling Club, other 
cycling groups

One of the most effective ways of encouraging people 
to bike is through the use of guided tours, marked 
tour routes, or brochure guides describing enjoyable 
routes and destinations for bicycling. One regional 
map should be developed for each of the subregions 
studied in the Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan to show 
the location of existing safe and enjoyable routes for 
bicycling. Ideally, each community subregion would 
collaborate to help the RPO develop the subregional 
maps, which would be supplemented by more 
detailed local maps of communities in the region. 
Maps should be printed as needed and actively 
distributed to residents and visitors; they should also 
be updated on a regular basis as new facilities are 

 Open Streets event 
- New York City

211



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-7  [Programs and Policies]

implemented (every five years or less).  

As a next step, local partners in each subregion could 
collaborate to create one or more guided tour routes 
based on popular local themes, such as local history, 
arts and crafts, agriculture, etc. Live tours should be 
hosted by knowledgeable tour guides (annually or 
more frequently as demand permits) and publicized 
widely.  The tour routes should be preserved in a 
brochure and a self-guided (e.g., iPod-based) tour as 
well so that people can participate even if they are 
unable to attend the live, guided tour.  For example, the 
residents and merchants in and around the “Gallery 
Row” area in Nags Head could develop, participate 
in, and market a tour of their neighborhood area.

Area universities, agencies, merchants, and historical 
societies may be willing to support this effort by 
helping with historic and cultural research; some may 
also be willing to supply local information and images 
to be used in tour materials. Local merchants along 
the tour route would likely be able to help publicize 
and market the schedule for the guided tours and the 
resources for the self-guided tours. 

Sample Guided Walks and Maps: 

• Des Moines (IA) Region Trails Map: http://www.
dsmbikecollective.org/dmbcfiles/maps/DM_
Complete.pdf 

• Wilsonville (OR) Walking Route Maps: http://www.

ridesmart.com/Index.aspx?page=190
• Bedford County  (PA) Walking Tours: http://www.

visitbedfordcounty.com/walkingtours.html
• Austin  (TX) Historic Walking Tours: http://www.

austintexas.org/visitors/plan_your_trip/historic_
walking_tours

• Charleston (SC) Route Book: http://coastalcyclists.
org/maps/routebooksample.pdf (sample route)

Bicycle needs checklist
“E” Categories: Enforcement/Evaluation

Purpose: Promote the importance of integrating 
bicycle facilities into the design phase of projects.

Audience: Developers, Chambers of Commerce, 
RPO staff, county staff, municipal staff

Partners: RPO staff, county staff, municipal staff

Each municipality in the Albemarle region should 
create a bicycle needs checklist as an additional 
phase in the project design and site plan review 
process. A bicycle needs checklist would ensure full 
participation and timely review by planning and 
engineering staff during the development of new 
projects that have the potential to benefit cyclists. The 
checklist would include bicycle-related amenities, 
such as bicycle parking, at intermodal facilities and 
any existing or future park & ride facilities. There are 
many examples of checklists available online in the 

Historic Walking Tours - 
Austin, TX

212



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-8 

form of “Complete Streets” checklists, and there is 
an opportunity for incorporating a bicycle needs 
checklist into the review process for new development 
or redevelopment projects in each community.

Elements from the example checklists below should 
be considered by each community in the region: 

• http://www.seattle.gov/transportation/compSt_
how.htm

• http://www.mtc.ca.gov/planning/
bicyclespedestrians/routine_accommodations.
htm

• www.state.nj.us/transportation/capital/pd/
documents/CompleteStreetsChecklist.doc

rural Bicycle tOurism OPPOrtunity 
analysis
“E” Categories: Education, Encouragement

Purpose: Create and promote opportunities for 
bicycle-oriented tourism; support communities as they 
seek to define themselves as a good place for bicycle 
tourism.

Audience: Bicycle tourists, visitors who enjoy 
recreational cycling

Partners: Municipalities, tourism agencies (Tyrrell 
County Ecotourism Committee), Chambers of 
Commerce (Greater Tyrrell County Chamber of 
Commerce, Outer Banks Visitors Bureau, Currituck 

County Visitors Center), other business groups 

More and more rural communities are looking to tourism 
as a priority within their economic development plans, 
and cycle tourism is a popular and growing niche. 
Rural communities often have unique assets to 
offer visitors as bicyclists seek open spaces, lightly 
traveled roads, and the intimate experience 
that only small towns can provide.  Efficiently 
identifying opportunities and creating targeted 
marketing plans can help a rural town or county 
become a bicycling destination and reap the 
benefits of this low-impact, sustainable tourism 
segment.

Interested communities and organizations in the 
Albemarle region should convene a working 
group to complete an opportunity analysis 
and action plan for fostering cycle tourism. The 
working group should start by educating themselves 
about the market sector (what cycle tourists want; 
submarkets within the overall niche and how they 
differ; demographics of cycle tourists) and develop 
a shared understanding of the benefits of bicycle 
tourism to communities. Next, the group should 
analyze current assets, current challenges, potential 
improvements, and current and potential partners. 
The presence of inns or bed and breakfasts could 
be an asset to the development of this program as 
connections between lodging and destinations 
would be important to the success of this program.  

 Rural Tourism
- Bike/Run Central Texas

213



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-9  [Programs and Policies]

An action plan should be created to prioritize efforts 
that will make the biggest difference, followed by 
a media outreach strategy to market the region to 
potential bicycle tourists.

Sample program: Copperas Cove (TX) Bike/Run 
Central Texas: http://copperascove.com/bike-run/ 

PrOfessiOnal develOPment cOurses
“E” Categories: Education, Enforcement, Evaluation

Purpose: Educate and train planners and engineers 
on bicycle facility design and policy issues.

Audience: Professionals in planning, engineering, 
landscape architecture, etc.

Partners: Albemarle RPO, municipal 
and county staff, NCDOT division 
offices, NCDOT Division of Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Transportation (DBPT)

Professional development courses 
provide training to transportation 
and other professionals who may 
not have extensive experience or 
training in bicycle facilities. This can 
be a successful way to institutionalize 
knowledge of bicycle facility design 

and create an agency culture that values bicycling. 
Potential topics include the following: 

• Pedestrian and bicycle facilities standards 
– Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
(MUTCD), American Association of State Highway 
and Transportation Officials’ (AASHTO) Guide 
for the Development of Bicycle Facilities, and  
National Association of City Transportation 
Officials’ (NACTO) Urban Bikeways Design Guide;

• Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) compliance 
for transportation facilities – Public Right of Way 
Accessibility Guidelines (PROWAG), ADA Transition 
Plans, liability issues, etc.;

• Complete intersections, including operations, 
lighting, planning, accessibility, etc.;

• Complete Streets – Implementing the policy;
• Greenway and path crossings;
• Pedestrian facilities – Planning, design, and 

implementation; and
• Working with law enforcement on traffic safety 

campaigns.

Sample program: Institute for Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Innovation: http://www.ibpi.usp.pdx.edu/

facility insPectiOn and maintenance
“E” Categories: Enforcement/Evaluation

Purpose: Promote the importance of maintaining safe 
facilities for all users.

Partners: RPO staff, county staff, municipal staff, 
engineering departments

Historic Walking Tours 
- Austin, TX

214



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-10 

Setting and maintaining minimum condition standards 
for acceptable bicycle facility conditions will enable 
all users to use the facilities safely. The communities in 
the Albemarle region should meet and collaborate to 
establish a minimum set of standards for maintenance 
of bikeways, including replacing worn pavement 
markings and damaged signs, sweeping away 
debris, repaving streets, and repairing potholes. 
Each community should set up a hotline to efficiently 
collect information regarding problematic facilities. In 
the short term, facility inspection and hotline response 
should be incorporated into the duties of existing 
Code Enforcement staff, but additional staff may be 
necessary to adequately perform these duties in the 
future.

Resource: 

• http://www.bicyclinginfo.org/bikesafe/case_
studies/casestudy.cfm?CS_NUM=403

cOnsistent wayfinding signage PrOgram
“E” Categories: Education, Encouragement

Purpose: Encourage bicycling to popular destinations; 
educate residents and visitors on the locations of key 
destinations in each community.

Audience: General public

Partners: Albemarle RPO, State and local parks and 
recreation agencies and departments, municipalities, 

OBX Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Coalition, River 
City Cycling club, Cycle Speedway, other cycling 
clubs, local merchants

The Albemarle region should develop and install 
standardized, branded wayfinding signs to support the 
circulation of cyclists within each community, and 
cyclists making connections between communities 
in the region. 

Wayfinding signage enhances resident and visitor 
orientation. A clear wayfinding system should 
support the character of the region and contribute 
to economic development by indicating key 
destinations, restaurants, and entertainment 
venues. Directional signage targeted for use by 
motor vehicle drivers, pedestrians, and cyclists will 
complete a multimodal legibility package. 

Materials for signage should reflect the character 
of the entire region with local customization as 
desired, be designed through collaboration with all 
communities, and be selected for longevity and ease 
of maintenance. 

CyCling SkillS Training 
“E” Categories: Education, Encouragement

Purpose: Educate children, teenagers and adults on 
safe bicycling skills; encourage bicycling.

Audience: General public

Wayfinding in Delaware

215



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-11  [Programs and Policies]

Partners: Municipal and County Parks and Recreation 
departments, OBX Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety 
Coalition, River City Cycling club, Cycle Speedway, 
other cycling clubs

Most bicyclists do not receive any training on safe 
bicycling practices, the rules of the road, and bicycle 
handling skills. Cycling skills courses can address this 
education gap. The most common program is the 
League of American Bicyclist’s course series (including 
Traffic Skills 101, Traffic Skills 201, and Commuting), 
taught by League Certified Instructors (LCIs). There are 
currently over 50 LCIs in North Carolina (the updated 
list can be found here: http://www.bikeleague.org/
programs/education/ ). 

Courses cover bicycle safety checks, fixing a flat, on-
bike skills, crash avoidance techniques, and traffic 
negotiation. At least one course per year in each 
county in the Albemarle region would be an excellent 
starting place.  

Materials for the League of American Bicyclists courses 
must be purchased and courses often require a fee 
for participation in order to cover costs.  However, 
Albemarle RPO and its partners may choose to seek 
sponsorships to defer costs and offer courses at no 
expense to the student. Communities could also 
choose to offer scholarships to a select number of 
participants.  This may reduce barriers to participation 
and increase the diversity of the audience.

Bicycle education courses can be supplemented 
with a media campaign describing the rights and 
responsibilities of bicyclists.  Palmetto Cycling Coalition, 
located in South Carolina, showcases a “Safe Streets 
Save Lives” campaign that offers free resources for 
communities seeking to educate residents about 
safe bicycling practices, including professionally 
developed Public Service Announcements.

Sample programs: 

• CAN-bike, Canada: http://www.toronto.ca/
cycling/canbike/canbike.htm  

• League of American Bicyclists, USA: http://
bikeleague.org/programs/education/courses.
php 

• Safe Streets Save Lives: www.safestreetssavelives.
org 

walk and Bike fOr health camPaign
“E” Category: Encouragement

Purpose: Increase physical activity.

Audience: General public

Partners: Public health agencies and departments 
(North Carolina Department of Health and Human 
Services, Albemarle Regional Health Services, 
Gates Partners for Health, Healthy Carolinians of the 
Albemarle, Three Rivers Healthy Carolinians), Eat 
Smart Move More Coalition, Municipal Parks and 

League of American Bicyclists 
training course

216



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-12 

Recreation departments, hospitals and private health 
professionals

Bicycling for transportation is still challenging in many 
parts of the Albemarle region, as described in Chapter 
3: Needs Assessment. For that reason, encouraging 
people to bicycle for health and recreation may be 
a more realistic starting place for communities, rather 
than directly encouraging non-motorized commuting. 
Numerous regional partners, particularly in the health 
arena, could assist with developing and implementing 
a Walk and Bike for Health campaign.

Sample programs:

• Find Thirty. It’s Not a Big Exercise® is an Australian 
marketing campaign aimed at increasing the 
amount of moderate-intensity physical activity 
that is incorporated into the daily lives of 
Australians.  The program targets adults and health 
professionals to receive information on the benefits 
of a healthy lifestyle. The Find Thirty campaign uses 
a professional and regularly updated website, 
television advertisements, and events to promote 
their cause of increasing daily exercise.  More 
information: http://www.find30.com.au/ 

• Let’s Move® is an U.S. marketing campaign 
aimed at improving national rates of obesity by 
providing common sense programs and resources 
for parents, children, schools, and others.  
Launched by the first lady, the program includes 

a “Get Active” campaign to promote healthier 
lifestyles through fun, exciting, and challenging 
opportunities for increased physical activity.  More 
information: http://www.letsmove.gov/get-active 

POlice Officer Bicycle training
“E” Categories: Education, Encouragement, 
Enforcement

Purpose: Educate law enforcement officers on bicycle 
laws and safety. Encourage officers to pursue bicycle 
training and encourage officers to issue citations to 
motorists and non-motorists for violations of bicycle 
laws, increasing the enforcement of laws pertaining 
to bicyclists.

Audience: Police officers

Partners: Municipalities and counties, police and 
sheriff’s departments, OBX Pedestrian and Bicycle 
Safety Coalition

Most law enforcement professionals do not receive 
training specific to bicycle laws or safety. Police 
education courses can help officers improve public 
safety and enforce existing laws more effectively by 
providing them with the training they need. These 
courses should include comprehensive information 
about laws and statutes pertaining to bicycling; 
information about common crash types and causes; 
prevention and enforcement techniques against the 

217



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-13  [Programs and Policies]

most serious offenses; and options for enforcement 
and education (e.g., when a citation vs. warning 
should be issued, diversion class options, and safety 

materials that can be handed out during a 
traffic stop or public event).

It is suggested that the first training be hosted 
by the Nags Head Police Department, with 
support from the OBX Pedestrian and Bicycle 
Safety Coalition, but invitations should be 
extended to all law enforcement professionals 
in the Albemarle region. After the first program, 
the training should be offered annually, hosted 
in different communities each year.  OBX 
Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Coalition and 
local bicycle clubs may serve as key partners 

in providing clarification of North Carolina laws as they 
relates to bicyclists.

Sample program: 

• The Wisconsin Pedestrian and Bicycle Law 
Enforcement Training Course includes curriculum 
on how bicycle and pedestrian crashes happen, 
laws relating to walking and bicycling, effective 
enforcement, crash reporting, best practices, etc. 
The course is open to all law enforcement entities 
for a fee, which covers instruction and materials. 
More information: http://www.bicyclinginfo.org/
enforcement/training.cfm 

Bicycle law citatiOn and waiver PrOgram
“E” Categories: Education, Encouragement, 
Enforcement

Purpose: Encourage officers to issue citations 
to bicyclists in violation of bicycle laws, enforce 
bicycle laws, educate bicyclists on bicycle laws, 
and encourage safe bicycling practices with the 
appropriate equipment and accessories.

Audience: Bicyclists, police officers

Partners: Municipalities and counties, police and 
sheriff’s departments, OBX Pedestrian and Bicycle 
Safety Coalition

A “first time offense citation waiver program” should be 
considered for a pilot program by Police Departments 
on the Outer Banks. If a bicyclist is observed without 
the legal equipment and accessories for bicycling, a 
citation should be issued to the offending cyclist. The 
cyclist would purchase the necessary equipment or 
accessory (helmet, reflector, light, etc.) and present 
the item, a receipt of sale, and the citation to the 
Dare County Clerk of Courts Office. The Clerk’s Office 
would waive the citation fee if it was the first violation 
by the cyclist.  

This program could be expanded to include violations 
of “rules of the road” for safe bicycling. If a bicyclist 
is observed bicycling on sidewalks or not bicycling 

Image from Wisconsin 
Pedestrian and Bicycle Law 
Enforcement Training website

218



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-14 

properly with the flow of automobile traffic, a citation 
should be issued to the offending cyclist. The cyclist 
would have an option to participate in a bicycling 
safety education course to have the citation fee 
waived. Once they have completed a bicycling 
safety education course, the cyclist would present 
their citation, along with their certificate of course 
completion to the Dare County Clerk of Courts Office. 
The Clerk’s Office would waive the citation fee if it was 
the first violation by the cyclist.  

If the pilot program is successful in the Outer Banks 
communities, other municipalities and counties in the 
Albemarle region should adopt the program. 

“watch fOr me nc” camPaign 
“E” Categories: Education, Encouragement, 
Enforcement

Purpose: To improve pedestrian safety by influencing 
the behaviors of drivers and pedestrians through 
safety messaging and enforcement.

Audience: Pedestrians, cyclists, motorists, law 
enforcement officers

Partners: NCDOT, Albemarle RPO, municipalities and 
counties

The “Watch For Me NC” campaign is intended 
to improve pedestrian safety by influencing the 
behaviors of drivers and pedestrians through safety 

messaging and enforcement. The program first 
targeted the Triangle region of North Carolina. The 
effort was launched in 2012 through Transportation 
Enhancement funding provided by the NCDOT and 
federal funds from the NHTSA. The bicycle component 
was funded and expanded in 2013. 

A pilot version of this program occurred on the 
Outer Banks in May, 2013 in partnership with the 
OBX Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Coalition. It 
is recommended that the pilot be expanded 
into a regional program similar to the Triangle’s 
campaign. The Albemarle RPO should request 
that NCDOT hosts an informational workshop 
for local officials and staff, and provides a 
“toolkit” of materials for implementing the 
program locally across the entire region. Each 
municipality and county in the Albemarle region 
should request funding for program development 
and guidance for utilizing local staff and resources 
to bolster the program. Bicyclists’ safety, rights and 
etiquette, along with street crossing rules, traffic signal 
messages and meanings, and how to follow and obey 
pavement markings should be taught to children 
and adolescents to increase their safety and reduce 
automobile-bicycle crashes in the region.

Resource:
• NCDOT Watch for Me NC:  http://www. 

watchformenc.org/about/

Watch For Me NC Campaign

219



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-15  [Programs and Policies]

regiOnal walk Bike weBsite
“E” Category: Education

Purpose: Make walking and bicycling information 
easier to find by providing resources, maps, safety 
information, events, group listings, and more in one 
central place.

Audience: General public

Partners: Albemarle RPO, municipalities and counties, 
local advisory committees (BPACs), Cycle Speedway, 
River City Cycling Club, other cycling clubs

Many current and potential bicyclists do not know 
where to turn to find out about bicycling laws, events, 

maps, tips, and groups. The Albemarle 
RPO should launch a regional walking and 
bicycling “one-stop shopping” website that 
includes:

• A list of all walking and bicycling 
groups, including clubs, racing teams, and 
advocacy groups;
• Information about the specific 
committees that discuss walking, bicycling, 
and trail issues (including how to get involved, 
meeting times and dates, agendas and 

minutes, etc.);
• Information about current projects and how to 

get involved (e.g., public meetings, comment 

periods);
• Maps and brochures (e.g., links to online maps 

and brochures, where to find in person, and how 
to request mailed materials);

• Links to laws and statutes relating to bicycling;
• Information about bicycling events (e.g., rides, 

classes, volunteer opportunities) and an events 
calendar;

• A list of local bike shops, including phone numbers 
and addresses; and

• Relevant contact information for the public.

A one-stop bike website will not be difficult to set up, 
but it will only be successful if the site is both easy to use 
and updated regularly. All website content should be 
reviewed regularly for accuracy. If a Regional Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Advisory Committee is formed, the 
RPO should consider adding a standing agenda item 
for BPAC meetings to discuss the website in order to 
hear about new content that should be added or out-
of-date content that should be updated or removed.

Sample website: Bike Long Beach (CA): http://www.
bikelongbeach.org/  

Long Beach area 
bike website

220



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-16 

achieve Bicycle-friendly cOmmunity 
status
“E” Categories: Education, Encouragement, 
Enforcement

Purpose: Recognize accomplishments towards 
improving bicycling conditions.

Audience: Elected officials, media

Partners: Albemarle RPO, municipalities and counties, 
Cycle Speedway, River City Cycling Club, other 
cycling clubs, advisory committees (BPACs)

The League of American Bicyclists has a well-
respected Bicycle-Friendly Communities (BFC) 
award program. The League recognizes four tiers of 
bicycle-friendly communities: bronze, silver, gold, and 
platinum. Communities fill out a detailed application 
that covers bike-related facilities, plans, education 
efforts, promotion initiatives, and evaluation work that 
has been completed by the jurisdiction. The award is 
designed to recognize progress that has been made, 
as well as assist communities in identifying priority 
projects to improve bicycling conditions. Receiving the 
award is a media-worthy event, and may give elected 
officials the opportunity to receive media coverage 
for the positive work they are doing. The Pedestrian 
and Bicycle Information Center recently launched a 
sister program for Walk Friendly Communities (WFC) 
that has recognized 11 communities around the 

nation.

The RPO should work with towns and cities in the 
region to assess their readiness to apply for WFC 
and/or BFC designation, and encourage them 
to apply.  The application can be completed by 
local agency staff with the support of the RPO, 
particularly if a Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory 
Committee is formed.

More information:

• Bicycle Friendly Communities Program: http://
www.bicyclefriendlycommunities.org

• Walk Friendly Communities Program: http://
www.walkfriendly.org/ 

cOmmunicate maintenance schedules
“E” Categories: Enforcement/Evaluation

Purpose: Integrate bicycle facilities into future 
roadway projects.

Audience: NCDOT, municipal and county planning 
and engineering staff

Partners: NCDOT, RPO staff, municipal and county 
staff

Municipalities in the Albemarle region should each 
request that their NCDOT Division office provide early 
notification to planning and engineering staff of 
maintenance and restriping schedules. Local planning 

Bicycle Friendly 
Communities Program

221



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-17  [Programs and Policies]

and engineering staff should facilitate annual 
meetings to be held when updated maintenance 
and restriping schedules are released to allow for 
face to face conversations between local staff and 
NCDOT Division staff. This information would allow 
the municipalities an opportunity to provide input 
regarding their bicycle facility needs and support 
accommodation measures, such as restriping to 
include bicycle lanes and other relevant markings.

autOmated sPeed enfOrcement devices 
and systems
“E” Category: Enforcement

Purpose: Create safer roadways for all user groups.

Audience: Motorists and law enforcement officers

Partners: RPO staff, municipal and county staff, police 
departments

Automated speed enforcement devices and systems 
can be an effective tool for managing speed and 
reducing speed related crashes. Some devices record 
and visibly display vehicle speed, and other devices 
capture a real-time photo of traffic. Most devices 
use radar and motorists with a radar detector in their 
vehicle will be alerted of the presence of the radar. 
This program would change motorists’ behavior by 
encouraging safe, responsible driving, staying alert, 
and obeying the posted speed limit. 

The Albemarle RPO should encourage each 
municipality in the region to install permanent, fixed 
photo speed enforcement devices. If these are too 
expensive to consider, mobile photo speed units may 
be a more viable option.

Resource:  

• FHWA resource: http://safety.fhwa.dot.gov/ped_
bike/legis_guide/rpts_cngs/pedrpt_0808/chap_4.
cfm

POsitive media camPaign
“E” Categories: Education, Encouragement

Purpose: Normalize/humanize the image of bicycling 
in the region.

Audience: General public

Partners: OBX Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Coalition, 
Cycle Speedway, River City Cycling Club, other 
cycling clubs, local merchants/business leaders, 
municipal and county staff

Often the general public thinks of negative stereotypes 
when they hear about “cyclists.” A media campaign 
that shows a wide range of ordinary residents using their 
bicycles for a variety of purposes will help break down 
those stereotypes and raise awareness of bicycling 
and geniality towards people who ride bicycles. One 
excellent example is the “I Ride” campaign from the 

222



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-18 

Community Cycling Center in Portland, Oregon. They 
have created well-photographed posters showing 
people in a wide variety of ages, races, body types, 
and with a wide variety of bicycle types, and each 
person has been invited to complete the sentence “I 
ride _____.” The images are being distributed as bus 
stop and bus bench ads, as well as online. 

In the Albemarle region, the “I ride” slogan may be 
considered, or another equally humanizing slogan 
could be created. The effort could be spearheaded by 
a variety of groups, from public agencies to nonprofits 
to volunteers.  Health partners may be interested in 
funding and/or implementing this campaign. Donated 
media placement should be sought for print media 
and other public installations (such as benches, transit 
media options, billboards, or other locations). 

A good photographer should be engaged, and 
opportunities for people to be photographed should 
be created (such as at public bicycling events). Key 
community members should be invited to participate 
as well, particularly if they are well-known. 

More information on the Portland “I Ride” 
Campaign can be found at: http://www.
communitycyclingcenter.org/index.php/introducing-
the-i-ride-bicycling-campaign/

Other key Partners tO cOnsider fOr 
imPlementatiOn Of Bicycle PrOgrams 

• Incorporated towns and cities in the Albemarle 
region – Towns and cities are important parties in 
initiating and supporting programmatic efforts. 

• Any local walking/bicycling/trails committees – 
Communities with existing Bicycle, Pedestrian, 
or Trails/Greenways Committees can help 
coordinate efforts and may be able to connect 
needs with interested volunteers.

• Public health agencies and nonprofits – Public 
health professionals can help to implement and 
evaluate recommendations that will help residents 
increase daily physical activity.

• Major employers and universities – The Albemarle 
region has several employers who are very 
engaged in bicycle-related issues.

• Local police departments and county sheriff’s 
offices – Law enforcement professionals can 
help support safety campaigns through strategic 
enforcement and educational events.

• School districts – School districts and schools are 
natural partners for Safe Routes to School efforts as 
well as for education programs related to student 
safety.

• Parent Teacher Associations (PTAs) – PTAs can be 
effective partners in implementing Safe Routes to 
School efforts and other school-oriented traffic 
safety initiatives.

223



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-19  [Programs and Policies]

• Parks and Recreation – Parks and Recreation 
departments are natural partners for public events 
and classes such as organized walks.

• YMCA, Boys and Girls Clubs, and other youth-
oriented service providers – These groups can 
partner on programs that benefit children.

• Cycling clubs – Clubs may be able to provide 
volunteer support for bicycling programs.

• Chambers of commerce, business improvement 
districts, downtown development associations 
– These groups may be interested in supporting 
initiatives that bring residents and visitors to the 
downtowns and business districts.

• Economic and tourism development organizations 
– These groups may be interested in supporting 
initiatives that bring visitors to the region.

• Senior centers and retirement communities – More 

and more organizations that work with seniors are 
interested in projects that help their clients live 
active, healthy lives.

• Hospitals and private health professionals – Private 
sector partners with an interest in promoting health 
and wellness can serve as local champions and 
funders of education and awareness campaigns.

Cycle North Carolina is a well-
attended event each Spring 

and Fall, often coming through 
the region.  This presents a great 

programmatic and economic 
opportunity for the Albemarle 

Region.

224



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-20 

POlicies
Bicycling needs must be considered within the context 
of the transportation and land use system.  Based upon 
the region’s numerous local and county land use and 
transportation plans, it’s clear that enhancing quality 
of life and preserving community character is an 
important issue for many of the region’s stakeholders. 
To do so requires paying attention not only to the 
design of the region’s thoroughfares, but also to the 
quality of development in a manner that preserves 
the region’s great asset: natural beauty. 

Widening roadways to accommodate high volumes 
of motor vehicle traffic within settled areas negatively 
impacts local livability. As a response to peak hour 
congestion, the widening of roadways is typically 
an exercise in futility because drivers who previously 
avoided the congestion typically absorb the excess 
capacity very quickly. This phenomenon is known as 
“induced traffic” and it underscores that widening is 
too often an ineffective, expensive, and unsustainable 
approach to transportation planning. It also makes 
cycling and walking less safe. 

To reduce congestion and to improve safety and 
community character requires investment in public 
transit, bikeways, sidewalks and land use patterns 
that put a variety of destinations and services within 
close proximity.  Through the statewide adoption of a 
Complete Streets Policy, and by working to advance 

Context-Sensitive Solutions (CSS), the North Carolina 
Department of Transportation is becoming a willing 
partner to those communities desiring a transportation 
system that reinforces community character, rather 
than eroding it. With this in mind, the following policy 
objectives and associated strategies aim to improve 
the underlying land use and transportation conditions 
that fundamentally promote bicycle use at the 
regional and local level. Such policies:

• Recognize the interrelationship between land use 
decisions (planning and development) and  
transportation decisions.  

• Reinforce basic urban design principles that 
result in development of visually pleasing districts, 
neighborhoods, and corridors supportive of 
bicycling and walking.  

• Improve the balance of protected rural areas and 
vibrant village, town, and city environments  
that make the Albemarle region special. 

Policy recommendations are organized in tabular 
form and calibrated to the 10-county’s regional 
Settlement Types, as defined in Chapter 2.  Following 
this table is example guidance for a specific ordinance 
document, the Camden County, North Carolina 
Unified Development Ordinance

225



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-21  [Programs and Policies]

Transportation Network
Objective: Accommodate bicyclists through the ongoing development of a context-sensitive regional and local transportation infrastructure network.        
Ensure that the region’s thoroughfare system is 
compatible with adjacent land uses and natu-
ral/built character. 

• • • • • • •

Promote positive health, recreation, transporta-
tion, economic, and environmental benefits. • • • • • • •
Coordinate with NCDOT Context Sensitive Solu-
tions and the Complete Streets Policy along 
and across state roadways. 

• • • • • • •

Require new development to minimize drive-
way access in order to reduce conflict points. • • • •

Partner with State and local entities to explore 
alternative funding sources that support trans-
portation options throughout the region, includ-
ing integrating bicycle and pedestrian facilities. 

• • • • • • •

Encourage local jurisdictions to require devel-
opment to fund proportional share of transpor-
tation infrastructure costs.

• • • • •
Work with all jurisdictions to reduce motor 
vehicle speeds by implementing proven traffic-
calming measures.

• • • •
Consider adding bicycle racks to Inter-County 
Public Transit Authority’s bus service. • • • •
Supplement subdivision regulations with con-
text-appropriate block size and thoroughfare 
connectivity standards. 

• • • • •

Natural Farmland Hamlet Village Town  City Beach District

226



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-22 

Bikeway Infrastructure
Objective: Accommodate bicyclists through the ongoing development of context-appropriate bikeways, bicycle parking, and bikeway signing and 
wayfinding. 

Ensure that the maintenance/expansion of the 
regional thoroughfare system serves bicyclists 
and pedestrians.

• • • • • • •
Coordinate planning, design, and implementa-
tion of context-sensitive bicycle improvements 
with the Facility Continuum.

• • • • • • •
Use this Albemarle Regional Bikeways Plan to 
guide future planning, design, and implemen-
tation of bicycle infrastructure in conjunction 
with other local and regional planning and 
development projects. 

• • • • • • •

Utilize additional bikeway and countermeasure 
treatment types as appropriate to enhance 
safe cycling. 

• • • • •
Encourage county/municipal parking require-
ments to include bicycle parking at areas of re-
gional and local significance, such as schools, 
government offices, churches etc.

• • • • •

Encourage county/municipal parking require-
ments to follow the Association for Pedestrian 
and Bicycle Professional’s (APBP) bicycle park-
ing design and location guidelines, including 
provisions for short- and long-term parking. 

• • • • •

Work with state, county, local entities to en-
hance the safety and visibility of the regional 
bicycle network by implementing appropriate 
safety and wayfinding signage improvements.

• • • • • • •

Natural Farmland Hamlet Village Town  City Beach District

227



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-23  [Programs and Policies]

Environmental Protection  
Objective: Protect natural land by directing public infrastructure spending and private development to areas where they will have the greatest social and eco-
nomic benefit and the least environmental impact and transportation cost. 
Establish a regional Transfer of Development 
Rights (TDR) program and/or support existing or 
new conservation easement, land trusts, and 
other tools to preserve the region’s rural and 
working landscapes. 

• •

Protect regional wetlands, wetland buffers, 
floodways, floodplains, aquifer recharge areas, 
woodland, productive farmland, wildlife habi-
tat and important scenic views by disallowing 
new development along certain scenic road-
ways.

• •

Help property owners maintain the agricultural  
use of their land through a regional tax relief 
or land valuation mechanisms calibrated to 
agricultural production value, as opposed to its 
commercial or residential real estate value.

•

Avoid the location of public facilities (schools, 
government offices etc.) within Natural or Farm-
land areas. 

• •

Natural Farmland Hamlet Village Town  City Beach District

228



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-24 

Environmental Protection Continued
To protect regional open space, enhance en-
vironmental health, and increase recreational 
opportunities, establish Hamlet, Village, Town, 
City, and Beach District areas as regional (TDR) 
“receiving areas.”

• • • • •

Encourage local municipalities to identify and 
maintain a permanent rural “green” preserve 
around the Hamlet, Village, Town, and City 
areas with a focus on improving and protecting 
ecological areas.

• • • •

Encourage the protection, preservation and 
enhancement of riparian corridors within new  
development and the redevelopment of exist-
ing, underutilized parcels to maximize public 
access, connectivity, and recreational bicy-
cling. 

• • • • •

Natural Farmland Hamlet Village Town  City Beach District

229



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-25  [Programs and Policies]

Regional Growth
Objective: Direct public infrastructure spending and private development to developed areas where the greatest social and economic benefit can be realized 
with the least environmental and transportation costs. 
Ensure that adequate public services, infra-
structure, and facilities are available or funded 
prior to approval of new development to en-
sure that the cost is not unnecessarily burden-
some to existing residents.

• • • • •

If adequate public facilities are not available, 
require new development of a certain size 
to fund its proportional share of infrastructure 
costs. 

• • • • •

Encourage county and local governments to 
replace used-based zoning code with form-
based zoning, especially within existing or pro-
posed residential neighborhoods and mixed-
use main street / commercial corridors.

• • • •

Prioritize application processing and/or create 
other financial incentives for projects within 
previously developed areas or areas regulated 
by form-based codes zoning. 

• • • •

Natural Farmland Hamlet Village Town  City Beach District

230



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-26 

Regional Growth Continued
Wherever practical, incentivize land devoted 
to surface parking lots to be developed into 
more productive uses. 

• • •

Encourage and support the evolution of auto-
oriented, strip-style commercial development 
into mixed-use activity centers that support a 
more walkable and bicycle-friendly environ-
ment.

• • • •

Encourage Albemarle region counties and 
local municipalities to evaluate the strength 
of proposed development projects through 
the creation of a Smart Growth Scorecard, as 
developed in Camden County. 

• • • • • • •

Natural Farmland Hamlet Village Town  City Beach District

231



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-27  [Programs and Policies]

Ordinance review
Given the large number of jurisdictions in the 
Albemarle region, policy recommendations for 
ordinances are provided through an evaluation of a 
specific ordinance within the region. Camden County, 
North Carolina’s Unified Development Ordinance 
was selected because of its current support of 
bicycle-friendly land use and transportation patterns. 
The following review of this ordinance serves as an 
example that can be applied to other jurisdictions in 
the region.

camden cOunty, nOrth carOlina 
unified develOPment Ordinance 
review
In 2003, mounting residential growth pressure inspired 
Camden County to enact a moratorium on new 
subdivisions. This temporary hold on development 
provided an opportunity for the County’s leadership 
and citizens to create a needed unified governance 
structure (2006) to handle the issues of growth 
comprehensively. Shortly thereafter, the County 
began to adopt “smart growth” land use and 
transportation policies, including the development 
of a Smart Growth Scorecard (2007 checklist tool 
to evaluate development proposals in Camden 
County). 

Today, Camden County has become a leader 
within the Albemarle region for developing plans 

and policies seeking to accommodate new growth, 
support multi-modal transportation options, create a 
better jobs-housing balance, and protect the area’s 
largely rural character. A road map to meeting these 
goals is laid out in the County’s recently completed 
2035 Comprehensive Plan.

However, an analysis of the Camden County’s 
Chapter 151 Unified Development Ordinance reveals 
a clear disconnect between the aspirations of the 2035 
Plan and existing land use and transportation policies. 
The following section briefly summarizes the strengths 
and weaknesses of Chapter 151 and offers additional 
land use, transportation, and village design policy 
recommendations to support the County’s goals, 
including the improvement of bicycling conditions. 

key strengths
The intent of Chapter 151 is to strengthen village and 
country settings, including allowing rural roads to 
keep their character and village streets to more easily 
accommodate pedestrians and bicyclists.

Land Use
• The Community Core District (CCD) District zone 

encourages slightly more dense, mixed-use 
development to occur in strategic areas (Shiloh, 
Camden Courthouse, South Mills) with the intent 
of creating clustered, walkable places similar 
in scale and pattern to the classic “American 
village.”

232



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-28 

• Natural and farmland preservation is a key part of 
Chapter 151; Camden County recently created 
Voluntary Agricultural Districts, which allow 
property owners to opt-in to a system valuing 
land at current value, rather than its speculative 
residential or commercial value. This helps protect 
the farming, horticulture, and forestry land that 
comprises a majority of Camden County and 
gives the area its unique character. 

Transportation
• Chapter 151 mandates sidewalks, curbs, and 

gutter on both sides of the street in the CCD District 
and allows on-street parking, which facilitates 
pedestrian-oriented village design.  

• Chapter 151 includes street connectivity, block 
size, or complete street design provisions. These 
components are particularly important in the 
Neighborhood Commercial District (NCD), 

• Chapter 151 includes the provision of bikeway 
facilities. 

• Chapter 151 includes the provision of bicycle 
parking facilities. 

key weaknesses 
Chapter 151 contains numerous land use and 
transportation provisions that will ultimately limit the 
achievement of the County’s vision for growth, as 
developed in the 2035 Comprehensive Plan. 

Land Use/ Urban Design
• Existing FAR/lot coverage requirements (0.5) in the 

CCD district are too low and will make it difficult to 
achieve the desired “American village” feel. 

• 25’ minimum setback distance for CCD is 
inappropriate for a village center. The desired 
pedestrian and bicycle-friendly “feeling” of a 
vibrant mixed-use village, as discussed in the 2035 
Plan, will not be created as desired. 

• Planned Unit Development (PUD) zoning category 
offers the County flexibility at the outset for larger 
commercial or residential projects, but ultimately 
yield unpredictable results between each 
application. The proposed Plantation project, a 
PUD example, offers an appropriate mix of density 
of uses but falls short with a poor urban design 
pattern that is less a walkable village and more 
suburban sprawl. Also, when market conditions 
continue to change, the conditions of PUDs make 
it difficult to meet new transportation and land use 
demands. 

Transportation
• Despite the goal to increase access – by all modes 

– Chapter 151’s street standards generally prioritize 
driving and limit access to new development. 
The result is a still further disconnected land use 
pattern and subdivision arrangement that does 
not enable the smart growth goals espoused 
in the 2035 Comprehensive Plan. To the extent 

233



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

6-29  [Programs and Policies]

practicable, driveway access to collector streets 
shall be minimized to facilitate the free flow of 
traffic and avoid traffic hazards. 

• Chapter 151 does not provide shared parking 
allowances among complementary adjacent 
uses, which would reduce the expense, 
environmental impacts, and bicycle and 
pedestrian un-friendly characteristics inherent to 
surface parking. 

key recOmmendatiOns
The following key recommendations are intended 
to prioritize land use, transportation, and village 
design patterns that reinforce smart growth and 
transportation choices, especially within intended 
growth areas (Shiloh, Camden Courthouse, South 
Mills). The coordination of these elements plays 
a critical role in supporting active transportation 
and should be considered critical to the long-term 
success of making bicycling safe and pleasurable in 
not just Camden, but the whole Albemarle region.

Land Use
• To more effectively meet the land use and 

transportation goals set forth in the Camden 
County 2035 Comprehensive Plan, a form-based 
code that manages the coordination of zoning, 
subdivision regulations, village design, basic 
architectural standards, and transportation 
design should be considered, especially in areas 

currently zoned RCD-1, RCD-2, CCD, and NCD. 
• Planned Unit Development (PUD) zoning 

should be removed and replaced with a form-
based code that is equally as flexible while also 
offering more predictability from application 
to application and can respond more easily to 
changing market conditions. 

• In conjunction with Voluntary Agricultural 
Districts, the County might also consider creating 
a regional Transfer-of-Development Rights (TDR) 
program to further incentivize the development 
of priority investment areas where growth and 
services can be concentrated (Shiloh, Camden 
Courthouse, South Mills).

• Replace 25’ minimum setback distance for CCD 
District with a 10’ maximum; encourage zero lot 
line setbacks at the most pedestrian-oriented 
locations. 

• Increase existing FAR/lot coverage requirements 
in the CCD district to better achieve the desired 
mixed-use “New England” or classic “American 
village” character. 

• Fast-track the permitting and approval process 
for those projects that score above a certain 
Smart Growth Checklist threshold. Density 
bonuses and other incentives should also be 
considered. 

• Ensure public investment and civic life anchors 
like schools, municipal buildings, courthouses, 

234



2013

[Programs and Policies]  6-30 

and the like are located within core village areas 
and not removed from priority investment areas 
(Shiloh, Camden Courthouse, South Mills).

Transportation
• Work with the County departments and the 

NCDOT to utilize multimodal level of service 
analysis when conducting traffic volume/
demand studies for future development and 
population growth. 

• Work with County departments and the NCDOT 
to integrate “Complete Streets” design standards 
into transportation/public works standards and/
or requirements. 

• Develop street connectivity standards that 
promote small blocks within larger mixed-use 
developments or within established village 
areas. 

• Streamline automobile parking requirements 
so that spaces may be shared amongst 
complementary uses (daytime vs. nighttime)

• Consider implementing parking maximum 
requirements within CCD/NCD/PUD areas so 
that the cost of new development is reduced 
and other modes of transportation in village 
centers is encouraged.  

• Require non-motorized transportation facilities 
and connectivity standards within subdivision, 
requirements for CCD, NCD, PUD, R-1, and R-2 

areas. 
• Develop bicycle parking requirements and 

standards for all areas zoned as CCD, NCD, and 
at all civic sites (schools, churches, hospitals, 
municipal facilities, etc.). 

235



7-1  [Implementation]7-1  [Implementation]

North end of NC 12, Corolla

236



2013

[Implementation]  7-2 

Overview
This plan’s infrastructure, program, and policy 
recommendations provide the framework for 
making the Albemarle region “a Bicycle Destination 
for the World.”  Successful implementation of 
these recommendations will require a consistent, 
coordinated effort by the Albemarle RPO, NCDOT, 
counties, municipalities, private partners, stakeholders, 
and advocates in the region.  In order to monitor 
implementation success, an evaluation component 
is essential.  Measuring performance over time will 
allow the region to gauge success in providing quality 
bicycle transportation and recreation choices.  It 
will also provide a mechanism for making informed 
decisions and efficient investments in the future.

This chapter details priority action steps for the 
region.  The actions steps presented do not cover 
every individual infrastructure, policy, and program 
recommendation of this plan. Rather, they call out 
priority items within each of these categories in order 
to provide guidance for moving forward on the most 
important items. For each action step, a lead agency, 
potential support agencies, and time frame for 
completion are suggested.

Key First steps
The first step toward implementation is the adoption 
of this plan.  All member counties and municipalities 
should adopt this plan as the guiding document for 
improving bicycle transportation and recreation in the 
region.  Having an adopted plan is helpful in securing 
funding from federal, state, and private agencies.  

The second step is the formation of a BPAC (Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Advisory Committee).  The BPAC 
could start largely with the members of the Bicycle 
Plan Steering Committee. The BPAC should also 
have representation from active pedestrians and 
commuting and recreational cyclists, and should 
champion the recommendations of this Plan. The 
BPAC should continue to provide a communications 
link between the citizens of the community, local 
governments, and the Albemarle Commission. They 
should meet at least quarterly, and be tasked with 
assisting in community outreach, marketing, and 
educational activities recommended by this Plan.  
Due to the size of the region, the BPAC may choose to 
divide into three subgroups to match the subregions 
of this study.

Implementation
Chapter Seven

Chapter Contents

Overview

Key First Steps

Administrative 
Structure

Action Steps

Performance 
Measures

Funding Strategy

237



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

7-3  [Implementation]

AdministrAtive structure
The figure below presents an organizational structure 
for plan implementation. All of the groups and 
agencies shown in this figure will be necessary to 
successfully implement the extensive program, policy, 
and infrastructure recommendations of the Plan.

Albemarle Rural 
Planning Organization

leadership and support 
for policy, project 

development, and BPAC

Bicycle & Pedestrian 
Advisory Committee
inter-agency coordination, 
long-term funding strategy, 

and project prioritization

Local Residents, 
Clubs, and 

Advocacy Groups
build public support 
for bike facilities and 

participate in programs

Local Staff
City and County Planners and 

Public Works Departments
policy changes, project 

implementation

City and County Police and Fire 
Departments

enforcement & education 
programs

Public Health Staff 
& Advocates

spread awareness of the 
benefits of biking

NCDENR, NCDOT 
Division 1 + 

Bike/Ped Division
technical support and 

review

Education     Enforcement    Evaluation
  Encouragement          Engineering

238



2013

[Implementation]  7-4 

ActiOn steps

Task Lead Agency Support Details Phase

presentAtiOns And AdOptiOns

Present plan to Albemarle 
Commission

Albemarle Rural 
Planning Organi-

zation (ARPO)

Project Consul-
tant Present the plan to the Albemarle Comimission for approval and adoption.  Short Term 

(2013)

Approve and adopt this 
plan - Municipalities Municipal Plan-

ners
ARPO/Project 

Consultant

Through adoption, the plan becomes a legitimate planning document of 
each municipality.  Adoption shows that the city or town has been part of a 
successful, supported planning process and is a partner in implementation.  
It is key to securing funding from NCDOT and other state and federal agen-

cies.  

Short Term 
(2013)

Approve and adopt this 
plan - Counties County Planners ARPO/Project 

Consultant

Through adoption, the plan becomes a legitimate planning document of 
each County.  Adoption shows that the County has been part of a success-
ful, supported planning process and are partners in implementation.  It is key 

to securing funding from NCDOT and other state and federal agencies.  

Short Term 
(2013)

Involve media to spread 
word to public and 
elected officials. ARPO

Municipal and 
County Planners; 

Advocates

ARPO should utilize the media to announce the adoption of the bicycle 
plan.  Media includes local newspapers, websites, and local television.  

When significant trails and facilities are constructed, the media should be 
notified in order to spread the word to the public.  This will help build upon 

successes.

Short Term 
(2013)

LOcAL And regiOnAL cOOrdinAtiOn
Establish Albemarle Bicy-
cle and Pedestrian Advi-
sory Committee (BPAC) Regional Bicycle 

Plan Committee ARPO

An ongoing regional entity focused on bicycle issues will be instrumental to 
the implementation of this plan and promotion of biking in the Albemarle 
region. This group should initially be formed of interested members of this 
plan's committee, and meet semi-annually to share implementation suc-

cesses and challenges and track progress.  The group can be divided into 
meaningful subcommittes such as policy, program, infrastructure, and 

evaluation groups.   

Short Term 
(2013)

Set up regional Walk Bike 
website BPAC ARPO

Set up a website providing information to residents and tourists on bicycling 
in the region. To begin, the website can include this plan and the brochure 

map produced by it.

Short Term 
(2013-2014)

Add information on the 
location of amenities to 
the Walk Bike website

BPAC
ARPO, Munici-

pal and County 
Planners

Gather the locations of bike parking, restrooms, and water fountains along 
bike routes and communicate it on the regional website. A public input 

form could help to crowdsource this data.

Continuous/
Ongoing

239



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

7-5  [Implementation]

Task Lead Agency Support Details Phase

Schedule semi-annual 
project development 
meetings with NCDOT

ARPO
NCDOT Division 

1; Municipal and 
County Planners

Many projects recommended in this plan could be developed as part of 
a roadway reconstruction, widening, or resurfacing project.  ARPO should 
work with NCDOT to ensure that upcoming roadway reconstruction proj-

ects, including TIP projects, incorporate the bicycle improvements recom-
mended in this plan.  Further, this plan’s recommendations should become 
an input into the development of the resurfacing schedule - roadways with 
bicycle recommendations should become higher relative priorities for resur-

facing or widening than other roadways.

Short Term 
(2013-2014)

Discuss bridge policy ap-
plication with NCDOT

ARPO
NCDOT Division 
1, Municipal and 
County Planners

During one of the project meetings above, confirm that all bridges along 
roadways that permit bicycles will be accommodated with bike facilities in 
any  bridge replacement or repair project (where feasible during repair proj-
ects). Identify bridges along the proposed network with insufficient handrails 
and work to install bicycle-safe handrails on those bridges in accordance 
with NCDOT’s bridge policy.

Short Term 
(2013-2014)

evALuAtiOn And dAtAbAses
Establish central holding 
place for bicycle facility 
database ARPO Municipal and 

County Planners

Each municipality and county should continue to update a GIS bicycle  
database as new facilities come online and new crash data is published.  

This data should periodically be shared with the ARPO for maintenance of a 
central database. This central database can also serve communities of the 

region without the resources to maintain GIS data.

Continuous/ 
Ongoing

Publish Annual Perfor-
mance Report BPAC

ARPO, Munici-
pal and County 

Planners

Publish an annual report to provide an update on progress made during 
that year to advance bicycle transportation in the Albemarle region.  ARPO 
should lead this effort, with support and content development provided by 
local staff.  This report will provide an objective measurement of progress.  

Annually

Develop bicycle count 
program ARPO Municipal and 

County Planners

A key method to evaluate bicycle activity and needs is to conduct profes-
sional counts.  Counts should be recorded in the annual performance report 
and coordinated with NCDOT’s Division of Bicycle & Pedestrian Transporta-

tion.

Annually

Online form for bicycle 
facility request

ARPO Municipal and 
County Planners

Provide a web-based service that allows residents to report hazards, such as 
debris in a shoulder or trail, and request new bicycle facilities and connec-
tions.  Requests should be collected and communicated to planners within 

the relevant jurisdiction, and used to update this plan in the future. The web-
site should be linked to municipal and county websites. 

Short Term 
(2013-2014)

ActiOn steps cOntinued

240



2013

[Implementation]  7-6 

ActiOn steps cOntinued

Task Lead Agency Support Details Phase

Update this plan ARPO BPAC Update this plan after five years to reflect implementation progress, unex-
pected challenges, and changes to the regional landscape.

Mid-Term  
(2018)

inFrAstructure imprOvements
Identify and secure fund-
ing sources for priority 
project implementation

Municipal and 
County Planners ARPO, BPAC Multiple funding sources should be sought.  Appendix E contains a wide 

variety of funding opportunities.  
Short Term 
(2013-2014)

Complete priority projects Municipal and 
County Planners, 

ARPO

NCDOT, 
NCDENR, NCD-

PR, NPS

Build priority projects identified in this plan (Submit bicycle projects to State 
TIP, add bicycle projects to local CIP lists)

Mid-Term  
(2015 - 
2018)

Develop a long term 
funding strategy

Municipal and 
County Planners

ARPO, NCDOT, 
BPAC

To allow continued development of the overall system, capital funds for 
bicycle and pedestrian facility construction should be set aside every 

year, even if only for a small amount (small amounts of local funding can 
be matched to outside funding sources).  Funding for an ongoing mainte-
nance program should also be included in the county and town operating 

budgets.  Multiple funding sources should be sought from federal, state, and 
health sources.  

Short Term 
(2011-2012)

prOgrAms
Establish Safe Routes to 
School Program in Towns 
and Cities

School Districts ARPO, BPAC, 
SRTS Program

Apply for Safe Routes to School funding for planning and implementation.  Short Term 
(2013-2014)

Apply for "Bicycle Friendly 
Community" designation 
by League of American 
Bicyclists

Municipalities BPAC Complete an application for the Bicycle Friendly Community designation.  Short Term 
(2013)

Hold first Police Officer 
Bicycle Training 

Nags Head Po-
lice Department

Outer Banks 
Pedestrian and 
Bicycle Safety 

Coalition

Arrange initial training and invite police departments from around the re-
gion.

Short Term 
(2013)

Educate internal staff on 
bicycle and pedestrian-
related issues.

Municipal and 
County Planners

ARPO, BPAC Train relevant local government staff who play roles in implementation, de-
sign, construction, enforcement, and maintenance of roadways and bike 

facilities.  Local staff should be familiar with the Regional Bicycle Plan.

Short Term 
(2013-2014)

241



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

7-7  [Implementation]

Task Lead Agency Support Details Phase

Develop local hard copy 
and online bicycle maps 
and brochures

Municipal and 
County Planners

BPAC, Health 
staff and advo-

cates

A hardcopy and online map displaying bicycle facilities, suggested bike 
routes, destinations, and educational materials will be useful for tourists and 
residents. Maps for individual communities can provide the level of detail 
needed for navigation and supplement the regional brochure that was 

developed along with this plan.  These maps should be updated every 3-5 
years.

Mid-Term 
(2015-2018)

Establish maintenance 
standards

BPAC Municipal and 
County Staff

Establish minimum standards for maintenance of bikeways (replacement of 
pavement markings, sweeping of debris, etc) and encourage local staff to 

follow these standards and set up hotlines for reporting of issues.

Mid-Term 
(2015-2018)

Hold WatchForMe NC 
workshop in the region

NCDOT RPO, Municipal 
and County Staff

Present the campaign to interested municipalities and counties with infor-
mation on how to implement it locally.

Short Term 
(2013-2014)

Celebrate and promote  
Bike Month

BPAC Municipal and 
County Planners, 
Health staff and 

advocates

Bike Month provides an opportunity to encourage new bicyclists in a group 
setting with entertainment, prizes, and media attention. Promote and ex-

pand Bike Month in May of 2014 and continue annually.  Consider programs 
such as Ciclovias to generate interest (See Chapter 6 for more information).

Short Term 
(2013-2014)

pOLicies
Incorporate this Regional 
Bicycle Plan's recommen-
dations  into long-range 
transportation  and land 
use planning documents 
and local comprehensive 
plans.

ARPO NCDOT, City and 
County Planners

Recommendations from this plan should become the starting point for the 
accommodation of bicycle facilites in future transportation and land use 

planning documents around the region

Ongoing

Revise Municipal and 
County Codes of Ordi-
nances.

Municipal and 
County Planners

ARPO Revise ordinances to better accommodate bicycle infrastructure and con-
siderations. Use the policy recommendations and sample ordinance review 

in Chapter 6 as a guide for revisions.

Short Term 
(2013-2014)

Initiate regional Transfer 
of Development Rights 
program

ARPO Municipal and 
County Planners

Establish a regional program to protect natural and working landscapes 
while encouraging appropriate development in population centers that 

supports bicycle transportation.

Long-Term 
(2019-2033)

Adopt form-based codes Municipal Plan-
ners

Replace use-based zoning codes with form-based zoning in growing munic-
ipalities to support growth that will encourage and enable bicycle transpor-

tation. 

Mid-Term 
(2015-2018)

ActiOn steps cOntinued

242



2013

[Implementation]  7-8 

Task Lead Agency Support Details Phase

Generate a model smart 
growth scorecard and bi-
cycle needs checklist for 
use around the region

BPAC ARPO, Munici-
pal and County 

Planners

Develop these tools based on best practices and market to local staff for 
use in development review. Chapter 6 provides a sample bicycle needs 
checklist and Camden County's smart growth scorecard can act as a 

model.

Mid-Term 
(2015-2018)

Consider Complete 
Streets Policy

Municipal Plan-
ners

ARPO The municipalities of the ARPO should consider Complete Streets policy 
guidance language to ensure commitment to developing roadways that 

accommodate all users.

Mid-Term 
(2015-2018)

bicycLe tOurism ecOnOmy
Create a bicycle tourism 
committee 

ARPO, BPAC, 
Chambers of 
Commerce

Municipalities, 
Businesses, etc.

The cultivation of relationships among businesses, cycling groups, govern-
ment agencies, NCDOT, local chambers of commerce, etc. is essential for 

creating and marketing a bicycle-friendly region.  This group should prioritize 
steps to grow the bicycle tourism economy. See resource on 6-8.

Short Term 
(2013-2014)

Track return-on-invest-
ment measures

Department 
of Commerce, 
Chambers of 
Commerce

Municipalities, 
ARPO

Like the 2004 Outer Banks report, further measurement is needed to quantify 
the many economic benefits of bicycling and evaluate its success in the 

region. 

Mid-Term 
(2015-2018)

Further studies
Wayfinding signage pro-
gram

BPAC ARPO, Munici-
pal and County 

Planners

Develop a cohesive wayfinding strategy for the region, incorporating the 
wayfinding recommendations of this plan, and seek funding sources for 

implementation across the region.

Mid-Term 
(2015-2018)

Ehringhaus Street Elizabeth City ARPO Complete a combined transportation and land use study of the Ehringhaus 
Street corridor to address broad safety issues and improve the road for cy-

cling.

Mid-Term 
(2015-2018)

US 158 Southern Shores, 
Nags Head, Kill 
Devil Hills, Kitty 

Hawk

ARPO Complete a corridor study of US 158 to identify design solutions that work for 
all users of the corridor and improve its aesthetic.

Mid-Term 
(2015-2018)

Hatteras Island to Oc-
racoke Island Ferrry

Dare County ARPO, BPAC Complete a study examining bicycle and pedestrian access to this ferry. Mid-Term 
(2015-2018)

ActiOn steps cOntinued

243



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

7-9  [Implementation]

perFOrmAnce meAsures
As stated above, measuring performance 
over time is essential to implementation. 
Tracking performance measures within 
communities and across the region 
will allow implementing agencies to 
understand progress, communicate 
successes and challenges, and motivate 
leaders to take further actions. The 

following performance measures were selected 
to track progress toward the goals of this plan. The 
BPAC and RPO should together monitor progress 
against these measures and report that progress in 
an Annual Performance Report. Individual counties or 
municipalities may also be interested in tracking and 
reporting progress independently. The RPO or these 
individual entities may choose to set specific goals for 
each measure.

Task Lead Agency Support Details Phase

Jennette’s Pier/Whale-
bone Junction

Nags Head DBPT, ARPO Complete a study of the NC 12 sidepath’s termination at this location. 
Consider a reduction in driveway access to reduce conflict locations and 
improve safety.

Mid-Term 
(2015-2018)

Speed Limit Reduction Municipalities 
and Counties

DBPT, ARPO Further study should be conducted locally to determine appropriate speed 
limit reduction locations.

Mid-Term 
(2015-2018)

Automated and manual counts are 
effective ways to measure bicyclist use, 

characteristics, and behaviors. 

Continued on next page

ActiOn steps cOntinued

244



2013

[Implementation]  7-10 

Goal

Increase the quality of 
bicycling throughout the 

region

Encourage and support regional, sub-regional, and 
local bicycle advocacy groups

Increase connections between neighborhoods, 
schools, and businesses

Increase bicycle facilities

Objectives

Improve health outcomes 
in the region

Improve safety for all 
cyclists

Increase bicycling trips by 
residents and visitors

Increase access to recreational bicycle facilities

 Increase bicycle exercise and activity rates 
among all age groups

Reduce cyclist crashes 

Engage law enforcement in bicycle safety

Improve cyclist and driver adherence to traffic laws

Increase education on the social, economic, and 
health benefits of bicycling

Increase bicycle mode share for commuting

Improve resources for bicycle tourists

Performance Measures

Number of advocacy groups promoting bicycling

Measure of connectivity 
Percentage of new projects built as Complete Streets with connectivity to 

surrounding destinations

Percentage of roadways that have designated or separated bicycle facilities
Percentage of signalized intersections that have bike and pedestrian  

friendly accommodations
Percentage of bridges with bicycle facilities

Total funding devoted to the construction of bicycle facilities

Mileage of greenways per person (residents and visitors)
Percentage of East Coast Greenway through the region with a separated 

bicycle facility

Physical inactivity rates
Obesity rates

 Reduction in transportation-related emissions from increase in bicycling trips

Bicyclist crash and fatality rates per capita

Percentage of police departments completing bicycle education courses

Number of citations related to bicycle safety violations to bicyclists and 
motorists

Towns, businesses, and colleges designated as Bicycle Friendly by the 
League of American Bicyclists

Number of schools participating in bicycle safety education/encouragement 
programs

Bicyclist mode share
Bicyclist counts

Number of tourism websites promoting cycling
Number of brochures or guides available to tourists

Continued on next page

245



Albemarle Regional Bicycle Plan

7-11  [Implementation]

Goal

Promote and encourage 
growth of tourism economy

Increase economic growth, job creation, and 
tourism revenue through bicycling

Objectives Performance Measures

Return on investment measures such as job creation, small business 
development, tourism, home prices

Promotion of bicycling
 Number of Chambers of Commerce, Visitor Bureaus, and other groups 

promoting bicycling
Number of bike events in region and corresponding economic impact

Number of visitors coming to region partially due to bicycling 
amenities

bicycLe tOurism 
Bicycle tourism for economic development has 
been a priority of many regions in the United 
States for the past few decades.  North Carolina 
developed the first statewide bicycle route 
system in 1974 geared towards scenic riding 
and created maps for those routes providing 
information on camping, lodging, and other 
destinations. At the time of this Albemarle 
Regional Bike Plan study, NCDOT was considering 
re-routing and re-branding the state bike route 
system as part of the WalkBikeNC Plan.  

The 2011 Oregon-based report Bicycle Tourism 
As a Rural Economic Development Vehicle is 
a tremendous resource and provides unique 
insights into touring bicyclist needs, the 
economic benefits of bicycle tourism, and key 
steps for making a region more bicycle-friendly.  
Increasing bicycle tourism requires cooperation 
between businesses, cycling clubs, government 

agencies, advocates, and local chambers of 
commerce.  The report defines the steps towards 
bicycle tourism development and provides a 
menu of action steps at the state, regional, and 
local level. 

The Albemarle Region is unique in its beautiful 
landscapes, villages, historic towns, waterfronts, 
and flat terrain, making it a prime candidate for 
bicycle tourism.  Key marketing recommendations 
that are applicable to the Albemarle Region 
include:  

• Market bicycle destinations and activities.
• Develop welcome signs for cycle tourists at 

gateways.
• Launch a Bed & Bike program for hotels to 

market themselves to cycle tourists.
• Organize a signature event for recreational 

cyclists (e.g. Cycle NC).
• Make bike maps, and distribute 

through tourism groups (Chambers of 
Commerce,visitor’s centers, etc.).

• Organize one or more historic bike rides, then 
make a brochure to distribute.

• Develop Websites (e.g. http://www.
routeverte.com/rv/index.php?page=home).

• Enhance regional bike routes and wayfinding.
• Develop strategic bike parking and shelters.

BICYCLE TOURISM 
AS A RURAL ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT 
VEHICLE

by Heidi Beierle

June 2011

246



2013

[Implementation]  7-12 

Funding strAtegy
A combination of funding using federal, state, 
local, and private sources will be necessary to fully 
implement this plan.  The figure below illustrates this 
combined funding strategy. Detailed information 
on specific funding options and their applicability to 
projects and geographies are provided in Appendix 
E: Funding.

GOAL:
Leverage all resources into 

multi-million dollar/year program 

Albemarle RPO 
Submitted State TIP 

Projects

Bicycle Projects Built as 
Part of NCDOT Roadway 
Rehabilitation Projects

“Chase the Pavers”

Other Federal/State Funds 
and Grants

Transportation Alternatives
RTP, SRTS, HSIP

County/Local 
Government CIP

Projects

Federal and State 
Agencies (DBPT, NPS, 
DENR, DHHS, Dept. of 

Commerce)

Private Funders 
(Foundations and 

businesses)

Policies:
Complete Streets 
(state) and Local 

Development 
Ordinances

CMAQ - Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality   SRTS - Safe Routes to School   HSIP - Highway Safety Improvement Program 
RTP - Recreational Trails Program    CIP - Capital Improvement Program   DBPT - Division of Bicycle and Pedestrian Transportation

247



Agenda Item Title 

Currituck County 
Agenda Item Summary Sheet

Consideration and action on An Ordinance of the Currituck County Board of Commissioners Amending 
Chapter 2, Article II, Division 2 Rules of Procedure; Amending Chapter 2, Article III, Division 1 to 
Provide for Advisory Board Terms and Meeting Attendance; Amending Chapter 2, Article III, By 
Repealing Division 2 Airport Advisory Board and  Division 3 Economic Development Advisory Board; 
and Amending Chapter 2, Article III by Adding a New Division 3 Economic Development Advisory 
Board. 

Brief Description of Agenda Item 

Board Action Requested 

Action 

Person Submitting Agenda Item 

County Attorney Ike McRee 

Presenter of Agenda Item 

County Attorney Ike McRee 
248



AN ORDINANCE OF THE CURRITUCK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 1 
AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE II, DIVISION 2 RULES OF PROCEDURE; 2 

AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE III, DIVISION 1 TO PROVIDE FOR ADVISORY 3 
BOARD TERMS AND ATTENDANCE REQUIREMENTS;  AMENDING CHAPTER 2, 4 

ARTICLE III BY REPEALING DIVISION 2 AIRPORT ADVISORY BOARD AND 5 
DIVISION 3 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD; AND AMENDING 6 

CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE III BY ADDING A NEW DIVISION 2 ECONOMIC 7 
DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 8 

WHEREAS, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §153A-76 a board of commissioners may 9 
change the composition and manner of selection of boards, commissions, and agencies, and may 10 
generally organize and reorganize the county government in order to promote orderly and 11 
efficient administration of county affairs; and 12 

WHEREAS, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §153A-77 a board of commissioners may 13 
appoint advisory boards, committees, councils and agencies composed of qualified and interested 14 
county residents to study, interpret and develop community support and cooperation in activities 15 
conducted by or under the authority of the board of commissioners. 16 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Commissioners for the 17 
County of Currituck, North Carolina as follows: 18 

PART I.  Chapter 2, Article II, Division 2 of the Code of Ordinances, Currituck County, North 19 
Carolina is amended to read as follows 20 

Sec. 2-51. - Applicability of division. 21 

This division applies to all meetings of the board of commissioners at which the board is 22 
empowered to exercise any of the executive, quasi-judicial, administrative, or legislative powers 23 
conferred on it by law.  Except for sections 2-55, 2-56(a), 2-65, 2-67, 2-77, 2-78 and 2-79 this 24 
division applies to all meetings of the board’s committees, authorities, boards, commissions, 25 
councils and other public bodies other than the planning board and the board of adjustment.   26 

Sec. 2-52. - Open meeting policy. 27 

(a) The public policy of the state and of the county is that the hearings, deliberations, and 28 
actions of the board and its committees, authorities, boards, commissions, councils or other 29 
bodies be conducted openly. 30 

(b) Except as otherwise provided in this division and in accordance with applicable law, each 31 
official meeting of the county board of commissioners, authorities, boards, commissions, 32 
councils or other bodies shall be open to the public, and any person may attend. 33 

(c) For the purposes of the provisions of this division concerning open meetings, an official 34 
meeting of the board and its committees, authorities, boards, commissions, councils or 35 
bodies is defined as any gathering together at any time or place or the simultaneous 36 
communication by conference telephone or other electronic means of a majority of board 37 
members for the purpose of conducting hearings, participating in deliberations, or voting 38 

1 

249



upon or otherwise transacting public business within the jurisdiction, real or apparent, of the 1 
board.  2 

Sec. 2-53. - Location of meetings. 3 

All meetings shall be held within the boundaries of the county except as otherwise provided 4 
in this section.  5 

(1) A joint meeting with the governing board of any other political subdivision of this or 6 
any other state may be held within the boundaries of either subdivision as may be 7 
specified in the call of the meeting. At any such joint meeting, the board reserves the 8 
right to vote separately on all matters coming before the joint meeting.  9 

(2) A special meeting called for considering and acting on an order or resolution requesting 10 
members of the general assembly representing all or any portion of this county to 11 
support or oppose any bill pending in the general assembly or proposed for introduction 12 
therein may be held in the City of Raleigh or other such place as stated in the call of the 13 
meeting 14 

Sec. 2-54. - Quorum generally. 15 

A majority of the board membership shall constitute a quorum. The number required for a 16 
quorum shall not be affected by vacancies. If a member has withdrawn from a meeting without 17 
being excused by majority vote of the remaining members, he shall be counted as present for the 18 
purposes of determining whether a quorum is present. The board may compel the attendance of 19 
an absent member by ordering the sheriff to take the member into custody.  20 

Sec. 2-55. - Organizational meeting. 21 

On the first Monday in December following a general election in which county officers are 22 
elected, the board shall meet at the regular meeting time and place. The newly elected members 23 
of the board shall take and subscribe the oath of office as the first order of business. As the 24 
second order the board shall elect a chair and vice-chair from among its members. As the third 25 
order, the board shall approve the bonds of the register of deeds and the sheriff, and induct them 26 
and any other newly elected county officials into office.  27 

Sec. 2-56. - Regular and special meetings. 28 

(a) Regular meetings. The board shall hold a regular meeting on the first and third Mondays of 29 
each month, except that if a regular meeting day is a legal holiday, the meeting shall be held 30 
on the next business day. The meeting shall be held at the county courthouse and shall begin 31 
on the first Monday and third Monday at 7:00 p.m.  32 

(b) Special meetings. The chair or a majority of board members may at any time call a special 33 
meeting of the board by signing a notice stating the time and place of the meeting and the 34 
subjects to be considered. The person calling the meeting shall cause the notice to be 35 
delivered to the chair and all other board members, or left at the usual dwelling place of each 36 

2 
 

250



member at least 48 hours before the meeting and shall cause a copy of the notice to be 1 
posted on the courthouse bulletin board at least 48 hours before the meeting. Only those 2 
items of business specified in the notice may be transacted at a special meeting, unless all 3 
members are present or those who are not present have signed waivers.  4 

(1) Emergency meetings. If a special meeting is called to deal with an unexpected 5 
circumstance requiring immediate consideration, the notice requirements of this section 6 
do not apply. However, the person calling an emergency meeting shall take reasonable 7 
action to inform the other members and the public of the meeting. Local news 8 
organizations having requested notice of special meetings as provided in subsection (c) 9 
of this section shall be notified of such emergency meetings by the same method used to 10 
notify board members. Only business connected with the emergency may be discussed 11 
at the meeting.  12 

(2) Work sessions and informal meetings. The board may schedule work sessions, 13 
committee meetings, or other informal meetings of the board or of a majority of its 14 
members at such times and concerning such subjects as may be established by 15 
resolution or order of the board. A schedule of any such meetings held regularly shall be 16 
filed in the same place and manner as the schedule of regular meetings. Work sessions 17 
and other informal official meetings not held regularly are subject to the same notice 18 
requirements as special board meetings.  19 

(c)  Meeting Attendance.  A board member must be physically present at a regular or special 20 
meeting to participate or vote in the meeting. 21 

(c)(d) Sunshine list. Any individual and any newspaper, wire service, radio station, and 22 
television station may file a written request with the clerk to the board of commissioners for 23 
notice of all regular and special meetings of the board. Requests by individuals must be 24 
renewed annually by December 31 and are subject to a nonrefundable annual fee of $15.60 25 
for agendas and $36.60 for agendas and minutes as established in the county’s fee schedule. 26 
Requests by news organizations must be renewed annually by December 31 and are not 27 
subject to any fee.  28 

Sec. 2-57. - Executive Closed sessions. 29 

(a) Notwithstanding the provisions of section 2-52 the board may hold an executive session and 30 
exclude the public, but only under the following circumstances:  31 

(1) To consider the selection of a site for a county building or other facility. 32 

(2) To consider the acquisition of any interest in real property by purchase, condemnation, 33 
lease, or other means. The final decision to acquire or lease must be made in open 34 
session.  35 

(3) To consider and accept a gift or bequest of personal property offered to the county or 36 
any agency thereof. 37 

(4) To discuss matters relating to the location or expansion of industries or other businesses 38 
in the county. 39 

3 
 

251



(5) To consider the commencement, prosecution, defense, settlement, or litigation of a 1 
potential or pending judicial action or administrative proceeding in which the county or 2 
an officer or employee of the county is a party or in which the board finds that the 3 
county has a substantial interest. The terms of any settlement discussed in executive 4 
session and actually agreed to by all parties shall be reported to the board in open 5 
session and entered into its minutes within a reasonable time after the settlement is 6 
concluded.  7 

(6) To consult with an attorney to the extent that confidentiality is required for the attorney 8 
to exercise his ethical duties as a lawyer.  9 

(7) To consider the qualifications, competence, performance, character, fitness, conditions 10 
of appointment, or conditions of initial employment of a county officer or employee or 11 
a prospective county officer or employee. Final action appointing, employing, 12 
removing, or discharging of the county officer or employee shall be taken in open 13 
session.  14 

(8) To consider the employment, performance, or discharge of an independent contractor. 15 
Final decisions regarding such employment or discharge shall be taken in open session.  16 

(9) To hear or investigate a complaint, charge, or grievance by or against a county officer 17 
or employee. Final action regarding such complaint, charge, or grievance shall be taken 18 
in open session.  19 

(10) To consider the appointment or removal of a member of another board, commission, or 20 
other public body, some or all of whose members are appointed by the county board of 21 
commissioners. At least seven days before making an appointment discussed previously 22 
in executive session, the board shall present at an open meeting and simultaneously 23 
make available for public inspection in the office of the clerk to the board a written list 24 
of the persons then under consideration for the appointment. Final action on 25 
appointments to and removal from other boards, commissions, or other public bodies 26 
shall be taken in open session.  27 

(11) To consider information when state or federal law directs that the information be kept 28 
confidential or makes the confidentiality of the information a condition of state or 29 
federal aid.  30 

(12) To consider and adopt contingency plans for dealing with, and consider and take action 31 
relating to, strikes, slowdowns, and other collective employment interruptions.  32 

(13) To consider and take action necessary to deal with a riot or civil disorder or with 33 
conditions indicating that a riot or civil disorder is imminent.  34 

(14) To plan, conduct, or hear reports concerning investigations of alleged criminal 35 
misconduct. 36 

(15) To consider and decide matters concerning specific inmates of or security problems at 37 
the county jail or other correctional facility.  38 

(16) To consider and give instructions concerning the setting or negotiation of contracts, 39 
including leases, concerning the use of airport facilities. Final action approving landing 40 
fees or such a contract shall be taken in open session.  41 

4 
 

252



The board may hold closed sessions as provided by law.  The board shall commence a 1 
closed session only after a motion to go into closed session has been made and adopted 2 
during an open meeting.  The motion shall state the purpose of the closed session.  If the 3 
motion is based on N.C. Gen. Stat. §143-318.11(a)(1) (closed session to prevent the 4 
disclosure of privileged or confidential information or information that is not considered a 5 
public record), the motion must also state the citation of the law that renders the information 6 
to be discussed privileged or confidential.  If the motion is based on N.C. Gen. Stat. §143-7 
318.11(a)(3) (consultation with attorney; handling or settlement of claims, judicial actions, 8 
mediations, arbitrations, or administrative procedures), it must identify the parties in any 9 
existing lawsuits concerning which the public body expects to receive advice during the 10 
closed session.  The motion to go into closed session must be approved by the vote of a 11 
majority of those present and voting.  The board shall terminate the closed session by 12 
majority vote.  13 

(b) The board may go into executive session only upon motion made and adopted at an open 14 
meeting. The motion shall state the general purpose of the executive session and must be 15 
approved by a majority of those board members present and voting. Only those actions 16 
authorized by statute may be taken in closed session.  A motion to adjourn or recess shall 17 
not be in order in closed session. 18 

(c) Unless the motion to go into executive session provides otherwise, the county manager, 19 
county attorney, and clerk to the board shall attend the executive session. No other person 20 
shall attend the executive session unless specifically invited by majority vote of the board.  21 

Sec. 2-58. - Public hearings—Generally. 22 

Public hearings required by law or deemed advisable by the board shall be organized by a 23 
special order, adopted by a majority vote, setting forth the subject, date, place and time of the 24 
hearing as well as any rules regarding the length of time of each speaker. At the appointed time, 25 
the chair shall call the hearing to order and preside over it. When the allotted time expires or no 26 
one who has not yet spoken wishes to do so, the chair shall declare the hearing ended.  27 

Sec. 2-59. - Same—Quorum. 28 

A quorum of the board shall be required at all public hearings required by law.   29 

Sec. 2-60. - Broadcasting and recording of meetings. 30 

(a) Except as provided in this section, any radio or television station may broadcasting all or 31 
any part of an official board meeting required to be open to the public. Any person may 32 
photograph, film, tape record, or otherwise reproduce any part of a meeting required to be 33 
open.  34 

(b) Any radio or television station wishing to broadcast any portion of an official board meeting 35 
shall so notify the county manager no later than 24 hours before the meeting. If the number 36 
of requests or the quantity and size of the necessary equipment is such that the meeting 37 
cannot be accommodated in the designated meeting room and no suitable alternative site in 38 
the county is available, the county manager may require the news media to either pool 39 

5 
 

253



equipment and personnel or to secure and pay the costs of an alternative meeting site 1 
mutually agreeable to the board and the media representatives.  2 

Sec. 2-61. - Minutes. 3 

Minutes shall be kept of all board meetings.  4 

Sec. 2-62. - Election of chair. 5 

The chair of the board shall be elected annually and shall not be removed from the office of 6 
chair unless he the chair becomes disqualified to serve as a board member.  7 

Sec. 2-63. - Powers of chair. 8 

The chair shall preside at all meetings of the board. A member must be recognized by the 9 
chair in order to address the board. The chair shall have the power to:  10 

(1) Rule motions in or out of order, including the right to rule out of order any motion 11 
patently offered for obstructive or dilatory purpose;  12 

(2) Determine whether a speaker has gone beyond reasonable standards of courtesy in his 13 
remarks and entertain and rule on objections from other members on this ground;  14 

(3) Entertain and answer questions of parliamentary law or procedure; 15 

(4) Call a brief recess at any time; 16 

(5) Adjourn in an emergency. 17 

Sec. 2-64. - Presiding officer when chair is active in debate. 18 

If the chair wishes to debate a proposal actively, he shall designate another board member to 19 
preside. The chair shall resume the duty to preside as soon as action on the matter is concluded.  20 

Sec. 2-65. - Order of business. 21 

Items shall be placed on the agenda according to the order of business. The order of business 22 
for each regular meeting shall be as follows:  23 

(1) Approval of the minutes; 24 

(2) Discussion and adjustment of agenda; 25 

(3) Public hearings; 26 

(4) Administrative reports; 27 

(5) Matters pertaining to Gibbs Woods, Fruitville Township and Poplar Branch Township 28 
(Beach); 29 

(6) Committee reports; 30 

6 
 

254



(7) Unfinished business; 1 

(8) New business; 2 

(9) Informal discussion; 3 

(10) Budget amendment; 4 

(11) Announcements. 5 

Without objection, the chair may call items in any order most convenient for the dispatch of 6 
business.  7 

Sec. 2-66. - Agenda generally. 8 

(a) The clerk to the board shall prepare the agenda for each regular, special and emergency 9 
meeting. A request to have an item of business placed on the agenda must be received the 10 
Monday before the meeting. Any board member may, by a timely request, have an item 11 
placed on the agenda.  12 

(b) The agenda shall include, for each item of business placed on it, as much background 13 
information on the subject as is available and feasible to reproduce. A copy of all proposed 14 
ordinances shall be attached to the agenda. A copy of the agenda and attached materials 15 
shall be available for public inspection as soon as they are completed. Each board member 16 
shall receive a copy of the agenda. Copies may also be available for members of the public.  17 

(c) The board may, by majority vote, add an item that is not on the agenda. 18 

Sec. 2-67. - Appointments. 19 

The board shall use the following procedure to make appointments to fill vacancies in the 20 
board itself or in other boards and public offices over which the board has power of appointment:  21 

(1) The chair shall open the floor to nominations, whereupon the members shall put 22 
forward and debate names of possible appointees. When the debate ends, the chair shall 23 
call the roll of the members, and each member shall vote. The votes shall not be tallied 24 
until each member has voted. The nominee who receives the highest number of votes 25 
shall be appointed.  26 

(2) If more than one appointee is to be selected, then each member shall have as many 27 
votes as there are positions to be filled. A member may cast all his votes or less than all 28 
of them.  29 

   To make appointments to fill vacancies in other boards over which the board has power of 30 
appointment the board shall use the procedure set forth in sections 2-96 and 2-97 of this Code. 31 

Sec. 2-68. - Public address to board. 32 

Any individual or group who wishes to address the board shall make a request to be placed 33 
on the agenda to the clerk to the board. However, the board shall determine at the meeting 34 
whether it will hear the individual or group.  35 

7 
 

255



Sec. 2-69. - Informal public comments. 1 

The clerk to the board shall include on the agenda of each regular meeting time for 2 
comments or questions from the public in attendance on any item on the agenda or not on the 3 
agenda, so long as said the topic is not concerned with any matter that is the subject of a public 4 
hearing on that agenda. Each person wishing to address the board shall place his their name and 5 
address and the topic of his comments on the sign-up sheet. The county attorney chairman shall 6 
specify the time allotted to each speaker and shall chair the public comment portion of the 7 
agenda. When a speaker's time for informal public comments has expired, the county attorney 8 
shall advise the speaker accordingly and proceed to hearing the comments from the next speaker. 9 
This section in no way limits the board of commissioners from seeking comments from the 10 
public during their discussions on any agenda item.  11 

Sec. 2-70. - Motions generally. 12 

(a) Action by the board. The board shall proceed by motion. Any member, including the chair, 13 
may make a motion.  14 

(b) Second required. All motions shall require a second.  15 

(c) One motion at a time. A member may make only one motion at a time.  16 

(d) Adoption by majority vote. A motion shall be adopted by a majority of the votes cast, unless 17 
otherwise required by this division or state law.  18 

(e) Renewal. A motion that is defeated may be renewed at any subsequent meeting unless a 19 
motion to prevent reconsideration has been adopted.  20 

(f) Withdrawal. A motion may be withdrawn by the introducer at any time before a vote.   21 

Sec. 2-71. - Substantive motion. 22 

A substantive motion is out of order while another substantive motion is pending.  23 

Sec. 2-72. - Procedural motions. 24 

In addition to substantive proposals, the following procedural motions, and no others, shall 25 
be in order. Unless otherwise noted, each motion is debatable, may be amended, and requires a 26 
majority vote for adoption. In order or priority, if applicable, the procedural motions are:  27 

(1) To adjourn. The motion may be made only at the conclusion of action on a pending 28 
matter; it may not interrupt deliberation of a pending matter.  29 

(2) To recess.  30 

(3) To call to follow the agenda. The motion must be made at the first reasonable 31 
opportunity or it is waived.  32 

(4) To suspend the rules. The motion requires a vote equal to a quorum.  33 

(5) To divide a complex motion and consider it by paragraph.  34 

8 
 

256



(6) To defer consideration or table. A substantive motion whose consideration has been 1 
deferred or tabled expires 100 days thereafter unless a motion to revive consideration is 2 
adopted.  3 

(7) To call the previous question. The motion is not in order until there has been at least 20 4 
minutes of debate and every member has had one opportunity to speak.  5 

(8) To postpone to a certain time or day.  6 

(9) To refer to committee. Sixty days after a motion has been referred to a committee, the 7 
introducer may compel consideration of the measure by the entire board, regardless of 8 
where the committee has reported the matter back to the board.  9 

(10) To amend.  10 

a. An amendment to a motion must be germane to the subject matter of the motion, 11 
but it may achieve the opposite effect of the motion.  12 

b. There may be an amendment to the motion and an amendment to an amendment, 13 
but no further amendments. 14 

c. Any amendment to a proposed ordinance shall be reduced to writing on the call of 15 
any member, including the chairman. 16 

(11) To revive consideration. The motion is in order at any time 100 days after a vote to 17 
defer consideration of it. A substantive motion on which consideration has been 18 
deferred expires 100 days after the deferral, unless a motion to revive consideration is 19 
adopted.  20 

(12) To reconsider. The motion must be made by a member who voted with the prevailing 21 
side. The motion must be made at the same meeting at which the original vote was 22 
taken. The motion cannot interrupt deliberation on a pending matter, but is in order at 23 
any time before adjournment.  24 

(13) To prevent reconsideration for six months. The motion shall be in order immediately 25 
following the defeat of a substantive motion and at no other time. The motion requires a 26 
vote equal to a quorum and is valid for six months or until the next regular election of 27 
county commissioner board members, whichever occurs first.  28 

Sec. 2-73. - Debate. 29 

The chair shall state the motion and then open the floor to debate according to the following 30 
general principles:  31 

(1) The introducer, i.e., the member who made the motion, is entitled to speak first; 32 

(2) A member who has not spoken on the issue shall be recognized before someone who 33 
has spoken; 34 

(3) To the extent possible, the debate shall alternate between opponents and proponents of 35 
the measure. 36 

9 
 

257



Sec. 2-74. - Duty to vote. 1 

It is the duty of each member to vote unless excused by a majority vote according to law. 2 
The board may excuse members from voting on matters involving their own financial interest or 3 
personal conduct. A member who wishes to be excused from voting shall so inform the chair, 4 
who shall take a vote of the remaining members. A member who fails to vote, not having been 5 
excused, shall be recorded as voting in the affirmative.  6 

Sec. 2-75. - Secret voting prohibited. 7 

No vote may be taken by secret ballot. If the board decides to vote by written ballot, each 8 
member shall sign his ballot and the minutes shall record the vote of each member. These ballots 9 
shall be retained and made available for public inspection until the minutes of that meeting have 10 
been approved, when they may be destroyed.  11 

Sec. 2-76. - Action by reference. 12 

The board shall not deliberate, vote, or otherwise act on any matter by reference to an 13 
agenda or document number unless copies of the agenda or documents being referenced are 14 
available for public inspection at the meeting and are so worded that people at the meeting can 15 
understand what is being discussed or acted on.  16 

Sec. 2-77. - Introduction of ordinances, resolutions, orders. 17 

A proposed ordinance shall be deemed introduced at the first meeting where it is on the 18 
agenda, regardless of whether it is actually considered by the board, and its introduction shall be 19 
recorded in the minutes.  20 

Sec. 2-78. - Adoption of ordinances generally. 21 

To be adopted at the meeting at which it is first introduced, an ordinance or any action with 22 
the effect of an ordinance, except the budget ordinance, any bond order, or any other ordinance 23 
for which a public hearing must be held before the ordinance is adopted, must receive the 24 
approval of all members of the board of commissioners. If the proposed ordinance is approved 25 
by a majority but not by all the members of the board, or if the measure is not voted on at that 26 
meeting, it shall be considered at the next regular meeting of the board. If it then or at any time 27 
thereafter within 100 days of its introduction receives a majority of the votes cast, the ordinance 28 
is adopted.  29 

Sec. 2-79. - Adoption of budget ordinance. 30 

(a) Notwithstanding the provision of any general law or local act: 31 

(1) Any action with respect to the adoption or amendment of the budget ordinance may be 32 
taken at any regular or special meeting of the board by a simple majority of those 33 
present and voting;  34 

10 
 

258



(2) No action taken with respect to the adoption or amendment of the budget ordinance 1 
need be published or is subject to any other procedural requirement governing the 2 
adoption of ordinances or resolutions by the board;  3 

(3) The adoption and amendment of the budget ordinance and the levy of taxes in the 4 
budget ordinance are not subject to the provisions of any local act concerning initiative 5 
or referendum.  6 

(b) During the period beginning with the submission of the budget to the board and ending with 7 
the adoption of the budget ordinance, the board may hold any special meetings that may be 8 
necessary to complete its work on the budget ordinance. Except for the notice requirements 9 
of G.S. 143-318.12, which continue to apply, provisions of law concerning the call of a 10 
special meeting do not apply during the period so long as (1) each member of the board has 11 
actual notice of each special meeting called for the purpose of considering the budget; and 12 
(2) no business other than consideration of the budget is taken up. This section does not 13 
allow the holding of closed meetings or executive sessions by the board otherwise prohibited 14 
by law from holding such a meeting or session, and may not be construed to do so.   15 

Sec. 2-80. - Robert's Rules of Order. 16 

To the extent not provided for in this division and to the extent that the reference does not 17 
conflict with the spirit of this division or North Carolina law, the board shall refer to Robert's 18 
Rules of Order Newly Revised to resolve procedural questions.  19 

PART II.  The Code of Ordinances, Currituck County, North Carolina is amended by adding a 20 
new section to Chapter 2, Article III, Division 1 to read as follows: 21 

 22 

Sec. 2-100.  Terms and Meeting Attendance. 23 
     (a) Notwithstanding any other county ordinance, all appointments to county authorities, 24 
 boards and commissions shall be for a term of two years unless otherwise provided by 25 
 North Carolina law. 26 

     (b) To participate and vote in a meeting of a county authority, board or commission the 27 
 member must be physically present at the meeting.  The seat of a county authority, board  28 
 or commission shall be deemed vacant upon the member’s unexcused absence from 29 
 three consecutive meetings in a twelve month period of time and the board of 30 
 commissioners shall appoint a person to the vacated seat for the unexpired term in 31 
 accordance with sections 2-96 and 2-97. 32 

  33 

PART III.  The Code of Ordinances, Currituck County, North Carolina is amended by repealing 34 
Chapter 2, Article III, Division 2. 35 

PART IV.  The Code of Ordinances, Currituck County, North Carolina is amended by repealing 36 
Chapter 2, Article III, Division 3. 37 

PART V.  The Code of Ordinances, Currituck County, North Carolina is amended by adding a 38 
new division to Chapter 2, Article, III to read as follows: 39 

11 
 

259



DIVISION 2.  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 1 

Sec. 2-111. - Created.  2 

       The county economic development advisory board is created pursuant to G.S. 153A-76.   3 

 4 

Sec. 2-112. - Composition.  5 
The economic development advisory board shall be composed of seven members who are 6 

citizens of the county. One member of the board of commissioners, the county manager, the 7 
president of the Currituck County Chamber of Commerce or designee and a representative of the 8 
College of the Albemarle appointed by the board of commisioners shall be ex officio members 9 
without a vote.  10 

Sec. 2-113. - Appointment and terms of members.  11 
The citizen members of the county economic development advisory board shall be 12 

appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the board of commissioners in the manner set forth in 13 
sections 2-96 and 2-97.  The initial economic development advisory board is to consist of three 14 
appointees for a term of one year and four appointees for a term of two years.  Thereafter, all 15 
appointments are to be for terms of two years.  16 

The commissioner serving as an ex officio member shall be appointed by the board of 17 
commissioners on the first Monday in December to serve for a two-year term.  18 

Sec. 2-114. - Compensation of members.  19 

The citizen members of the county economic development advisory board shall be paid the 20 
sum per meeting provided by the board of commissioners in the county fee schedule and shall be 21 
reimbursed for expenses incurred by them in the course of their duties upon the presentation of 22 
proper vouchers for those expenses.  23 

Sec. 2-115. - Removal of members.  24 
The board of commissioners shall have the right to remove any member appointed to the 25 

economic development advisory board at will and appoint a replacement member.  26 

Sec. 2-116. - Duties.  27 
The economic development advisory board is charged with the following duties: 28 

(1) working closely with the county's economic development director in formulating and  29 
  recommending to the board of commissioners projects for carrying out an economic      30 
 development program through attraction of new industries, encouragement of agricultural 31 
 development and encouragement of new business and industrial ventures by local and 32 
 nonlocal capital; promoting and encouraging tourism, and to that end shall seek advice 33 
 and recommendations from the tourist industry; the study of tourist related services and 34 
 recommendation to the board of commissioners for enhancement of tourist related 35 
 services; and other activities of a similar nature; and 36 

12 
 

260

http://library.municode.com/HTML/12419/level4/COOR_CH2AD_ARTIIIAUBOCO_DIV1GE.html%23COOR_CH2AD_ARTIIIAUBOCO_DIV1GE_S2-96MEAPREBO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/12419/level4/COOR_CH2AD_ARTIIIAUBOCO_DIV1GE.html%23COOR_CH2AD_ARTIIIAUBOCO_DIV1GE_S2-97COTEOF


(2) investigating, studying, and making recommendations to the board of commissioners  1 
 pertaining to the construction, enlargement, improvement, maintenance, equipment, 2 
 operation and regulation of the county airport.  3 

Sec. 2-117. - Function as advisory body.  4 
The county  economic development advisory board shall have no legislative powers of its 5 

own but shall simply be an advisory body to the board of commissioners concerning the matters 6 
with which it is charged, and the board of commissioners will receive and consider the board's 7 
recommendations in the construction, enlargement, improvement, maintenance, equipment, 8 
operation, and regulation of the county airport and in the promotion, encouragement, and 9 
enhancement of tourism, and related services, and economic development within the county.  10 

Sec. 2-118. - Officers.  11 
The economic development advisory board shall appoint from its membership a chairman 12 

and any other officers as it may deem necessary for the orderly conduct of its business.  13 

Sec. 2-119. - Meetings.  14 
The economic development advisory board shall hold meetings once quarterly and at hours 15 

as may be fixed by the board. Special meetings may be held on call of the chairman upon 48 16 
hours' notice to the members of the board. A copy of the minutes of all meetings shall be sent to 17 
the county manager. All meetings or other business of the board shall be conducted in 18 
accordance with the Open Meetings Law.  19 

PART VI.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 20 
repealed. 21 

PART VII.  Part I and Part II of this ordinance are effective immediately upon adoption.  Part III, 22 
Part IV and Part V of this ordinance are effective January 1, 2014. 23 
  24 
 ADOPTED this 21st day of October, 2013. 25 
 26 
       ____________________________________ 27 
       S. Paul O’Neal, Chairman    28 
     29 
ATTEST: 30 
 31 
____________________________ 32 
Mary S. Gilbert 33 
Clerk to the Board 34 
 35 
 36 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 37 
____________________________ 38 
Donald I. McRee, Jr. 39 
County Attorney 40 
 41 
Date adopted:  ________________ 42 
 43 

13 
 

261



Motion to adopt by Commissioner ________________ 1 
Second by Commissioner _________________ 2 
Vote: _____ AYES   _____NAYS 3 
S:\Legal\Ordinances\ 4 

14 
 

262



CURRITUCK COUNTY 
NORTH CAROLINA 
October 7, 2013 

The Board of Commissioners met at 6:00 p.m. in the Historic Courthouse Conference Room with 
Eileen Wirth, Project Coordinator.  Ms. Wirth gave a presentation on a Golden Leaf Foundation 
grant proposal and received support for the three top scoring projects to be submitted.  Following 
Ms. Wirth’s presentation, Dan Scanlon, County Manager, presented the proposed Airport 
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) and noted the TIP would be on the next agenda for 
action.   

The Board of Commissioners met at 7:00 p.m. for its regularly scheduled meeting at the Historic 
Courthouse in the Board Meeting Room with the following members present: Chairman Paul 
O’Neal, Vice-Chair Paul Martin, Commissioners Aydlett, Gilbert, Griggs, McCord, and Petrey.   

Chairman O’Neal called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM and announced the Board of 
Commissioners had met in a work session for discussion and review of the Golden Leaf Grant 
and Airport TIP. 

A) Invocation
B) Pledge of Allegiance

Chairman O’Neal gave the invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

C) Approval of Agenda

Chairman O’Neal amended the agenda by adding Item (B) under Public Hearings – Action to 
approve Sale and Purchase Contract by and between Outer Banks Ventures, Inc. and Currituck 
County for county acquisition of 7,680 square foot lot located at 1102 Corolla Village Road.   
Commissioner Gilbert moved to approve the Agenda as amended.  Commissioner Martin 
seconded the motion.  Motion carried unanimously. 

APPROVED AGENDA 

Work Session 

6:00 PM Golden Leaf Grant and Airport Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 

7:00 pm Call to Order 
A) Invocation-Reverend Kimberly Ferebee, New Bethlehem Church of Christ/DC
B) Pledge of Allegiance
C) Approval of Agenda
D) Public Comment

Please limit comments to items not appearing on the regular agenda; please limit comments to 3
minutes

Public Hearings 
A) Consideration and Action: Public meeting to review an application for CAMA access grant at 1102

Corolla Village Road, Tax Map 115B, Parcel P10, Poplar Branch Beach Township. 
B) Action to approve Sale and Purchase Contract by and between Outer Banks Ventures, Inc. and Currituck

County for county acquisition of 7,680 square foot lot located at 1102 Corolla Village Road.   

263



 2 October 7, 2013 
 

  
Administrative Reports 

A) Video Presentation by NC Association of County Commissioners 
B) Presentation on Capital Funding by County Manager  

New Business 

A) Board Appointments: 
1. Appointment of Richard Labounty to Fire and EMS Advisory Board 
2. Appointment to Senior Citizen Advisory Board 

B) Consent Agenda: 
1. Approval of September 16, 2013 Minutes and September 23 and 24 Special Meeting 

Minutes 
2. Budget Amendments 
3. Project Ordinance for Design and Construction of the Animal Shelter 
4. CDBG Monthly Status Report 
5. Resolution-Surplus-Sheriff's Office 

C) Commissioner’s Report 
D) County Manager’s Report 

 
Closed Session 

Closed session pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §143-318.11(a)(3) to consult with the county attorney in order to 
preserve the attorney-client privilege and to consider and give instructions to the county attorney concerning the 
matters Swan Beach Corolla, LLC, et. al v. Currituck County, et. al, and Etheridge v. Currituck County . 
Adjourn 
 

D)  Public Comment 
 

Chairman O’Neal opened the Public Comment period. 
 
June Raffa, Harbinger, showed a pictorial presentation of the highway corridor from Coinjock 
south showing several dilapidated properties which need to be cleaned up.   
 
Commissioner Griggs asked if the County had an ordinance to deal with the problem.   
 
County Manager Scanlon noted there is an ordinance but enforcement of the ordinance was an 
issue.  
 
County Attorney Ike McRee was asked to review the process to bring properties into compliance 
and ultimately for demolition, if necessary.   
 
Commissioners instructed staff to move forward with enforcement of the ordinance and to 
provide a status report on the structures in Ms. Raffa’s photos.   
 
There being no further comments, Chairman O’Neal closed the Public Comment period. 
 
 
 

 

264



 3 October 7, 2013 
 

Public Hearings 
 

A) Consideration and Action: Public meeting to review an application for CAMA 
access grant at 1102 Corolla Village Road, Tax Map 115B, Parcel P10, Poplar 
Branch Beach Township 

 
Eileen Wirth, Project Coordinator, presented a proposal to apply for a CAMA access grant for 
a public bath house facility as well as an ADA accessible walkway on Corolla Village Road.  
She noted the pre-application had been accepted and the County was being asked to submit 
a complete application for $130,000 with a County match.  Location and preliminary 
renderings were shown.  She requested approval for submission of the grant application by 
approval of the following resolution: 
 

RESOLUTION *  
 

CAMA Public Beach and Coastal Waterfront Access Grant Program 
 

 WHEREAS, during a regular scheduled meeting on October 7, 2013 the Currituck County Board 
of Commissioners held a public hearing to receive comments on the proposed Corolla Village Road Bath 
House Facility to be constructed on property located at 1102 Corolla Village Road, Corolla, North 
Carolina; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners desires to improve public access and recreational 
opportunities on the Currituck beaches; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with its CAMA funded Water Access Plan, the County  desires to 
improve access to the Atlantic Ocean by constructing a bath house and an ADA accessible walkway; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the County of Currituck is submitting a grant application to the North Carolina 
Division of Coastal Management requesting funds in the amount of $130,000.00; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the County will match the grant with a cash contribution of 20% of the grant, in 
accordance with the requirements of the grant; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners for Currituck County 
that: 
 
 Section 1.  The Board of Commissioners, after receiving public comments on the proposed 
improvements to the Corolla Village Road Bath House Facility supports the CAMA Public Beach and 
Coastal Water Access Grant and agrees to match the grant with in cash to be paid for by Occupancy Tax. 
 
 Section 2.  The Board of Commissioners hereby authorizes the County Manager and other county 
officials who are authorized, to execute documents necessary to complete the grant application. 
 
 Section 3.  This resolution is effective upon its adoption. 
  
Commissioner Aydlett was pleased with the planned ADA access and potential for grant 
funding.   
 
Commissioner Petrey was concerned that the access remains free of sand. 
 

265



 4 October 7, 2013 
 

Chairman O’Neal noted this would be the only ocean to sound access in Corolla.   
 
Chairman O’Neal opened the public hearing.   
 
There being no comments, Chairman O’Neal closed the Public Hearing. 
 
Commissioner Aydlett moved to approve the resolution for CAMA Public Beach and Coastal 
Waterfront Access Grant.  Commissioner Gilbert seconded the motion.  Motion carried 
unanimously.  
 
 * Following the meeting, it was determined the resolution required a correction to 
reflect the County will match the grant with a cash contribution of 25% of the grant.  
The Board of Commissioners agreed to the increase.  Corrected Resolution follows: 
 

RESOLUTION  
 

CAMA Public Beach and Coastal Waterfront Access Grant Program 
 

 WHEREAS, during a regular scheduled meeting on October 7, 2013 the Currituck County Board 
of Commissioners held a public hearing to receive comments on the proposed Corolla Village Road Bath 
House Facility to be constructed on property located at 1102 Corolla Village Road, Corolla, North 
Carolina; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners desires to improve public access and recreational 
opportunities on the Currituck beaches; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with its CAMA funded Water Access Plan, the County  desires to 
improve access to the Atlantic Ocean by constructing a bath house and an ADA accessible walkway; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the County of Currituck is submitting a grant application to the North Carolina 
Division of Coastal Management requesting funds in the amount of $130,000.00; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the County will match the grant with a cash contribution of 25% of the grant, in 
accordance with the requirements of the grant; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners for Currituck County 
that: 
 
 Section 1.  The Board of Commissioners, after receiving public comments on the proposed 
improvements to the Corolla Village Road Bath House Facility supports the CAMA Public Beach and 
Coastal Water Access Grant and agrees to match the grant with in cash to be paid for by Occupancy Tax. 
 
 Section 2.  The Board of Commissioners hereby authorizes the County Manager and other county 
officials who are authorized, to execute documents necessary to complete the grant application. 
 
 Section 3.  This resolution is effective upon its adoption. 
  

B) Action to approve Sale and Purchase Contract by and between Outer Banks 
Ventures, Inc. and Currituck County for county acquisition of 7,680 square foot 
lot located at 1102 Corolla Village Road.   

  

266



 5 October 7, 2013 
 

Commissioner Petrey moved to approve purchase of the property.  Commissioner Gilbert 
seconded the motion.  Motion carried.   
 
Administrative Reports 

 

A) Video Presentation by NC Association of County Commissioners 
The Commissioners viewed the short video updating commissioners on Steering Committees 
and requesting Commissioners to participate.  An overview of an upcoming seminar on the 
Affordable Care Act and how it affects counties as well as the Association’s Risk Management 
Services was also covered.   
 

B) Presentation on Capital Funding by County Manager 
Dan Scanlon, County Manager, gave a presentation on the various funding sources received 
by the County for capital projects and improvements.  Each fund is kept in a separate bank 
account since it carries its own restrictions on how it can be expensed. Ad valorem taxes are 
used to fund government operations.   
 
Due to pre-planning and saving for capital projects, Currituck County has a low per-capita 
outstanding debt.  Commissioner Aydlett noted this was a reflection on good fiscal practices 
by the Board of Commissioners on the advice of Staff.  He thanked the County Manager and 
Finance Director.   
Commissioner Petrey also recognized past Boards for their foresight.  
        
New Business 
 

A) Board Appointments: 
1. Appointment of Richard Labounty to Fire and EMS Advisory Board 

 
Commissioner Aydlett moved to appoint Richard Labounty to Fire and EMS Advisory Board.  
Commissioner Gilbert seconded the motion.  Motion carried. 
 

2. Appointment to Senior Citizen Advisory Board 
 

Commissioner McCord moved to reappoint Doris Ballance.  Motion carried. 

B) Consent Agenda: 
1. Approval of September 16, 2013 Minutes and September 23 and 24 

Special Meeting Minutes 
2. Budget Amendments 
3. Project Ordinance for Design and Construction of the Animal Shelter 
4. CDBG Monthly Status Report 
5. Resolution-Surplus-Sheriff's Office 

 
Commissioner Martin moved to approve the Consent Agenda.  Commissioner Gilbert seconded 
the motion.  Motion carried unanimously.  
 

267



 6 October 7, 2013 
 

 

     
Debit 

 
Credit 

        

       

Increase Revenue 
or 

Account Number 
 

Account Description 
 

Increase Expense 
 

Decrease 
Expense 

        10441 514500 
 

Training & Education 
 

 $                    3,030  
  10441 545000 

 
Contract Services 

 
 $                    2,805  

  10441 590000 
 

Capital Outlay 
 

 $                    4,251  
  10441 590003 

 
Board Room Technology 

 
 $                    2,628  

  10460 592000 
 

Courthouse Projects 
 

 $                    2,500  
  10460 592000 

 
Courthouse Projects 

 
 $                    2,079  

  10660 561000 
 

Professional Services 
 

 $                    1,302  
  

10390 499900 
 

Appropriated Fund 
Balance 

   
 $                18,595  

        12541 545000 
 

Contract Services 
 

 $                  28,500  
  

12390 499900 
 

Appropriated Fund 
Balance 

   
 $                28,500  

        60808 561001 
 

Professional Services 
 

 $                  14,138  
  

60390 499900 
 

Appropriated Fund 
Balance 

   
 $                14,138  

        
        
     

 $                  61,233  
 

 $                61,233  

        
        Explanation: Various Departments - Carry forward funds from prior fiscal year for outstanding 

purchase orders in process at year end. 
  
 

P O #  Description   Amount    

 
20130368  Tyler Tech - training                         3,030    

 
20130375 

 Moffatt & Nichol - 
stormwater manual 

                        1,302    

 
20130382 

 Slait Consulting - Citrix 
Virtual Desktop 

                        2,805    

 
20130818 

 Coastal Engineering - 
Ocean Sands 

                      14,138    

 
20131529  Fire Services Evaluation                       28,500    

 
20131743  DSS Attic Access                         2,500    

 
20131753  Barracuda Web Filter                         4,251    

 
20131754  Board Room Equipment                         2,628    

 
20131758  Courthouse Projects                         2,079    

  
      

Net Budget Effect: Operating Fund (10) - Increased by $18,595 

   
Fire Services Fund (12) - Increased by $28,500. 

  

   
Ocean Sands Water & Sewer District Fund (60) - Increased by $14,138. 

 
 

268



 7 October 7, 2013 
 

     
Debit 

 
Credit 

        

       

Increase Revenue 
or 

Account Number 
 

Account Description 
 

Increase Expense 
 

Decrease 
Expense 

        
        66868 590000 

 
Capital Outlay 

 
 $                    6,302  

  66380 484001 
 

Insurance Recovery 
   

 $                  6,302  

        
        
     

 $                    6,302  
 

 $                  6,302  

        
        Explanation: Southern Outer Banks Water System (66868) - Increase appropriations to replace 

equipment at the SOBWS water treatment plant that was hit by lightning on June 
29, 2013   

  Net Budget Effect: Southern Outer Banks Water System Fund (66) - Increased by $6,302. 
 
 
 
 
 

     
Debit 

 
Credit 

        

       

Increase Revenue 
or 

Account Number 
 

Account Description 
 

Increase Expense 
 

Decrease 
Expense 

        10511 590000 
 

Capital Outlay 
 

 $                  41,292  
  10511 545000 

 
Contract Services 

   
 $                  8,000  

10380 484001 
 

Insurance Recovery 
   

 $                33,292  

        
        
     

 $                  41,292  
 

 $                41,292  

        
        Explanation: Jail (10511) - Replace cameras in the Detention Center that were struck by 

lightning. 
  Net Budget Effect: Operating Fund (10) - Increased by $33,292. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

269



 8 October 7, 2013 
 

     
Debit 

 
Credit 

        

       

Increase Revenue 
or 

Account Number 
 

Account Description 
 

Increase Expense 
 

Decrease 
Expense 

        10640 516200 
 

Vehicle Maintenance 
 

 $                       750  
  10640 514100 

 
Camp Transportation 

   
 $                     750  

        
        
     

 $                       750  
 

 $                     750  

        
        Explanation: Cooperative Extension (10640) - Transfer funds to repair Extension van. 

Net Budget Effect: Operating Fund (10) - No change. 
 
 

     
Debit 

 
Credit 

        

       

Increase Revenue 
or 

Account Number 
 

Account Description 
 

Increase Expense 
 

Decrease 
Expense 

        10535 516200 
 

Vehicle Maintenance 
 

 $                    1,000  
  10535 532000 

 
Supplies 

   
 $                  1,000  

        
        
     

 $                    1,000  
 

 $                  1,000  

        
        Explanation: Emergency Management (10535) - Transfer budgeted funds for repairs and tires for 

the Emergency Management vehicle. 
  Net Budget Effect: Operating Fund (10) - No change. 

 
 

     
Debit 

 
Credit 

        

       

Increase Revenue 
or 

Account Number 
 

Account Description 
 

Increase Expense 
 

Decrease 
Expense 

        10330 445500 
 

Soil Conservation 
 

 $                    8,417  
  

10390 499900 
 

Fund Balance 
Appropriated 

   
 $                  8,417  

        
        
     

 $                    8,417  
 

 $                  8,417  

        
270



 9 October 7, 2013 
 

        Explanation: Soil Conservation (10606) - To record actual Soil Conservation reimbursement 
allocation projected by the State. 

  
  Net Budget Effect: Operating Fund (10) - No change. 

 
 
 
 
 

     
Debit 

 
Credit 

        

       

Increase Revenue 
or 

Account Number 
 

Account Description 
 

Increase Expense 
 

Decrease 
Expense 

        50535 590001 
 

800 MHz project 
 

 $                  14,877  
  50330 445000 

 
EMPG Grant Funds 

   
 $                14,877  

        
     

 $                  14,877  
 

 $                14,877  

        
        Explanation: 800 MHz Radio Project (50535) - Record EMPG Grant funding to purchase 3 

additional 800 MHz radios for Currituck Emergency Management. 
  Net Budget Effect: County Governmental Construction Fund (50) - Increased by $14,877. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

     
Debit 

 
Credit 

        

       

Increase Revenue 
or 

Account Number 
 

Account Description 
 

Increase Expense 
 

Decrease 
Expense 

        10511 590000 
 

Capital Outlay 
 

 $                  13,000  
  10511 547000 

 
Meals 

   
 $                13,000  

        
     

 $                  13,000  
 

 $                13,000  

        
        Explanation: Jail (10511) - Transfer funds to capital outlay to replace one of the natural gas hot 

water heaters at the detention center. 
  Net Budget Effect: Operating Fund (10) - No change. 

 

271



 10 October 7, 2013 
 

COUNTY OF CURRITUCK 
CAPITAL PROJECT ORDINANCE 
 
 
BE IT ORDAINED by the Currituck County Board of Commissioners, North Carolina that pursuant to 
Section 13.2 of Chapter 159 of the General Statutes of North Carolina, the following capital project 
ordinance is hereby adopted: 
 
 
SECTION 1. The project authorized design and construction of an Animal Shelter to be located at the 
Maple Commerce Park. 
 
 
SECTION 2. The following amounts are appropriated for the project: 

 

     Contracted Services 2,066,348$      
     Professional Services 234,625           
     Contingencies 199,027           

2,500,000$      

 
 

SECTION 3. The following revenues are available to complete this project: 
 

T F - Land Transfer Tax - FY 2014 Appropriation 1,740,000$       
T F - Land Transfer Tax - FY 2015 Appropriaiton 760,000$          

2,500,000$       

 
 
SECTION 4. The Finance Director is hereby directed to report, on a quarterly basis, on the financial 
status of each project element delineated in Section 2 above. 
 
 
SECTION 5.  SPECIAL APPROPRIATIONS AND RESTRICTIONS 
 

The Budget Officer is hereby authorized to transfer appropriations within the fund as contained herein 
under the following conditions: 
 
a. He may transfer amounts between object line items within the fund up to 

One Thousand dollars ($1,000). 
 
 

SECTION 6.  CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 
 

The County Manager is hereby authorized to execute contractual documents under the following 
conditions: 
 
a. He may execute contracts for construction or repair projects which do not 

require formal competitive bid procedures. 
 

b. He may execute contracts for (1) purchases of apparatus, supplies, and 
materials, or equipment which are within the budgeted departmental appropriations; (2) leases of 
personal property for a duration of one year or less and within budgeted departmental 
appropriations; and (3) services which are within budgeted departmental appropriations. 
 

272



 11 October 7, 2013 
 

c. He may execute contracts, as the lessor or lessee of real property, which are of a 
duration of one year or less which are within the budgeted departmental appropriations. 

 
 

SECTION 7.  USE OF BUDGET ORDINANCE 
 

The Budget Officer and the Finance Director shall use this capital project ordinance for administration 
of the budget and for the accounting system. 

 
 

RESOLUTION 
SURPLUS PROPERTY 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Currituck County, North Carolina during its 
regular meeting held on October 7, 2013, authorized the following property listed below, 
be declared surplus and disposed of; and 
 
WHEREAS, Sheriff Johnson has requested that upon the retirement of Deputy Robert 
J. Maxwell that his duty weapon, a Glock 22 handgun, serial # PVF932 US be given to 
him.  Mr. Maxwell has made the request to purchase same upon his retirement.  
 
 

C) Commissioner’s Report 
 

Commissioner McCord attended Bark in the Park and noted it was a nice event and well-
attended. 
Commissioner Martin reminded everyone about the Civil War Encampment scheduled for the 
upcoming weekend. 
Commissioner Aydlett announced the dedication of a new fire apparatus in memory of Scott 
Morrison by Knotts Island Volunteer Fire Department on October 12.  The fire department 
thanked the Board of Commissioners and Staff for their support and invited everyone to the 
event. 
Commissioner Aydlett also commended Don Cheek and Corolla Light Resort upon receiving the 
State of North Carolina Resort Community of the Year Award for 2013.  
Chairman O’Neal announced a meeting on October 14 in New Bern regarding flood insurance 
which he planned to attend.  Commissioner Aydlett and County Manager Scanlon were to 
accompany him.     
 

D) County Manager’s Report 
Mr. Scanlon congratulated Ben Woody on his 7th wedding anniversary which was the reason he 
was not in attendance. 
 
Closed Session 
Commissioner Gilbert moved to enter closed session pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §143-
318.11(a)(3) to consult with the county attorney in order to preserve the attorney-client privilege 
and to receive advice and give direction to the county attorney regarding matters entitled 
Etheridge v. Currituck County  and  Swan Beach Corolla, LLC, v. Currituck County.  
Commissioner Petrey seconded the motion.  Motion carried.  
 

273



 12 October 7, 2013 
 

 
Adjourn 

After returning to open session, no action was taken.  There being no further business, 
Commissioner Aydlett moved to adjourn.  Commissioner Gilbert seconded the motion.  The 
meeting was adjourned. 

 

274



Number 2014020

Debit Credit

Decrease Revenue or Increase Revenue or
Account Description Increase Expense Decrease Expense

10752-514003 Travel-Spec. Adopt. 73$   
10330-530600 Elderly & Disabled Transportation 310$   2,997$   
10752-532003 Supplies-Spec. Adopt. 598$   
10330-432200 HCCBG In Home 4,476$   
10752-545003 Contracted Serv-Spec. Adopt. 5,539$   
10390-499900 Fund Appropriate Balance 7,900$   
10752-561003 Prof Services-Spec. Adopt. 8,444$   
10752-519600 Child Daycare 18,954$   
10330-431000 DSS Administration 18,790$   
10330-431800 Foster Care & Boarding Home 213$   
10330-432800 Daycare 18,954$   
10560-519701 HCCBG -Access Services 2,033$   
10560-545000 Contracted Services 310$   
10752-519700 HCCBG - In Home 2,997$   

46,294$   46,294$   

Explanation:

Minute Book # ___________,  Page # ________________

Journal # _____________________ Clerk to the Board

BUDGET AMENDMENT

The Currituck County Board of Commissioners, at a meeting on the 21st day of October, 2013, passed the 
following amendment to the budget resolution for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2014.

Account Number

PUBLIC ASSISTANCE (752) - Adjust to State Funding Authorizations and carry forward Special Adoption 
funds.  INTER COUNTY TRANSPORTATION (560)-Adjust to State Funding Authorizations.  REVENUE 
(330)-Adjust to the State Funding Authorizations.

Net Budget Effect: Operating Fund (10) - Decreased by $22,894.

275



Number 2014021

Debit Credit

Decrease Revenue or Increase Revenue or
Account Description Increase Expense Decrease Expense

10440 545000 Contract Services 10,000$                      
10440 514000 Travel 3,500$                        
10445 545000 Contract Services 4,700$                        
10445 514000 Travel 2,000$                        
10350 468000 Sale of Fixed Assets 10,000$                    
10320 410000 Deed Stamp Excise Tax 10,200$                    

20,200$                      20,200$                    

Explanation:

Minute Book # ___________,  Page # ________________

Journal # _____________________ Clerk to the Board

BUDGET AMENDMENT

The Currituck County Board of Commissioners, at a meeting on the 21st day of October, 2013, passed the 
following amendment to the budget resolution for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2014.

Account Number

Finance (10440), Human Resources (10445) - Increase appropriations for Tyler Technologies/MUNS onsite 
training for Payroll/Human Resource and General Billing and for increased usage of GovDeals governmental 
auctions for disposal of surplus assets.

Net Budget Effect: Operating Fund (10) - Increased by $20,200.

276



Number 2014022

Debit Credit

Decrease Revenue or Increase Revenue or
Account Description Increase Expense Decrease Expense

50795 590002 Lawn/Field Maintenance Equipment 275,000$                    
50380 481000 Investment Earnings 275,000$                  

275,000$                    275,000$                  

Explanation:

Minute Book # ___________,  Page # ________________

Journal # _____________________ Clerk to the Board

BUDGET AMENDMENT

The Currituck County Board of Commissioners, at a meeting on the 21st day of October, 2013, passed the 
following amendment to the budget resolution for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2014.

Account Number

Maple Commununity Park (50795) - Equipment to maintain landscaping and fields at the Maple Commerce 
Park/Recreation facilities.

Net Budget Effect: County Governmental Construction Fund (50) - Increased by $275,000.

277



Number 2014023

Debit Credit

Decrease Revenue or Increase Revenue or
Account Description Increase Expense Decrease Expense

68888 590000 Capital Outlay 140,000$                    
68330 448800 Walnut Island POA 66,225$                    
68390 499900 Appropriated Retained Earnings 73,775$                    

140,000$                    140,000$                  

Explanation:

Minute Book # ___________,  Page # ________________

Journal # _____________________ Clerk to the Board

BUDGET AMENDMENT

The Currituck County Board of Commissioners, at a meeting on the 21st day of October, 2013, passed the 
following amendment to the budget resolution for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2014.

Account Number

Walnut Island Sewer District (68888) - Increase appropriations for road improvements in the Walnut Island 
Sewer District.  This will utilize funds that came from the Walnut Island Sewer District upon dissolution and 
additional funds from the Property Owners Association.

Net Budget Effect: Walnut Island Sewer District (68) - Increased by $140,000.

278



Number 2014024

Debit Credit

Decrease Revenue or Increase Revenue or
Account Description Increase Expense Decrease Expense

42450 587067 T T - Moyock Central Sewer Operations 53,000$                      
42320 414000 Land Transfer Tax 53,000$                    

67878 561000 Professional Services 53,000$                      
67390 495042 T F - Transfer Tax Capital Fund 53,000$                    

106,000$                    106,000$                  

Explanation:

Moyock Central Sewer Fund (67) - Increased by $53,000.

Minute Book # ___________,  Page # ________________

Journal # _____________________ Clerk to the Board

BUDGET AMENDMENT

The Currituck County Board of Commissioners, at a meeting on the 21st day of October, 2013, passed the 
following amendment to the budget resolution for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2014.

Account Number

Land Transfer Tax Capital Fund (42450);Moyock Central Sewer Operations (67878) - Increase 
appropriations for an Environmental Assessment for the Moyock Central Sewer System.

Net Budget Effect: Transfer Tax Capital Fund (42) - Increased by $53,000.

279



Number 2014025

Debit Credit

Decrease Revenue or Increase Revenue or
Account Description Increase Expense Decrease Expense

57878 594500 Contract Services 12,400$                      
57878 596100 Professional Services 12,400$                    

12,400$                      12,400$                    

Explanation:

Minute Book # ___________,  Page # ________________

Journal # _____________________ Clerk to the Board

BUDGET AMENDMENT

The Currituck County Board of Commissioners, at a meeting on the 21st day of October, 2013, passed the 
following amendment to the budget resolution for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2014.

Account Number

Moyock Central Sewer Construction Fund (57) - Transfer budgeted funds to complete the Moyock VFD 
Sewer connection.

Net Budget Effect: Moyock Central Sewer Construction Fund (57) -No change.

280



Division of Aviation Minimums:

1. Southern Parallel Taxiway Construction of the southern parallel taxiway between the Runway 5 End and the existing stub taxiway, including lighting and signage.  With the completion of this project, the 
airport will have a full parallel taxiway which will significantly improve the safety of the airport by eliminating the need to use the Runway to back taxi to the runway end. 2014 2,800,000.00$           

2. Replace Runway 5 PAPI This project includes replacement of the existing Runway 5 PAPI with a new 2-Box PAPI in the same location as the existing.  Vision 100 Funds will be utilized for this project. 2014 37,500.00$  

3. Airport Layout Plan and Property Map Update This project include updating the Airport Layout Plan.  The most recent update was performed in 2002.  The update will include evaluation of the current runway length and 
review the potential for a future extension, as well as developing a terminal area plan that will work together with the adjacent industrial park. 2015 100,000.00$              

4. GCO Installation of a Ground Communications Outlet 2016 30,000.00$  

Division of Aviation Recommended:

5. Corporate Area Apron
With the completion of the parallel taxiway, the Airport will only have 3 available parking positions on the terminal ramp and 12 spaces on the ramp area between the fuel farm 
and hangars.  The airport often has multiple corporate jets on the ramp at the same time which creates issues with other aircraft safely manuvering throught the terminal area.  
This project includes design and construction of a new aircraft parking located north of the existing hangar development.

2015 1,940,000.00$           

6. Emergency Generator Provide backup generator for airfield lighting vault to allow for airfield lighting to be maintained during a prolonged power outage.  This is especially critical during hurricane 
season when the airport is a vital resource for emergency response to northeastern North Carolina. 2016 100,000.00$              

7. Non Precision Approach Localizer and DME Installation 2018 800,000.00$              

8. Precision CAT I approach with 200' minimum and 3/4 mile visibility Land Acquisition off Runway 5 End between US 158 and existing high voltage power line to prevent land uses incompatible with future RPZ and approaches, appraisals, survey 
and environmental. 2019 2,500,000.00$           

9. Precision CAT I approach with 200' minimum and 3/4 mile visibility Relocate Power Line off Runway 5 End to accommodate future approaches and runway extension 2020 16,000,000.00$         

10. Precision CAT I approach with 200' minimum and 3/4 mile visibility Precision Instrument Approach (including glide slope, land acquisition and relocation of portions of Maple Road outside TERPS surface) 2020 2,200,000.00$           

Additional Airport Requested Projects:

11. Fuel System Refurbishment The existing fuel system is currently in need of repair to both improve the performance and safety of the system.  At this time only minor improvements are being made with the 
plan to install a new fuel farm in the future.  Vision 100 funds will be utilized for this project. 2014 50,000.00$  

12. Stormwater Management Plan A stormwater management plan for future development is needed to review stormwater management requirements in the coastal counties and determine if any stormwater 
treatment facilities would be required to meet local or state requirements. 2016 75,000.00$  

13. Fuel Farm Includes construction of one new 12,000 Gallon AVGAS Fuel Tank and one new 12,000 Gallon Jet A Fuel Tank with Self Service Card Reader.  Fuel system would be 
construction adjacent to new corporate area parking apron proposed to be constructed in 2015.  The Airport intents to reserve Vision 100 funds to complete this project. 2016 450,000.00$              

14. Corporate Hangar Includes construction of 10,000 SF Corporate Hangar and 3,000 SF office space for future corporate tenants of the airport 2017 1,200,000.00$           

15. Runway Extension Justification and Environmental Assessment for Runway
Extension to 6,500' Perform Justification Study to extend Runway 5-23 to 6,500' and complete necessary Environmental Assessment for the Runway 5-23 Extension 2017 150,000.00$              

16. 10-Unit T-Hangar and Hangar Taxiway/Apron (Phase I) Construction of one new 10-unit T-Hangar and Hangar Taxiway and Apron Site work and Paving 2017 1,125,000.00$           

17. Runway Strengthening/Rehabilitation Strengthen Runway to 100,000lb dual wheel strength to support larger jet and transport aircraft traffic 2018 3,450,000.00$           

18. 1000' Runway 5 Extension and parallel taxiway extension Extension of Runway 5 by 600 feet and Runway 23 by 400' to provide total 6500' runway, including wetland mitigation for Runway 23 Extension 2019 2,600,000.00$           

19. 10-Unit T-Hangar (2) and Hangar Taxiway/Apron (Phase II) Construction of two new 10-unit T-Hangars and Hangar Taxiway and Apron Site work and Paving 2019 2,015,000.00$           

20. 25,000 SF Corporate Hangar, Apron, Parking and Access Road Construction of new 25,000 SF hangar for corporate use, construction of taxilane, apron for airside access to the hangar and access road and parking for landside access. 2019 2,830,000.00$           

21. Airfield Maintenance Equipment and Storage Building Building to provide storage for airfield maintenance equipment and ARFF Equipment 2020 150,000.00$              

22. Approach Light System Design and Construction for Medium Intensity Approach Light System 2020 500,000.00$              

Total all improvements 41,102,500$             

Signed Date

Name & Title (print)

CURRITUCK REGIONAL AIRPORT
TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (TIP)

2014 - 2020 PROJECT LISTING

usaiusus

I CERTIFY THAT THE PROJECTS REQUESTED IN THIS 2014 – 2020 TIP SUBMISSION HAVE BEEN REVIEWED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE SPONSOR RESPONSIBLE FOR FUNDING THE LOCAL SHARE OF THE PROJECT AND THAT SAID BOARD HAS FORMALLY 
APPROVED THE SUBMISSION OF THESE REQUESTS FOR STATE AID TO AIRPORTS (AND THE STATE BLOCK GRANT PROGRAM WHERE APPLICABLE)

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
FISCAL 
YEAR

 TOTAL EST. 
COST 

281



RUNWAY 5-23 (5500'X150') EXISTING

CURRITUCK  COUNTY

MAPLE  COMPLEX

N34Á59'49"E(TRUE)

CURRITUCK  COUNTY

MAPLE  COMPLEX

Talbert & Bright Inc.
4810 Shelley Drive

Wilmington, NC 28405
910-763-5350

282



NORTH CAROLINA   DECLARATION OF RESTRICTIVE 
 COVENANTS 

CURRITUCK COUNTY  

This Declaration, made this ______ day of ________________, 2013, by COUNTY OF CURRITUCK, a body 
corporate and politic existing under the laws of the State of North Carolina, made with reference to the following 
facts: 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the County of Currituck, (the "County"), is the owner of that certain real property in the 
County of Currituck, State of North Carolina, described in Exhibit A attached hereto and by this reference 
incorporated herein, and known as MAPLE COMMERCE PARK; and 

WHEREAS, Maple Commerce Park is being developed as a planned business/industrial park.  It is the 
County's desire and intention to subject the real property in said business park to certain covenants, conditions, 
and restriction for the benefit of the property, Maple Commerce Park, and the purchasers of lots in Maple 
Commerce Park.  It is intended that said covenants, conditions, and restrictions bind and benefit not only said 
purchasers and Maple Commerce Park but also their respective successors, heirs, and assigns and that all lots in 
Maple Commerce Park should be held, used, leased, sold, and conveyed subject to the covenants, conditions, and 
restrictions set forth in this Declaration; and 

WHEREAS, it is the intention of the County to further a plan of subdivision by means of the covenants, 
conditions, and restrictions set forth in this Declaration.  Said covenants, conditions, and restrictions are intended 
to be common to all of the lots in Maple Commerce Park and to enhance and protect the value desirability, and 
attractiveness of all such lots to their mutual benefit. 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises for the purposes herein expressed, Declarant 
does hereby set forth and declare the following restrictions and does hereby covenant and agree to and with all 
persons, firms and corporations, now or hereafter acquiring any property within Maple Commerce Park and 
located on the lands described in Exhibit A to this instrument, that the said property is now and shall hereafter be 
subject to the following conditions and restrictions: 

ARTICLE I 
Definitions 

Unless the context otherwise specifies or requires, the terms defined in this Article I shall, as used in this 
Declaration, have the meanings herein set forth: 

1.1 Architect.  The term "architect" shall mean a person holding a certificate of registration to practice 
architecture in the State of North Carolina under the authority of Chapter 83A of the North Carolina General 
Statutes. 

1.2 Beneficiary.  The term "beneficiary" shall mean a mortgagee under a mortgage as well as a beneficiary 
under a deed of trust. 

1.3 Declarant.  The term "Declarant" shall mean County of Currituck and, to the extent provided in Article 
VIII of this Declaration, its successors and assigns. 

1.4 Declaration.  The term "Declaration" shall mean this Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and 
Restrictions for Maple Commerce Park, as it may from time to time be amended or supplemented. 

283



1.5 Deed of Trust. The term "deed of trust" shall mean a mortgage as well as a deed of trust. 
 
1.6 Maple Commerce Park.  The term "Maple Commerce Park" shall be synonymous with the term 

"subject property" and shall mean all of the real property now or hereafter made subject to this Declaration. 
 
1.7 Improvement--Improvements.  The term "improvement" or "improvements" shall include buildings, 

outbuildings, roads, parking areas, fences, screening walls and barriers, retaining walls, stairs, decks, waterlines, 
sewers, electrical and gas distribution facilities, hedges, windbreaks, plantings, planted trees and shrubs, poles, 
signs, loading areas, and all other structures, installations, and landscaping of every type and kind, whether above 
or below the land surface. 

 
1.8 Lot.  The term "lot" shall mean a fractional part of the subject property as subdivided on subdivision or 

parcel maps recorded from time to time in the Currituck County Registry. 
 
1.9 Mortgage.  The term "mortgage" shall mean a deed of trust as well as a mortgage. 
 
1.10 Mortgagee.  The term "mortgagee" shall mean a beneficiary under, or holder of, a deed of trust as 

well as a mortgagee under a mortgage. 
 
1.11 Occupant.  The term "Occupant" shall mean a lessee or licensee of an Owner, or any other person or 

entity other than an Owner in lawful possession of a lot with the permission of the Owner. 
 
1.12 Owner.  The term "Owner" shall mean and refer to any person or entity that is the recorded Owner 

of fee simple title to any lot, excluding any entity or person who holds such interest as security for the payment of 
an obligation, but including contract sellers and any mortgagee or other security holder in actual possession of a 
lot. 

 
1.13 Record--Recorded--Recordation.  The terms "record," "recorded," or "recordation" shall mean, with 

respect to any document, the recordation of said document in the Currituck County Registry. 
 
1.14 Sign.  The term "sign" shall mean any structure, device, or  contrivance, electric or nonelectric, upon 

or within which any poster, bill, bulletin printing, lettering, painting, device, or other advertising of any kind 
whatsoever is used, placed, posted, tacked, nailed, pasted, or otherwise fastened or affixed. 

 
1.15 Street--Streets.  The term "street" or "streets" shall mean any street, highway, road, or thoroughfare 

within or adjacent to the subject property and shown on any recorded subdivision or parcel map, or record of 
survey, whether designated thereon as street, boulevard, place, drive, road, court, terrace, way, lane, circle, or 
otherwise. 

 
1.16 Subject Property.  The term "subject property" shall be synonymous with the term "Maple 

Commerce Park" and shall mean all of the real property now or hereafter made subject to this Declaration. 
 
1.17 Visible from Neighboring Property.  The term "visible from neighboring property" shall mean, with 

respect to any given object on a lot, that such object is or would be visible to a person six (6) feet tall, standing on 
any part of any adjacent lot or other property at an elevation no greater than the elevation of the base of the 
object being viewed. 

284



 
 
 ARTICLE II 
 Subject Property 
 

2.1 General Declaration.  Declarant hereby declares that all of that real property identified as Maple 
Commerce Park, located in Crawford Township, County of Currituck, State of North Carolina, and more particularly 
described in Exhibits A and B is, and shall be, conveyed, hypothecated, encumbered, leased, occupied, built upon 
or otherwise used, improved, or transferred in whole or in part, subject to this Declaration.  All of the covenants, 
conditions, and restrictions set forth herein are declared and agreed to be in furtherance of a general plan for the 
subdivision, improvement, and sale of said real property and are established for the purpose of enhancing and 
protecting the value, desirability, and attractiveness of the subject property and every part thereof.  All of said 
covenants, conditions, and restrictions shall run with all of the subject property for all purposes and shall be 
binding upon and inure to the benefit of Declarant and all Owners, Occupants, and their successors in interest as 
set forth in this Declaration. 

 
2.2 Addition of Other Realty.  Declarant may at any time during the pendency of this Declaration add all 

or a portion of any real property now or hereinafter owned by Declarant to the subject property, and upon 
recording of a notice of addition of real property containing at least the provisions set forth in Section 2.3, the 
provisions of these Declarations specified in said notice shall apply to such added real property in the same 
manner as if it were originally covered by this Declaration.  Thereafter, to the extent that this Declaration is made 
applicable thereto, the rights, powers, and responsibilities of Declarant and the Owners and Occupants of lots 
within such added real property shall be the same as in the case of the real property described in Exhibits A and B. 

 
2.3 Notice of Addition to Land.  The notice of addition of real property referred to in Section 2.2 shall 

contain at least the following provisions: 
 
(a) A reference to this Declaration stating the date of recording and the book or books of the records of 

the Currituck County Registry, and the page numbers where this Declaration is recorded; 
 
(b) A statement that the provisions of this Declaration, or some specified part thereof, shall apply to such 

added real property; 
 
(c) A legal description of such added real property; and 
  
(d) Such other or different covenants, conditions, and restrictions as Declarant shall, in its discretion, 

specify to regulate and control the use, occupancy, and improvements of such added real property. 
 
 ARTICLE III 
 Construction of Improvements 
 

3.1 Approval of Plans Required.  No improvements shall be erected, placed, altered, maintained, or 
permitted or remain on any lot by any Owner or Occupant until final plans and specifications shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by Declarant.  Such final plans and specifications shall be submitted in 
duplicate over the authorized signature of the Owner or Occupant or both of the lot or the authorized agent 
thereof.  Such plans and specifications shall be in such form and shall contain such information as may be required 
by the Declarant but shall in any event include the following: 

 
(a) A site development plan of the lot showing the nature, grading scheme, kind, shape, composition, and 

location of all structures with respect to the particular lot (including proposed front, rear, and side setback lines), 
and with respect to structures on adjoining lots, and the number and location of all parking spaces and driveways 
on the lot; 

 

285



(b) A landscaping plan for the particular lot; 
 
(c) A plan for the location of signs and lighting; and 
 
(d) A building elevation plan showing dimensions, materials, and exterior color scheme in no less detail 

than required by the appropriate governmental authority for the issuance of a building permit.  Material changes 
in approved plans must be similarly submitted to and approved by Declarant. 

 
3.2 Basis for Approval.  Approval shall be based, among other things, upon compliance with the Design 

Guidelines prepared for the subject property, including adequacy of site dimensions, adequacy of structural 
design, conformity and harmony of external design with neighboring structures, effect of location and use of 
proposed improvements upon neighboring lots, proper facing of main elevation with respect to nearby streets, 
adequacy of screening of mechanical, air-conditioning, or other roof-top installations, and conformity of the plans 
and specifications to the purpose and general plan and intent to this Declaration.  No plans will be approved that 
do not provide for the underground installation of power, electrical, telephone, and other utility lines from the 
property line to buildings. 

Plans that provide for metal-clad buildings will be approved only on the conditions that such buildings are 
constructed so as not to have the appearance of a pre-engineered metal building, are designed by an architect, 
and are specifically approved in writing by Declarant.  Declarant shall not arbitrarily or unreasonably withhold its 
approval of any plans and specifications.  Except as otherwise provided in this Declaration, Declarant shall have the 
right to disapprove any plans and specifications submitted hereunder on any reasonable grounds including, but not 
limited to, the following: 

 
(a) Failure to comply with any of the restrictions set forth in this Declaration; 
 
(b) Failure to include information in such plans and specifications as may have been reasonably requested 

by Declarant; 
 
(c) Objection to the exterior design, the appearance of materials, or materials employed in any proposed 

structure; 
 
(d) Objection on the ground of incompatibility of any proposed structure or use with existing structures or 

uses upon other lots, or other property in the vicinity of the subject property; 
 
(e) Objection to the location of any proposed structure with reference to other lots, or other property in 

the vicinity; 
 
(f) Objection to the grading or landscaping plan for any lot; 
 
(g) Objection to the color scheme, finish, proportions, style of architecture, height, bulk, or 

appropriateness of any structure; 
 
(h) Objection to the number or size of parking spaces, or to the design of the parking area; 
 
(i) Any other matter that, in the judgment of the Declarant, would render the proposed improvements or 

use inharmonious with the general plan for improvement of the subject property or with improvements located 
upon other lots or other property in the vicinity. 

 
3.3 Review Fee.  An architectural review fee shall be paid to Declarant at such time as plans and 

specifications are submitted to it based upon a schedule adopted from time to time by Declarant. 
 
3.4 Result of Inaction.  If Declarant fails either to approve or disapprove plans and specifications 

submitted to it for approval within forty-five (45) days after the same have been submitted, it shall be conclusively 

286



presumed that Declarant has disapproved said plans and specifications; provided, however, that if within the forty-
five (45)-day period Declarant gives written notice of the fact that more time is required for the review of such 
plans and specifications, there shall be no presumption that the same are disapproved until the expiration of such 
reasonable period of time as is set forth in the notice. 

 
3.5 Approval.  Declarant may approve plans and specifications as submitted, or as altered or amended, or 

it may grant its approval to the same subject to specific conditions.  Upon approval or conditional approval by 
Declarant of any plans and specifications submitted, a copy of such plans and specifications, together with any 
conditions, shall be deposited for permanent record with Declarant, and a copy of such plans and specifications, 
bearing such approval together with any conditions, shall be returned to the applicant submitting the same. 

 
3.6 Proceeding with Work.  Upon receipt of approval from Declarant pursuant to Section 3.5, the Owner, 

or Occupant, or both, to whom the same is given, shall, as soon as practicable, satisfy any and all conditions of 
such approval and shall diligently proceed with the commencement and completion of all approved excavation, 
construction, refinishing, and alterations.  In all cases, submission of plans and specifications to Declarant for 
approval and work shall commence within one (1) year from the date Owner purchases a lot from Declarant, and if 
submission of plans and work is not so commenced, approval shall be deemed revoked unless Declarant, pursuant 
to written request made and received prior to the expiration of said one (1)-year period, extends the period of 
time within which work must be commenced.  Failure to comply with this Section shall constitute a breach of this 
Declaration and the party in breach shall convey the property back to Declarant. 

 
3.7 Completion of Work.  Any improvement commenced pursuant hereto shall be completed within two 

(2) years from the date of Owner's purchase of a lot from Declarant, except for so long as such completion is 
rendered impossible due to strike, fire, national emergency, natural disaster, or other supervening force beyond 
the control of Owner or Occupant.  Declarant may, upon written request made and received prior to the expiration 
of the two (2) year period, extend the period of time within which work must be completed.  Failure to comply 
with this Section shall constitute a breach of this Declaration and the party in breach shall convey the property 
back to the Declarant. 

  
3.8 Declarant Not Liable.  Declarant shall not be liable for any damage, loss, or prejudice suffered or 

claimed by any person on account of: 
 
(a) The approval or disapproval of any plans, drawings, and specifications, whether or not in any way 

defective; 
 
(b) The construction of any improvement, or performance of any work, whether or not pursuant to 

approved plans, drawings, and specifications; or 
 
(c) The development of any lot within Maple Commerce Park. 
 
3.9 Construction without Approval.  If any improvement shall be erected, placed, or maintained upon any 

lot, or any new use commenced upon any lot, other than in accordance with the approval by the Declarant 
pursuant to the provisions of this Article III, such alteration, erection, placement, maintenance, or use shall be 
deemed to have been undertaken in violation of this Declaration, and upon written notice from Declarant, any 
such improvement so altered, erected, placed, maintained, or used upon any lot in violation of this Declaration 
shall be removed or altered so as to conform to this Declaration, and any such use shall cease or be amended so as 
to conform to this Declaration.  Should such removal or alteration or cessation or amendment or use not be 
accomplished within thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice, then the party in breach of this Declaration shall 
be subject to the enforcement procedures set forth in Article VII. 
 
  

287



ARTICLE IV 
Development Standards 

 
4.1 Density. 
 
(a) The minimum lot size is two (2) acres (87,120 feet). 
 
(b) The minimum principal building size is 5,000 square feet. Accessory buildings may be constructed less 

than 5,000 square feet.  
 
(c) Lot coverage, including all buildings, pavement, walkways, stone or similar materials shall not exceed 

65% of the gross lot area.  This covenant is intended to insure continued compliance with the stormwater permit 
issued by the State of North Carolina.  This covenant may not be changed or deleted without the consent of the 
State of North Carolina.  No one may fill in, pipe, or alter any roadside ditch except as necessary to provide a 
minimum driveway crossing. 

 
4.2 Minimum Setback.  No improvements of any kind, and no part thereof, shall be placed closer than 

permitted by Declarant to an interior property line, except as otherwise provided in Section 4.3.  "Interior property 
line" shall mean the boundary between any lot within the subject property and all other lots bordering upon said 
lot.  No improvements of any kind, and no part thereof, shall be placed closer than thirty (30) feet from a property 
line fronting any roadway within the Maple Commerce Park.  No improvements of any kind, and no part thereof, 
shall be placed closer than thirty (30) feet from a side or rear property line. 

 
4.3 Exceptions to Setback Requirements.  The following improvements, or parts of improvements, are 

specifically excluded from the setback requirements set forth in Section 4.2: 
 
(a) Roof overhang, subject to approval in writing from Declarant, provided said overhang does not extend 

more than eighteen (18) inches into the setback area; 
 
(b) Steps and walkways; 
 
(c) Fences, subject to the requirements set forth in Section 4.7; 
 
(d) Landscaping and irrigation systems; 
 
(e) Planters, not to exceed three (3) feet in height, except that planters of greater height may be built 

within the setback area with the prior written approval of Declarant; 
 
(f) Industrial park identification signs, directional and parking signs, and signs identifying the owner or 

Occupant of a lot, subject to the prior written approval of Declarant; 
 
(g) Lighting facilities, subject to the prior written approval of Declarant; and 
 
(h) Underground utility facilities and sewers. 

 
4.4 Landscaping.  No improvements to a lot shall be occupied prior to installation of such lot's 

landscaping in accordance with the plans and specifications.  The area of each lot between any street and any 
minimum setback line as set forth in Section 4.2 shall be landscaped with an attractive combination of trees, 
shrubs, and other ground cover.  All portions of a lot not fronting a street and not used for parking, storage, or 
buildings shall be landscaped in a complementary and similar manner. 

Priority shall be given to retention of existing vegetation within 45’ of all street right of ways, excluding 
site access & utilities.  A vegetation retention plan shall be submitted to the County at the time of application for 

288



individual lot development by the Owner.  It shall be the responsibility of the Owner or Occupant to retain 
vegetation during development of the lot according to the approved plan.        

When existing vegetation cannot be preserved, property owners shall submit a vegetation 
retention/planting plan to the County at the time of application for individual lot development that meets the 
minimum street tree requirements of the UDO.  It shall be the responsibility of the individual lot Owner to install 
vegetation according to the approved plan.   

The perimeter of parking areas shall be landscaped with solid screen evergreen plant material so as to 
screen said areas from view from adjacent streets and freeways.  Such screening shall extend at least forty-eight 
(48) inches above the high point of the finished pavement in said parking area.  Landscaped earth berms at least 
three feet high may substitute for the solid screen planting. 

If the outdoor parking lot contains fifteen or more parking stalls, not less than 6% of the interior of such 
parking lot shall be landscaped.  The use of depressed rain gardens between parking bays to capture and treat 
excess stormwater run-off is encouraged. Strips between parking bays may also be landscaped with appropriate 
ground cover and deciduous trees. 

After completion, such landscaping as is herein required shall be maintained in a sightly and well-kept 
condition.  If, in Declarant's reasonable opinion, the required landscaping is not maintained in a sightly and well-
kept condition, Declarant shall be entitled to the remedies set forth in Article VII. 

 
4.5 Signs.  No sign shall be permitted on any lot unless approved by Declarant in writing.  No sign shall be 

approved other than business park identification signs; informational and vehicular control signs; signs identifying 
the building or the business of the Owner or Occupant of a lot, in which instance signs may be placed upon each 
side of the building and one sign may be placed upon the lot; signs offering the lot for sale or lease; and temporary 
development signs. 

 
4.6 Fences. No fences or walls shall be permitted on any lot unless such fence or wall is necessary for 

security or screening purposes.  The Declarant reserves the right to approve the location and design of all fences, 
and no fence shall be constructed without a letter of approval from the Declarant. 

 
4.7 Lighting. All exterior lighting, including floodlights, parking lights, and security lighting, constructed by 

the owner or occupant of a lot, must be a cut-off style fixture to prevent excess light pollution. Lights illuminating 
signage as provided in section 4.5 shall be exempt from this provision, but shall in no case run counter to county 
ordinances that regulate signage.   

 
4.8 Parking Areas.  Off-street parking adequate to accommodate the parking needs of the Owner or 

Occupant and the employees and visitors thereof shall be provided by the Owner or Occupant of each Lot.  The 
intent of this provision is to eliminate the need for any on street parking; provided, however, that nothing herein 
shall be deemed to prohibit on-street parking of public transportation vehicles.  If parking requirements increase 
as a result of a change in the use of a lot or in the number of person employed by the Owner or Occupant, 
additional off-street parking shall be provided so as to satisfy the intent of this section.  All parking areas shall 
conform to the following standards: 

 
(a) Required off-street parking shall be provided on the lot, on a contiguous lot, or within such distance 

from the lot as Declarant deems reasonable.  Where parking is provided other than upon the lot concerned, 
Declarant shall be given a certified copy of a recorded instrument, duly executed and acknowledged by the person 
or person holding title to the lot or other property upon which the parking area is located, stipulating to the 
permanent reservation of the use of the lot or other property for such parking area. 

 
(b) All parking areas, driveways and walks shall be surfaced with bituminous concrete, concrete, asphalt, 

brick or an equal material approved by Declarant. Declarant encourages the use of pervious pavement surfaces 
and materials to limit stormwater impacts. Each parking space provided shall be designated by lines painted upon 
the paved surface and shall be adequate in area.  All parking areas shall provide, in addition to parking spaces, 
adequate driveways and space for the movement of vehicles; and 

 

289



(c) Parking areas are located to the side or rear of buildings. 
 
4.9 Storage and Loading Areas.  Storage, maintenance, and loading areas must be constructed, 

maintained, and used in accordance with the following conditions: 
 

(a) Outside storage of materials, supplies, or equipment, including trucks or other motor vehicles, shall be 
permitted only if: 

 
    (i) The material, equipment, or objects stored outside are incidental to the activities regularly 

conducted on the premises; 
    (ii) The area devoted to outside storage combined with all other impervious surfaces does not exceed 

50% of the gross floor area of the principal structure on the site; 
    (iii) The area is screened on sides and top and harmonizes with the architecture, design, and 

appearance of neighboring structures and other surroundings; and 
    (iv) The area is located upon the rear portions of a lot, unless otherwise approved in writing by 

Declarant. 
 

(b) Provision shall be made on each site for any necessary vehicle loading, and no on-street vehicle 
loading shall be permitted. 

 
(c) Loading dock areas shall be set back, recessed, or screened so as not to be visible from neighboring 

property or streets, and in no event shall a loading dock be closer than seventy-five (75) feet from a property line 
fronting upon a street unless otherwise approved in writing by Declarant. 

 
 ARTICLE V 
 Regulation of Operations and Uses 
 

5.1 Permitted Uses. The only uses allowed within the Maple Commerce Park shall be as follows: 
 
1. Aviation related industries and services, including the manufacture of airplanes, aeronautical 

instruments and parts; distribution and warehousing of said parts, airplane and parts repair and overhaul facilities; 
and any other aviation or airport related goods and services as deemed appropriate by Declarant; 

 
2. General building contractors, general contractors other than building, landscaping contractors and 

special trade contractors; 
 
3. Manufacturing in the nature of apparel and other finished products; bakery products; beverages; 

cabinet and woodworking shop; electric, electronic machines, equipment and supplies; fabricated metal products; 
food and kindred products; furniture and fixtures; instruments and related products; lumber and wood products; 
machinery other than electrical; printing and publishing; stone, clay, glass and concrete products; textile 
manufacturing; transportation equipment; 

 
4. Motor freight transportation and warehousing; 
 
5. Warehousing; wholesaling of items manufactured on or off the premises.  Mini storage warehouses or 

garages are not permitted uses. 
 
6. Farm implement sales; 
 
7. Electrical repair shops; equipment rental and leasing; 
 
8. Governmental offices and buildings; 
 

290



9. Offices for private business and professional activities. 
 
10. Sexually oriented businesses are prohibited within the park.  
 
11. Any use not expressly permitted or prohibited by this section shall be considered at the sole 

discretion of the Declarant. 
 

5.2 Nuisances.  No nuisance shall be permitted to exist or operate upon any lot so as to be offensive or 
detrimental to any adjacent lot or property or to its occupants.  A "nuisance" shall include, but not be limited to, 
any of the following conditions: 

 
(a) Any use, excluding reasonable construction activity, of the lot that emits dust, sweepings, dirt, or 

cinders into the atmosphere, or discharges liquid, solid wastes, or other matter into any stream, river, or other 
waterway that, in the opinion of Declarant, may adversely affect the health, safety, comfort of, or intended use of 
their property by persons within the area.  No waste nor any substance or materials of any kind shall be 
discharged into any public sewer serving the subject property or any part thereof in violation of any regulation of 
any public body having jurisdiction over such public sewer; 

 
(b) The escape or discharge of any fumes, odors, gases, vapors, steam, acids, or other substance into the 

atmosphere, which discharge, in the opinion of Declarant, may be detrimental to the health, safety, or welfare of 
any person or may interfere with the comfort of persons within the area or may be harmful to property or 
vegetation; 

 
(c) The radiation or discharge of intense glare or heat, or atomic, electromagnetic, microwave, ultrasonic, 

laser, or other radiation.  Any operation producing intense glare or heat or such other radiation shall be 
performed only within an enclosed or screened area and then only in such manner that the glare, heat, or 
radiation emitted will not be discernible from a point exterior to the site or lot upon which the operation is 
conducted. 

 
(d) Excessive noise.  At no point outside of any lot plane shall the sound pressure level of any machine, 

device, or any combination of same, from any individual plant or operation, create any unreasonably loud, 
disturbing sound levels, taking into consideration volume, duration, frequency and other characteristics of the 
sound. 

 
(e) Excessive emissions of smoke, steam, or particulate matter.  Visible emissions of smoke or steam will 

not be permitted (outside any building) that exceed Ringlemann No. 1 on the Ringlemann Chart of the United 
States Bureau of Mines.  This requirement shall also be applied to the disposal of trash and waste materials.  
Windborne dust, sprays, and mists originating in plants are not permitted. 

 
(f) Ground vibration.  Buildings and other structures shall be constructed and machinery and equipment 

installed and insulated on each lot so that the ground vibration inherently and recurrently generated is not 
perceptible without instruments at any point exterior to any lot. 

 
5.3 Well-head Protection Areas. Parcels located within the subdivision and containing designated 500’ 

Well-head Protection Areas as outlined in Exhibit B, “Maple Commerce Park Final Plat”, and specifically identified 
as lots 6, 7 & 8, shall be further restricted on development types in order to manage or control potential sources 
of contamination throughout the designated area (Well-head Protection Area).  The wells to be protected by this 
section are Mainland water system wells number 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 15.  

 
The designated lots can contribute infiltration water, or recharge, to the municipal wells.  Contaminants 

found at or below the land’s surface can move with this recharge toward the public water supply well. In no case 
shall hazardous materials or other deleterious substances be stored, handled, treated, used, produced, recycled, 
or disposed of in a way that would pose a significant groundwater hazard within the Maple Commerce Park.   

291



 
Land uses or activities for the designated lots that pose a significant hazard to the County’s groundwater 

resources resulting from storing, handling, treating, using, producing, recycling or disposing of hazardous 
materials or other deleterious substances shall be prohibited in lots 6,7 & 8.  These land uses and activities 
include, but are not limited to: 

 
(a) On-site community sewage disposal systems. 
 
(b) Hazardous liquid pipelines. 
 
(c) Solid waste landfills. 
 
(d) Solid waste transfer stations. 
 
(e) Liquid petroleum refining, reprocessing and storage. 
 
(f) Bulk storage facilities for petroleum products and chemicals.  
 
(g) The storage or distribution of gasoline 
 
(h) Hazardous waste treatment, storage and disposal facilities.  
 
(i) Chemical manufacturing, including but not limited to organic and inorganic chemicals, plastics and 

resins, pharmaceuticals, cleaning compounds, paints and lacquers, and agricultural chemicals. 
  
(j) Dry cleaning establishments using the solvent perchloroethylene.  
 
(k) Primary and secondary metal industries that manufacture, produce, smelt or refine ferrous and non-

ferrous metals from molten materials.  
 
(l) Wood preserving and wood products preserving. 
 
(m) Mobile fleet fueling operations.  
 
(n) Other uses and activities that the Declarant determines would pose a significant groundwater hazard 

to the County Mainland groundwater supply.   
 
5.4 Condition of Property.  The Owner or Occupant of any lot shall at all times keep it and the buildings, 

improvements, and appurtenances thereon in a safe, clean, and wholesome condition and comply, at its own 
expense, in all respects with all applicable governmental, health, fire and safety ordinances, regulations, 
requirements, and directives, and the Owner or Occupant shall at regular and frequent intervals remove at its 
own expense any rubbish of any character whatsoever that may accumulate upon such lot. 

 
5.5 Maintenance of Grounds. 
(a) Each Owner shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all parking areas, driveways, 

walkways, and landscaping on his Lot.  Such maintenance and repair shall include, without limitation: 
 
 (1) Maintenance of all parking areas, driveways, and walkways in a clean and safe condition, including 

the paving and repairing or resurfacing of such areas when necessary with the type of material originally installed 
thereon or such substitute therefore as shall, in all respects, be equal thereto in quality, appearance, and 
durability; the removal of debris and waste material and washing and sweeping of paved areas; the painting and 
repainting of striping markers and directional signals as required; 

 

292



 (2) Cleaning, maintenance, and relamping of any external lighting fixtures, except such fixtures as may 
be the property of any public utility or government body; and 

 
 (3) Performance of all necessary maintenance of all landscaping, including the trimming, watering, and 

fertilization of all grass, groundcover, shrubs, or trees; the removal of dead or waste materials; the replacement 
of any dead or diseased grass, groundcover, shrubs, or trees. 

 
(b) Nothing contained herein shall preclude an Owner from recovering from any person liable therefore, 

damages to which such Owner might be entitled for any act or omission to act requiring an expenditure by the 
Owner for the maintenance and repair of the parking area, driveway, walkway, and/or landscaping on his Lot. 

 
(c) The Maple Commerce Park subdivision contains common area open space owned by the Declarant, 

including drainage swales, ditches, forebays, stormwater ponds and multi-use trails.  These areas are shown on 
Exhibit B.  The maintenance of these areas will be completed by the Declarant on a regular schedule.  The Owner 
or Occupant of any parcel within the Maple Commerce Park will be responsible for a portion of all maintenance 
fees related to the upkeep of open space, stormwater infrastructure and multi-use paths.  This fee will be 
determined at a future date by the Declarant and assessed annually. Maintenance fees will be calculated on a 
site-to-site basis using a combination of the Owner or Occupants total land area, total impervious area, and 
factors such as the installation of additional on-site features to limit stormwater impacts.   

 
 
5.6 Remedies for Failure to Maintain and Repair. 

 (a) Remedies.  If any Owner shall fail to perform the maintenance and repair required by Section 5.6, 
then Declarant, after fifteen days prior written notice to such delinquent Owner, shall have the right, not the 
obligation, to perform such maintenance and repair and to charge the delinquent Owner with costs of such 
assessment or such work, together with interest thereon at the rate of eight percent (8%) per annum from the 
date of Declarant's advancement of funds for such payment or such work to the date of reimbursement of 
Declarant by Owner.  If the delinquent Owner shall fail to reimburse Declarant for such costs within ten days after 
demand therefore, Declarant may, at any time within two years after such advance, file a claim of lien signed by 
Declarant for the amount of such charge together with interest thereon.  The lien created by this section shall be 
effective to establish a lien against the interest of the delinquent Owner in his lot together with interest at eight 
percent (8%) per annum on the amount of such advance from the date thereof, in addition to recording fees, cost 
of title search obtained in connection with such lien or the foreclosure thereof, and court costs and reasonable 
attorney's fees that may be incurred in the enforcement of such a lien. 

 
(b) Foreclosure of Lien.  Subject to the provisions of Article XII, such a lien, when so established against 

the lot described in said claim, shall be prior or superior to any right, title, interest, lien, or claim that may be or 
may have been acquired in or attached to the real property interests subject to the lien subsequent to the time of 
filing such claim for record, Such lien shall be for the benefit of Declarant and may be enforced and foreclosed in a 
like manner as a real estate mortgage is foreclosed but without redemption. 

 
(c) Cure.  If a default for which a notice of claim of lien was filed is cured, Declarant shall file or record a 

rescission of such notice, upon payment by the defaulting Owner of the costs of preparing and filing or recording 
such rescission, and other reasonable costs, interest, or fees that have been incurred. 

 
(d) Nonexclusive Remedy.  The foregoing lien and the rights to foreclose thereunder shall be in addition 

to, and not in substitution for, all other rights and remedies that any party may have hereunder and by law, 
including any suit to recover a money judgment for unpaid assessments.  If any Owner shall fail to perform such 
maintenance and repair and, notwithstanding such failure, Declarant should fail to exercise its rights and 
remedies hereunder, then any other Owner, after fifteen (15) days prior written notice to Declarant and such 
delinquent Owner, shall have the right, but not the obligation, to perform such maintenance and repair and shall 
have the same rights and remedies with respect thereto as are provided herein to Declarant. 

 

293



5.7 Taxes and Assessments.  If any Owner fails to pay taxes or assessments on its lot that become a lien 
on any portion of the subject property utilized for parking, service, or loading areas, then any other Owner may 
pay such taxes or assessments, together with any interest, penalties, and costs arising out of or related thereto, 
except while the validity thereof is being contested by judicial or administrative proceedings, and in such event 
the defaulting Owner obligated to pay such taxes or assessments shall promptly reimburse the other Owner for 
all such taxes or assessments, interest, penalties, and costs paid or incurred by such other Owner, and until such 
reimbursement has been made, the amount of the payment by such other Owner shall constitute a lien on and 
charge against the lot of the defaulting Owner, subject and subordinate, however, to any mortgage or deed of 
trust then outstanding and affecting said lot. 

 
5.8 Refuse Collection Areas.  All outdoor refuse collection areas shall be visually screened so as not to be 

visible from neighboring property or streets.  No refuse collection area shall be permitted between a street and 
the front of a building. 

 
5.9 Repair of Buildings.  No building or structure upon any lot shall be permitted to fall into disrepair, 

and each such building and structure shall at all times be kept in good condition and repair and adequately 
painted or otherwise finished. 

 
 
5.10 Public Utilities.  Declarant reserves the sole right to grant consents for the construction and 

operation of public utilities, including, but not limited to poles or lines for electricity, telephone, or telegraph, 
above- or below-ground conduits, and gas pipes in an upon any and all streets now existing or hereafter 
established upon which any portion of the subject property may now or hereafter front or abut.  Declarant 
reserves the exclusive right to grant consents and to petition the property authorities for any and all street 
improvements, such as grading, seeding, tree planting, sidewalks, paving, and sewer and water installation, 
whether it be on the surface or subsurface, which in the opinion of Declarant are necessary on or to the subject 
property.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 3.2, Declarant reserves the exclusive right to approve above-
ground utility lines across the subject property or any portion thereof on a temporary basis for the purpose of 
construction, and such lines shall be permitted when required by a government agency.  Notwithstanding the 
provisions of this Section, the construction and operation of public utilities in rights-of-way dedicated to the 
public must be approved by the appropriate governmental authority. 

 
5.11 Utilities Lines and Antennas.  No sewer, drainage, or utility lines or wires or other devices for the 

communication or transmission of electric current, power, or signals, including telephone, television, microwave, 
or radio signals, shall be constructed, placed, or maintained anywhere in or upon any portion of the subject 
property other than within buildings or structures, unless the same shall be contained in conduits or cables 
constructed, placed, or maintained underground or concealed in or under buildings or other structures.  No 
antenna for the transmission or reception of telephone, television, microwave, or radio signals shall be placed on 
any lot within the subject property unless (a) such antenna shall be so located that it cannot be seen from five (5) 
feet zero (0) inches above the ground or ground-floor level at a distance of two hundred (200) feet in any 
direction and (b) the consent of Declarant shall first be obtained.  Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to 
forbid the erection or use of temporary power or telephone facilities incidental to the construction or repair of 
buildings on the subject property. 

 
5.12 Mechanical Equipment.  All mechanical equipment, utility meters, storage tanks, air-conditioning 

equipment, and similar items shall be screened with landscaping or attractive architectural features integrated 
into the structure itself. 

 
5.13 Mineral Exploration.  No portion of the subject property shall be used in any manner to explore for 

or to remove any steam, heat, oil or other hydrocarbon, gravel, earth, or any earth substances or other minerals 
of any kind, provided, however, that this shall not prevent the excavation of earth in connection with the grading 
or construction of improvements within the subject property.  Water may be extracted to the extent permitted 
by the appropriate governmental agency. 

294



 
5.14 Other Operations and Uses.  Operations and uses that are neither specifically prohibited nor 

specifically authorized by this Declaration may be permitted in a specific case if operational plans and 
specifications are submitted to and approved in writing by Declarant in accordance with the procedures set forth 
in Article III of this Declaration.  Approval or disapproval of such operational plans and specifications shall be 
based upon the effect of such operations or uses on other property subject to this Declaration or upon the 
occupants thereof, but shall be in the sole discretion of Declarant. 

 
5.15 Stormwater. The following covenants are intended to ensure ongoing compliance with State 

Stormwater Management Permit Number SW7100602, as issued by the Division of Water Quality 
under the Stormwater Management Regulations. 
 

1. The State of North Carolina is made a beneficiary of these covenants to the extent necessary to 
maintain compliance with the stormwater management permit. 

 
2. These covenants are to run with the land and be binding on all persons and parties claiming 
under them. 

 
3.  The covenants pertaining to stormwater may not be altered or rescinded without the express 
written consent of the State of North Carolina, Division of Water Quality. 

 
4. Alteration of the drainage as shown on the approved plan may not take place without the 
concurrence of the Division of Water Quality. 
 
5. The maximum allowable built-upon area per lot is 65% of the lot area. 

 
The maximum built-upon area per lot, in square feet, is as listed below: 
 
 
LOT #   LOT SIZE  LOT SIZE  ALLOWABLE BUA   ALLOWABLE BUA 

(ACRES)   (SQUARE FEET) (ACRES)(65% Max.) (SQUARE FEET)(65% Max.) 
1   6.00   261,592   3.90    170,000 
2   6.72   293,134   4.36    190,000 
3   4.57   199,296   2.96    129,000 
4   3.81  166,189   2.48    108,000 
5   4.44   193,795   2.87    125,000 
6   4.88   212,901   3.17    138,000 
7   6.58   286,903   4.27    186,000 
8   5.49   239,264   3.56    155,000 
9   24.51   1,067,656  15.91    693,000 
10   4.81   209,584   3.12    136,000 
11   5.11   223,016   3.31    144,000 
 
This allotted amount includes any built-upon area constructed within the lot property boundaries. Built upon area 
includes, but is not limited to, structures, asphalt, concrete, gravel, brick, stone, slate, coquina and parking areas, 
but does not include raised, open wood decking, or the water surface of swimming pools. 
 

6. All runoff from the built-upon areas on the lot must drain into the permitted system. This may be 
accomplished through a variety of means including roof drain gutters which drain to the street, grading 
the lot to drain toward the street, or grading perimeter swales to collect the lot runoff and directing them 
into a component of the stormwater collection system. Lots that will naturally drain into the system are 
not required to provide these additional measures. 
 

295



7. The owner of each lot, whose ownership is not retained by the permittee, is required to submit a 
separate stormwater permit application to the Division of Water Quality and receive a permit prior to 
construction. 
 
8. The project and each lot will maintain a 50** foot wide vegetated buffer between all impervious areas 
and surface waters. 

 
 
 
 
 ARTICLE VI 
 Modification and Repeal 
 
6.1 Procedure.  Except as otherwise provided in Section 6.2, this Declaration or any provision hereof, or 

any covenant, condition, or restriction contained herein, may be terminated, extended, modified, or otherwise 
amended, as to the whole of the subject property or any portion thereof, with the written consent of the Owners 
of eighty percent (80%) of the subject property, based upon the number of square feet subject to these 
covenants, conditions, and restrictions (excluding dedicated streets); provided, however, that so long as 
Declarant owns at least twenty percent (20%) of the property subject to these covenants, conditions, and 
restrictions, or for a period of fifteen (15) years from the effective date hereof whichever period is shorter no 
such termination, extension, modification, or other amendment shall be effective without the written approval of 
Declarant, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. No such termination, extension, modification, or 
other amendment shall be effective if it conflicts with a valid governmental enactment, ordinance, or regulation 
and until a proper instrument in writing has been executed, acknowledged, and recorded. 

 
6.2 Modification by Declarant.  For so long as Declarant owns any interest (excepting a leasehold 

interest) in the subject property, or any part thereof, or for a period of fifteen (15) years from the effective date 
hereof, whichever period is shorter, Declarant acting alone may modify or amend the provisions of Articles III, IV, 
and V; provided, however, that (i) any such modification or amendment must be within the spirit and overall 
intention of the development as set forth herein; (ii) prior to any such modification or amendment Declarant shall 
obtain the approval of any governmental agency to such modification or amendment where such approval is 
necessary; and (iii) any modification or amendment shall not provide for any type of improvements or use not 
presently permitted by this Declarations.  No such modification or amendment shall be effective until the Owners 
have been given thirty (30) days prior written notice of the proposed change and a proper instrument in writing 
has been executed, acknowledged, and recorded. 

 
6.3 Governmental Regulations.  All valid governmental enactments, ordinances, and regulations are 

deemed to be a part of this Declaration, and to the extent that they conflict with any provision covenant, 
condition, or restriction hereof, said conflicting governmental enactment, ordinance, and regulation shall control 
and the provision, covenant, condition, or restriction hereof in conflict therewith shall be deemed (i) amended to 
the extent necessary to bring it into conformity with said enactment, ordinance, or regulation while still 
preserving the intent and spirit of the provision, covenant, condition, or restriction; or (ii) stricken herefrom 
should no amendment conforming to the governmental enactment, ordinance, or regulation be capable of 
preserving the intent and spirit of said provision, covenant, condition, or restriction. 

 
 ARTICLE VII 
 Enforcement 
 
7.1 Abatement and Suit.  The Owner of each lot shall be primarily liable and the Occupant, if any, 

secondarily liable for the violation or breach of any covenant, condition, or restriction herein contained.  Violation 
or breach of any covenant, condition, or restriction herein contained shall give to Declarant, following thirty (30) 
days written notice to the Owner or Occupant in question except in exigent circumstances, the right, privilege, 
and license to enter upon the lot where said violation or breach exists and to summarily abate and remove, or 

296



abate or remove, at the expense of the Owner or Occupant thereof, any improvement, structure, thing, or 
condition that may be or exist thereon contrary to the intent and meaning of the provisions hereof, or the 
prosecute a proceeding at law or in equity against the person or persons who have violated or are attempting to 
violate any of these covenants, conditions, or restrictions to enjoin or prevent them from doing so, to cause said 
violation to be remedied, or to recover damages for said violation.  No such entry by Declarant or its agents shall 
be deemed to trespass, and neither Declarant nor its agents shall be subject to liability to the Owner or Occupant 
of said lot for such entry and any action taken to remedy or remove a violation.  The cost of any abatement, 
remedy, or removal hereunder shall be a binding personal obligation on any Owner or Occupant in violation of 
any provision of this Declaration, as well as a lien (enforceable in the same manner as a mortgage) upon the lot in 
question.  The lien provided for in this section shall not be valid as against a bona fide purchaser or mortgagee for 
value of the lot in question unless a suit to enforce said lien shall have been filed in a court of record in Currituck 
County, North Carolina, prior to the recordation of the deed or mortgage conveying or encumbering the lot in 
question to such purchaser or mortgagee, respectively. 

 
7.2 Right of Entry.  During reasonable hours and upon reasonable notice and subject to reasonable 

security requirements, Declarants, or its agents, shall have the right to enter upon and inspect any lot and the 
improvements thereon covered by this Declaration for the purpose of ascertaining whether or not the provisions 
of this Declaration have been or are being complied with, and neither Declarant nor its agents shall be deemed to 
have committed a trespass or other wrongful act by reason of such entry or inspection. 

 
7.3 Deemed to Constitute a Nuisance.  The result of every act or omission whereby any covenant, 

condition, or restriction herein contained is violated in whole or in part is hereby declared to be and to constitute 
a nuisance, and every remedy allowed by law or in equity against an Owner or Occupant either public or private 
shall be applicable against every such result and may be exercised by Declarant. 

 
7.4 Attorney's Fees.  In any legal or equitable proceeding for the enforcement of this Declaration or any 

provision hereof, whether it be an action for damages, declaratory relief, or injunctive relief, or any other action, 
the losing party or parties shall pay the attorney's fees of the prevailing party or parties, in such reasonable 
amount as shall be fixed by the court in such proceedings or in a separate action brought for that purpose.  The 
prevailing party shall be entitled to said attorney's fees even though said proceeding is settled prior to judgment.  
All remedies provided herein or at law or in equity shall be cumulative and not exclusive. 

 
7.5  Failure to Enforce Is No Waiver.  The failure of Declarant to enforce any requirement, restriction, or 

standard herein contained shall in no event be deemed to be a waiver of the right to do so thereafter or in other 
cases nor of the right to enforce any other restriction. 

 
 ARTICLE VIII 
 Assignment 
 
Any and all of the rights, powers, and reservations of Declarant herein contained may be assigned to any 

person, partnership, corporation, or association that will assume the duties of Declarant pertaining to the 
particular rights, powers, and reservations assigned, and upon any such person, partnership, corporation, or 
association evidencing its consent in writing to accept such assignment and assume such duties, he or it shall, to 
the extent of such assignment and assume such duties, he or it shall, to the extent of such assignment, have the 
same rights and powers and be subject to the same obligations and duties as are given to and assumed by 
Declarant herein.  If at any time Declarant ceases to exist and has not made such an assignment, a successor to 
Declarant may be modified or amended under Section 6.1.  Any assignment or appointment made under this 
article shall be in reasonable form and shall be recorded. 

 
 ARTICLE IX 
 Constructive Notice and Acceptance 
 
Every person or entity who now or hereafter owns, occupies, or acquires any right, title, or interest in or 

297



to any portion of the subject property is and shall be conclusively deemed to have consented and agreed to every 
covenant, condition, and restriction contained herein, whether or not any reference to this Declaration is 
contained in the instrument by which such person acquired an interest in the subject property. 

 
 ARTICLE X 
 Waiver 
 
Neither Declarant nor its successors or assigns shall be liable to any Owner or Occupant of the subject 

property by reason of any mistake in judgment, negligence, nonfeasance, action, or inaction or for the 
enforcement or failure to enforce any provision of this Declaration.  Every Owner or Occupant of any of said 
property by acquiring its interest therein agrees that it will not bring any action or suit against Declarant to 
recover any such damages or to seek equitable relief because of same. 

 
 ARTICLE XI 
 Runs with Land 
 
All covenants, conditions, restrictions, and agreements herein contained are made for the direct, mutual, 

and reciprocal benefit of each and every lot of the subject property; shall create mutual equitable servitude upon 
each lot in favor of every other lot; shall create reciprocal rights and obligations between respective Owners and 
Occupants of all lots and privity of contract and estate between all grantees of said lots, their heirs, successors, 
and assigns; and shall, as to the Owner and Occupant of each lot, his heirs, successors, and assigns, operate as 
covenants running with land, for the benefit of all other lots, except as provided otherwise herein. 

 
 ARTICLE XII 
 Rights of Mortgagees 
 
No breach of any covenant, condition, or restriction herein contained, or any enforcement thereof, shall 

defeat or render invalid the lien of any mortgage or deed of trust no or hereafter executed upon the subject 
property or a portion thereof, provided, however, that if any portion of said property is sold under a foreclosure 
of any mortgage or under the provisions of any deed of trust, any purchaser at such sale and its successors and 
assigns shall hold any and all property so purchased subject to all of the covenants, conditions, and restrictions 
contained in this Declaration. 

 
 ARTICLE XIII 
 Captions 
 
The caption of articles and sections herein are used for convenience only and are not intended to be a 

part of this Declaration or in any way to define, limit, or describe the scope and intent of the particular article or 
section to which they refer. 

 
 ARTICLE XIV 
 Effect of Invalidation 
 
If any provision of this Declaration is held to be invalid by any court, the invalidity of such provision shall 

not affect the validity of the remaining provisions hereof. 
 
  

298



IT TESTIMONY WHEREOF, Declarant has caused this instrument to be executed by its proper officials and its 
corporate seal affixed, all by authority duly given by its elective board this the day and year first above 
written. 
 
ATTEST:       COUNTY OF CURRITUCK 
        NORTH CAROLINA 
 
_______________________    By:_____________________________ 
Mary Gilbert, Clerk to the Board       S. Paul O’Neal, Chairman 
           Board of Commissioners 
       (S E A L)  
 
 
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
COUNTY OF CURRITUCK 
 
 
 
 I, ___________________________, a Notary Public of the County of _____________________, State of 
North Carolina, hereby certify that Gwen Keene personally appeared before me this day and acknowledged 
that she is Clerk to the Board of County Commissioners of Currituck County, a body corporate and politic 
existing pursuant to the laws of the State of North Carolina, and that by authority duly given, and as the act 
of the county, the foregoing instrument was signed in its name by its Chairman and attested by herself as its 
Clerk, all by authority of the Board of County Commissioners of Currituck County. 
 
 WITNESS my hand and notarial stamp or seal, this the _______ day of October, 2013. 
 
        ________________________________ 
        Notary Public 
 
My Commission Expires: 
 
_________________________ 

299



 EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 

Legal Description of Maple Commerce Park  
 
 

That certain real estate shown on plat entitled “Final Plat, Maple Commerce Park, Crawford 
Township, Currituck County, North Carolina” prepared by Hyman & Robey, P.C. , dated July 25, 2013 
and recorded in Plat Cabinet _____, Slide _____ in the Currituck County Registry which plat is 
incorporated herein by reference. 

300



EXHIBIT B  
  
      
 
 

Maple Commerce Park Final Plat 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

301



EXHIBIT B

302



EXHIBIT B (continued)

303



EXHIBIT B (continued)

304



EXHIBIT B (continued)

305



Name of Fire District:
Carova Beach Vol. Fire Dept. & Rescue Squad, Inc.
Fruitville Outer Banks CurrituckCounty:

District is Served By:

NOTE: This report must be filled out completely before October 31st or no later than January 31.  Reports
filed after this date are in non-compliance and the fire department will not be eligible to receive their
Firefighter's Relief Fund monies.

NORTH CAROLINA

RURAL FIRE DISTRICT

REPORT OF FIRE CONDITIONS

Ms. Marlene Ann Slate
2369 Ocean Sands Rd
Corolla, NC 27927

(X)

As required by General Statute 58-84-46 of North Carolina, I clerk do hereby make the following report on
the Rural Fire District Fruitville Outer Banks.  County of Currituck.

LOCAL FIREFIGHTER'S RELIEF FUND BOARD

N.C. General Statutes: 58-84-30
(This information must be provided each year)

IF DEPARTMENT DOES NOT WISH TO PARTICIPATE, PLEASE INDICATE IN THIS SECTION

Mr. Daniel Myers
2260 Sturgeon Lane
Corolla, NC 27927

2.1.

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by Fire Department (2)

Mr. Mark Stevens

1837 Summerhedge Close

Virginia Beach, VA 23456

Mr. Donnie Tadlock

2006 Ocean Pearl Rd

Corolla, NC 27927

3. 4.

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by the Insurance Commissioner (1)

Mr. Randall Spencer

2302 Sand Fiddler Rd

Corolla, NC 27927

5. Same as last Year? Yes No(X) ( )

If no, attach a copy of former Insurance
Commissioner appointee's letter of resignation AND
a copy of Fire Chief's letter of recommendation.

Select position of Firefighter's Relief Fund Treasurer: ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )1 2 3 4 5

I, Sandra Hill Clerk/Finance Officer of Currituck County,  NC do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true,
full and correct report of the Fire Department and fire conditions in said county, made by me as required
under General Statute58-84-46 of North Carolina.

_________________
Date

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by County Commissioners (2)

09/19/2013

09/19/2013 03:27:15
306



Name of Fire District:
Corolla Fire And Rescue Squad, Inc.
Poplar Branch Beach CurrituckCounty:

District is Served By:

NOTE: This report must be filled out completely before October 31st or no later than January 31.  Reports
filed after this date are in non-compliance and the fire department will not be eligible to receive their
Firefighter's Relief Fund monies.

NORTH CAROLINA

RURAL FIRE DISTRICT

REPORT OF FIRE CONDITIONS

Mr. Robert Wemyss
853 Sawgrass Ct
Corolla, NC 27927

( )

As required by General Statute 58-84-46 of North Carolina, I clerk do hereby make the following report on
the Rural Fire District Poplar Branch Beach.  County of Currituck.

LOCAL FIREFIGHTER'S RELIEF FUND BOARD

N.C. General Statutes: 58-84-30
(This information must be provided each year)

IF DEPARTMENT DOES NOT WISH TO PARTICIPATE, PLEASE INDICATE IN THIS SECTION

Mrs. Sue Taylor
716 Mainsail Arch
Corolla, NC 27927

2.1.

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by Fire Department (2)

Mr.  William Robinson

1281 North Lake Ct

Corolla, NC 27927

Mr. Al Marzetti

609 Sea Oats Ct

Corolla, NC 27927

3. 4.

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by the Insurance Commissioner (1)

Mr. Charles W Taylor

PO Box 205

Corolla, NC 27927

5. Same as last Year? Yes No(X) ( )

If no, attach a copy of former Insurance
Commissioner appointee's letter of resignation AND
a copy of Fire Chief's letter of recommendation.

Select position of Firefighter's Relief Fund Treasurer: ( ) ( ) ( ) (X)1 2 3 4 5

I, Sandra Hill Clerk/Finance Officer of Currituck County,  NC do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true,
full and correct report of the Fire Department and fire conditions in said county, made by me as required
under General Statute58-84-46 of North Carolina.

_________________
Date

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by County Commissioners (2)

09/12/2013

09/12/2013 02:07:51
307



Name of Fire District:
Crawford Township V.F.D., Inc.
Crawford Township CurrituckCounty:

District is Served By:

NOTE: This report must be filled out completely before October 31st or no later than January 31.  Reports
filed after this date are in non-compliance and the fire department will not be eligible to receive their
Firefighter's Relief Fund monies.

NORTH CAROLINA

RURAL FIRE DISTRICT

REPORT OF FIRE CONDITIONS

Mr. Steve Van Hise
103 Caratoke Hwy
Currituck, NC 27929

( )

As required by General Statute 58-84-46 of North Carolina, I clerk do hereby make the following report on
the Rural Fire District Crawford Township.  County of Currituck.

LOCAL FIREFIGHTER'S RELIEF FUND BOARD

N.C. General Statutes: 58-84-30
(This information must be provided each year)

IF DEPARTMENT DOES NOT WISH TO PARTICIPATE, PLEASE INDICATE IN THIS SECTION

Mrs. Rebecca F Mims
164 Speckle Perch Lane
Moyock, NC 27958

2.1.

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by Fire Department (2)

Mr. Chris Dailey

224 Dozier Rd

Moyock, NC 27958

Mr. Larry Mangold

136 Rowland Creek Rd

Moyock, NC 27958

3. 4.

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by the Insurance Commissioner (1)

Mrs. Joann Van Hise

103 Caratoke Hwy

Currituck, NC 27929

5. Same as last Year? Yes No(X) ( )

If no, attach a copy of former Insurance
Commissioner appointee's letter of resignation AND
a copy of Fire Chief's letter of recommendation.

Select position of Firefighter's Relief Fund Treasurer: ( ) ( ) ( ) (X)1 2 3 4 5

I, Sandra Hill Clerk/Finance Officer of Currituck County,  NC do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true,
full and correct report of the Fire Department and fire conditions in said county, made by me as required
under General Statute58-84-46 of North Carolina.

_________________
Date

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by County Commissioners (2)

09/12/2013

09/12/2013 02:13:25
308



Name of Fire District:
Knotts Island Fire Dept., Inc.
Knotts Island CurrituckCounty:

District is Served By:

NOTE: This report must be filled out completely before October 31st or no later than January 31.  Reports
filed after this date are in non-compliance and the fire department will not be eligible to receive their
Firefighter's Relief Fund monies.

NORTH CAROLINA
RURAL FIRE DISTRICT

REPORT OF FIRE CONDITIONS

Mr. Jerit VanAuker
149 Wards Road
Knotts Island, NC 27950

( )

As required by General Statute 58-84-46 of North Carolina, I clerk do hereby make the following report on
the Rural Fire District Knotts Island.  County of Currituck.

LOCAL FIREFIGHTER'S RELIEF FUND BOARD

N.C. General Statutes: 58-84-30
(This information must be provided each year)

IF DEPARTMENT DOES NOT WISH TO PARTICIPATE, PLEASE INDICATE IN THIS SECTION

Mr. Nathan Thorn
340 Knotts Island Rd
Knotts Island, NC 27950

2.1.

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by Fire Department (2)

Mr Curtis Burmeister
452 Knotts Island Road
Knotts Island, NC 27950

Ms. Marion VanNostrand
365 South End Road
Knotts Island, NC 27950

3. 4.

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by the Insurance Commissioner (1)

Mr. William Thorn
332 Knotts Island Road
Knott Island , NC 27950

5. Same as last Year? Yes No(X) ( )

If no, attach a copy of former Insurance
Commissioner appointee's letter of resignation AND
a copy of Fire Chief's letter of recommendation.

Select position of Firefighter's Relief Fund Treasurer: ( ) ( ) (X) ( )1 2 3 4 5

I, Sandra Hill Clerk/Finance Officer of Currituck County,  NC do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true,
full and correct report of the Fire Department and fire conditions in said county, made by me as required
under General Statute58-84-46 of North Carolina.

_________________
Date

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by County Commissioners (2)

10/04/2013

10/04/2013 03:48:25
309



Name of Fire District:
Lower Currituck V.F.D., Inc.
Lower Currituck CurrituckCounty:

District is Served By:

NOTE: This report must be filled out completely before October 31st or no later than January 31.  Reports
filed after this date are in non-compliance and the fire department will not be eligible to receive their
Firefighter's Relief Fund monies.

NORTH CAROLINA

RURAL FIRE DISTRICT

REPORT OF FIRE CONDITIONS

Mr James Wesley Liverman Jr
103 Saddle Way
Grandy, NC 27939

( )

As required by General Statute 58-84-46 of North Carolina, I clerk do hereby make the following report on
the Rural Fire District Lower Currituck.  County of Currituck.

LOCAL FIREFIGHTER'S RELIEF FUND BOARD

N.C. General Statutes: 58-84-30
(This information must be provided each year)

IF DEPARTMENT DOES NOT WISH TO PARTICIPATE, PLEASE INDICATE IN THIS SECTION

Mr. Charles R McNaughton
100 D Mercedes Ct
Grandy, NC 27939

2.1.

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by Fire Department (2)

Mr Todd C Hanke

124 Annas Way

Grandy, NC 27939

Mr. Mills Riddick

109 Deerfield Lane

Aydlett, NC 27916

3. 4.

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by the Insurance Commissioner (1)

Mr William Jones

2032 Creek Rd

Kitty Hawk, NC 27949

5. Same as last Year? Yes No(X) ( )

If no, attach a copy of former Insurance
Commissioner appointee's letter of resignation AND
a copy of Fire Chief's letter of recommendation.

Select position of Firefighter's Relief Fund Treasurer: ( ) (X) ( ) ( )1 2 3 4 5

I, Sandra Hill Clerk/Finance Officer of Currituck County,  NC do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true,
full and correct report of the Fire Department and fire conditions in said county, made by me as required
under General Statute58-84-46 of North Carolina.

_________________
Date

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by County Commissioners (2)

09/11/2013

09/11/2013 11:45:04
310



Name of Fire District:
Moyock V.F.D. & Rescue Squad, Inc.
Moyock CurrituckCounty:

District is Served By:

NOTE: This report must be filled out completely before October 31st or no later than January 31.  Reports
filed after this date are in non-compliance and the fire department will not be eligible to receive their
Firefighter's Relief Fund monies.

NORTH CAROLINA

RURAL FIRE DISTRICT

REPORT OF FIRE CONDITIONS

Mr. Ralph Melton
306 Greenview Rd
Moyock, NC 27958

( )

As required by General Statute 58-84-46 of North Carolina, I clerk do hereby make the following report on
the Rural Fire District Moyock.  County of Currituck.

LOCAL FIREFIGHTER'S RELIEF FUND BOARD

N.C. General Statutes: 58-84-30
(This information must be provided each year)

IF DEPARTMENT DOES NOT WISH TO PARTICIPATE, PLEASE INDICATE IN THIS SECTION

Mrs. Denise Mayne
260 Maple Rd
Maple, NC 27956

2.1.

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by Fire Department (2)

Ms. Lisa Gadkowski

100 Lanhorn Dr.

Moyock, NC 27958

Mrs. Alicia Lane

110 Oakdale Dr.

Moyock, NC 27958

3. 4.

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by the Insurance Commissioner (1)

Mr. Richard Labounty

214 Beechwood Shores Dr.

Moyock, NC 27958

5. Same as last Year? Yes No( ) (X)

If no, attach a copy of former Insurance
Commissioner appointee's letter of resignation AND
a copy of Fire Chief's letter of recommendation.

Select position of Firefighter's Relief Fund Treasurer: ( ) ( ) ( ) (X)1 2 3 4 5

I, Sandra Hill Clerk/Finance Officer of Currituck County,  NC do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true,
full and correct report of the Fire Department and fire conditions in said county, made by me as required
under General Statute58-84-46 of North Carolina.

_________________
Date

Firefighter's Relief Fund Trustees appointed by County Commissioners (2)

09/11/2013

09/11/2013 11:50:01
311



312



313



314



CURRITUCK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS AGENDA ITEM # 

Meeting Date  

ITEM TO BE CONSIDERED 
SUBJECT 
Purge DSS Files 

REQUESTED ACTION 
Department of Social Services files authorized for purging according to the DHHs Controller’s 
Office “DHHS Records and Retention and Disposition Schedules for Grants” dated 3/31/12.  DSS 
requests permission to purge the following records. 

DSS Litigation files for Child Welfare and Adult Services older than 5 years. 

Submitted  By   Department 

Date    Attachments:  Yes             No 

REVIEW PROCESS 
Approved             Attachment 

Finance Director           Yes No              

County Attorney           Yes No              

County Manager           Yes No              

Yes No              

REVIEW COMMENTS 

DSS 

10/03/2013  X 

Kathlyn S. Romm 

315



TO:  Dan Scanlon

From:  Sandra Hill

Date:  October 1, 2013

Subject:  Record Disposal

The Finance Office would like permission to dispose of the following records, which are
scheduled for disposal as per the record retention schedule.

Approximate number  
Time Period Description of records

January 1, 2006 - December 31, 2007 1099 Report 1 
January 1, 2007 - December 31, 2008 1099 Report 1 
July 1, 2009   - June 30, 2010 Accounts Payable Invoices 15,545 

Bank Statements 180 
Bank Reconcilliation Reports 180 
Deposit Slips 8,500 
Accounts Receivable Files 2,800 
Daily Receipts 22,406 
Budget Amendments 164 
Journal Vouchers 9,060 
NC Sales Tax Summary Reports 12 
Sales Tax Refund Report 1 
Investment Records 394 
Aviation fuel reports 372 
Gas Tax Refunds 32 
Contracts 514 

Memorandum

316


	Table of Contents
	Agenda
	Consideration and Action:
	Cover Sheet
	Connecting Corolla

	Public Hearing and Action:
	13-22 Cover Sheet
	13-22 Case Analysis
	13-22 House Bill

	Presentation by Tax Assessor on Present-Use Value Assessment
	Regional Bike Plan Presentation and Adoption
	Resolution-Bicycle Plan
	Bike Plan

	Consideration and Action
	Advisory Board Ordinance

	Approval of October 7, 2013 Minutes
	Budget Amendments
	Adoption of Airport Transportation Improvement Program (TIP)
	Approval of Maple Commerce Park Covenants
	Exhibit B-Maple Commerce Park 

	Approval of Local Firefighter's Relief Fund Boards
	Carova Beach
	Corolla
	Crawford
	Knotts Island
	Lower Currituck
	Moyock

	Charge to Tax Collector the Levy on Motor Vehicles for July Renewals
	Approval of DSS Request to Purge Records
	Request to dispose of Finance records per the records retention schedule



